
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS
3. ROLL CALL
4. PRESENTATION
5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS
6. TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT
7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS
8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
9. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Communications
B. Minutes-April 3, 2025 Regular Township Board Meeting
C. Bills
D. Celebrate Meridian and Meridian Pride Outdoor Gathering Permits
E. Meridian Pride Liquor License
F. Resolution in Support of Frontline Workers

G. Communications Commission Appointment
H. Planning Commission Appointment
I. Treasurer’s Quarterly Report
J. Addendum to Sewer Contract and Agreement of January 17, 1961

10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY
11. HEARINGS
12. ACTION ITEMS

A. Special Use Permit #25-03 – Okemos Land Investments– 4360 South Hagadorn Road 
–Recreational Marijuana Retailer

B. 1st Quarter Budget Amendments

13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS
A. Joint Board and Local Government/Schools Meeting Topics
B. Senior/Community Center
C. Personnel Policy Update
D. Brownfield/Housing TIF Program and Procedures Amendment

14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS
16. ADJOURNMENT

All comments limited to 3 minutes, unless prior approval for additional time for good cause is obtained from the Supervisor. Appointment of Supervisor Pro 
Tem and/ or Temporary Clerk if necessary. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the Meridian Township Board 
by contacting: Township Manager Tim Dempsey, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4258 - Ten Day Notice is Required. 

Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

AGENDA 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
TOWNSHIP BOARD – REGULAR MEETING 

April 15, 2025 6:00 PM 



9.A

CONSENT AGENDA  
BOARD 

COMMUNICATIONS 





From:
To: Board
Cc: SCC Taskforce; 
Subject: Proposals for New Senior and Community Centers
Date: Sunday, March 30, 2025 9:17:56 PM

Dear Members of the Meridian Township Board:

The Advisory Board of the current Meridian Senior Center has endorsed the Township
Staff’s proposal for a stand-alone Senior Center. The Advisory Board does NOT endorse
their proposal for a combined Senior and Community Center.

—We expect that a stand-alone Senior Center can be built and operated without
significantly increasing the tax burden on Meridian Township residents. The proposed
combined center would require additional millage for both construction and operation.
While we have estimates for the construction costs and the operational costs for the two
alternatives, we have not seen how these translate into proposed millage requests. We
also believe that the staff's usage and revenue projections are not realistic and are
somewhat misleading; for example, while they do not project a membership fee for the
Community Center, they do anticipate charging for every use of a room in the
Community Center which would have to be passed on to the participants. Another
example: They have projected revenue to the Senior Center from massage/reflexology
and fitness programs, but these are essentially pass-through fees paid to the leaders of
these programs.

—With some modifications, the proposed Senior Center can provide a secure entrance
for seniors with both handicapper and ordinary parking near the entrance. The proposed
combined center design has an area of plantings taking up considerable parking space
near the main entrance, with parking south of that strip and the entrance much more
convenient than parking north of the barrier. A visit to the current Senior Center will
provide ample proof that signage is not sufficient to prevent people from using
designated “Senior Center” parking spaces.

—We are concerned that insufficient attention has been directed to the possibility of
collaborating with the Okemos and Haslett school systems regarding the use of their
gymnasiums for community activities—pickleball, basketball, volleyball, and possibility
other activities.

We very much appreciate the time and effort that the SCC Task Force, the Township
staff, and the Progressive consultants have devoted to  developing these proposals. We
also are grateful that both concepts provide approximately 10,000 square feet dedicated



to the Senior Center. We look forward to working with the Township staff and
consultants on the actual layout of the senior space of whichever proposal the Township
Board decides to pursue. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Respectfully submitted,

Members of the Advisory Board of the Meridian Senior Center
Margaret Frisch
Ralph Frisch
Steve Vagnozzi
Ellen Portnoy
Barbara O’Kelly

Submitted by:
Barbara O'Kelly (she/her)

Okemos, MI 48864
    











You don't often get email from 

From: SCC Taskforce
To:
Subject: FW: For Meeting April 3, 2025
Date: Wednesday, April 2, 2025 12:29:03 PM

Another email from the SCC Taskforce email to be shared with the Board.
 
 
Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP
Director of Community Planning and Development

5151 Marsh Road | Okemos, MI 48864
meridian.mi.us
 
From: JULIE STAUFFER < > 
Sent: Tuesday, April 1, 2025 12:49 PM
To: SCC Taskforce <scctaskforce@meridian.mi.us>
Subject: For Meeting April 3, 2025

 

To the Meridian Task Force for New Senior Center:
 
As a longtime (approximately 10 years) member of our Okemos Senior Center, I am
advocating for a stand-alone new building. Keeping the building more private and
individualized brings comfort to our seniors. 
 
As prices continue to rise throughout our country, it is imperative to keep the fees
and property taxes at a lower rate for those who struggle financially.  Meridian
Township needs to be fiscally responsible to its citizens.
 
 
Thank you,
Julie Stauffer
Chippewa Subdivision
 
 
 
 
 



From:
To: Board
Subject: Senior/Community Center
Date: Wednesday, April 2, 2025 5:31:32 PM

[Some people who received this message don't often get email from 
 ]

Hello,
I am a concerned citizen and new member of the Meridian Senior Center Advisory Board who resides in the Forest
Hills subdivision and unable to attend the April 3rd board meeting. I wish, however, to voice my support for the
stand-alone concept for the new Senior Center for the following reasons:
a) operating costs for a full Senior/Community Center are estimated to be approximately 2.5 times higher than those
for a stand-alone Senior Center.
b) building costs are estimated to be roughly $500/square foot. 10,000 square feet would utilize the entirety of the 5-
million-dollar grant. Greatly expanding the center's footprint would gravely necessitate higher fees and taxes.
c) personnel requirements for a complete Senior/Community Center are estimated to be 10.3 positions versus 3.8 for
a stand-alone Senior Center.
d) income projections from 100% program/space usage have no real-world basis.
e) seniors have repeatedly raised concerns about entry ways and parking. The full Senior/Community Center
concept does not specifically nor adequately address these concerns.
Thank you for your time and attention.
Sincerely,
Sonya Boruszewski

Sent from ProtonMail, Swiss-based encrypted email.

Sent from Proton Mail Android



From: SCC Taskforce
To:
Subject: FW: Sorry I cannot attend the meeting tomorrow but would like to voice my support for a stand alone senior

center with the option of adding on a community center at a later date when public opinion supports it and
supports the additional cost to residents

Date: Thursday, April 3, 2025 9:42:42 AM

Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP
Director of Community Planning and Development

W 517.853.4506
5151 Marsh Road | Okemos, MI 48864

-----Original Message-----
From: >
Sent: Wednesday, April 2, 2025 6:12 PM
To: SCC Taskforce <scctaskforce@meridian.mi.us>
Subject: Sorry I cannot attend the meeting tomorrow but would like to voice my support for a stand alone senior
center with the option of adding on a community center at a later date when public opinion supports it and supports
the additional cost to residents....

[You don't often get email from 
 ]

R





From:
To: Board
Cc:
Subject: Support for stand-alone Senior Center
Date: Thursday, April 3, 2025 2:37:18 PM

For the record, on behalf of the Advisory Board of the Meridian Senior Center: Steve
Vagnozzi, Ellen Portnoy, Jean McDonald,  Suzanne Leialoha, Sonya Boruszwski, Jane
Cheritt 
********************************************************
April 3, 2025
 
STATEMENT TO THE MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP BOARD
 
Good evening. I’m Barbara O’Kelly from Okemos, and I’m a member of the Advisory
Board to the current Meridian Senior Center.
 
The Advisory Board supports the concept of a stand-alone Senior Center. Unfortunately,
we oppose the combined Center as presented by the SCC Task Force. I hope you’ve
seen our memo sent earlier this week.
 
The Advisory Board met again yesterday, and we have a specific request: We ask the
Township Board to charge the staff and the consultants to bring you revised plans for the
stand-alone Senior Center and the combined Center with two changes.
 
—First, the Senior Center should be consolidated into a rectangle. Whether the
Community Center portion is built now or later, the L-shaped senior portion would mean
that users of the Community meeting rooms would need to go through the Senior Center
or make an unnecessarily awkward detour around the Senior Center.
 
—Second, the Community Center should have a separate entrance from the Senior
Center with parking reconfigured. The Advisory Board and our members would be happy
to meet with a representative of the police department to hear their concerns regarding
two entrances and discuss ways to address them. Note that plans call for entry to the
Senior Center to be via key card, and staff will be present to monitor that entrance
whenever the Senior Center is open. Presumably separate Community Center staff will
be present for any activities in that section, so oversight of two entrances seems quite
do-able with the proposed personnel.
 
We very much hope that we will have the opportunity to work with the Township staff and
consultants on refining plans for both the exterior footprint and the interior space of a



new Senior Center, whether it will stand alone for now or be part of a combined Senior
and Community Center.
 
Thank you for your consideration. I’d be happy to answer any questions Trustees may
have later.

********************************************************
Barbara O'Kelly (she/her)

Okemos, MI 48864
    



You don't often get email from 

From:
To:
Cc: Board; 
Subject: RE: Trees, walking path
Date: Wednesday, April 9, 2025 4:18:43 PM
Attachments: image005.png

image007.png

Hi Victor,
 
Thank you again for your email. We did walk the site with our tree contractor today. Unfortunately,
due to the existing grade and topography, the only way to remove the trees at this time is to bring in
a crane and hoist them out, which is just not financially feasible in this instance and it could damage
the new parking lot. Our contractor took the tree down just before the April 1 deadline on foot with
chainsaws. Once we grade and bring in fill to construct the trail route, we will then have an access
road and be able to remove them.
 
We apologize for the eye sore for the time being. Again, we are still acquiring all of the necessary
permits before we put this project out to bid. Therefore, we do not have a construction schedule
yet, but we hope to in the next 2-3 months. We are working to get this project under construction
ASAP, but the permitting timelines are dependent upon how quickly the permitting entities respond
to us.
 
Please let me know if you have any questions.
 
Thanks,
 
Dan Opsommer
Deputy Township Manager
Director of Public Works & Engineering

Work: 517.853.4440 | Fax: 517.853.4099
5151 Marsh Road | Okemos, MI 48864
 

From: Victor Charlie < > 
Sent: Tuesday, April 8, 2025 1:44 PM
To: Dan Opsommer < >
Subject: Re: Trees, walking path
 

Thank you so much for the update

Victor Charlie​​​​

Maintenance Director



Some people who received this message don't often get email from

1673 Haslett Rd
Haslett | MI | 48840
C 
Email: 
AmericanHouse.com

From: Dan Opsommer < >
Sent: Tuesday, April 8, 2025 1:43 PM
To: Victor Charlie <
Cc: Board <Board@meridian.mi.us>
Subject: RE: Trees, walking path
 
EXTERNAL EMAIL: Be vigilant when opening attachments or clicking links.
Hi Victor,
 
Thank you for your email. Our staff will be walking the site with our tree contractor ASAP to
determine which trees can be removed at this time. The challenge is getting equipment to these
areas of the property to collect the trees. It may not be possible to collect all of the trees based on
the current topography of the land until we begin construction on the trail/pathway.
 
We will update you once our staff walk the site with our contractor to determine what trees can be
removed at this time.
 
We are still acquiring all of the necessary permits before we put this project out to bid. Therefore,
we do not have a construction schedule yet, but we hope to in the next 2-3 months.
 
Please let us know if you have any questions.
 
Thanks,
 
Dan Opsommer
Deputy Township Manager
Director of Public Works & Engineering

Work: 517.853.4440 | Fax: 517.853.4099
5151 Marsh Road | Okemos, MI 48864
 

From: Victor Charlie < > 
Sent: Tuesday, April 8, 2025 1:22 PM
To: Board <Board@meridian.mi.us>
Subject: Trees, walking path
 



I would like to reach out to get some information on the trees that were cut down on the
west side of the building at American House Meridian in Haslett. I was told by Younes
that the trees need to be cut by April 1st due to a migrating bat. The trees were trimmed
but they were left lying there and not removed. This looks very bad our residents, and
others are concerned about this. I was told by Younes that the cut trees might be
removed when the walking path is installed but he could not give me a date when the
path would start. I am not trying to complain, I am just trying to get some clarity about
when the debris will be cleaned and when the walking path project is scheduled. I was
not sure who to email about this so if I could be given the proper person to reach out to,
it would be greatly appreciated. Thank you,

Victor Charlie​​​​

Maintenance Director

1673 Haslett Rd
Haslett | MI | 48840
C 
Email: 
AmericanHouse.com
American House Senior Living Communities, located in Bloomfield Hills, Michigan is a senior housing leader with
communities in the Midwest and Florida. Founded in 1979, our vision is to provide high-quality housing for seniors at a price
affordable for retirees and their families. Our mission is to enrich the lives of those we serve, providing an environment that
fosters meaningful relationships. We aim to be an innovative senior housing company that creates sustainable excellence
and stakeholder value, with an unparalleled commitment to passionate care provided by compassionate people.
This message is being sent by American House Senior Living Communities and is intended exclusively for the individuals
and entities to whom it is addressed. This communication, including any attachments, may contain information that is
proprietary, privileged, confidential or otherwise legally exempt from disclosure. If you are not the named addressee or
intended recipient, you are not authorized to read, print, retain, copy or disseminate this message or any part of it. If you
have received this message in error, please notify the sender immediately by email and delete all electronically maintained
copies and destroy all printed copies of this message. Email transmission cannot be guaranteed to be secured or error-free,
as information could be intercepted, corrupted, lost, destroyed, arrive late or incomplete or contain viruses. The sender,
therefore, does not accept liability for any errors or omissions in the contents of this message which arise as a result of the
electronic transmission thereof.
American House Senior Living Communities, located in Bloomfield Hills, Michigan is a senior housing leader with
communities in the Midwest and Florida. Founded in 1979, our vision is to provide high-quality housing for seniors at a price
affordable for retirees and their families. Our mission is to enrich the lives of those we serve, providing an environment that
fosters meaningful relationships. We aim to be an innovative senior housing company that creates sustainable excellence
and stakeholder value, with an unparalleled commitment to passionate care provided by compassionate people.
This message is being sent by American House Senior Living Communities and is intended exclusively for the individuals
and entities to whom it is addressed. This communication, including any attachments, may contain information that is
proprietary, privileged, confidential or otherwise legally exempt from disclosure. If you are not the named addressee or
intended recipient, you are not authorized to read, print, retain, copy or disseminate this message or any part of it. If you
have received this message in error, please notify the sender immediately by email and delete all electronically maintained
copies and destroy all printed copies of this message. Email transmission cannot be guaranteed to be secured or error-free,
as information could be intercepted, corrupted, lost, destroyed, arrive late or incomplete or contain viruses. The sender,
therefore, does not accept liability for any errors or omissions in the contents of this message which arise as a result of the
electronic transmission thereof.













Date of 
Approval Start Year Developer 

Name DVLPT  Name Review Category Project Location Project Type Unit #
Assigned: 

Department/Co
mmission

Project Description 

9.2024 2024 Tarek 
Chawish

Chateau 
Coffee Co.

New Business 
Opening/ 

Relocating 

2361 W Grand 
River Ave

New 
Commercial 

Development
1 Building Dept. 

New coffee shop on Grand River 
hoping to open in September. 
Ribon Cutting4/3

1.12.2025 2025 Club Pilates Club Pilates New Business 
Open

4935 Marsh 
Road

New 
Commercial 

Development
1 Building Dept.

New fitness location open in the 
commercial shopping center next 
to Marshall's and Henry's Place. 

Businesses New & 
Relocating 



Date of 
Approval Start Date Developer 

Name 
Development 
Project Name Review Category Project Location Project Type Unit #

Assigned: 
Department/Co

mmission
Project Description 

2.28.2022 2024 Bennett Road 
Holding, LLC

Silverleaf 
(Phase I)

Under 
Construction 

West Bennett 
Road 

Single Family 
Homes 25 of 150 Building Dept. First phase of 150 single family 

home development. 

7.15.2022 2024
Newman 

Equities II , 
LLC

Grand 
Reserve

Under 
Construction

1580 Woodland 
Way Okemos

Mixed 
Housing -

Middle 
Housing 

115 Building Dept.
75 single family homes and 75 
duplexes for rent off of Central Park, 
Powell Road.

1.23.2025 1.23.2025 Dollar Tree 
#10729

Dollar Tree 
Retail Store

Under 
Construction

1589-1581 
Haslett Road

New 
Commercial 

Development
1 Planning Dept. 

Building Dept.

New Applications for a retail store to 
take over the previous "Rite Aid" 
location at the corner of Haslett and 
Marsh Road

2.24.2022 8.14.2022 DTN Property 
Management Newton Pointe Under 

Construction 
626 Newton 

Road 

New 
Commercial 

Development
1 Building Dept.

Planting of landscaping to separate 
the single family home section of 
this project/ 

11.12.24 11.12.24 Delta Dental 
of Michigan Delta Dental Under 

Construction 
4100 Okemos 

Road

Exisiting 
Commercial 

Interior 
Renovation

1 Building Dept. New Application received 

2.12.2025 1.23.2025
Meijer Gas 

Station 
Remodel

Meijer Gas 
Station 

Remodel

Under 
Construction

2055 Grand 
River

Update to 
exisitng Gas 

Station
1 Building Dept.

New applications from Meijer Inc. to 
update the gas station at Marsh and 
Grand Rive

Under Construction 



Date of 
Approval Start Year Developer 

Name 
Development 
Project Name Review Category Project Location Project Type Unit #

Assigned: 
Department/Co

mmission
Project Description 

8.5.2022 2022 Jim Giguere Sanctuary II Under Site Plan 
Review 

North of Robbins  
Way - East  of 

Hulett Rd 
Okemos MI

Single Family 
Homes 7

Assessing and 
Community 
Planning Lot 

Division 
Issues 

Renovation of 1 single family 
home and the addition of 6  
new single family homes off 
Hulett and Jolly Road in 
Sanctuary II.

7.26.2022 2025 SP Holding, 
LLC

Haslett Village 
Square 2.0

Under Site Plan 
Review 

1655-1621 
Haslett Road 

Haslett MI

MUPUD 
Commercial 
+ Residential 

290
Planning Dept. 
Building Dept. 
Engineering

Redevelopment of the 
remaining  19 acres at Haslett 
and Marsh road. Rehab an 
existing 10,000 sq ft building, 
build a new 11,000 sq ft 
commercial building. 

8.20.2024 N/A Panda 
Express

Under Site Plan 
Review 

4990 Marsh 
Road

New 
Commercial 
Development

1 Planning Dept. New Application received 

3.12.2025 Austin 
Hamilton 

1486 Haslett 
Road 

Development

New 
Applications

1486 Haslett 
Road

New 
Commercial 
Development

1 Building Dept. 

Plans received to renovate the 
established lumber yard 
building at 1486 haslett road 
into a commercial suite and 
residential suite for rent unit. 
Commercial first floor with 
residential second floor is a 
conditional use by right. 

2.20.2025 Radmoor 
Montesori

Radmoor 
Expansion 

New 
Applications

2745 Mt Hope 
Road

Expansion of 
exisitng 1 Zoning Board

Radmoor will need to attend 
ZBA to determine if expansion 
is possible 

2025 Mr. Clean 
Car Wash

Mr. Clean Car 
Wash

New 
Applications 

4880 Marsh 
Road

New 
Commercial 
Development

1 Planning Dept. Proposed Car Wash at 4880 
Marsh Road 

3.28.2025 3.25.2025 Art Unlimited Art Unlimited New 
Applications

1929 Grand 
River Ave. Relocation 1 Building Dept. Relocation of Art Unlimited 

Under Site Plan Review



 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
April 7, 2025 

 
CONTACT: Kati Adams, Harris Nature Center Coordinator 

517.853.4616 | kadams@meridian.mi.us  

 

Harris Nature Center Offers Sensory-Friendly Event for All Ages 
Center’s Newest Program to Offer Comfortable, Inclusive Environment 

 
Meridian Township, MI – The Harris Nature Center invites families and friends to a special, sensory-
inclusive event on Friday, April 11, from 5:30 pm to 7:30 pm. The center’s Sensory-Friendly Evening 
will be held at the Harris Nature Center (3998 Van Atta Road, Okemos) and is open to all ages and 
abilities.  

The center’s exhibits will be altered to reduce sounds and lighting, and a quiet room with sensory 
kits will also be available.   

Before arriving, guests are encouraged to explore the Harris Nature Center’s social story and do a 
virtual tour to familiarize themselves with the layout. The social story and virtual tour can be found 
at meridian.mi.us/HNC under the “Plan Your Visit” tab.  

This event is free, and registration is not required.  

To ensure the comfort of our guests, we ask that media outlets film before the start of the 
event. 

For more information, please contact the Harris Nature Center at hnc@meridian.mi.us or 
517.349.3866. 

### 
 
 

mailto:kadams@meridian.mi.us
http://www.meridian.mi.us/HNC
mailto:hnc@meridian.mi.us


9.B

CONSENT AGENDA 
PROPOSED BOARD MINUTES 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Regular 
Meeting of April 3, 2025 as submitted.  (1)

ALTERNATE MOTION: 

Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Regular 
Meeting of April 3, 2025 with the following amendment(s):
[insert amendments]

(1)

(1)



Page 1 

 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
REGULAR MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Hall Room 
THURSDAY, April 3, 2025, 6:00PM 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee 

Sundland, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee Wilson 
ABSENT: None 

STAFF: Manager Dempsey, Deputy Manager Opsommer, Director Schmitt, Chief Hamel, 
Director Wisinski, Director Tithof, Director Clark 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson called the April 3, 2025, Regular Township Board meeting to order at 
6:00 pm. 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson called for a moment of silence for the victim of a hit and run accident. 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
 
Deputy Clerk Gordon called the roll of the Board.  
 
Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Wilson, 
Trustee Sundland and Trustee Trezise present at 6:01 pm. 

 
4. PRESENTATION  

 
NONE 

 
5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

 
Opened Public Comment at 6:02 pm 
 
The following people spoke about Agenda Item 12.A: Brad Shaw, Cecelia Kramer, Jerry Fedewa 
 
The following people spoke about Agenda Item 13.A: Jane Cheritt, Suzanne Leialoha, Barb 
O’Kelley, Steve Vagnozzi, Beth Bechtel, Kathy Yenrich, Julie Stauffer, Paul Shimkos, Jean 
McDonald, Joe Hessinger, Bonnie Jordan 

 
Closed public comment at 6:30 pm 
 

6.  TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT 
 
Manager Dempsey gave updates on: 



Page 2 

• The scheduled Joint Meeting conflicts with a County Board of Commission meeting.  
Instead of cancelling this meeting, a second meeting will be scheduled. 

• Briefed the Board regarding the MTA conference sessions he attended. 
 

Trustee Lentz asked Manager Dempsey what the township can do to help make Grand River 
Ave. safer for pedestrians.  Manager Dempsy gave a quick overview of Township 
responsibilities. 

 
7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
Trustee Wilson attended the CADL meeting. 
 
Trustee Lentz attended the Tri-County Regional Planning Commission meeting and MTA 
conference.   
 
Treasurer Deschaine attended the CADL meeting and the MTA conference.  
 
Clerk Demas attended the Communications Commission meeting.  
 
Trustee Sundland attended the MTA conference.  

 
8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Trustee Wilson moved to approve the Agenda with the addendum of moving 13D up to 
13B. Supported by Trustee Trezise 
 
VOICE VOTE:  YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, 

Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee 
Wilson 

 
NAYS: NONE 

 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
9. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

Trustee Wilson moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. Supported by 
Trustee Lentz. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 

Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson 

 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY  
 

NONE 
 

11. HEARINGS  
 



Page 3 

NONE 
 

 
12. ACTION ITEMS 

 
A. Ordinance 2025-03 – Rezone vacant Dobie Road (parcel ID #33-0202-22-454-003) from 

RAA, One-Family, Low Density Residential, to RD, Multiple Family Residential, up to 8 units 
per acre, Subject to a Conditional Rezoning Agreement-Final Adoption 

Board Members asked staff to take extra care to notify neighboring property owners of the 
site plan and other documents regarding this parcel. 
 
Trustee Trezise moved to adopt the resolution approving Ordinance 2025-03, an 
ordinance to rezone a vacant parcel on Dobie Road (parcel ID #33-02-02-22-454-
003) from RAA, One-Family, Low Density Residential, to RD, Multiple Family 
Residential, up to 8 units per acre, subject to a Conditional Rezoning Agreement with 
the amendment that this is a two year rezoning and if construction has not begun in 
that time, the property will revert to RAA. Seconded by Trustee Wilson. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Trezise,  

and Trustee Wilson 
 

NAYS: Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Sundland 
 
Motioned Carried: 4-3 
 

At 6:53 Supervisor Hendrickson called a 5-minute recess.  At 7:02, the Board reconvened. 
 
13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 
A. Senior/Community Center  

Supervisor Hendrickson, Director Schmitt, consultants from Progressive, Director Wisinski, 
and Deputy Manager Opsommer gave an overview of the discussion and results of the 
Senior/Community Center Task Force. 
 
Board Members discussed the number of entrances, cost of and estimated use of 
community rental spaces, general usage metrics, membership estimates, parking lot size, 
need for Senior Center alone versus combined Senior and Community Center, need for a 
millage proposal. 

At 8:34 Supervisor Hendrickson called a 5-minute recess.  At 8:43, the Board reconvened. 
 

B. Special Use Permit #25-03 – Okemos Land Investments– 4360 South Hagadorn Road – 
Recreational Marijuana Retailer 
 
Director Schmitt gave background information on the permit and timing for project 
completion. 
 
General Board discussion. 
 

C. Personnel Policy  



Page 4 

Director Tithof gave an overview of the discussion that has occurred so far.  Supervisor 
Hendrickson reminded Board Members that the discussion will center on pages 19-41. 
 
Board members suggested incorporating statements about marihuana into the preceding 
phrase under Drug-Free Workplace, swapping the lists under Code of Conduct, adding 
credit card use to list of unauthorized uses, clarifying legitimate business reasons for 
confidentiality, more detail given regarding Gifts and Favors, clarifying Outside 
Employment, adding more specific examples and clarifying language to Attire and 
Grooming, clarifying the information that is subject to FOIA, and noting that the provisions 
refer to work done in other municipalities under Election Leave. 
 

D. Brownfield Policy Updates- Housing TIF Incentives  

Director Clark gave an overview of the proposed changes that have been made to the policy. 
 
Board members suggested changing some language to clarify some of the statements in the 
policy.  They asked questions about determining eligibility over time and discussed 10-year 
time period.  Staff will return with detailed answers to board questions. 

 
 

14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
Opened at 10:11 pm 
 
Closed at 10:11 pm 
 
 

15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS  
 
Manager Dempsey told the Board about the Ingham County Broadband Task Force endorsing 
internet service providers and two providers have approached Township for letters of support.  
The Board supported Manager Dempsey to provide these letters. 

 
16. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Trustee Wilson moved to adjourn. Seconded by Trustee Lentz 

 
VOICE VOTE  YEAS:   Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 

Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee 
Trezise, and Trustee Wilson 

 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
The meeting adjourned at 10:12 pm 

 
__________________________________ 

Scott Hendrickson 
Township Supervisor 

 
__________________________________ 

Angela Demas 
Township Clerk 



REVISED 

Page 1 

 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
REGULAR MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Hall Room 
THURSDAY, April 3, 2025, 6:00PM 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee 

Sundland, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee Wilson 
ABSENT: None 

STAFF: Manager Dempsey, Deputy Manager Opsommer, Director Schmitt, Chief Hamel, 
Director Wisinski, Director Tithof, Director Clark 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson called the April 3, 2025, Regular Township Board meeting to order at 
6:00 pm. 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson called for a moment of silence for the victim of a hit and run accident. 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
 
Deputy Clerk Gordon called the roll of the Board.  
 
Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Wilson, 
Trustee Sundland and Trustee Trezise present at 6:01 pm. 

 
4. PRESENTATION  

 
NONE 

 
5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

 
Opened Public Comment at 6:02 pm 
 
Brad Shaw spoke in opposition to Ordinance 2025-03 
 
Jane Cheritt spoke in support of a senior center 
 
Suzanne Leialoha spoke in support of a senior center, opposed senior/community center 
 
Barb O’Kelley spoke in support of a senior center, opposed senior/community center 
 
Steve Vagnozzi spoke in support of a senior center, opposed senior/community center 
 
Beth Bechtel spoke in support of a senior center, opposed senior/community center 



   

Page 2 

 
Cecelia Kramer spoke in support of Ordinance 2025-03 
 
Kathy Yenrich spoke in support of a senior center 
 
Julie Stauffer spoke in support of a senior center 
 
Jerry Fedewa spoke in support of Ordinance 2025-03 
 
Paul Shimkos spoke in support of a senior center  
 
Jean McDonald spoke in support of a senior center, opposed senior/community center, 
supported wetland protection 
 
Joe Hessinger spoke in support of a senior center  
 
Bonnie Jordan spoke in support of a senior center, opposed senior/community center 

 
Closed public comment at 6:30 pm 
 

6.  TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT 
 
Manager Dempsey gave updates on: 

• The scheduled Joint Meeting conflicts with a County Board of Commission meeting.  
Instead of cancelling this meeting, a second meeting will be scheduled. 

• Briefed the Board regarding the MTA conference sessions he attended. 
 

Trustee Lentz asked Manager Dempsey what the township can do to help make Grand River 
Ave. safer for pedestrians.  Manager Dempsy gave a quick overview of Township 
responsibilities. 

 
7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
Trustee Wilson attended the CADL meeting. 
 
Trustee Lentz attended the Tri-County Regional Planning Commission meeting and MTA 
conference.   
 
Treasurer Deschaine attended the CADL meeting and the MTA conference.  
 
Clerk Demas attended the Communications Commission meeting.  
 
Trustee Sundland attended the MTA conference.  

 
8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Trustee Wilson moved to approve the Agenda with the addendum of moving 13D up to 
13B. Supported by Trustee Trezise 
 
VOICE VOTE:  YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, 

Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee 
Wilson 

 



   

Page 3 

NAYS: NONE 
 

Motion carried: 7-0 
 

9. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

Trustee Wilson moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. Supported by 
Trustee Lentz. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 

Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson 

 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY  
 

NONE 
 

11. HEARINGS  
 

NONE 
 

 
12. ACTION ITEMS 

 
A. Ordinance 2025-03 – Rezone vacant Dobie Road (parcel ID #33-0202-22-454-003) from 

RAA, One-Family, Low Density Residential, to RD, Multiple Family Residential, up to 8 units 
per acre, Subject to a Conditional Rezoning Agreement-Final Adoption 

Board Members asked staff to take extra care to notify neighboring property owners of the 
site plan and other documents regarding this parcel. 
 
Trustee Trezise moved to adopt the resolution approving Ordinance 2025-03, an 
ordinance to rezone a vacant parcel on Dobie Road (parcel ID #33-02-02-22-454-
003) from RAA, One-Family, Low Density Residential, to RD, Multiple Family 
Residential, up to 8 units per acre, subject to a Conditional Rezoning Agreement with 
the amendment that this is a two year rezoning and if construction has not begun in 
that time, the property will revert to RAA. Seconded by Trustee Wilson. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Trezise,  

and Trustee Wilson 
 

NAYS: Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Sundland 
 
Motioned Carried: 4-3 
 

At 6:53 Supervisor Hendrickson called a 5-minute recess.  At 7:02, the Board reconvened. 
 
13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 



   

Page 4 

A. Senior/Community Center  

Supervisor Hendrickson, Director Schmitt, consultants from Progressive, Director Wisinski, 
and Deputy Manager Opsommer gave an overview of the discussion and results of the 
Senior/Community Center Task Force. 
 
Board Members discussed the number of entrances, cost of and estimated use of 
community rental spaces, general usage metrics, membership estimates, parking lot size, 
need for Senior Center alone versus combined Senior and Community Center, need for a 
millage proposal. 

At 8:34 Supervisor Hendrickson called a 5-minute recess.  At 8:43, the Board reconvened. 
 

B. Special Use Permit #25-03 – Okemos Land Investments– 4360 South Hagadorn Road – 
Recreational Marijuana Retailer 
 
Director Schmitt gave background information on the permit and timing for project 
completion. 
 
Board members discussed the changes in building construction, timing concerns raised by 
staff, and drainage questions.  No concerns were noted regarding SUP criteria. The Board 
asked staff to bring a resolution to approve to the next meeting. 
 

C. Personnel Policy  

Director Tithof gave an overview of the discussion that has occurred so far.  Supervisor 
Hendrickson reminded Board Members that the discussion will center on pages 19-41. 
 
Board members suggested incorporating statements about marihuana into the preceding 
phrase under Drug-Free Workplace, swapping the lists under Code of Conduct, adding 
credit card use to list of unauthorized uses, clarifying legitimate business reasons for 
confidentiality, more detail given regarding Gifts and Favors, clarifying Outside 
Employment, adding more specific examples and clarifying language to Attire and 
Grooming, clarifying the information that is subject to FOIA, and noting that the provisions 
refer to work done in other municipalities under Election Leave. 
 

D. Brownfield Policy Updates- Housing TIF Incentives  

Director Clark gave an overview of the proposed changes that have been made to the policy. 
 
Board members suggested changing language to clarify some statements in the policy.  
They asked questions about determining eligibility over time and discussed 10-year time 
period.  Staff plans to return with detailed answers to Board questions. 

 
 

14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
Opened at 10:11 pm 
 
Closed at 10:11 pm 
 
 

15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS  



   

Page 5 

 
Manager Dempsey told the Board about the Ingham County Broadband Task Force endorsing 
internet service providers and two providers have approached Township for letters of support.  
The Board supported Manager Dempsey to provide these letters. 

 
16. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Trustee Wilson moved to adjourn. Seconded by Trustee Lentz 

 
VOICE VOTE  YEAS:   Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 

Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee 
Trezise, and Trustee Wilson 

 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
The meeting adjourned at 10:12 pm 

 
__________________________________ 

Scott Hendrickson 
Township Supervisor 

 
__________________________________ 

Angela Demas 
Township Clerk 





























9.D. 
 

To: Board Members 

From: Courtney Wisinski 
Director of Parks and Recreation 

 
Date: April 11, 2025 

Re: Celebrate Meridian Outdoor Gathering Permit Approval 
 

 
The Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department is the applicant for the Outdoor 
Gathering Permit Application for Celebrate Meridian Festival scheduled for Friday, June 27, 
2025 and Saturday, June 28, 2025 in Central Park and at Marketplace on the Green. 

Celebrate Meridian is a community-wide event that will feature live music, food trucks, beer 
tent, games and activities for families, historic village tours, and drone display at 
approximately 10:20 pm on Saturday, June 28, 2025. This year, we will also feature festivities 
at Marketplace on the Green on Friday, June 27, 2025 for teens. This evening event will include 
music, dancing and food. 

Township Ordinance requires the regulation, licensing, and control of gatherings which 
draws upon the health, sanitation, fire, police, transportation, utility, and other public 
services normally provided by the Township. The ordinance enumerates specific public 
safety standards that must be set. Therefore, the application was forwarded to the Fire, 
Police, and Community Planning & Development Departments and the Ingham County 
Health Department for inspection, review and approval. 

 
The following motion is proposed for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE OUTDOOR ASSEMBLY LICENSE FOR THE 
CELEBRATE MERIDIAN FESTIVAL TO BE HELD ON JUNE 27, 2025 AND 
JUNE 28, 2025 IN CENTRAL PARK AND MARKETPLACE ON THE GREEN. 

Attachments: 
1. Application for Outdoor Assembly License 
2. Map 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 



Charter Township of Meridian  
 

Application for Outdoor Assembly License 
 
 

I. Description of Applicant 
 

Name:  Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department       
 
Age:  N/A 
 
Residence Address:  5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI  48864 
 
Mailing Address:  2100 Gaylord C. Smith Court, Haslett, MI  48840 
 
 If Applicant is a partnership or association, provide the above information for all 
partners, officers and directors, or other sponsors.  If Applicant is a corporation, file its 
Articles of Incorporation, together with the names and address of all officers, directors, 
and shareholders having a financial interest greater than Five Hundred ($500.00) dollars 
therein.  Attach separate sheets containing such information. 
 

II. The purpose and character of the proposed assembly is as follows: 
 
Celebrate Meridian Festival– a community-wide event sponsored by Meridian Township 
on Saturday, June 28, 2025. Saturday’s activities will include live music, food trucks and 
restaurant booths, beer and wine tent, games and activities for families, children’s 
activity area with inflatable obstacle course, kiddie carnival rides, historic village tours, 
Nokomis Cultural Heritage Center demonstrations, Farmers’ Market, and drone display 
at approximately 10:15 pm. 

 
III. The proposed assembly is to be conducted at (address): 

 
Central Park, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos and  
Marketplace on the Green, 1995 Central Park Drive, Okemos 

 
The legal description of the premises is: 
 
Central Park – Meridian Township Municipal Building 
Marketplace on the Green 
 
The premises are owned by Applicant. 
 
If the premises are not owned by Applicant, attach an affidavit from the owner indicating 
his consent to use the site for the proposed assembly. 
 

IV. The dates and hours during which the proposed assembly is to be conducted are 
as follows: 
 
Saturday, June 28, 2025 

• Farmers’ Market - 8:00 am – 1:00 pm 
• Arts and Crafts Fair - 4:00 am – 9:00 pm 
• Historic Village activities - 2:00 pm – 6:00 pm 
• Central Park children’s activities - 4:00 pm – 9:00 pm 



Application for Outdoor Assembly License  Page2 

• Marketplace on the Green activities starting at 4:00 pm – midnight, including 
the cleanup 

 
V. Applicant estimates that the maximum number of persons expected at the 

assembly for each day it is conducted is:   
 
10,000 
 

VI. Applicant hereby agrees to observe and obey the minimum requirements 
contained in Chapter 65 of the Township Code of Ordinances, except that 
applicant requests that the Township Board grant a waiver of the following 
provisions:   

 
Section 65-9 Provision c: waive application fee 

 
The reasons in support of the requested waiver are as follows: 
 
This is a government operated community-wide celebration. 
 

VII. Attach a detailed explanation, including drawings and diagrams where applicable, 
of Applicant’s plans to provide for the following: 

 
1. Police and fire protection; 
2. Food and water supply and facilities  
3. Health and sanitation facilities  
4. Medical facilities and services, including emergency vehicles and equipment  
5. Vehicle access and parking facilities; 
6. Camping and trailer facilities; 
7. Illumination facilities; 
8. Communication facilities; 
9. Noise control and abatement; 
10. Facilities for clean-up and waste disposal; 
11. Insurance and bonding arrangement. 
 

In addition, attach a detailed map or maps of the overall site of the proposed assembly. 
 

Date:   April 11, 2025    
       Director of Parks and Recreation 
 
Received by Township Clerk’s Office: 
 
By: __________________________  Date:  ___________________________ 
 
Please submit five (5) copies of this Application and its attachments.  Copies shall be forwarded 
to the Township Police Chief, Fire Chief, Manager and the Ingham County Health Department, 
for their review, investigation and findings and recommendations, within twenty (20) day of 
the date this Application if filed. 

 
 





9.D. 
 

To: Board Members 

From: Courtney Wisinski 
Director of Parks and Recreation 

 
Date: April 11, 2025 

Re: Meridian Pride Outdoor Gathering Permit Approval 
 

 
The Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department is the applicant for the Outdoor 
Gathering Permit Application for Meridian Pride scheduled for Friday, May 31, 2025 at 
Marketplace on the Green. 

Meridian Pride is a community-wide event that will feature live music and performances, food 
trucks, beer tent, games and activities for families.  

Township Ordinance requires the regulation, licensing, and control of gatherings which 
draws upon the health, sanitation, fire, police, transportation, utility, and other public 
services normally provided by the Township. The ordinance enumerates specific public 
safety standards that must be set. Therefore, the application was forwarded to the Fire, 
Police, and Community Planning & Development Departments and the Ingham County 
Health Department for inspection, review and approval. 

 
The following motion is proposed for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE OUTDOOR ASSEMBLY LICENSE FOR THE 
MERIDIAN PRIDE TO BE HELD ON MAY 31, 2025 AT MARKETPLACE ON 
THE GREEN. 

Attachments: 
1. Application for Outdoor Assembly License 
2. Map 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 



Charter Township of Meridian  
 

Application for Outdoor Assembly License 
 

I. Description of Applicant 
 

Name:  Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department       
 
Age:  N/A 
 
Residence Address:  5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI  48864 
 
Mailing Address:  2100 Gaylord C. Smith Court, Haslett, MI  48840 
 
 If Applicant is a partnership or association, provide the above information for all 
partners, officers and directors, or other sponsors.  If Applicant is a corporation, file its 
Articles of Incorporation, together with the names and address of all officers, directors, 
and shareholders having a financial interest greater than Five Hundred ($500.00) dollars 
therein.  Attach separate sheets containing such information. 
 

II. The purpose and character of the proposed assembly is as follows: 
 
Meridian Pride Event is a community-wide event that will feature live music, food 
trucks, beer garden, games, educational vendors, and activities for families.  

 
III. The proposed assembly is to be conducted at (address): 

 
1995 Central Park Drive, Okemos 

 
The legal description of the premises is: 
 
Marketplace on the Green 
 
The premises are owned by Applicant. 
 
If the premises are not owned by Applicant, attach an affidavit from the owner indicating 
his consent to use the site for the proposed assembly. 
 

IV. The dates and hours during which the proposed assembly is to be conducted are 
as follows: 

 
Saturday, May 31, 2025 
(4:00 pm – 12:00 am, including setup and cleanup) 
 

V. Applicant estimates that the maximum number of persons expected at the 
assembly for each day it is conducted is:   
 
2,000  
 

VI. Applicant hereby agrees to observe and obey the minimum requirements 
contained in Chapter 65 of the Township Code of Ordinances, except that 
applicant requests that the Township Board grant a waiver of the following 
provisions:   



Application for Outdoor Assembly License  Page2 
 

Section 65-9 Provision c: waive application fee 
 

The reasons in support of the requested waiver are as follows: 
 
This is a government operated community-wide celebration. 
 

VII. Attach a detailed explanation, including drawings and diagrams where applicable, 
of Applicant’s plans to provide for the following: 

 
1. Police and fire protection; 
2. Food and water supply and facilities  
3. Health and sanitation facilities  
4. Medical facilities and services, including emergency vehicles and equipment  
5. Vehicle access and parking facilities; 
6. Camping and trailer facilities; 
7. Illumination facilities; 
8. Communication facilities; 
9. Noise control and abatement; 
10. Facilities for clean-up and waste disposal; 
11. Insurance and bonding arrangement. 
 

In addition, attach a detailed map or maps of the overall site of the proposed assembly. 
 

Date:   April 8, 2025       
        Director of Parks and Recreation 
 
Received by Township Clerk’s Office: 
 
By: __________________________  Date:  ___________________________ 
 
Please submit five (5) copies of this Application and its attachments.  Copies shall be forwarded 
to the Township Police Chief, Fire Chief, Manager and the Ingham County Health Department, 
for their review, investigation and findings and recommendations, within twenty (20) day of 
the date this Application if filed. 

 



00/00/00     XX     XX

N
:\
M
AP
S\
PA
RK

S\
20
24
_C
el
eb
ra
te
M
er
id
ia
n_
Be
er
Te
nt
.d
w
g

00/00/00     XX     XX

00/00/00     XX     XX

02/29/24     RS     DRAFT
1

TI
C

KE
TS

 &
EN

TR
AN

C
E

BEERGARDEN

PO
R

T-
A-

JO
N

SPO
R

T-
A-

JO
N

S

RED OUTLINE = BARRIER FENCING

Marketplace on the Green Beer Garden
1995 Central Park Drive

PERIMETER = 789.51 FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMENTS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1995 CENTRAL PARK DR 2024 CELEBRATE MERIDIAN EVENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
Meridian Charter Township    Ingham County, Michigan

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET



To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Township Board 

Courtney Wisinski, Director of Parks and Recreation 

April 8, 2025 

Meridian Pride Event Liquor License Application 

Meridian Township Parks and Recreation is requesting approval to apply for a one-day 
liquor license to sell beer at the 2025 Meridian Pride Event event scheduled for Saturday, May 
31, 2025. The license type is a Special License Application which is issued by the Michigan 
Liquor Control Commission (MLCC), under authority from the Michigan Department of 
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs (LARA). A certified copy of a resolution of the Township 
Board authorizing the license request must be included in the application to the State. 

For municipalities, the license fee for the “Special License” is $50. The license is good for one 
day, with sales restricted to 7:00 a.m. until 2:00 a.m., the following day. The Meridian Pride 
Event liquor sales will run from approximately 5:00 pm until 10:00 pm on May 31, 2025. The 
Meridian Township Parks and Recreation is prepared to provide a secure site with appropriate 
barriers as required per law, and monitor and restrict beer/wine sales from visibly intoxicated 
persons and minors. 

• MOTION TO APPROVE THE MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP PARKS AND RECREATION
REQUEST TO APPLY FOR ONE-DAY LIQUOR LICENSE FROM THE MICHIGAN
LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSION (MLCC) FOR THE MERIDIAN PRIDE EVENT ON
MAY 31, 2025.

Attachments: 
1. Resolution to approve Meridian Pride Event special license application
2. Map of proposed Beer Garden for Meridian Pride Event
3. Special License Application

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community 

9.E.



 
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE 
LIQUOR LICENSE REQUEST 

2025 MERIDIAN PRIDE EVENT 
 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
 

At the regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 15th 

day of April at 6:00 p.m. local time. 
 

PRESENT:   

 
 

ABSENT: 
 

The following resolution was offered by  and supported by  . 
 

WHEREAS, Meridian Township Parks and Recreation has requested Township Board 
approval to apply for a one-day liquor license to sell beer from the Michigan Liquor 
Control Commission (MLCC) at the Meridian Pride Event scheduled for Saturday; May 31 2025; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Meridian Township Parks and Recreation will operate beer sales at 

Marketplace on the Green, 1995 Central Park Drive, in conformance with all applicable laws 
as established in the provisions of the one-day liquor license; and 

WHEREAS, the Meridian Pride Event is a community-wide event that will feature live 
music, food trucks, beer garden, games, educational vendors, and activities for families. 

 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby approves of applying for a one-day liquor license from the MLCC 
for sale of beer and wine at the Meridian Pride Event on Saturday, May 31, 2025. 

 
 
 

ADOPTED: YEAS:   

NAYS: 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 



 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

Township Board 
April 16, 2024 
RE: Resolution to Approve 
Liquor License Request Meridian Pride Event 
Page 2 

 

 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Charter Township of Meridian, 

Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and a complete copy of 
a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 15th day of April, 2024. 

 
 
 

Angela Demas 
Township Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 



















Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

9. F

To: Board Members 

From: Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 

Date: April 15, 2025 

Re: Resolution Supporting Frontline Worker Appreciation Month 

Every day, frontline workers show up for us—from teachers shaping the future to healthcare 
workers saving lives, from firefighters and EMS rushing into emergencies— frontline workers 
keep our communities safe, healthy, and thriving. 

Whether it's wildfires, floods, pandemics, a cold, a cat in a tree, or reading comprehension 
—frontline workers are there. Even as resources become more limited and challenges multiply, 
they continue to serve. 

That’s why this May, we’re making it loud and clear: We see you. We appreciate you. We’ve got 
your back. 

A motion is prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION SUPPORTING FRONTLINE WORKER 

APPRECIATION MONTH 

Attachment: 

1. Resolution Supporting Frontline Worker Appreciation Month



 RESOLUTION SUPPORTING FRONTLINE WORKER APPRECIATION MONTH 

At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held on the 15th day of April 2025, at 6:00 pm local time. 

PRESENT: 

ABSENT: 

The following resolution was offered by______and supported 
by__________________________________ 

WHEREAS, frontline workers are the builders of our community, exercising curiosity, 
compassion, courage, and creativity to provide essential services that ensure the safety, health, and 
education of our residents; 

WHEREAS, over 9 million healthcare workers across the United States serve in hospitals, 
clinics, and long-term care facilities, often placing themselves at risk to provide lifesaving care; 

WHEREAS, firefighters respond to an estimated 36 million emergency calls each year, over 
800,000 sworn law enforcement officers nationwide work tirelessly to uphold the law and ensure 
public safety, and emergency medical services (EMS) personnel respond to more than 240 million 
calls annually; 

WHEREAS, teachers dedicate their careers to shaping the future of our communities, with 
over 3.7 million educators in the U.S. providing knowledge and guidance to our youth; 

WHEREAS, frontline workers embody the essence of Builders - flexible thinkers and 
constructive problem solvers who respect the dignity of all people - by dedicating themselves to 
overcoming challenges and uniting communities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, that Meridian Township shall proclaim 
the month of May 2025, as “Frontline Worker Appreciation Month.”  Meridian Township 
encourages all residents to join in recognizing and honoring the heroic contributions of our 
healthcare workers, firefighters, law enforcement officers, EMS personnel, and teachers. 

ADOPTED:  YEAS: 
  NAYS: 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
)  ss 

COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Township Board of the Charter 



Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true 
and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 15th 
day of April 2025. 

Angela Demas, Clerk  
Charter Township of Meridian 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

9.G

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Township Board

Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 

April 10, 2025 

Communications Commission Appointment

At the regular meeting held on March 26, 2025, the Communications Commission put forth a 
recommendation to approve Megan English’s application for membership on the Commission.  

The following motion has been prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE APPOINTMENT OF MEGAN ENGLISH TO THE COMMUNICATIONS 
COMMISSION WITH A TERM ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2026. 

Attachment: 

1. Public Service Application



* 1. I am interested in service on one or more of the following public bodies as checked below:
Communications Commission *

* 2. Summarize your reasons for applying to do this type of service
My reason for applying to the Communications Commission is tied to my education and work experience and a desire to connect with my community. I work as a trained
evaluator and highly value collaboration and communication. Great things happen in our communities, and presenting those findings in new and dynamic ways is a challenge
I enjoy. In my education, I have spent years learning about the value of communicating with residents about the latest information and bright spots in the community.

* 3. Describe education, experience or training which will assist you if appointed.
I obtained a Bachelor of Political Science and a Master of Public Administration and interned with San Jose Mayor Sam Liccardo as a Communications intern. In my
professional roles as an Evaluation Manager and previously as an Operations Coordinator, I have worked in teams that are conducting listening sessions, dispatching
surveys, and presenting findings with stakeholders. As an Operations Coordinator, I held budgeting and document retention responsibilities.

(Attach resume if available)

* Full Name
Megan English

* Occupation
Evaluation Manager

* Place of Employment
Alliance for a Healthier Generation

* Home Address

* Phone (Day)

* Phone (Evening)

* Email

* Please type your name in the box below as a digital signature
Megan English

* Date and Time
01/22/2025

Other than the Downtown Development Authority Board, the Corridor Improvement Authority, and the Economic Development Corporation, persons appointed to Meridian
Township boards and commissions must be a resident and elector (if of voting age) of the Township during the term of office. Excessive absences may be cause for review
of appointment. The policy for appointment of candidates to the various public service positions is based on the following criteria: desire to serve, experience, expertise,
availability of time to serve, and maintenance of equitable geographic representation. In most instances it will be desirable to develop further information through a
personal interview. This application will be retained in township files for two years.

Page | 1







 
 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

9. H 

To:  Board Members 

From:  Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 

Date:  April 10, 2025 

Re:  Planning Commission Appointment 

 

There is currently one vacancy on the Planning Commission with a term ending 12/31/27.   

William Fowler submitted an Application for Public Service to request an appointment to the 
Planning Commission.  He has over forty years of experience working in local, county, and state 
government and is a Haslett resident.  

The following motion is proposed for Board consideration:   

MOVE TO APPROVE THE APPOINTMENT MADE BY SUPERVISOR HENDRICKSON OF 

WILLIAM FOWLER TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION FOR A TERM ENDING 

12/31/2027.  

 
 



* 1. I am interested in service on one or more of the following public bodies as checked below:
Assessing Board of Review *
Board of Water and Light Representative *
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority *
Building and/or Fire Board of Appeals and Building Hearing Officer
Capital Area Transportation Authority (C.A.T.A.)
Communications Commission *
Community Resources Commission
Corridor Improvement Authority *
Downtown Development Authority *
East Lansing-Meridian Water & Sewer Authority
Economic Development Corporation
Elected Officials Compensation Commission *
Environmental Commission
Lake Lansing Watershed Advisory Committee *
Land Preservation Advisory Committee
Park Commission (elected/appointed)
Pension Trustees
Planning Commission
Township Board (elected/appointed)
Zoning Board of Appeals

* 2. Summarize your reasons for applying to do this type of service
After serving on the Absentee Voter Counting Board this year, would like expand my service to Meridian Township in a formal manner. During my period of active
employment I have held governmental positions at the local, county, and state levels.

* 3. Describe education, experience or training which will assist you if appointed.
BA degree Secondary Education 47 + years of employment at local, county, and state levels. Both support level and administrative level. 16 years - part-time faculty at
Lansing Community College . Former Property Valuation/Assessment Administration Program..

(Attach resume if available)
**SKIPPED**

* Full Name
William Fowler

* Occupation
Assessor (Part-time)

* Place of Employment
Flint Township

* Home Address

* Phone (Day)

* Phone (Evening)

* Email

* Please type your name in the box below as a digital signature
William E Fowler

* Date and Time
11/18/2024

Other than the Downtown Development Authority Board, the Corridor Improvement Authority, and the Economic Development Corporation, persons appointed to Meridian
Township boards and commissions must be a resident and elector (if of voting age) of the Township during the term of office. Excessive absences may be cause for review
of appointment. The policy for appointment of candidates to the various public service positions is based on the following criteria: desire to serve, experience, expertise,
availability of time to serve, and maintenance of equitable geographic representation. In most instances it will be desirable to develop further information through a
personal interview. This application will be retained in township files for two years.

Page | 1



























9.J

To: Board Members 

From: Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 
Director of Public Works and Engineering 

Date: April 10, 2025 

Re: Addendum to Sewer Contract and Agreement of January 17, 1961 

In order to effectively and efficiently treat our sanitary wastewater, the Township has successfully 
partnered with the city of East Lansing and Michigan State University since 1961. This partnership 
has allowed all three entities to save significant costs for our respective customers by not 
operating and maintaining duplicative infrastructure, the most notable of which is the Water 
Resource Recovery Facility (WRRF). The WRRF is the facility where all of our sanitary wastewater 
goes to be treated. 

We are in the final stages of planning three capital improvement projects with the City of East 
Lansing and Michigan State University. In order to fund the improvements estimated at 
$46,874,357, we will be utilizing the Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) to bond over 20 
years at 2.5% interest for $42,223,000.  

In order to be eligible for CWSRF funding, we must have contractual agreements in place between 
the three ownership entities that extend beyond the 20-year bond repayment period. This 
addendum will simply extend the existing agreement with the city of East Lansing and Michigan 
State University through 2050 to meet these requirements for CWSRF funding. There are no other 
changes being made to the existing agreement. 

The first project involves the separation of combined sewers in the city of East Lansing on River 
Street, Waters Edge, Woodmere Street, Gunson Street, Milford Street, and the Wilmarth Area, 
through the conversion of existing combined storm/sanitary sewers to either separate storm 
sewers or sanitary sewers and the construction of new complimentary storm sewers or sanitary 
sewers as appropriate, the reduction of sanitary sewer, and combined sewer overflows to the Red 
Cedar River, stormwater quality improvements, and the construction of a flow control structure to 
meet EGLE’s current standards.  

This project is estimated to cost $19,305,257 in total. Meridian Township’s share would be 
$1,213,194, or 6.28%, which is based on the amount of sanitary sewer flow the Township has 
through this infrastructure. This cost share is governed by the existing agreement.  

The second project involves capital improvements to the WRRF administration and controls 
building, including repurposing of building spaces occupied by obsolete and abandoned 
equipment previously used for incineration, solids storage, solids dewatering, and handling 
processes in order to construct staff offices, a central control operations center, and laboratory 



 

 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Memo to Township Board 
April 1, 2025 
Re: Sewer Contract and Agreement of January 17, 1961 

improvements. This project will also bring the WRRF up to current ADA standards; provide 
equitable facilities for female employees; utilize excess heat from the combined heat and power 
unit to heat the administration building and galleries; and upgrading the existing laboratory and 
the sampling systems to modern standards. 
 
The this project also involves improvements to the WRRF, including bringing the existing 
treatment system’s operations and controls up to modern standards, including without limitation, 
solids handling piping modifications and instrumentation improvements, improvements to the 
aeration tank instrumentation and controls, modifications to the WRRF effluent reaeration 
chamber, RAS headbox modifications, construction of a vactor dump station, and modifications to 
the equalization basin; as well as all work, equipment, and appurtenances necessary or incidental 
to these improvements and such other improvements to the Sewage Disposal System.  
 
This project is estimated to cost $27,569,000 in total. Meridian Township’s share would be 
$9,097,770, or 33.33%. This cost share is governed by the existing agreement.  
 
The following motion has been prepared for the Board’s consideration: 
 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE ADDENDUM TO SEWER CONTRACT AND AGREEMENT OF 
JANUARY 17, 1961, AS AMENDED, AND AUTHORIZE THE TOWNSHIP SUPERVISOR 
AND CLERK TO EXECUTE THE ADDENDUM. 

Attachments:  
 

1. 2025 Addendum to Sewer Contract and Agreement with the City of East Lansing 



 

 

ADDENDUM TO THE SEWER CONTRACT  

AND AGREEMENT OF JANUARY I 7, I 961 AS AMENDED 

 
This Contract made this __________ day of _______, 2025, between the CITY OF EAST 

LANSING (hereinafter referred to as the "City") and the CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
(hereinafter referred to as the "Township"), both being Municipal Corporations of the County of Ingham, 
State of Michigan, having hereto executed Agreements for the City of East Lansing to provide sewer 
service to Meridian Township with the original agreement dated January 17, 1961, say as follows:  

 
WHEREAS, the Agreement of January 17, 1961, as supplemented and amended from time to time, 

provides for the transmission of sewage from the Charter Township of Meridian to the City of East Lansing, 
and determines the rights, duties and liabilities of the parties, and; 

 
WHEREAS, one of the lines transporting  sewage from Meridian Township is the East Side 

Interceptor, which has been the subject of a number of contracts and addendums thereto, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the City and Township have established formulas for determining the Township's 

proportionate share of the annual cost of operation, maintenance, and repair of the East Lansing sewer 
system, and: 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Township have agreed to proceed with the following two projects as part 

of the EGLE FY 2025 CWSRF Project: (1) River and Waters Edge Sewer District Improvements including 
Milford-Gunson Improvements and Wilmarth-Woodmere Relief and (2) WRRF Operational Facilities and 
Treatment Optimization Improvements, and have agreed to share the cost consistent with the manner in 
which the parties have previously shared the annual costs of operation, maintenance and repair; 
 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. The Township agrees to pay a portion of the future debt service for the construction of the two 
projects in accordance with the existing agreements. 

 
2. The parties hereto agree that the general sewer contract dated January 17, 1961, as supplemented, 

between the City and Township covering the sanitary sewers and sewage disposal system used by the 
City and the Township is hereby amended to the extent necessary by reason of the specific provisions 
of this Agreement: Provided, however, that every other section, paragraph, clause and word of said 
general sewer contract and supplements between the City and the Township not inconsistent herewith 
shall in all other respects remain in full force and effect. 

 
3. This contract shall be in full force and affect until no less than December 31, 2050, and shall inure 

to the benefit of and be binding upon the pai1ies hereto, their successors and assigns. 



 
WITNESSES:      CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

 
 

_______________________________    BY: _______________________________ 
      Scott Hendrickson 

Supervisor 
 

_______________________________             BY: _______________________________ 
      Angela Demas 

Clerk 
 
 
          CITY OF EAST LANSING 
 
 

_______________________________            BY: _______________________________ 
      George Brookover        

Mayor 
 

_______________________________     BY: _______________________________ 
      Amy Gordon 

Clerk 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

12.A

To: Township Board  

From: Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP, Director of Community Planning and Development 

Date: April 11, 2025 

Re: Special Use Permit #25-03 – Okemos Land Investments – 4360 South Hagadorn 
Road – Recreational Marijuana Retailer 

Okemos land Investments has requested special use permit approval to construct an approximately 
2,030 square foot recreational marihuana retailer at 4360 South Hagadorn Road. The 0.62 acre site is 
located just south of Mount Hope Road, on the east side of South Hagadorn Road, and is zoned RP, 
Research and Office Park. The property is located within the Marihuana Business Overlay District 4. 
The site was in the original overlay area for potential medical marijuana licenses and is still in the 
amended overlay districts that were approved by the Township Board. This special use permit 
application follows the Township Board’s approval of the adult use marijuana conditional license on 
May 9, 2024.   

The Planning Commission held a public hearing on the proposal at its meeting on March 10, 2025 and 
there was no public comment. The matter was further discussed by the Planning Commission at their 
March 24, 2024 meeting where the Commission recommended approval to the Township Board. The 
Township Board reviewed the matter at their April 3, 2025 meeting and no major concerns were raised. 

The majority of the conversation surrounded the upcoming timeframes for the facility to open and be 
operational. Staff wants to take this opportunity to put in writing the time ‘gates’ the project needs to 
meet in order to open. As a reminder, the Conditional Recreational Marijuana License was granted by 
the Township Board on May 9, 2024. 

- SUP submission must occur within 60 days of granting a conditional recreational marijuana
license. The applicant met this standard in 2024.

- All building and other permits must be obtained within 12 months of the issuance of the
conditional recreational marijuana license. This gives the applicant until May 9, 2025 to obtain 
all construction permits on the site. This can be extended once at the discretion of the Director
of Community Planning and Development, upon showing good cause.

- The facility must commence operation within 18 months of the issuance of a conditional
recreational marijuana license. This gives the applicant until November 9, 2025 to open the
facility. The Township Board can extend this once for six additional months.

As a reminder, Staff is providing the Special Use Permit criteria for direct review by the Board members. 
There are no additional review criteria under the Zoning Ordinance for the matter in question.  

Sec. 86-126 Review Criteria 
Applications for special use permits shall be reviewed for compliance with the following 
standards and requirements, where applicable. An application for a special use permit that 
complies with all the following standards and requirements in this chapter may be approved. 
The applicant shall assure that: 

(1) The project is consistent with the intent and purposes of this chapter.



2 
Special Use Permit 25-03 – Recreational Marijuana Retailer 
Okemos Land Investments – 4360 South Hagadorn 
 

(2) The project is consistent with applicable land use policies contained in the 
Township's comprehensive development plan of current adoption. 

(3) The project is designed, constructed, operated, and maintained so as to be 
harmonious and appropriate in appearance with the existing or intended character 
of the general vicinity and that such a use will not change the essential character of 
the same area. 

(4) The project will not adversely affect or be hazardous to existing neighboring uses. 
(5) The project will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of surrounding properties 

or the community. 
(6) The project is adequately served by public facilities, such as existing roads, schools, 

stormwater drainage, public safety, public transportation, and public recreation, or 
that the persons or agencies responsible for the establishment of the proposed use 
shall be able to provide any such service. 

(7) The project is adequately served by public sanitation facilities if so designed. If on-
site sanitation facilities for sewage disposal, potable water supply, and stormwater 
are proposed, they shall be properly designed and capable of handling the long term 
needs of the proposed project. 

(8) The project will not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, and equipment and 
conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property, or the 
general welfare by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, 
glare, or odors. 

(9) The project will not directly or indirectly have a substantial adverse impact on the 
natural resources of the Township, including, but not limited to, prime agricultural 
soils, water recharge areas, lakes, rivers, streams, major forests, wetlands, and 
wildlife areas. 

 
Staff has identified no concerns in reviewing the Special Use Permit criteria, based on the application 
submitted and the previously reviewed licensing information, and would recommend approval of 
the Special Use Permit. Staff has provided the following recommended motion and attached resolution 
to approve the Special Use Permit.  
 

Move to adopt the resolution approving Special Use Permit 25-03, a request to establish 
a recreational marijuana retailer at 4360 South Hagadorn Road (Parcel Id No 33-02-02-
29-151-003). The subject property is zoned RP, Research and Office Park, and the 
property is located within the Marijuana Business Overlay District #4. 

 
Attachments 
1. Resolution for Approval 
2. Township Board Packet Information from April 3, 2025 meeting 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE Special Use Permit #25-03 
 Okemos Land Investments – 4360 South Hagadorn 
 Recreational Marihuana Retailer 
 

RESOLUTION 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 on the 15th day of April 2025, at 
6:00 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: ___________________________________________________________________________________________________   
 
 The following resolution was offered by _________________ and supported by ___________________. 
 

WHEREAS, Okemos Land Investments has submitted a request to establish a 2,030 
square foot adult use marihuana retailer at 4360 South Hagadorn Road, identified as Parcel 
I.D.# 33-02-02-29-151-003; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Board adopted standards to allow adult use marihuana retailers in 
designated overlay areas throughout the Township at its meeting on July 11, 2023; and 

 
WHEREAS, the subject site is located entirely within Overlay Area 4 and is appropriately 

zoned RP, Research and Office Park, which allows adult use marihuana retailers by special use 
permit; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Township Board approved the permit for an adult use marihuana conditional 

license on the subject property at its meeting on May 9, 2024; and 
 
WHEREAS, the overlay areas adopted by the Township Board allow one adult use marihuana 

retailer in each one of five overlay areas, subject to the approval of a special use permit reviewed by 
the Planning Commission and approved by the Township Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, the applicant was required to submit for Special Use Permit approval within 60 
days of the Board’s approval of their conditional license, which the applicant did with their initial 
submission; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Planning Commission held a public hearing on the Special Use 
Permit application at their regular meeting on March 10, 2025 and recommended approval to the 
Township Board at their meeting on March 24, 2025; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Board reviewed the request at their April 3, 2025 meeting; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed adult use marihuana retailer will not adversely affect adjacent land 

uses or the health, safety, and general welfare of the community; and 
 



Resolution to Approve 
SUP #25-03 (Okemos Land Investments) 
Page 2 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed project meets the operational requirement for marihuana 
establishments found in Section 40-71 of the Code of Ordinances. 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with the general standards for granting a 

special use permit found in Section 86-126 of the Code of Ordinances. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby approves Special Use Permit #25-03, subject to the following 
conditions: 

 
1. Approval is in accordance with the site plan prepared by Gumma Group dated January 

27, 2025. 
 

2. Approval is in accordance with the floor plans prepared by Gumma Group dated January 
30, 2025.   

 
3. Approval of SUP #25-03 is required to be followed by site plan approval.  

 
4. Any proposed future changes to the scope of the SUP will require an amendment to 

Special Use Permit #25-03. 
 
5. Approval is subject to the applicant receiving approval of an Adult Use Marihuana Facility 

permit by the Director of Community Planning and Development. 
 

6. Approval is subject to the applicant receiving Final Approval for an adult use marihuana 
license from the State of Michigan, Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs. 

 
7. The applicant shall obtain and maintain any and all other applicable permits, licenses, 

and approvals necessary to operate the proposed commercial medical marihuana 
retailer from the State of Michigan, Township, and any other applicable agencies. Copies 
of all permits, licenses, and approvals shall be submitted to the Department of 
Community Planning and Development.  

 
8. A sign permit shall be required to install a wall sign on the building. 

 
9. The retailer shall remain in compliance with the operational requirements established 

in Section 40-31 of the Code of Ordinances. 
 

10. The special use permit shall be revoked if the applicant fails to maintain a valid Adult 
Use Marihuana Facility permit from the Township and Facility License from the State of 
Michigan. 

 
 
ADOPTED: YEAS: __________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
  __________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                            
  NAYS: __________________________________________________________________________________________ 



Resolution to Approve 
SUP #25-03 (Okemos Land Investments) 
Page 3 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Township Board of the Charter 
Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true 
and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 15th 
day of April, 2025. 

______________________________  
Angela Demas 
Township Clerk 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

Previous Packet 
Information

To: Board Members  

From: Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP, Community Planning and Development Director 

Date: March 27, 2025 

Re: Special Use Permit #25-03 –Okemos Land Investments – 4360 South Hagadorn 
– Recreational Marijuana Retailer

Okemos Land Investments has submitted a Special Use Permit (SUP) application for the construction 
of a 2,030 square foot adult use marijuana retailer at 4360 South Hagadorn Road. The Subject 
Property is approximately 0.62 acres in size and is zoned RP, Research and Office Park. The property 
is located on the east side of Hagadorn Road, south of Mount Hope. The site was in the original overlay 
area for potential medical marijuana licenses and is still in the amended overlay districts that were 
approved by the Township Board for recreational marijuana. This special use permit application 
follows the Township Board’s approval of the adult use marijuana conditional license on May 9, 2024.  

This is an updated application from the first Special Use Permit submitted for the site. The original 
submittal would have retained and renovated the existing structure on the site. After detailed reviewed, 
the applicant determined that was not feasible, so they have moved on to a new construction model. 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on the proposal at its meeting on March 10, 2025 and 
received no input from the general public. The Planning Commission further discussed the matter at 
their March 24, 2025 meeting and voted unanimously to approve the Special Use Permit to operate 
an recreational marijuana retailer.  

Staff memorandums outlining the SUP request and minutes from the Planning Commission meetings at 
which the request was discussed are attached for the Board’s review. 

Township Board Options 
The Township Board may approve or deny the proposed special use permit. If the Board amends the 
proposal, the request may be referred back to the Planning Commission for a recommendation. A 
resolution will be provided at a future meeting.  

Attachments 
1. Application Information
2. Staff memorandums dated March 10, 2025 and March 24, 2025
3. Planning Commission resolution recommending approval
4. Planning Commission minutes dated March 10, 2025 (Public Hearing) and March 24,

2025 (Recommendation)



 
Page 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 

5151 MARSH ROAD, OKEMOS, MI  48864 
PLANNING DIVISION PHONE: (517) 853-4560,  FAX: (517) 853-4095 

 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION 

 

Before  submitting  this  application  for  review,  an  applicant  may  meet  with  the  Director  of  Community 
Planning  and  Development  to  discuss  the  requirements  for  a  special  use  permit  and/or  submit  a 
conceptual plan for review to have preliminary technical deficiencies addressed prior to submittal of the 
application.  If the property or land use is located in the following zoning districts RD, RC, RCC, RN then 
the applicant must meet with the Planning Director to discuss technical difficulties before filing a formal 
application.  
 

Part I 
A. Applicant ____________________________________________________________________________ 
 Address of Applicant ___________________________________________________________________ 
 Telephone - Work  ______________  Home ______________ Fax  ______________ Email __________ 
 Interest in property (circle one): Owner  Tenant  Option  Other 
 (Please attach a list of all persons with an ownership interest in the property.) 
 
B. Site address / location / parcel number ____________________________________________________ 
 Legal description (please attach if necessary) _______________________________________________ 
 Current zoning _______________________________________________________________________ 
 Use for which permit is requested / project name ____________________________________________  
 Corresponding ordinance number ________________________________________________________  
                                                                                                                          
C. Developer (if different than applicant) _____________________________________________________ 
 Address ____________________________________________________________________________ 
 Telephone – Work ____________________ Home __________________ Fax ____________________ 
 
D. Architect, Engineer Planner or Surveyor responsible for design of project if different from applicant: 
 Name ______________________________________________________________________________ 
 Address ____________________________________________________________________________ 
 Telephone – Work ___________________ Home ____________________Fax  ___________________ 
 
E. Acreage of all parcels in the project: Gross _____ Net _____ 
 
F. Explain the project and development phases: 
 
G. Total number of: 
 Existing: structures_____  bedrooms____  offices____  parking spaces____  carports ___ garages_____ 

Proposed: structures____ bedrooms____  offices____  parking spaces____  carports ___ garages_____ 
     
H. Square footage:  existing buildings____ proposed buildings____ 
 Usable Floor area:  existing buildings____ proposed buildings____ 
 
I. If employees will work on the site, state the number of full time and part time employees working per shift 

and hours of operation: 
 
J. Existing Recreation:   Type _____________________________________ Acreage _________ 
 Proposed Recreation:   Type _____________________________________ Acreage _________ 
 Existing Open Space:   Type _____________________________________ Acreage _________ 
 Proposed Open Space: Type _____________________________________ Acreage _________ 

Okemos Local Investments LLC
4360 S Hagadorn Rd
248-914-0631

                                   4360 S Hagadorn Rd                33-02-02-29-151-003
                                                 Please see attached.
Research and Office Park (RP)
                                                   Marihuana Retailer
                           Ord. No. 2022-19

Gumma Group
7419 Middlebelt Rd, Suite 4, West Bloomfield, MI 48322
(248)-865-5555

                                        0.621           

                                                 Please see attached.

1                                                                                          12

                                 2587                                     2030

         10 employees – 9 am to 9 pm public hours; 8am to 10pm total hours

pernickprogressive
@gmail.com

Docusign Envelope ID: AC2062EB-838D-4933-92E5-9B755FECD94D



 
Page 2 

 
K. If Multiple Housing: 
 Total acres of property  ______________ 
 Acres in floodplain __________________ Percent of total _____                                            
 Acres in wetland (not in floodplain) _____ Percent of total _____                           
 Total dwelling units _________________  
 Dwelling unit mix: Number of single family detached:  for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
    Number of duplexes:    for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
    Number of townhouses:   for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
    Number of garden style apartments:  for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
    Number of other dwellings:   for Rent _____ Condo _____ 
 
L. The following support materials must be submitted with the application: 
 

 1. Nonrefundable Fee.  
 

 2. Legal Description of the property.  
 

 3. Evidence of fee or other ownership of the property.  
 

 4. Site Plan containing the information listed in the attachment to this application.  
 

 5. Architectural sketches showing all sides and elevations of the proposed buildings or structures, 
including  the  project  entrance,  as  they  will  appear  upon  completion.    The  sketches  should  be 
accompanied  by  material  samples  or  a  display  board  of  the  proposed  exterior  materials  and 
colors.   

 

 6. A  Traffic  Study,  prepared  by  a  qualified  traffic  engineer,  based  on  the  most  current  edition  of 
Evaluating Traffic Impact Studies: A Recommended Practice for Michigan Communities, 
published by the State Department of Transportation.  

   

a. A traffic assessment will be required for the following: 
   1)   New special uses which could, or expansion or change of an existing special use 

where  increase  in  intensity  would,  generate  between  50  to  99  directional  trips 
during a peak hour of traffic. 

   2)  All other special uses requiring a traffic assessment as specified in the Township 
Code of Ordinances, Chapter 86, Article IV, Division 2. 

   

b. A traffic impact study will be required for the following: 
   1) New special uses which would, or expansion or change of an existing special use 

where  increase  in  intensity  would,  generate  over  100  directional  trips  or  more 
during a peak hour of traffic, or over 750 trips on an average day. 

   2)  All other special uses requiring a traffic assessment as specified in the Township 
Code of Ordinances, Chapter 86, Article IV, Division 2. 

 

 7. Natural features assessment which includes a written description of the anticipated impacts on the 
natural features at each phase and at project completion that contains the following: 

 

  a. An inventory of natural features proposed to be retained, removed, or modified.  Natural 
features  shall  include,  but  are  not  limited  to,  wetlands,  significant  stands  of  trees  or 
individual trees greater than 12 inches dbh, floodways, floodplains, waterbodies, identified 
groundwater  vulnerable  areas,  slopes  greater  than  20  percent,  ravines,  and  vegetative 
cover types with potential to sustain significant or endangered wildlife. 

 

  b. Description of the impacts on natural features. 
 

  c. Description of any proposed efforts to mitigate any negative impacts. 
 

The  natural  features  assessment  may  be  waived  by  the  Director  of  Community  Planning  and 
Development in certain circumstances. 

   

Please see attached.

                       Please see attached site plan.

                                                                   Please see attached site plan.

No change in natural features as this is a re-model / asphalt parking lot in the back.

Docusign Envelope ID: AC2062EB-838D-4933-92E5-9B755FECD94D



 
Page 3 

M. Any  other  information  specified  by  the  Director  of  Community  Planning  and  Development  which  is 
deemed necessary to evaluate the application. 

 
N. In  addition  to  the  above  requirements,  for  zoning  districts,  RD,  RC,  RCC,  RN,  and  CV  and  Group 

Housing Residential Developments the following is required: 
 
 1. Existing  and  proposed  contours  of  the  property  at  two  foot  intervals  based  on  United  States 

Geological Survey (USGS) data. 
 2. Preliminary  engineering  reports  in  accordance  with  the  adopted  Township  water  and  sewer 

standards, together with a letter of review from the Township Engineer. 
 3. Ten copies of a report on the intent and scope of the project including, but not limited to: Number, 

size, volume, and dimensions of buildings; number and size of living units; basis of calculations of 
floor area and density and required parking; number, size, and type of parking spaces; 
architectural sketches of proposed buildings. 

 4. Seven copies of the project plans which the Township shall submit to local agencies for review 
and comments. 

 
O. In addition to the above requirements, a special use application in zoning district RP requires the following 

material as part of the site plan: 
 
 1. A  description  of  the  operations  proposed  in  sufficient  detail  to  indicate  the  effects  of  those 

operations in producing traffic congestion, noise, glare, air pollution, water pollution, fire hazards 
or safety hazards or the emission of any potentially harmful or obnoxious matter or radiation. 

 2. Engineering  and  architectural  plans  for  the  treatment  and  disposal  of  sewerage  and  industrial 
waste tailings, or unusable by-products. 

 3. Engineering  and  architectural  plans  for  the  handling  of  any  excessive  traffic congestion, noise, 
glare, air pollution, or the emission of any potentially harmful or obnoxious matter or radiation. 

 
P. In  addition  to  the  above  requirements,  a  special  use  application  for  a  use  in  the  Floodway  Fringe  of 

zoning district CV requires the following: 
 
 1. A letter of approval from the State Department of Environmental Quality. 
 2. A location map including existing topographic data at two-foot interval contours at a scale of one 

inch representing 100 feet. 
 3. A map showing proposed grading and drainage plans including the location of all public drainage 

easements, the limits, extent, and elevations of the proposed fill, excavation, and occupation. 
 4. A  statement  from  the  County Drain Commissioner, County Health Department, and Director of 

Public Works and Engineering indicating that they have reviewed and approved the proposal. 
 
Q. In addition to the above requirements, a special use application for a use in the Groundwater Recharge 

area or zoning district CV requires the following: 
 
 1. A location map including existing topographic data at two-foot interval contours. 
 2. A map showing proposed grading and drainage plans including the location of all public drainage 

easements, the limits and extent of the proposed fill, excavation, and occupation. 
 3. A  statement  from  the  County Drain Commissioner, County Health Department, and Director of 

Public Works and Engineering indicating that they have reviewed and approved the proposal.  
 
R. In addition to the above requirements, the Township Code of Ordinances, Article VI, should be reviewed 

for the following special uses: group housing residential developments, mobile home parks, 
nonresidential  structures  and  uses  in  residential  districts,  planned  community  and  regional  shopping 
center  developments,  sand  or  gravel  pits  and  quarries,  sod  farms,  junk  yards,  sewage  treatment  and 
disposal installations, camps and clubs for outdoor sports and buildings greater than 25,000 square feet 
in gross floor area. 

                                                                       Please see the attached business operations plan. 

Please see the attached business operations plan which includes a description of our cannabis waste disposal procedure.

Docusign Envelope ID: AC2062EB-838D-4933-92E5-9B755FECD94D



 
Page 4 

Part II      SUP REQUEST STANDARDS 
Township Code of Ordinances, Section 86-126 

 
Applications for Special Land Uses will be reviewed with the standards stated below.  An application that 
complies  with  the  standards  stated  in  the  Township  Ordinance,  conditions  imposed  pursuant  to  the 
Ordinance, other applicable Ordinances, and State and Federal statutes will be approved. Your 
responses to the questions below will assist the Planning Commission in its review of your application.   

(1) The project is consistent with the intent and purposes of this chapter. 

(2) The project is consistent with applicable land use policies contained in the Township's Master Plan of 
current adoption. 

(3) The project is designed, constructed, operated, and maintained so as to be harmonious and 
appropriate in appearance with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and that such a 
use will not change the essential character of the same area. 

(4) The project will not adversely affect or be hazardous to existing neighboring uses. 
 
(5) The project will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of surrounding properties or the community. 
 
(6) The  project  is  adequately  served  by  public  facilities,  such  as  existing  roads,  schools,  stormwater 

drainage,  public  safety,  public  transportation,  and  public  recreation,  or  that  the  persons  or  agencies 
responsible for the establishment of the proposed use shall be able to provide any such service. 

 
(7) The  project  is  adequately  served  by  public  sanitation  facilities  if  so  designed.  If  on-site  sanitation 

facilities  for  sewage  disposal,  potable  water  supply,  and  storm  water  are  proposed,  they  shall  be 
properly designed and capable of handling the longterm needs of the proposed project. 

 
(8) The  project  will  not  involve  uses,  activities,  processes,  materials,  and  equipment  and  conditions  of 

operation  that  will  be  detrimental  to  any  persons,  property,  or  the  general  welfare  by  reason  of 
excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, or odors.  

 
(9) The project will not directly or indirectly have a substantial adverse impact on the natural resources of 

the Township, including, but not limited to, prime agricultural soils, water recharge areas, lakes, rivers, 
streams, major forests, wetlands, and wildlife areas. 

 
Part III 
I (we) hereby grant permission for members of the Charter Township of Meridian’s Boards and/or Commissions, 
Township  staff  member(s)  and  the  Township’s  representatives  or  experts  the  right  to  enter  onto  the  above 
described property (or as described in the attached information) in my (our) absence for the purpose of gathering 
information including but not limited to the taking and the use of photographs.  
 
     Yes      No  (Please check one) 

 
By  the  signature(s)  attached  hereto,  I  (we)  certify  that  the  information  provided  within  this  application  and 
accompanying documentation is, to the best of my (our) knowledge, true and accurate 
 
__________________________________________________   ________________ 
Signature of Applicant         Date                          
 
__________________________________________________     
Type/Print Name 
 

Fee: __________________    Received by/Date: _____________________________ 

X

Docusign Envelope ID: AC2062EB-838D-4933-92E5-9B755FECD94D

2/10/2025

Sam Pernick



 
Page 5 

Special Use Permit Application Attachment 
Site Plan Requirements Per Section 86-124(c)(4) 

 
 
A site plan, drawn to a legible scale, containing the following information where applicable: 
 
a. Boundaries of the subject property. 
 
b. Total area of the subject property. 
 
c. Location of all existing and proposed structures. 
 
d. Approximate location and distance of all structures within 100 feet of the subject property. 
 
e. Uses of existing and proposed buildings, on the subject site. 
 
f. Proposed means of vehicular and pedestrian ingress and egress to the subject property. 
 
g. Public and private roads and streets, rights-of-way, and easements, indicating names and widths, which 

abut or cross the site. 
 
h. Existing and proposed parking spaces, and vehicular and pedestrian circulation patterns. 
 
i. The buildable area of the subject property indicating all required setbacks, yards and open space. 
 
j. Zoning classification of the subject and adjacent properties. 
 
k. Existing and proposed fencing, screening, landscaping, and buffers. 
 
l. Location and sizes of existing utilities including power lines and towers, both above and below the ground. 
 
m.  Amount and location of all impervious surfaces. 
 
n. The verified boundaries of all natural water features and required setback lines. 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: AC2062EB-838D-4933-92E5-9B755FECD94D























































A S

A S

A S

Proposed Adult-Use
Marijuana Retailer

A S

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAUCETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINSTRIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
13132-3B

AutoCAD SHX Text
and Number

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet Title

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Notes

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text
Approved

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Designed

AutoCAD SHX Text
7419 Middlebelt Rd. Suite 4  

AutoCAD SHX Text
West Bloomfield, MI 48322

AutoCAD SHX Text
(248) 865-5555    Fax (248) 865-5015

AutoCAD SHX Text
only.  If not shown, verify correct dimensions with 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Do not scale drawings.  Use given dimensions 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Contractor shall check and verify all dimensions

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group and may not be duplicated, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
herein constitute original and unpublished work 

AutoCAD SHX Text
All drawings and written material appearing

AutoCAD SHX Text
conditions at job site.

AutoCAD SHX Text
used or disclosed without the written consent 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
www.GUMMAGROUP.net

AutoCAD SHX Text
4366 Hagadorn Rd 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Okemos, MI 48864

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. GUMMA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
L. NSEIR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. S. SEGAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL ELECTRICAL N.E.C. COMPLIANT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL MARIHUANA PRODUCTS SHALL BE IN SECURED ROOM. ALL ACTIVITIES RELATED TO MARIJUANA FACILITY WILL BE DONE INDOOR. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO SALE OF ALCOHOL IN PREMISES A DRUG AND ALCOHOL AWARENESS PROGRAM WILL BE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL DOORS SHALL HAVE A 32" MINIMUM CLEAR OPENING.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVER HANDLES ARE REQUIRED  FOR ALL DOORS. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW EXTERIOR WALL CONSTRUCTION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALLS TO BE 1 HOUR FIRE RATED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELIVERY THROUGH BACK DOOR PRODUCT INTAKE ROOM, TRANSFER TO VAULT ROOM. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL DOORS SHALL HAVE COMMERCIAL GRADE LOCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL AIR HANDLING UNIT WILL BE SET TO MAINTAIN NEGATIVE PRESSURE INSIDE OF BUILDING. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AIR SCRUBBERS AND FILTERS       WILL BE INSTALLED IN ALL ROOMS CONTAINING MARIJUANA PRODUCTS. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW INTERIOR WALL CONSTRUCTION:

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOURS OF OPERATIONS BETWEEN 7:00 AM AND 9:00 PM. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL PUBLIC AREAS ARE SEPARATED FROM RESTECTE AREAS AND EMPLOYEE AREAS WITH LOCKED DOORS. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FACILITY WILL BE AT ALL TIMES LOCKED, INCLUDING INTERIOR ROOMS, ALL WINDOWS, ANY POINTS OF ENTRY AND EXITS WITH COMMERCIAL GRADE LOCKS, AND AN ALARM MONITORING SYSTEM. MARIJUANA WILL BE STORED INSIDE OF BUILDING ONLY. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCKING SAFES ARE LOCATED IN THE VAULT ROOM AND AFFIXED TO THE PREMISES TO STORE ALL PROCESSED MARIHUANA AND CASH REMAINING IN THE FACILITY OVERNIGHT. PRODUCTS IN REFRIGERATORS WILL ALSO BE LOCKED TO COMPLY WITH CITY REQUIREMENTS. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
 OFFICE / VAULT/ VIDEO  SURVEILLANCE  (RESTRICTED  AREA)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SALE AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMPLOYEE  BREAK AREA (RESTRICTED  AREA)

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF SALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMPLOYEE  ENTRANCE (RESTRICTED  AREA)

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF SALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF SALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECEPTION/ SECURITY  (RESTRICTED AREA)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAITING AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISSUE DATE            01/30/25

AutoCAD SHX Text
37'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'-7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'-10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
26'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
43'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
14'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
17'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
40'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
45'-0"



A S

A S

A S

D
D

G

G

G
P

P P

P P

P

P

P

P

P

A

A

B

E

E

E

E

E

E

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

Proposed Adult-Use
Marijuana Retailer

–

–

E

M

D

P

G

A

B

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAUCETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINSTRIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
13132-3B

AutoCAD SHX Text
and Number

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet Title

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Notes

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text
Approved

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Designed

AutoCAD SHX Text
7419 Middlebelt Rd. Suite 4  

AutoCAD SHX Text
West Bloomfield, MI 48322

AutoCAD SHX Text
(248) 865-5555    Fax (248) 865-5015

AutoCAD SHX Text
only.  If not shown, verify correct dimensions with 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Do not scale drawings.  Use given dimensions 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Contractor shall check and verify all dimensions

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group and may not be duplicated, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
herein constitute original and unpublished work 

AutoCAD SHX Text
All drawings and written material appearing

AutoCAD SHX Text
conditions at job site.

AutoCAD SHX Text
used or disclosed without the written consent 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
www.GUMMAGROUP.net

AutoCAD SHX Text
4366 Hagadorn Rd 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Okemos, MI 48864

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECURITY FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. GUMMA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
L. NSEIR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. S. SEGAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 OFFICE / VAULT/ VIDEO  SURVEILLANCE  (RESTRICTED  AREA)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SALE AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMPLOYEE  BREAK AREA (RESTRICTED  AREA)

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF SALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMPLOYEE  ENTRANCE (RESTRICTED  AREA)

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF SALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF SALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECEPTION/ SECURITY  (RESTRICTED AREA)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAITING AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISSUE DATE            01/30/25

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECURITY FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL FACILITIES, MARIJUANA ADULT USE RETAILER OPERATIONS SHALL INSTALL AND MAINTAIN AN ALARM SYSTEM AND SHALL HAVE A VIDEO SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM, THAT AT A MINIMUM, CONSISTS OF DIGITAL OR NETWORK VIDEO RECORDERS, CAMERAS CAPABLE OF MEETING THE RECORDING REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT, VIDEO MONITORS, DIGITAL ARCHIVING DEVICES AND  A COLOR PRINTER CAPABLE OF DELIVERING STILL PHOTOS. RECORDINGS SHALL AT A MINIMUM BE IN THE FOLLOWING AREAS: ANY AREAS WHERE MARIHUANA PRODUCTS ARE WEIGHED, PACKED, STORED, LOADED AND UNLOADED FOR TRANSPORTATION, PREPARED, OR MOVED WITHIN THE FACILITY, LIMITED-ACCESS AREAS AND SECURITY ROOMS AND TRANSFER AREAS BETWEEN ROOMS, ENTRANCE AND EXITS AREAS FROM BOTH INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR VANTAGE POINTS, POINTS OF SALE OR AREAS WHERE PRODUCTS ARE DISPLAYED.  SECURITY CAMERAS SHALL BE INSTALLED AS SHOWN AND OPERATED IN THE ESTABLISHMENT 24 HOURS PER DAY, 365 DAYS PER YEAR, AND SHALL BE DIRECTED TO RECORD ONLY THE SUBJECT PROPERTY. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECURITY LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOTION SENSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR CONTACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILENT BUTTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLASS BREAK SENSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MESA MTLF 7236C HIGH SECURITY BURGLARY SAFE –  PERMANENTLY SECURED TO CONCRETE FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MESA MFL 2731EE DEPOSITORY SAFE –  PERMANENTLY SECURED TO CONCRETE FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECURITY CAMERA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR W/ ELECTRIC LOCK - RFID CARD 

AutoCAD SHX Text
A SECURITY GUARD WILL BE PRESENT DURING BUSINESS HOURS. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE FACILITY SHALL CONTINUOUSLY MONITOR THE ENTIRE PREMISES, INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR WITH SURVEILLANCE  SYSTEM THAT INCLUDE A HIGH DEFINITION SECURITY CAMERAS WITH 1080 QUALITY OPERATING 24 HOURS A DAY, SEVEN DAYS A WEEK.  

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE



Proposed Adult-Use
Marijuana Retailer

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
and Number

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet Title

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Notes

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text
Approved

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Designed

AutoCAD SHX Text
7419 Middlebelt Rd. Suite 4  

AutoCAD SHX Text
West Bloomfield, MI 48322

AutoCAD SHX Text
(248) 865-5555    Fax (248) 865-5015

AutoCAD SHX Text
only.  If not shown, verify correct dimensions with 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Do not scale drawings.  Use given dimensions 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Contractor shall check and verify all dimensions

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group and may not be duplicated, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
herein constitute original and unpublished work 

AutoCAD SHX Text
All drawings and written material appearing

AutoCAD SHX Text
conditions at job site.

AutoCAD SHX Text
used or disclosed without the written consent 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
www.GUMMAGROUP.net

AutoCAD SHX Text
4366 Hagadorn Rd 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Okemos, MI 48864

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATIONS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW SIGNAGE UNDER  SEPARATE PERMIT BY  SIGN CONTRACTOR TO  COMPLY WITH CITY  ORDINANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIBERGLASS SHINGLES  BLACK COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIBERGLASS SHINGLES  BLACK COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIBERGLASS SHINGLES  BLACK COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD FASCIA  BLACK COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD FASCIA  BLACK COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  STANDING SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD STONE  TWO TONE  GRAY COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSULATED GLASS IN  ANODIZED ALUMINUM  FRAMES. (BLACK COLOR) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSULATED GLASS IN  ANODIZED ALUMINUM  FRAMES. (BLACK COLOR) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSULATED GLASS IN  ANODIZED ALUMINUM  FRAMES. (BLACK COLOR) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  STANDING SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  STANDING SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  HORIZONTAL SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  HORIZONTAL SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. GUMMA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
L. NSEIR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. S. SEGAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
33'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
27'-11"

AutoCAD SHX Text
13'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
33'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  STANDING SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD STONE  TWO TONE  GRAY COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
27'-11"

AutoCAD SHX Text
33'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISSUE DATE            01/30/25



Proposed Adult-Use
Marijuana Retailer

AutoCAD SHX Text
and Number

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet Title

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Notes

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text
Approved

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Designed

AutoCAD SHX Text
7419 Middlebelt Rd. Suite 4  

AutoCAD SHX Text
West Bloomfield, MI 48322

AutoCAD SHX Text
(248) 865-5555    Fax (248) 865-5015

AutoCAD SHX Text
only.  If not shown, verify correct dimensions with 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Do not scale drawings.  Use given dimensions 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Contractor shall check and verify all dimensions

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group and may not be duplicated, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
herein constitute original and unpublished work 

AutoCAD SHX Text
All drawings and written material appearing

AutoCAD SHX Text
conditions at job site.

AutoCAD SHX Text
used or disclosed without the written consent 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
www.GUMMAGROUP.net

AutoCAD SHX Text
4366 Hagadorn Rd 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Okemos, MI 48864

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATIONS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. GUMMA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
L. NSEIR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. S. SEGAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIBERGLASS SHINGLES  BLACK COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  HORIZONTAL SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIBERGLASS SHINGLES  BLACK COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  STANDING SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  STANDING SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD STONE  TWO TONE  GRAY COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD STONE  TWO TONE  GRAY COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  HORIZONTAL SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  STANDING SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  STANDING SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD STONE  TWO TONE  GRAY COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD CLADDING  STANDING SEAMS  NATURAL COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD STONE  TWO TONE  GRAY COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
H,M, DOOR BLACK COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIBERGLASS SHINGLES  BLACK COLOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
27'-11"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
33'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
33'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
33'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISSUE DATE            01/30/25



4360 HAGADORN RD.
1 STORY BLOCK-FRAME

2,030 S.F.
PROPOSED ADULT USE
MARIJUANA RETAILER

Proposed Adult-Use
Marijuana Retailer

N

LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN ROAD (PUBLIC - 66' WIDE R.O.W.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" BAR SOUTH 0.69'

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAR & CAP #18989 SOUTH 3.37'

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.2'X8.2' SHED

AutoCAD SHX Text
33' RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROKEN CONCRETE PIPES

AutoCAD SHX Text
100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN ELEV. = 846.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENCHMARK #1

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAR & CAP #25832

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°16'13"W 1056.06'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°16'13"W (R&M)82.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(R)NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°22'56"E (R&M)330.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(R)EAST (R)20 RODS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°16'13"E (R&M)82.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(R)SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
S89°22'56"W (R&M)330.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(R)WEST (R)20 RODS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.62 ACRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAILBOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS LINE (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAR & CAP #53497

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAR & CAP #53497

AutoCAD SHX Text
1503.26'

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE & 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE PAD 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOADING/

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNLOADING AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIKE RACKS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' LANDSCAPING BUFFER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
R.O.W. SCREENING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
and Number

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet Title

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Notes

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text
Approved

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Designed

AutoCAD SHX Text
7419 Middlebelt Rd. Suite 4  

AutoCAD SHX Text
West Bloomfield, MI 48322

AutoCAD SHX Text
(248) 865-5555    Fax (248) 865-5015

AutoCAD SHX Text
only.  If not shown, verify correct dimensions with 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Do not scale drawings.  Use given dimensions 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Contractor shall check and verify all dimensions

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group and may not be duplicated, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
herein constitute original and unpublished work 

AutoCAD SHX Text
All drawings and written material appearing

AutoCAD SHX Text
conditions at job site.

AutoCAD SHX Text
used or disclosed without the written consent 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
www.GUMMAGROUP.net

AutoCAD SHX Text
4366 Hagadorn Rd 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Okemos, MI 48864

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. GUMMA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S.S. SEGAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
L. NSEIR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UPARKING PROVIDED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UTOATAL PARKING REQUIRED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING REQUIREMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
USES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING SPACE REQUIREMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING REQUIRED

AutoCAD SHX Text
4360 Hagadorn Rd      PROPOSED MARIJUANA RETAILER (RETAIL USE)         2,030 GSF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIVE (5) PARKING SPACES PER EACH ONE THOUSAND (1,000) SQUARE FEET OF USEABLE FLOOR AREA. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,030 ÷ 250 =  ÷ 250 =   250 =  250 =  9 SPACES REQUIRED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%U9

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%U10

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANDICAP SPACES 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE (1) PARKING SPACE PER EACH  25 SPACES ON SITE  

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UHANDICAP SPACES PROVIDED: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%U1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6 SPACES ÷ 25 =  ÷ 25 =   25 =  25 =  1 SPACE REQUIRED 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOADING AREAS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL LOADING AREAS SHALL BE LAID OUT IN THE DIMENSIONS OF 10' X 80' WITH A CLEARANCE OF AT LEAST 14' IN HEIGHT.  

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 LOADING AREA REQUIRED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%ULOADING AREAS PROVIDED: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%U2

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISSUE DATE                01/27/25

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
121'-4 " SET BACK 12" SET BACK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEDITSIA TRIACANTHOS  "INERMIS" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THORNLESS  HONEYLOCUST 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Deciduous - Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 1/2" C. B&B

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTANICAL NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANT LIST

AutoCAD SHX Text
QTY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMON NAME 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIZE AS INSTALLED

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
Berberis Thunbergii "Atropurpurea"

AutoCAD SHX Text
Japanese Barberry  "Crimson Pygmy"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 gal. pot  5' O.C. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Deciduous - Shrub

AutoCAD SHX Text
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRATAEGEUS VIRIDIS "WINTER KING"

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINTER KING "GREEN HAWTHORN" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'' B&B 6' FIRST  BRANCH 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ornamental - Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text
BTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
BERBERIS  THUNBERGIL "AUREA"

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAPANESE BARBERRY "AUREA"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL. POT 5' O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Deciduous - Shrub

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%ULANDSCAPING LEGEND: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
New  - Shrub

AutoCAD SHX Text
New -Deciduous Tree 

AutoCAD SHX Text
New -Ornamental Tree 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE AND TURF AREAS SHALL BE IRRIGATED TO MAINTAIN PLANT MATERIALS IN GOOD AND HEALTHY CONDITION. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE 6'' CONC. CURB AROUND ALL NEW LANDSCAPE AREAS. SEE SITE DETAILS SHEET.  

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
STRIPE LOT AS INDICATED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL LANDSCAPED AREAS WILL BE AUTOMATICALLY IRRIGATED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL MULCH IS TO BE A MINIMUM  OF 6''.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: (As provided) TAX ID: 33-02-02-29-151-003 COM. AT PT. 64 RDS. N OF W 1/4 POST-N 82 FT-E 20 RDS-S 82 FT-W 20 RDS TO BEG., AT PT. 64 RDS. N OF W 1/4 POST-N 82 FT-E 20 RDS-S 82 FT-W 20 RDS TO BEG., SEC. 29, T4N R1W AS SURVEYED: (The following legal description describes the same parcel of land as the provided description) A parcel of land in the Northwest 1/4 of Section 29, T4N, R1W, Meridian Township, Ingham County, Michigan, the surveyed boundary of said parcel described as: Commencing at the West 1/4 corner of said Section 29; thence N00°16'13"W along the West line of said Section29 a distance of 1056.06 feet to the point of beginning of this description; thence N00°16'13"W continuing along said West line 82.00 feet; thence N89°22'56"E 330.00 feet;thence S00°16'13"E parallel with said West line 82.00 feet; thence S89°22'56"W 330.00 feet tothe point of beginning; said parcel containing 0.62 acre, more or less, including 0.06 acre, more or less, presently in use as public right-of-way for Hagadorn Road; said parcel subject to all easements and restrictions, if any. WITNESSES TO SECTION CORNERS: West 1/4 corner Section 29, T4N, R1W, Liber 8, Page 449 Found Remon bar & cap in monument box in C/L of Hagadorn Road Found nail & tag in East side utility pole, S20°W, 89.39' Found nail & tag in East side fence post, N55°W, 57.23' Found nail & tag in East side utility pole, N20°W, 125.61' Found nail & tag in Southwest side 4" maple tree, West, 40.06' Northwest corner Section 29, T4N, R1W, Liber 8, Page 447 Found Remon bar & cap in monument box in C/L of Hagadorn & Mt Hope Roads Found nail & tag #18994 Northwest side power pole, N42°E, 70.08' Found nail & tag #25832 Northwest side power pole, N65°E, 69.26' Centerline of fire hydrant, S57°E, 75.86' Centerline of gas valve, S55°W, 56.45' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MT HOPE RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERRON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERRON CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
BT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
BTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
BT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
BTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
BT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
BTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
GT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CV

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3



MARIJUANA RETAILER

Proposed Adult-Use
Marijuana Retailer

2'-0"

2" 5.5"

#4 REBARS
4"

REVERSE

2'-0"

5.5" 2"

#4 REBARS

4" 4"

STANDARD
NOTE:

1. USE MDOT 35P CONCRETE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
2. CONTRACTOR SHALL SMOOTHLY TRANSITION BETWEEN STANDARD AND

REVERSE CURB.
3. ALL CURB & GUTTERS WILL BE SAME HEIGHT & WIDTH WITH NO VARIANCES ON

STRAIGHT LINE RUNS OR RADII UNLESS A TAPERING HEIGHT CURB IS CALLED
FOR ON THE PLANS. ALL WIDTHS SHALL REMAIN THE SAME

4"

1'
-2

" 9"

6"

1 
3/

8"9"

1/
8"

1 
3/

8"

9"
6"

1/
8"

1'
-2

"

9"

2" OF MDOT 4C

2" OF MDOT 2C

8" MDOT 21AA

COMPACTED SUBGRADE
TO 95% MOD. PROCTOR

STANDARD DUTY
PAVEMENT SECTION

2" OF MDOT 4C

2 LIFTS EACH
3" OF MDOT 2C

8" MDOT 21AA

COMPACTED SUBGRADE
TO 95% MOD. PROCTOR

HEAVY DUTY
PAVEMENT SECTION

NOTE:
1. IF ANY OF THE EXISTING BASE CANNOT BE UTILIZED, IT SHALL BE REMOVED

AND REPLACED WITH MDOT 21AA MATERIAL.
2. THE PLACEMENT OF THE FINAL LIFT OF ASPHALT SHALL BE DELAYED UNTIL

THE MAJORITY OF THE CONSTRUCTION HAS BEEN COMPLETED, OR AS
DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER.

3. A BOND COAT OF SS-1H EMISSION SHALL BE APPLIED (AT A RATE OF
0.10 gal/syd) BETWEEN THE LEVELING AND WEARING COURSE WHEN 48 HOURS
HAVE ELAPSED BETWEEN PLACEMENT.

6" 4,000 psi CONCRETE
4" 4,000 psi CONCRETE

6" MINIMUM MDOT 21AA

COMPACTED SUBGRADE
TO 95% MOD. PROCTOR

6" PAVEMENT SECTION

6" MINIMUM MDOT CLASS II
MATERIAL COMPACTED TO
95% MOD. PROCTOR

COMPACTED SUBGRADE
TO 95% MOD. PROCTOR

4" CONCRETE SIDEWALK

8" 4,000 psi CONCRETE

6" MINIMUM MDOT 21AA

COMPACTED SUBGRADE
TO 95% MOD. PROCTOR

6" MINIMUM MDOT CLASS II
MATERIAL COMPACTED TO
95% MOD. PROCTOR

8" PAVEMENT SECTION

NOTE:
1. IF ANY OF THE EXISTING BASE CANNOT BE UTILIZED, IT SHALL BE REMOVED

AND REPLACED WITH MDOT 21AA MATERIAL.
2. BROOM FINISH SURFACE.
3. IF NOT INDICATED ON THE PLANS THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT A

JOINTING PLAN PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF CONCRETE PAVEMENT.

SIGN SHALL BE BLUE
LETTERING ON WHITE
BACKGROUND.

RESERVED
PARKING

SIGN SHALL BE RED
LETTERING ON WHITE
BACKGROUND.

NOTE:
1. IF ANY OF THE EXISTING BASE CANNOT BE UTILIZED, IT SHALL BE REMOVED

AND REPLACED WITH MDOT CLASS II MATERIAL.
2. BROOM FINISH SURFACE.
3. IF NOT INDICATED ON THE PLANS THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT A

JOINTING PLAN PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF CONCRETE PAVEMENT.
4. JOINTS SHALL BE SAWCUT AS SOON AS PAVEMENT CAN SUPPORT MACHINE.
5. AN EXPANSION JOINT SHALL BE PLACED BETWEEN NEW WALKS AND EXISTING

PAVEMENT AND/OR BUILDINGS.

NOTE:
1. REFER TO THE MMUTCD FOR OTHER SIGN DIMENSIONS.
2. BARRIER FREE PARKING SIGN SHALL CONFORM WITH CURRENT STATE AND LOCAL CODES AND REGULATIONS.
3. ALL REGULATORY AND TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGN SHALL COMPLY WITH MICHIGAN MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES

(MMUTCD), AND ANY OTHER APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL REQUIREMENTS.
4. COORDINATE SIGN LOCATIONS WITH LANDSCAPING AS REQUIRED.
5. ALL REGULATORY SIGNS SHALL BE REFLECTORIZED OR ILLUSTRATED TO SHOW SAME SHAPE AND COLOR BOTH BY DAY AND BY

NIGHT.
6. SIGN BACKING MATERIAL SHALL BE .080" ALUMINUM, UNLESS NOTED OR OTHERWISE REGULATED.
7. ILLUMINATED SIGNS SHALL BE U.L. LISTED OR APPROVED EQUIVALENT.
8. REGULATORY SIGN POSTS AND SIGN BACKS TO BE PAINTED WITH A SEMI-GLOSS ALIPHATIC ACRYLIC POLYURETHANE TO MATCH

PMS BLACK 6C2X.
9. ALL SIGNS INSTALLATION SHALL FOLLOW THE MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS AND AS INDICATED BY THESE PLANS.
10. DRIVE ANCHOR POST AND ANCHOR SLEEVE INTO THE GROUND TOGETHER, LEAVING A MAX. OF ONE HOLE EXPOSED FOR BOLT

CONNECTION. FOR HAND INSTALLATION, DRIVE CAP OF PROPER SIZE SHALL BE USED TO PREVENT DAMAGE TO TUBING. SIDEWALK
SHALL BE POURED AROUND ANCHOR SLEEVE OR EXISTING SIDEWALK SHALL BE CORE DRILLED AND SEALED AROUND THE SLEEVE.

11. INSERT SIGN POST INTO ANCHOR ASSEMBLY APPROXIMATELY 6" TO 8" AND BOLT IN PLACE.
12. INSTALLED SIGN AND POST SHALL BE PLUMB AND FREE OF VERTICAL AND LATERAL MOVEMENT.
13. ALL TUBING SHALL BE #12 U.S. STD. GAGE WALL THICKNESS.

ONLY
LOCATE AT ALL VAN
ACCESSIBLE SPACES
INDICTED ON THE PLANS.

VAN
ACCESSIBLE

COMPACTED SUBGRADE
TO 95% MOD. PROCTOR

6" CONCRETE SIDEWALK

8" 4,000 psi CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
and Number

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet Title

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Notes

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text
Approved

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Designed

AutoCAD SHX Text
7419 Middlebelt Rd. Suite 4  

AutoCAD SHX Text
West Bloomfield, MI 48322

AutoCAD SHX Text
(248) 865-5555    Fax (248) 865-5015

AutoCAD SHX Text
only.  If not shown, verify correct dimensions with 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Do not scale drawings.  Use given dimensions 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Contractor shall check and verify all dimensions

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group and may not be duplicated, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
herein constitute original and unpublished work 

AutoCAD SHX Text
All drawings and written material appearing

AutoCAD SHX Text
conditions at job site.

AutoCAD SHX Text
used or disclosed without the written consent 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
www.GUMMAGROUP.net

AutoCAD SHX Text
4366 Hagadorn Rd 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Okemos, MI 48864

AutoCAD SHX Text
of Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gumma Group.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DETAILS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BACKFILL WITH PLANTING SOIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGING - 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BACKFILL WITH MODIFIED

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SPECIFICATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USHRUB PLANTING DETAIL%%U

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOTBALL, REMOVE TOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVERING, & NYLON CORDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/3 OF BURLAP, PLASTIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
 4" MULCH MATERIAL - 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTING SOIL AS SPECIFIED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PER SPECIFICATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SPECIFICATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSTALL WEED CHECK FABRIC UNDER MULCH - 

AutoCAD SHX Text
(GRADE TO DRAIN AWAY FROM TRUNK)

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN POORLY DRAINED SOIL PLANT 1INCH HIGHER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE OF PLANT TO BE SAME AS IN NURSERY -

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORM DO NOT CUT LEADER (OMIT ON CONIFERS) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIN BRANCHES BY 1/4 TO 1/3 RETAINING NATURAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED TREE WRAP (OMIT ON CONIFERS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ 4" MULCH MATERIAL - PER SPECIFICATIONS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/3 OF BURLAP, PLASTIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UDECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING DETAIL%%U

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BACK FILL WITH PLANTING SOIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNDISTURBED EARTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVERING, & NYLON CORDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PER SPECIFICATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNDED EARTH SAUCER

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOTBALL, REMOVE TOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETURN BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANCHOR BOLTS @ 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRONT ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH 2 #5 TOP & BOTTOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
14" WIDE CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRENCH FOOTING. REINFORCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORES BELOW GRADE TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
(1) COURSE ABOVE GRADE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
REINFORCE WITH #5 @ 32"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELOW GRADE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUNDATION. GROUT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
C/C FULL HIGHT VERTICAL  

AutoCAD SHX Text
REINFORCEMENT. DOWEL INTO

AutoCAD SHX Text
REINFORCEMENT CORES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOLID. EXTEND MASONRY 8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUT SOLID ALL BLOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTEND FOOTING TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
10" BRICK AND CONCRETE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
MASONRY WALL (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(BOND BEAM @ TOP CORSE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR PIPE BOLLARD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMBED POST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRECAST CONCRETE CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANE BOLT AND

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANE BOLT OPPOSITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE BOLLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
(BEYOND). SEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETAIL NO. 5 THIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEAVY DUTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
GATE HINGE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINIMUM 2 PER

AutoCAD SHX Text
POST (TYPICAL).

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 X 6 CEDAR GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAME WITH 1/2" 0

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO CHAIN LINK GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(STAIN TO MATCH BRICK)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ON 2" x 4" WOOD RAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TOP & BOTTOM). BOLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRECAST CONCRETE CAP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWEL INTO MASONRY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEEP. FILL WITH CAULK.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAKE VERTICAL JOINTS 3/4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH DOMED CAP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOOTING.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM OF CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMBED TO 6" ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 1/2" O.D. GATE POSTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UCONCRETE CURB & GUTTER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UHMA PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UCONCRETE SIDEWALK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UCONCRETE PAVEMENT  

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UPARKING SIGNAGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UPARKING BLOCK  

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. GUMMA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S.S. SEGAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
L. NSEIR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISSUE DATE            01/27/25

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBIKE RACKS AREA DETAIL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'



Technical Memo 
SUBJECT: Hagadorn Dispensary Traffic Impact Assessment

TO: Sam Pernick – Okemos Local Investments

FROM: Michael Labadie, PE and Alyssa Wambold, PE, PTOE

DATE: November 14, 2024 PROJECT NO.: 241751

Introduction
On behalf of Okemos Local Investments, Fishbeck has completed a traffic impact assessment (TIA) for a proposed 
dispensary located on the east side of Hagadorn Road between Bennett Road and Mt. Hope Road in Meridian 
Township, Ingham County, Michigan. The dispensary will be located in an existing 2,587 square foot (sq ft) 
building located at 4360 Hagadorn Road. The existing building will be renovated. Access to the site will be 
provided via one existing driveway. The development will be completed in one phase, assumed to be open and 
fully operational in 2025. The project and site driveway locations are displayed in Figure 1.

Figure 1 – Project Location and Study Network

Site Driveway

University Research 
Containment Facility Access



Technical Memo – Hagadorn Dispensary Traffic Impact Assessment
November 14, 2024 Fishbeck | Page 2

\\CORP.FTCH.COM\ALLPROJECTS\2024\241751\WORK\REPT\TM_HAGADORN DISPENSARY_2024_1114.DOCX

Existing Traffic Volumes
Vehicular turning movement counts (TMCs) were collected at the following study intersection during the weekday 
morning (7 a.m. to 9 a.m.) and afternoon (4 p.m. to 6 p.m.) peak periods of the road network on Thursday 
November 7, 2024:

• Hagadorn Road and University Research Containment Facility Access

Traffic volume information is provided in Attachment 1.

Trip Generation
Using the information and methodologies specified in the Trip Generation Manual, Fishbeck forecast the weekday 
a.m. and p.m. peak hour trips associated with the proposed development. Table 1 presents the resulting trip 
generation for the development. Additional trip generation information is provided in Attachment 2.

Table 1 – Trip Generation for Proposed Development
a.m. Peak Hour p.m. Peak Hour

ITE Land Use LUC Units
In Out Total In Out Total

Weekday

Marijuana Dispensary 882 2,587 sq ft 14 13 27 25 24 49 547

Trip Distribution
The directions that site traffic will travel to and from were based upon existing traffic patterns during the a.m. and 
p.m. peak hours. Table 2 provides the probable distribution based on existing traffic patterns. The trip distribution 
data is presented in Attachment 3.

Table 2 – Trip Distribution
a.m. Peak Hour p.m. Peak Hour

Direction Via
To From To From

North Hagadorn Road 66% 34% 44% 56%
South Hagadorn Road 34% 66% 56% 44%

Turn Lane Analysis
An evaluation was performed in accordance with MDOT guidance to determine if left turn passing lanes or right 
turn deceleration lanes should be considered at the site driveway. The results of the analysis indicated that no 
turn lane treatment is recommended at the site driveway. All turn lane charts are provided in Attachment 4. The 
results of the analysis are presented in Table 3.

Table 3 – Turn Lane Warrants
Intersection Movement Existing Treatment Result

NB Right None No Treatment Recommended
Hagadorn Road and Site Driveway

SB Left None No Treatment Recommended



Attachment 1 
 

Traffic Data 

 

  



University Research Containment Facility Acc… - TMC
Thu Nov 7, 2024
Full Length (7 AM-9 AM, 4 PM-6 PM)
All Classes (Lights, Articulated Trucks, Buses and Single-Unit Trucks)
All Movements
ID: 1244268, Location: 42.707176, -84.462045

Provided by: Gewalt Hamilton Associates Inc.
625 Forest Edge Drive, Vernon Hills, IL, 60061, US

Leg Access Hagadorn Rd Hagadorn Rd
Direction Eastbound Northbound Southbound
Time L R U App L T U App T R U App Int

2024-11-07 7:00AM 0 0 0 0 1 73 0 74 77 0 0 77 151
7:15AM 0 1 0 1 1 166 0 167 93 2 0 95 263
7:30AM 0 0 0 0 0 212 0 212 111 1 0 112 324
7:45AM 1 0 0 1 1 254 0 255 113 2 0 115 371

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 3 705 0 708 394 5 0 399 1109
8:00AM 0 0 0 0 0 177 0 177 97 2 0 99 276
8:15AM 1 0 0 1 0 156 0 156 89 0 0 89 246
8:30AM 0 0 0 0 0 216 0 216 110 1 0 111 327
8:45AM 2 0 0 2 0 221 0 221 85 2 0 87 310

Hourly Total 3 0 0 3 0 770 0 770 381 5 0 386 1159
4:00PM 5 1 0 6 0 159 0 159 189 1 0 190 355
4:15PM 0 0 0 0 0 154 0 154 189 2 0 191 345
4:30PM 0 0 0 0 0 123 0 123 211 1 0 212 335
4:45PM 2 1 0 3 0 172 0 172 186 0 0 186 361

Hourly Total 7 2 0 9 0 608 0 608 775 4 0 779 1396
5:00PM 2 0 0 2 0 159 0 159 214 1 0 215 376
5:15PM 0 0 0 0 0 167 0 167 233 0 0 233 400
5:30PM 1 0 0 1 0 155 0 155 190 1 0 191 347
5:45PM 2 0 0 2 0 188 0 188 165 0 0 165 355

Hourly Total 5 0 0 5 0 669 0 669 802 2 0 804 1478

Total 16 3 0 19 3 2752 0 2755 2352 16 0 2368 5142
% Approach 84.2% 15.8% 0% - 0.1% 99.9% 0% - 99.3% 0.7% 0% - -

% Total 0.3% 0.1% 0% 0.4% 0.1% 53.5% 0% 53.6% 45.7% 0.3% 0% 46.1% -
Lights 14 3 0 17 3 2722 0 2725 2330 15 0 2345 5087

% Lights 87.5% 100% 0% 89.5% 100% 98.9% 0% 98.9% 99.1% 93.8% 0% 99.0% 98.9%
Articulated Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 5 0 0 5 9

% Articulated Trucks 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0.1% 0% 0.1% 0.2% 0% 0% 0.2% 0.2%
Buses and Single-Unit Trucks 2 0 0 2 0 26 0 26 17 1 0 18 46

% Buses and Single-Unit Trucks 12.5% 0% 0% 10.5% 0% 0.9% 0% 0.9% 0.7% 6.3% 0% 0.8% 0.9%
*L: Left, R: Right, T: Thru, U: U-Turn

1 of 6



University Research Containment Facility Acc… - TMC
Thu Nov 7, 2024
Full Length (7 AM-9 AM, 4 PM-6 PM)
All Classes (Lights, Articulated Trucks, Buses and Single-Unit Trucks)
All Movements
ID: 1244268, Location: 42.707176, -84.462045

Provided by: Gewalt Hamilton Associates Inc.
625 Forest Edge Drive, Vernon Hills, IL, 60061, US

[N] Hagadorn Rd

[S] Hagadorn Rd

[W
] A

cc
es

s

Total: 5136

Total: 5110

To
ta

l: 
38

Out: 2768

Out: 2355

Ou
t: 

19

In: 2368

In: 2755

In
: 1

9

  2
35

2

  2
75

2

   
 1

6

   
  3

    16
     3

2 of 6



University Research Containment Facility Acc… - TMC
Thu Nov 7, 2024
AM Peak (7:15 AM - 8:15 AM)
All Classes (Lights, Articulated Trucks, Buses and Single-Unit Trucks)
All Movements
ID: 1244268, Location: 42.707176, -84.462045

Provided by: Gewalt Hamilton Associates Inc.
625 Forest Edge Drive, Vernon Hills, IL, 60061, US

Leg Access Hagadorn Rd Hagadorn Rd
Direction Eastbound Northbound Southbound
Time L R U App L T U App T R U App Int

2024-11-07 7:15AM 0 1 0 1 1 166 0 167 93 2 0 95 263
7:30AM 0 0 0 0 0 212 0 212 111 1 0 112 324
7:45AM 1 0 0 1 1 254 0 255 113 2 0 115 371
8:00AM 0 0 0 0 0 177 0 177 97 2 0 99 276

Total 1 1 0 2 2 809 0 811 414 7 0 421 1234
% Approach 50.0% 50.0% 0% - 0.2% 99.8% 0% - 98.3% 1.7% 0% - -

% Total 0.1% 0.1% 0% 0.2% 0.2% 65.6% 0% 65.7% 33.5% 0.6% 0% 34.1% -
PHF 0.250 0.250 - 0.500 0.500 0.796 - 0.795 0.916 0.875 - 0.915 0.832

Lights 1 1 0 2 2 795 0 797 408 7 0 415 1214
% Lights 100% 100% 0% 100% 100% 98.3% 0% 98.3% 98.6% 100% 0% 98.6% 98.4%

Articulated Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2
% Articulated Trucks 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0.1% 0% 0.1% 0.2% 0% 0% 0.2% 0.2%

Buses and Single-Unit Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 13 0 13 5 0 0 5 18
% Buses and Single-Unit Trucks 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1.6% 0% 1.6% 1.2% 0% 0% 1.2% 1.5%

*L: Left, R: Right, T: Thru, U: U-Turn

3 of 6



University Research Containment Facility Acc… - TMC
Thu Nov 7, 2024
AM Peak (7:15 AM - 8:15 AM)
All Classes (Lights, Articulated Trucks, Buses and Single-Unit Trucks)
All Movements
ID: 1244268, Location: 42.707176, -84.462045

Provided by: Gewalt Hamilton Associates Inc.
625 Forest Edge Drive, Vernon Hills, IL, 60061, US

[N] Hagadorn Rd

[S] Hagadorn Rd

[W
] A

cc
es

s

Total: 1231

Total: 1226

To
ta

l: 
11

Out: 810

Out: 415

Ou
t: 

9

In: 421

In: 811

In
: 2

   
41

4

   
80

9

   
  7

   
  2

     1     1

4 of 6



University Research Containment Facility Acc… - TMC
Thu Nov 7, 2024
PM Peak (4:45 PM - 5:45 PM) - Overall Peak Hour
All Classes (Lights, Articulated Trucks, Buses and Single-Unit Trucks)
All Movements
ID: 1244268, Location: 42.707176, -84.462045

Provided by: Gewalt Hamilton Associates Inc.
625 Forest Edge Drive, Vernon Hills, IL, 60061, US

Leg Access Hagadorn Rd Hagadorn Rd
Direction Eastbound Northbound Southbound
Time L R U App L T U App T R U App Int

2024-11-07 4:45PM 2 1 0 3 0 172 0 172 186 0 0 186 361
5:00PM 2 0 0 2 0 159 0 159 214 1 0 215 376
5:15PM 0 0 0 0 0 167 0 167 233 0 0 233 400
5:30PM 1 0 0 1 0 155 0 155 190 1 0 191 347

Total 5 1 0 6 0 653 0 653 823 2 0 825 1484
% Approach 83.3% 16.7% 0% - 0% 100% 0% - 99.8% 0.2% 0% - -

% Total 0.3% 0.1% 0% 0.4% 0% 44.0% 0% 44.0% 55.5% 0.1% 0% 55.6% -
PHF 0.625 0.250 - 0.500 - 0.949 - 0.949 0.883 0.500 - 0.885 0.928

Lights 5 1 0 6 0 652 0 652 821 2 0 823 1481
% Lights 100% 100% 0% 100% 0% 99.8% 0% 99.8% 99.8% 100% 0% 99.8% 99.8%

Articulated Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
% Articulated Trucks 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Buses and Single-Unit Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 3
% Buses and Single-Unit Trucks 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0.2% 0% 0.2% 0.2% 0% 0% 0.2% 0.2%

*L: Left, R: Right, T: Thru, U: U-Turn

5 of 6



University Research Containment Facility Acc… - TMC
Thu Nov 7, 2024
PM Peak (4:45 PM - 5:45 PM) - Overall Peak Hour
All Classes (Lights, Articulated Trucks, Buses and Single-Unit Trucks)
All Movements
ID: 1244268, Location: 42.707176, -84.462045

Provided by: Gewalt Hamilton Associates Inc.
625 Forest Edge Drive, Vernon Hills, IL, 60061, US

[N] Hagadorn Rd

[S] Hagadorn Rd

[W
] A

cc
es

s

Total: 1483

Total: 1477

To
ta

l: 
8

Out: 658

Out: 824

Ou
t: 

2

In: 825

In: 653

In
: 6

   
82

3

   
65

3

   
  2

     5
     1

6 of 6





Attachment 2 
 

Trip Generation Calculations 

 

  



In Out Total In Out Total

Marijuana Dispensary 882 2,587 sq ft 14 13 27 25 24 49 547

ITE Land Use Land Use Code Time Period Equation R2 Rate Pass-By Studies Notes

a.m. - - 10.54 - 6 Use Average Rate.

p.m. - - 18.92 - 16 Use Average Rate.

Weekday - - 211.12 - 7 Use Average Rate.

Units

Marijuana Dispensary 882 2,587 sq ft

p.m. Peak Hour
WeekdayITE Land Use

Land

Use Code
Units

a.m. Peak Hour



28 Trip Generation Handbook, 3rd Edition

Use Fitted 
Curve Equation

7

20 or more 
Data Points?

6

Data Cluster 
Okay?

Use Weighted 
Average Rate

8B

Std. Dev <55%?
Within Cluster?

Choose Line 
at Cluster

Use Fitted 
Curve Equation

Use Weighted 
Average Rate

Collect Local 
Data

C
O

LL
EC

T 
LO

C
A

L 
D

AT
A 

(R
EF

ER
 T

O
 C

H
A

PT
ER

 9
)

1

Compatible with ITE 
Land Use Code?

2

Size within Data 
Extremes?

3

Number of Data Points

4

Fitted Curve Equation?

Yes

Yes

6+
3–5

1 or 2

No

No

5

Standard 
Deviation <55%?

8A

R2 >0.75?
Within Cluster?

If 8A is yes & 
8B is yes

If 8A is yes & 
8B is no

If 8A is no & 
8B is yes

If 8A is no & 
8B is no

Figure 4.2 Process for Selecting Average Rate or Equation 
in Trip Generation Manual Data

Yes

No

YesNo

No

No

Yes

Yes

3–5



Attachment 3 
 

Trip Distribution Figure 

 

  



any other size.

not be accurate for 

graphic quality may 

indicated and 

plotted.  Scale(s) 

8.5"x11" when 

intended to be 

Hard copy is 

 All Rights Reserved2022©Copyright 

D
M

E
A

D
E

  
  
U

S
E

R
: 

-
-
-
-

  
  

T
IM

E
: 

-
-
-
-

  
  
D

A
T

E
: 

M
O

D
E

L
  

  
L

A
Y

O
U

T
: 

M
:\

C
U

S
T

O
M

\A
U

T
O

D
E

S
K

 P
R

O
D

U
C

T
S

\A
C

A
D

\S
Y

M
B

O
L

S
\B

-8
5

X
1

1
.D

W
G

P
L

O
T

 I
N

F
O

: 

PROJECT  NO.

FIGURE NO.

3

H
A

G
A

D
O

R
N

 D
IS

P
E

N
S

A
R

Y
O

k
e
m

o
s
 (

M
e
ri

d
ia

n
 T

o
w

n
s
h
ip

),
 M

ic
h
ig

a
n
 4

8
8
6
4

T
r
a
f
f
ic

 I
m

p
a
c
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t

241751

NORTH

LANE ASSIGNMENT

EXISTING TRAFFIC

NO SCALE

STOP CONTROL

VOLUMES

LEGEND

a.m. PEAK HOURXX

p.m. PEAK HOUR(XX)

TRIP GENERATION

NO SCALE

VOLUMES
FUTURE TRAFFIC

NO SCALE

VOLUMES

LANE ASSIGNMENT

STOP CONTROL

LEGEND

a.m. PEAK HOURXX

p.m. PEAK HOUR(XX)

R
O

A
D

H
A

G
A

D
O

R
N

R
O

A
D

H
A

G
A

D
O

R
N

LANE ASSIGNMENT

STOP CONTROL

LEGEND

a.m. PEAK HOURXX

p.m. PEAK HOUR(XX)

NORTHNORTH

DRIVEWAY

SITE

R
O

A
D

H
A

G
A

D
O

R
N

R
O

A
D

H
A

G
A

D
O

R
N

9
 
(
1
1
)

5
 
(
1
4
)

0
 
(
0

)

0
 
(
0

)

4 (13)

9 (11)

DRIVEWAY

SITE

R
O

A
D

H
A

G
A

D
O

R
N

R
O

A
D

H
A

G
A

D
O

R
N

0
 
(
0

)

0
 
(
0

)

8
1
0
 (

6
5
8
)

4
2
1
 (

8
2
5
)

0 (0)

0 (0)

DRIVEWAY

SITE

9
 
(
1
1
)

4 (13)

9 (11)

5
 
(
1
4
)

8
1
0
 (

6
5
8
)

4
2
1
 (

8
2
5
)



Attachment 4 
 

Turn Lane Charts 

 



 

 

NOTE: For posted 
speeds at or under 45 
mph, peak hour right 
turns greater than 40 
vph, and total peak 
hour approach less than 
300 vph, adjust right 
turn volumes. 
 
Adjust peak hour 
Right turns = Peak hour 
Right turns – 20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*If a center left-turn 
lane exists (ie 3 or 5 
lane roadway), subtract 
the number of left turns 
in approach volume 
form the total approach 
volume to get an 
adjusted total approach 
volume.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Sample Problem:  The Design Speed is 55 mph.  The Peak Hour Approach Volume is 300 
vph.  The Number of Right Turns in the Peak Hous is 100 vph.  Determine if a right turn 
lane is recommended. 
 
Solution:  Figure indicates that the intersection of 300 vph and 100 vph is located above 
the upper trend line; thus, a right-turn lane may be recommended.   

awambold
Text Box
Hagadorn Road and Site Driveway
NB Right Turn Movement

awambold
Text Box
a.m. Peak Hour
p.m. Peak Hour

awambold
Text Box
9

awambold
Text Box
11

awambold
Text Box
819

awambold
Text Box
669

awambold
Line

awambold
Line

awambold
Line

awambold
Line



 
1.2.3 Traffic Volume Guidelines for Driveway Passing Flares 
 
Driveways serving large developments along state trunkline highways frequently generate large 
numbers of left-turns.  On two-lane, two-way roadways, this situation can aggravate the efficiency 
of traffic operations and often make shoulder maintenance difficult.  In such situations, prohibition 
of left-turns at driveways to large developments or construction of driveway passing flares should 
be considered. 
 
In an attempt to alleviate the types of problems outlined above, the following chart is provided 
showing the relationship between peak hour left-turns and 24-hour volumes.  When peak hour left-
turns and 24-hour volumes fall within the area above and to the right of the trend line, left-turns 
should be prohibited or a driveway passing flare be installed.  If a driveway passing flare is 
constructed, the entire cost should be borne by the developer.  For additional information and 
geometric design guidance regarding driveway passing flares, please refer to Geometric Design 
Guide GEO-650. 
 
 

 
 
NOTE: This chart is based on Total Development and is for Two-Way Roadways. 

http://mdotcf.state.mi.us/public/tands/Details_Web/mdot_geo650d.pdf
http://mdotcf.state.mi.us/public/tands/Details_Web/mdot_geo650d.pdf
awambold
Text Box
24 Hour Volume: 2023 AADT (12,981) + Weekday Development Traffic (547) = 13,528

awambold
Text Box
13,528

awambold
Line

awambold
Text Box
Hagadorn Road and Site Driveway
SB Left Turn Movement

awambold
Text Box
a.m. Peak Hour
p.m. Peak Hour

awambold
Text Box
5

awambold
Text Box
14

awambold
Line

awambold
Line



 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, Principal Planner 
 
Date:  March 10, 2025 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #25003 (Okemos Local Investments), to construct an adult 

use marijuana provisioning center at 4360 South Hagadorn Road, Okemos, MI  
48864.  

 
 
Okemos Local Investments (Applicant) has submitted a Special Use Permit (SUP) application for the 
construction of a 2,030 square foot adult use marijuana retailer at 4360 South Hagadorn Road, 
Okemos, MI  48864 (Subject Property). This is a major amendment from the Applicant’s previous 
application (SUP #24020) for an adult use marijuana retailer in the existing 2,587 square foot 
building at the Subject Property. The Subject Property is approximately 0.62 acre in size and is zoned 
RP – Research and Office Park. This SUP application follows the Board of Trustees’ approval of the 
adult use marijuana conditional license on May 9, 2024. 
 
Zoning and Future Land Use 
The Subject Property is located in 
the RP – Research and Office Park 
zoning district. The same zoning 
designation applies to the adjacent 
properties to the north, east, and 
south. The property to the west is 
zoned RR – Rural Residential and is 
Michigan State University property.  
 
The RP district requires a minimum 
of 200 feet of lot frontage and 2 
acres of lot area for new lots.  The 
Subject Property is an existing 
parcel and is approximately 0.62 
acres in size (approximately 27,000 
square feet) and has approximately 
82 feet of frontage along South 
Hagadorn Road. 
 

 

ZONING MAP 



Special Use Permit #25003 (Okemos Local Investments) 
Planning Commission (March 10, 2025) 
Page 2 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

The Future Land Use Map from the 2023 
Master Plan designates the subject site 
in the Business/Technology category. 
This is likewise true for the properties to 
the north, east, and south. The property 
to the west is shown as Michigan State 
University property. 
 
Staff Analysis 
Applications for special land use permits 
are reviewed under Sec. 86-126 in the 
Zoning Ordinance. Based on that review, 
Staff has the following comments: 
 

1. This application is a major 
amendment from the Applicant’s 
prior SUP application (#24020) 
in 2024. At that time, the 
Planning Commission asked the Applicant was asked to update the traffic assessment. This 
was completed and the updated traffic assessment is attached. After the traffic assessment 
was completed, the Applicant decided to amend the application to reflect the decision to 
demolish the existing building on the Subject Property and construct a new, slightly smaller 
building. The decision to not use the existing building constituted a major amendment to 
SUP #24020. 

2. The Subject Property lies within Adult Use Marijuana Overlay Area 4. This has been 
approved of one of the only five areas in the Township where adult use marijuana retailers 
are allowed. An adult use marijuana retail conditional license has been approved for the site.  

3. The project is consistent with the intent and purposes of this chapter and the proposed adult 
use marijuana retailer conforms with the Subject Property’s zoning and Future Land Use 
designations. 

4. The project is consistent with applicable land use policies contained in the Township’s 
comprehensive development plan of current adoption. 

5. The project is designed, constructed, operated, and maintained so as to be harmonious and 
appropriate in appearance with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and 
that such a use will not change the essential character of the same area.  

6. The project is not expected to adversely affect or be hazardous to existing neighboring uses. 

7. The project is not expected to be detrimental to the economic welfare of the surrounding 
properties or the community. 

8. The project is adequately served by public facilities, such as existing roads, schools, 
stormwater drainage, public safety, public transportation, and public recreation, or that the 
persons or agencies responsible for the establishment of the proposed use shall be able to 
provide any such service. 

 
2023 FUTURE LAND USE 

 



Special Use Permit #25003 (Okemos Local Investments) 
Planning Commission (March 10, 2025) 
Page 3 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

9. The project is adequately served by public sanitation facilities if so designed. If on-site 
sanitation facilities for sewage disposal, potable water supply, and stormwater are 
proposed, they shall be properly designed and capable of handling the long term needs of 
the proposed project. 

10. The project will not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, and equipment and 
conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property, or the general 
welfare by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, or odors. 

11. The project is not expected to directly or indirectly have a substantial adverse impact on the 
natural resources of the Township, including, but not limited to, prime agricultural soils, 
water recharge areas, lakes, rivers, streams, major forests, wetlands, or wildlife areas. 

12. Attachment #7 details the safety and odor control that is being proposed by the Applicant. 
The safety and odor control systems meet the Township’s requirements. 

13. The Subject Property is adequately served by water and sewer. An attached traffic 
assessment (Attachment #6, dated November 2024) verifies that the existing roads are 
capable of handling the traffic and no traffic study is required.  

14. A site plan was submitted (Attachment #5) as required by Sec. 40-30. If this SUP application 
is approved, the applicant will be required to formally submit for site plan approval before 
any construction or land clearing is approved. 

 
Based on the information provided by the Applicant, Staff has identified no major concerns that would 
negatively impact surrounding properties or the Township at large while reviewing the proposed 
Special Use Permit. If the Special Use Permit for the project is approved by the Planning Commission 
and the Township Board, the applicant will be required to submit for Site Plan Review and/or any 
required building permits prior to beginning operations. 
 
Recreational Marihuana Approval Process 
Applicants for a Recreational Marihuana Facility must go through various steps in order to establish a 
facility within Meridian Township, including securing local and state approval. Applications are 
submitted to the Director of Community Planning and Development for review. All inspections, 
review, processing, and competitive review, if necessary, shall be completed within 90 days of a 
complete application. A completed application is forwarded to the Township Board, who must 
approve or deny the application within 120 days of a completed application and fees. If the application 
is approved, then the Applicant shall receive a conditional approval, the conditions of which must be 
met for the Applicant to receive a Permit as the Permit Holder. If the Township Board issues 
conditional approval, then the Applicant must submit their SUP application to the Planning 
Commission within 60 days. Recreational Marihuana permits are reviewed for renewal or 
amendment, but the SUP does not require annual renewal. If the applicant maintains a valid State 
license and remains in good standing with both the State and Township a renewal will be granted for 
another one year period.   
 
Planning Commission Options 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval, approval with conditions, or denial of the 
proposed special use permit. A resolution will be provided at a future meeting. 
 



Special Use Permit #25003 (Okemos Local Investments) 
Planning Commission (March 10, 2025) 
Page 4 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Attachments 
1. Special use permit application 
2. Attachment 1: List of Persons Possessing Property Interest and Description of Property Interest 
3. Attachment 2: Legal Description for 4360 South Hagadorn Road, Okemos, MI  48864 
4. Attachment 3: Description of Project and Development Phases 
5. Attachment 4: Nonrefundable Application Fee 
6. Attachment 5: Site Plan, dated January 27, 2025 
7. Attachment 6: Building Floor Plans and Elevations, dated January 30, 2025 
8. Attachment 7: Business Operation Plan 
9. Attachment 8: Traffic Impact Analysis, dated November 14, 2024 

 



 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, Senior Planner 
 
Date:  March 24, 2025 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #25003 (Okemos Local Investments), to construct an adult 

use marijuana provisioning center at 4360 South Hagadorn Road, Okemos, MI  
48864. 

 
 
Okemos Local Investments (Applicant) has submitted a Special Use Permit (SUP) application for the 
construction of a 2,030 square foot adult use marijuana retailer at 4360 South Hagadorn Road, 
Okemos, MI  48864 (Subject Property). This is a major amendment from the Applicant’s previous 
application (SUP #24020) for an adult use marijuana retailer in the existing 2,587 square foot 
building at the Subject Property. The Subject Property is approximately 0.62 acre in size and is zoned 
RP – Research and Office Park. This SUP application follows the Board of Trustees’ approval of the 
adult use marijuana conditional license on May 9, 2024. 
 
A public hearing for this application was held at the Planning Commission’s regular meeting on 
Monday, March 10, 2025, during which the Planning Commission indicated support for the 
application. There was no comment from the public. 
 
The original staff report, dated March 10, 2025, is attached. Additional materials from the public 
hearing may be found at the following link: https://www.meridian.mi.us/government/boards-and-
commissions/agendas-packets-and-minutes/-folder-3610#docan5601_5944_42 
 
Planning Commission Options 
The Planning Commission may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the special use permit.  A 
resolution to approve the request is provided. Staff recommends approval of Special Use Permit 
#25003 for the construction of an adult use marijuana retailer at 4360 South Hagadorn Road, with 
the conditions listed in the resolution. 
 
Staff would offer the following motion for the Planning Commission to consider during their review of 
the proposed rezoning request. Should the Planning Commission have additional reasons for 
supporting the recommendation, they can be added to the end of the motion. 
 
Move to adopt the resolution to recommend approval of SUP #25003 to construct an adult use 
marijuana retailer at 4360 South Hagadorn Road, Okemos, MI  48864, for the following 
reasons: 

 
• The proposed project conforms with the Township Master Plan and the Future Land Use 

map. 
• The proposed project conforms with the Adult Use Marihuana regulations that have been 

adopted by the Township. 
• The proposed project that would result fits the character of the area.  



 
Special Use Permit #25003 (Okemos Local Investments) 
Planning Commission (March 24, 2025) 
Page 2 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

 
Attachments 
1. Resolution to approve SUP #25003. 
2. Staff Memo, Dated March 10, 2025. 
   
 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE Special Use Permit #25003 
(Okemos Land Investments) 

RESOLUTION 

At a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 
24th day of March, 2025 at 6:30 p.m., Local Time. 

PRESENT: 

ABSENT: 

The following resolution was offered by Commissioner __________ and supported by 
Commissioner __________. 

WHEREAS, Okemos Land Investments has submitted a request to establish a 2,030 square 
foot adult use marihuana retailer located at 4360 South Hagadorn Road; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board adopted both zoning and non-zoning ordinances allowing 
commercial medical marihuana facilities in designated overlay areas throughout the Township at its 
meeting on May 21, 2019; and  

WHEREAS, Township Board adopted standards to allow adult use marihuana retailers in 
designated overlay areas throughout the Township at its meeting on July 11, 2023; and  

WHEREAS, the overlay areas adopted by the Township Board allow one adult use marihuana 
retailer in each one of five overlay areas, subject to the approval of a special use permit reviewed by 
the Planning Commission and approved by the Township Board; and 

WHEREAS, the subject site is located entirely within Overlay Area 4 and is appropriately 
zoned RP (Research and Office Park), which allows adult use marihuana retailers by special use 
permit; and   

WHEREAS, the applicant was required to submit for Special Use Permit approval within 60 
days of the Board’s conditional approval of their license; and 

WHEREAS, the applicant has submitted for Special Use Permit approval as required by the 
Township’s adult use marihuana ordinances; and  

WHEREAS, the Township Planning Commission held a public hearing on the Special Use 
Permit application at their regular meeting on August 12, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Planning Commission asked the applicant to produce an up to date 
traffic assessment showing more recent traffic data; and 

WHEREAS, the applicant complied and sent an updated traffic assessment to the Township on 
February 10, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, the updated traffic assessment concluded that the expected traffic generated by 
the proposed adult use marihuana retailer would be handled by the existing road system; and 



Resolution to Approve 
SUP #25003 (Okemos Local Investments) 
Page 2 
 

WHEREAS, the applicant indicated at that time that they now wished to redevelop the site 
which triggered a major amendment to the application; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Township Planning Commission held a public hearing on the amended Special 

Use Permit application at their regular meeting on March 10, 2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed adult use marihuana retailer meets the required setbacks from any 

public or private K-12 school, church, place of worship or other religious facility, library, preschool, or 
child care center established in Section 40-31 of the Code of Ordinances; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the proposed adult use marihuana retailer will not adversely affect adjacent land 

uses or the health, safety, and general welfare of the community; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with the general standards for granting a 

special use permit found in Section 86-126 of the Code of Ordinances. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby recommends approval of Special Use Permit #25003, subject to 
the following conditions: 

 
1. Approval of SUP #25003 is required to be followed by site plan approval.  
 
2. Approval is subject to the applicant receiving approval of a Commercial Adult Use Marihuana 

Facility permit by the Director of Community Planning and Development. 
 
3. Approval is subject to the applicant receiving Final Approval for an adult use marihuana 

license from the State of Michigan, Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs. 
 
4. The applicant shall obtain and maintain any and all other applicable permits, licenses, and 

approvals necessary to operate the proposed commercial adult use marihuana provisioning 
center from the State of Michigan, Township, and any other applicable agencies.  Copies of 
all permits, licenses, and approvals shall be submitted to the Department of Community 
Planning and Development.  

 
5. Any proposed future changes to the scope of the SUP will require an amendment to Special 

Use Permit #25003. 
 
6. All applicable conditions from previous approvals for the Subject Property shall remain in 

effect.  
 
7. The retailer shall remain in compliance with the operational requirements established in 

Section 40-31 of the Code of Ordinances. 
 
8. The special use permit shall be revoked if the applicant fails to maintain a valid Adult Use 

Marihuana Facility permit from the Township and Facility License from the State of 
Michigan. 
 

ADOPTED: YEAS:  
                                                                                             
  NAYS:   
 



Resolution to Approve 
SUP #25003 (Okemos Local Investments) 
Page 3 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chairperson of the Planning 
Commission of the Charter Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY 
CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular 
meeting of the Planning Commission on the 24th day of March, 2025. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       Alisande Shrewsbury 
       Planning Commission Chairperson 
 



Page 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
REGULAR MEETING PLANNING COMMISSION  
5000 Okemos Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Central Fire Station-Community Room 
Monday, March 10, 2025, 6:30 pm 

PRESENT: Chair Shrewsbury, Vice Chair Snyder, Commissioners Brooks, McConnell, McCurtis, 
and Romback. 

ABSENT: None 

STAFF: Planner Shorkey 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER

Chair Shrewsbury called the March 10, 2025, regular meeting for the Meridian Township
Planning Commission to order at 6:31 pm.

2. ROLL CALL

Chair Shrewsbury called the roll of the Board. All Board members except for Commissioner
Romback were present.  Commissioner Romback arrived at 6:34 pm.

3. PUBLIC REMARKS

None

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Chair Shrewsbury asked for approval of the agenda.

Commissioner McCurtis moved to approve the March 10, 2025, Regular Planning
Commission meeting agenda. Seconded by Vice Chair Snyder. Motion passed
unanimously.

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Chair Shrewsbury asked for approval of the minutes.

Commissioner McCurtis moved to approve Minutes of the February 24, 2025 meeting
with minor amendments. Seconded by Vice chair Snyder. Motion passed unanimously.

6. COMMUNICATIONS

None

7. PUBLIC HEARINGS

A. SUP #25003 – Okemos Land Investments



Page 2 

Principal Planner Shorkey gave an overview of the Special Use Permit process and briefed 
the Commission on the application. 
 
Commissioner McCurtis asked for more details about the timeline for completing the 
demolition and building of the proposed project, expressing concerns that the developer be 
held accountable to a reasonable timeline.  Principal Planner Shorkey outlined the parts of 
the planning process that involve specific timelines. 
 
Commissioner Brooks noted that the reason the Commission denied a previous permit for 
this development was to get an updated traffic study.   Commissioner Brooks then asked 
about the non-conformance of the lot size.  Principal Planner Shorkey stated that so long as 
the construction fits the existing building, no variance will be required. 
 
Commissioner McCurtis asked about the proposed appearance of the property.  Anderson 
Grandstaff, the attorney representing the applicant, explained that the original plan was to 
remodel the existing building, but the new plan proposes a new but smaller building.  John 
Gumma, project engineer, noted that the project should be completed within six months 
and the building is intended to look like a house consistent with the applicant’s branding. 
 
Commissioner Romback asked why the plan was changed from remodeling the original 
building to building a new structure.  Mr. Gumma stated that it would be faster, easier, and 
energy-compliant to build new than to rehabilitate the existing building. 
 
Commissioner McConnell asked for more details regarding the traffic study. Zach Lask, 
project manager, interpreted the data provided and noted that the building size will limit 
the amount of traffic.  Principal Planner Shorkey noted that if the Road Department has 
problems with the site plan, it will not be approved until those problems are resolved. 
 
Commissioner Romback questioned the long-term viability of the type of business planned 
for the location.  Mr. Grandstaff noted that market research shows the need for this type of 
business in this area based on data that shows residents are traveling out of the area to 
access this type of business. 
 
Commissioners indicated via straw poll that they would likely support the permit. 

 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
None 

 
9. OTHER BUSINESS 

 
A. 2025 Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Appointment 

 
Commissioner Brooks stated that he would like to be appointed to the Planning 
Commission’s seat on the BRA. 
 
Commissioner McConnell moved to appoint Commissioner Brandon Brooks to the 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority.  Supported by Commissioner McCurtis. Motion 
passed unanimously. 
 

10. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 



Page 3 

A. Township Board Update 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey stated that there was an update to the Emergency Management 
Plan, Rezoning 2025-03 was discussed as was potential housing Tax Increment Funding.  
Action on Rezoning 2025-03 will be taken at the next meeting. 
 

B. Liaison Reports 
 
Commissioner McConnell noted that the Environmental Commission welcomed a new staff 
member and adopted a resolution for a grant application for installing solar on a fire station 
and submitted a proposal for small scale anaerobic digestion units. 

 
11. PROJECT UPDATES 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey noted that Puff Puff Tobacco is going into a vacant property on 
Okemos Road and is expected to open in April.  Principal Planner Shorkey gave Commissioners 
a copy of the Notice of Intent-CHILL Grant public notice that appeared in Lansing Pulse. 

 
12. PUBLIC REMARKS 

 
None 
 

13. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 
Commissioners discussed clarifying requirements for traffic studies. 
 
Commissioners discussed attendance at upcoming meetings. Principal Planner Shorkey asked 
that members notify him immediately if they were going to be absent as that would mean that 
there would be no quorum. 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Chair Shrewsbury called for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:22 pm 
 
Commissioner McConnell moved to adjourn the March 10, 2025 regular meeting of the 
Planning Commission. Seconded by Commissioner Brooks. Motion passed unanimously. 
 

 



Page 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
REGULAR MEETING PLANNING COMMISSION  
5000 Okemos Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Central Fire Station-Community Room 
Monday, March 24, 2025, 6:30 pm 

PRESENT: Chair Shrewsbury, Commissioners, McConnell, McCurtis, and Romback. 

ABSENT: Vice Chair Snyder, Commissioner Brooks 

STAFF: Planner Shorkey 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER

Chair Shrewsbury called the March 10, 2025, regular meeting for the Meridian Township
Planning Commission to order at 6:31 pm.

2. ROLL CALL

Chair Shrewsbury called the roll of the Board. All Board members except for Vice-chair Snyder
and Commissioner Brooks were present.

3. PUBLIC REMARKS

None

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Chair Shrewsbury asked for approval of the agenda.

Commissioner McConnell moved to approve the March 24, 2025, Regular Planning
Commission meeting agenda. Seconded by Commissioner McCurtis . Motion passed
unanimously.

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Chair Shrewsbury asked for approval of the minutes.

Commissioner McCurtis moved to approve Minutes of the March 10, 2025 meeting with
minor amendments. Seconded by Commissioner McConnell. Motion passed unanimously.

6. COMMUNICATIONS

A. SUP #25006 – Bruce and Paula Shaffer (Email)
B. SUP #25006 – Catherine Lein (Email)
C. SUP #25006 – Richard and Marilyn Hallgren (Email)

7. PUBLIC HEARINGS



Page 2 

A. SUP #25006 – Precious Sprouts Group Child Care 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey gave an overview of the Special Use Permit process and briefed 
the Commission on the application. 
 
Commissioners asked for clarity regarding State and Township requirements.  Principal 
Planner Shorkey provided clarification. 
 
Chair Shrewsbury opened public hearing at 6:41 pm. 
 
Chair Shrewsbury closed public hearing at 6:421pm. 
 
Commissioners indicated via straw poll that they would likely support the permit. 

 
B. ZA #25002 – Sec. 6-755 – Schedule of Requirements for Parking Space 

 
Intern Kanade gave an overview of the reasoning behind the Ordinance updates and noted 
the changes proposed by staff. 
 
Commissioners asked for clarity regarding the current Ordinance and proposed changes.  
Principal Planner Shorkey provided clarification. 
 
Chair Shrewsbury opened public hearing at 6:49 pm. 
 
Chair Shrewsbury closed public hearing at 6:55 pm. 
 
Commissioners indicated via straw poll that they would likely support the permit. 

 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
A. SUP #25003 – Okemos Local Investments 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey gave an overview of the process that has occurred to date. 
 
Commissioner McCurtis moved to adopt the resolution to recommend approval of 
SUP #25003 to construct an adult use marijuana retailer at 4360 South Hagadorn 
Road, Okemos MI 48864 for the following reasons:  the proposed project conforms 
with the Township Master Plan and the Future Land Use map, the proposed project 
conforms with the Adult Use Marihuana regulations that  have been adopted by the 
Township, the proposed project that would result fits the character of the area.  
Supported by Commissioner McConnell.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
9. OTHER BUSINESS 

 
None 
 

10. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

A. Township Board Update 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey stated that the Board approved REZ #25001 and an SUP will be 
presented to the Planning Commission in an upcoming meeting. 
 



Page 3 

B. Liaison Reports 
 
None 

 
11. PROJECT UPDATES 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey highlighted the report provided in the packet.  He noted that staff 
will be proposing language about roosters in an upcoming meeting. 

 
12. PUBLIC REMARKS 

 
None 
 

13. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 
None 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Chair Shrewsbury called for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:02 pm 
 
Commissioner McConnell moved to adjourn the March 24, 2025 regular meeting of the 
Planning Commission. Seconded by Commissioner McCurtis. Motion passed 
unanimously. 
 

 



To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Board Members 

Bernadette Blonde, CGFM              
Finance Director 

April 15, 2025 

1st Quarter Budget Amendments 

The 1st quarter 2025 budget amendments are detailed in the attached document.  These 
amendments result from revenue and expenditures that were unknown during the original budget 
process. 

GENERAL FUND 

The amendments to the 2025 General Fund include revenue adjustments to account for higher than 
expected revenues from tax penalties, permits, and the challenge coin program. Expenditure 
adjustments cover costs for financial services needed due to the vacancy of the Finance Director 
position, as well as temporary staffing to fill an open position in Utility Billing. Furthermore, the 
carryover amount for the Public Safety Generator and Sign Project from 2024, along with ongoing 
planning and review for Okemos Public Schools, are also included. 

The projected Fund Balance for the General Fund is as follows: 

*Estimated Fund Balance on December 31, 2024 $13,475,593.36 

Original budgeted addition to Fund Balance 2025   40,254 
1st quarter budget amendments   (264,422) 

Projected use of Fund Balance   (224,168) 

Projected Fund Balance on December 31, 2025 $13,251,425.36 

Fund Balance/Average Monthly Expenditures    5.46 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS  

Amendments to the Special Revenue Funds include the removal of bond proceeds revenue, as the 
funds were received at the end of 2024. Additionally, grant revenue and related expenditures for 
the River Clean-Up Project are recognized, along with the purchase of a handheld narcotics scanner 
funded by the Opioid Settlement Fund. 

*Fund Balance has not been finalized pending the completion of outstanding fiscal year-end activities

12. B



 

DEBT SERVICE FUND 
 
Amendments to the Debt Service Funds consist of additional principal and interest payments for the 
2024 General Obligation Unlimited Tax Bonds, as well as, the recognition of the anticipated interest 
revenue for 2025. 
 
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND  
 
Amendments to the Capital Projects Fund include expenses for the conceptual planning of the Senior 
Center, the inclusion of the Opticom project from the Ingham County Road Department, and the 
creation of architectural plans for the fire station dormitory remodel. 
 
ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
 
Amendments to the Enterprise Funds include the recognition of revenue from the City of East 
Lansing’s share of the Timberland Street Water Main Replacement Project, the reallocation and 
addition of funds for the Grand River Avenue and Park Lake Road Gate Valve Project, and the 
inclusion of AMI Collectors for water meter readings. 
 
The following motion is proposed: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE 1st QUARTER 2025 BUDGET AMENDMENTS WITH AN 
DECREASE IN BUDGETED FUND BALANCE FOR THE GENERAL FUND IN THE AMOUNT 
OF $264,422 WHICH PROJECTS A USE OF FUND BALANCE OF $224,168.  BASED ON 
2024 RESULTS, THE PROJECTED FUND BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2025, WILL BE 
$13,251,425.36. 

 
Attachment: 
 

1. 1st Quarter 2025 Budget Amendments 
 



Department Amount Explanation Account

GENERAL FUND

Revenue

Tax Penalties 16,000.00                         Revenue has exceeded initial projections 101-000.000-445.000
Land Clearing Permits 420.00                               Revenue has exceeded initial projections 101-000.000-480.000
Challenge Coin Revenue 1,400.00                           New program for 2025 101-000.000-637.030
Surplus Property 70.00                                 Revenue has exceeded initial projections 101-000.000-647.010

Total Revenue 17,890.00                         

Expenditures

General Government

Accounting - Salaries - Temporary 151,420.00                      Utility Billing Temporary Staff (29,920) & Financial Services for 2025 

(121,500) 

101-170.191-701.000

Clerk - Health Insurance (4,500.00)                         Employee's insurance requirements have changed post -budget approval 101-170.215-715.000

Clark - Insurance opt Out 4,500.00                           Employee's insurance requirements have changed post -budget approval 101-170.215-715.010

Information Technology - Salaries (12,000.00)                       Vacant IT Technician 101-170.228-701.000
Information Technology - Longevity (320.00)                             Vacant IT Technician 101-170.228-710.000
Information Technology - FICA (1,000.00)                         Vacant IT Technician 101-170.228-714.000

Admin & Human Resources - Auto Allowance 1,000.00                           New contract agreement with the manager 101-170.270-723.000
Admin & Human Resources - Operating Supplies 600.00                               The need for document shredding service was unforeseen during the 

budgeting process 
101-170.270-728.000

Admin & Human Resources - Interview/Hiring Expenses 1,000.00                           Applicant Pro software increase was not anticipated during the budget 
process

101-170.270-822.020

Police - Sick Leave Incentive Pay 112.00                               Higher than estimated 101-300.301-702.000
Police - Printing Contact 2,000.00                           Product initially planned for the previous year was delayed and arrived in 

2025
101-300.301-825.000

Police - Machinery and Equipment 2,000.00                           Costs were higher than anticipated for Shields and Radar 101-300.301-979.000

Dev - Planning / Admin - Professional Services 20,000.00                         Continued Plan Review for Okemos Public Schools 101-700.701-821.000

Parks & Recreation Admin - Health Insurance (2,251.00)                         Employee's insurance requirements have changed post -budget approval 101-750.753-715.000

Parks & Recreation Admin - Insurance opt Out 2,251.00                           Employee's insurance requirements have changed post -budget approval 101-750.753.715.010

Capital Outlay - Construction/Improvements 117,500.00                      Carryover - Sign project (7,500) and Public Safety Generator (110,000) 101-900.901-974.000

Total General Government 164,812.00                    

Total Capital Outlay 117,500.00                    

Total Expenditures for General Fund 282,312.00                    

Net to (from) Fund Balance (264,422.00)                  

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Local Roads

Revenue 

Current Property Taxes 350.00                               Revenue has exceeded initial projections 204-000.000-402.000
Other Financing Srce - Bond Proceeds (10,239,532.00)              Received Bond Proceeds in late November after the budget process was 

completed 

204-000.000-696.000

Net to (from) Fund Balance (10,239,182.00)           

Park Millage

Revenue 

Delinquent Property Taxes 180.00                               Revenue has exceeded initial projections 208-000.000-412.000
Expenditures 

Parks and Recreation Admin - Health Insurance (2,251.00)                         Employee's insurance requirements have changed post -budget approval 208-750.753-715.000

Parks and Recreation Admin - Insurance opt Out  2,251.00                           Employee's insurance requirements have changed post -budget approval 208-750.753-715.010

Parks Maintenance - Radio Maintenance 800.00                               Verizon Wireless Parks Portion is higher than anticpated 208-750.758-827.000
Total Expenditures 800.00                               

Net to (from) Fund Balance (620.00)                            

Beginning of Year Budget Amendments
2025 Budget

Charter Township of Meridian



Department Amount Explanation Account

Park Restricted/Designated

Revenue 

Grant Revenue - Local 50,000.00                         River Clean up Grant 211-000.000-581.000
Expenditures

Park Development 50,000.00                         River Clean up Expenses 211-000.000-975.090
Net to (from) Fund Balance -                                      

Fire Restricted/Designated 

Revenue 

Interest 25.00                                 Revenue has exceeded initial projections 214-000.000-665.000
Net to (from) Fund Balance 25.00                                

Pedestrian Bike path 

Expenditures

Overtime 1,000.00                           Increase of Snow events during the 2024-2025 winter season 216-440.450-706.000
Operating Supplies 1,500.00                           Additional Trimming along the pathway system this winter 216-440.450-728.000

Total Expenditures 2,500.00                          

Net to (from) Fund Balance (2,500.00)                        

Opioid Settlement Fund 

Expenditures

Education 1,460.00                           DARE officer training 284-000.000-831.000
Machinery and Equipment 40,000.00                         Handheld Narcotics Scanner 284-000.000-979.000

Total Expenditures 41,460.00                       

Net to (from) Fund Balance (41,460.00)                     

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 

Road Debt Retirement Fund 

Revenue 

Delinquent Property Taxes 265.00                               Revenue has exceeded initial projections 310-000.000-412.000
Local Community Stabilization Share 1,219.00                           Revenue has exceeded initial projections 310-000.000-573.000
Interest 50,000.00                         Revenue has exceeded initial projections 310-000.000-665.000

Total Revenue 51,484.00                       

Expenditures 

Principal Expense 2,260,000.00                  Addition of the 2024 GO Unlimited Tax Bond Principal Payments 310-000.000-992.200
Debt Service - Interest 378,076.39                      Addition of the 2024 GO Unlimited Tax Bond Interest Payments 310-000.000-993.000

Total Expenditures 2,638,076.39                

Net to (from) Fund Balance (2,586,592.39)              

Fire Station Debt Service 

Revenue 

Local Community Stabilization Share 450.00                               Revenue has exceeded initial projections 372-000.000-573.000
Interest 1,500.00                           Revenue has exceeded initial projections 372-000.000-665.000

Total Revenue 1,950.00                          

Net to (from) Fund Balance 1,950.00                          

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 

Capital Projects Fund 

Expenditures

Senior & Community Center 40,000.00                         Senior Center Conceptual Planning 401-900.901-821.000
Construction/Improvements 16,040.00                         Opticom Project from Ingham County Road Department 401-900.901-974.000
Construction/Improvements 80,000.00                         Fire Dorm Architecture Plans 401-900.901-974.000-FIREFDORMS

Total Expenditures 136,040.00                    

Net to (from) Fund Balance (136,040.00)                  

ENTERPRISE FUNDS 

Sewer Fund 

Expenditures

Water/Sewer Administration - Overtime 1,000.00                           Overtime to keep up with permitting 590-440.441-706.000
Water/Sewer Administration - Miscellaneous 1,000.00                           Higher than anticipated 590-440.441-955.000

Total Expenditures 2,000.00                          

Net to (from) Fund Balance (2,000.00)                        



Department Amount Explanation Account

Water Fund 

Revenue 

Reimbursements 202,000.00                      Reimbursement from the City of East Lansing for their portion of the 

Timberlane St Water Main Replacement  Project 
591-000.000-676.000

Total Revenue 202,000.00                    

Expenditures

Water/Sewer Administration - Overtime 1,000.00                           Overtime to keep up with permitting 591-440.441-706.000
Water Maintenance - Health Insurance (4,500.00)                         Employee's insurance requirements have changed post -budget approval 591-440.537-715.000

Water Maintenance - Insurance opt Out 4,500.00                           Employee's insurance requirements have changed post -budget approval 591-440.537-715.010

Capital Outlay - Construction/Improvements 525,000.00                      Grand River Ave and Park Lake Rd Gate Valve Project (425,000) and AMI 

collectors for Water Meter Reading  (100,000)
591-900-901-974.000

Capital Outlay - Construction/Improvements (648,000.00)                    Reallocate funds to other projects, working on current inventory before 

purchase of more meters 
591-900-901-974.000-METER-2024

Total Expenditures (122,000.00)                  

Net to (from) Fund Balance 324,000.00                    

INTERNAL SERVICE FUND 

Motor Pool 

Expenditures

Clothing Allowance 563.00                               New Employee prorated clothing allowance 661-000.000-761.000
Net to (from) Fund Balance (563.00)                            



 
 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

13. A 

To:  Township Board Members 

From:  Tim Dempsey, Township Manager 

Date:  April 11, 2025   

Re:  Joint Board and Local Government/Schools Meeting Topics 

 

Staff is seeking Board input on agenda topics for the April 29 joint meeting. The M-Team has 

discussed potential topics and has come up with the following possibilities: 

 Area Road Projects and Needed Improvements. Highlight upcoming major road projects 
and discuss critical needs. 

 Red Cedar Cleanup Project. Review current and ongoing plans across jurisdictions doing 
river cleanup work. 

 MSU-Lake Lansing Trail. Provide updates on Phase I and II remaining work and Phase III 
design/planning work.   

 

We are also in the process of soliciting topics from attendees and will share those additional 

suggestions with the Board during the April 15 meeting.  

 
 

 



 

 Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

13.B 

 
 
To:  Board Members 
 
From: Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 
 Director of Public Works & Engineering 
 

Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP, Director of Community Planning and Development 
 
 Courtney Wisinski, Director of Parks & Recreation 
   
Date:  April 9, 2025 
 
Re:  Senior/Community Center 
 

At the Board’s April 3 meeting, the Board reviewed and discussed the two 
recommendations from the Senior Community Center Task Force, both located at the 
Central Fire Station site, 5000 Okemos, Road. The packet materials from the April 3 
meeting are attached to this cover memorandum for your reference. 
 
At the April 15 Board meeting, we will be discussing the costs associated with both 
options and the resulting millage rates that are required. Before we get into new millage 
rates, we want to remind the Board that the following Township millages have officially 
been levied for the last time: 
 

1. CATA Redi Ride: 0.2 mill 
 

This millage was levied for the last time on the winter 2023 tax bill. This millage 
had been reduced to 0.1971 under the Headlee Amendment in the state 
Constitution when it was last levied on the winter 2023 tax bill. 

 
2. Central Fire Station Construction Bond Millage: 0.2 mill 

 
This millage was levied for the last time on the winter 2024 tax bill at 0.0624 mill, 
which was the millage rate that was necessary to finish retiring the bonds for the 
construction of the Central Fire Station. 

 
All of the figures below account for the $5 million grant the Township has received from 
the state of Michigan, the approximately $550,000 fund balance from the existing 
Community Services Millage, and the estimated $2,105,050 in revenue the existing 
Community Services Millage will bring in over the next 10 years. 
 
  



 
Memo to Township Board 
April 9, 2025 
Senior/Community Center 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Senior Center 
 
For the Senior Center option, the estimate cost to operate the facility over 10 years is 
$4,630,210. This equates to a millage rate of 0.101 mill. 
 
The estimated construction cost is $9,800,000, or $629 per square foot. Once you subtract 
the $5 million grant from the state of Michigan, the remaining construction cost of 
$4,800,000 equates to a millage rate of 0.2336 to fund the construction over a 10-year 
period. 
 

Senior Center 

Millage Rate 
First Year 

Revenue 
Total 

Revenue 
Operating Millage 0.1010 $236,438.06 $2,530,530.76 
Construction Bond Millage 0.2336 $546,850.80 $4,800,000.00 
Totals 0.3346 $783,288.86 $7,330,530.76 

 
Here is a table that shows the approximate increase that property owners would see 
based on market and taxable value:  
 

Senior Center 
Senior Center Annual 

Market Value of Home Taxable Value of Home Increase to Tax Bill 
$200,000.00 $100,000.00 $33.46 
$250,000.00 $125,000.00 $41.83 
$300,000.00 $150,000.00 $50.19 
$350,000.00 $175,000.00 $58.56 
$400,000.00 $200,000.00 $66.92 

 
Senior & Community Center 
 
For the Senior & Community Center option, the estimate cost to operate the facility over 
10 years is $12,088,130. This equates to a millage rate of .3985 mill. 
 
The estimated construction cost is $29,100,000, or $541 per square foot. Once you 
subtract the $5 million grant from the state of Michigan, the remaining construction cost of 
$24,100,000 equates to a millage rate of .6949 to fund the construction over a 20-year 
period. 
 

Senior & Community Center 
Millage Rate First Year Revenue Total Revenue 

Operating Millage 0.3985 $932,876.90 $9,984,321.85 
Construction Bond Millage 0.6949 $1,626,740.68 $24,100,000.00 
Totals 1.0934 $2,559,617.58 $34,084,321.85 



 
Memo to Township Board 
April 9, 2025 
Senior/Community Center 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

 
Here is a table that shows the approximate increase that property owners would see 
based on market and taxable value: 
 

Senior & Community Center 
Market Value of Home Taxable Value of Home Increase to Tax Bill 
$200,000.00 $100,000.00 $109.34 
$250,000.00 $125,000.00 $136.68 
$300,000.00 $150,000.00 $164.01 
$350,000.00 $175,000.00 $191.35 
$400,000.00 $200,000.00 $218.68 

 
Below is a table that shows how the approximate revenue various millage rates would generate in 
the first year:  
 

Millage Rate First Year Revenue 
0.33 $793,240.81 
0.5 $1,201,880.02 
0.67 $1,610,519.23 
0.75 $1,802,820.03 
0.875 $2,103,290.04 
1 $2,403,760.05 
1.1 $2,644,136.05 

 
At the Board April 3 meeting, there was some discussion about the cost and square footage 
differential between the two recommendations. The Senior & Community Center conceptual design 
that the Task Force recommended is 3.45 times the size of the Senior Center in terms of the square 
footage of the two facilities. The Senior & Community Center conceptual design that the Task Force 
recommended would cost 2.97 times more to construct than the Senior Center. As our consultants 
and Progressive AE were explaining at the previous Board meeting, the reason for this differential 
is the fixed cost to grade the site and bring water and sanitary sewer into the site is the same 
between the two. Therefore, this makes the Senior Center more costly to construct per square foot.  
 
There was also some discussion about the total cost differential between the two recommendations 
at the previous Board meeting. A lot of this differential is attributed to the difference in the hours 
that the two facilities would be open.  
 
The Senior Center would be open eight hours per day, Monday-Friday, or 40 hours per week. The 
Senior & Community Center would be open 12 hours per day, Monday-Saturday, or 72 hours per 
week. Here is a table that compares the total cost (construction and operation, including all existing 
revenue) on a per hour basis: 
 



 
Memo to Township Board 
April 9, 2025 
Senior/Community Center 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Recommendation 

Total Cost 
Over the First 
10 Years 

Hours of 
Operation 

Over the First 
10 Years 

Cost/Hour 
Over the 
First 10 

Years 
Senior Center $14,430,210.95 20857.2 $691.86 
Senior & Community Center $41,188,130.33 37542.96 $1,097.09 

 
Therefore, the Senior & Community Center conceptual design that the Task Force recommended 
would cost 1.59 times more per hour of operation over the first 10 years than the Senior Center. 
 
We look forward to discussing this with the Board in greater depth. 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution Authorizing Ballot Proposal for a 10-Year Senior Center Operating Millage 
2. Resolution Authorizing Ballot Proposal for a 10-Year Senior Center Project Bond 
3. Resolution Authorizing Ballot Proposal for a 10-Year Community and Senior Center 

Operating Millage 
4. Resolution Authorizing Ballot Proposal for a 20-Year Community and Senior Center Project 

Bond 
5. Construction Bond Millage Impact Summary 
6. Board Packet Materials for Agenda Item 13.A from the April 3, 2025 Meeting 



 

 
  

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
(Ingham County, Michigan) 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING BALLOT PROPOSAL FOR A 10-YEAR  

SENIOR CENTER OPERATING MILLAGE 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, 
MI 48864, in said Township on May 8, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. local time. 
 
PRESENT: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 The following Resolution was offered by _____________________________________ and supported by 
_____________________________________. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian (the “Township”) has 
determined that it is in the best interest of the Township to provide for the operation and 
maintenance of a Township senior center; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has determined that construction and operational funding 
for the project are intertwined such that construction should proceed only if operational funding is 
secured; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township Board wishes to submit the question of approving a new additional 
millage to the voters at an election to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, THAT: 
 

1. The following millage proposal shall be submitted to the electors of the Township at the 
August 5, 2025 election: 

 
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP SENIOR CENTER OPERATING MILLAGE 

 
For the purposes of expanding and improving existing senior center services and operating a new 
senior center, including, but not limited to the cost of operating and maintaining a senior center and 
related improvements, shall the Constitutional limitation upon the total amount of taxes which may 
be assessed in one (1) year upon all property within Meridian Charter Township be increased and a 
new additional millage be levied in the amount of up to 0.101 mill ($0.101 per $1,000 of 
taxable value) for the period of ten (10) years (2025-2034) inclusive? If approved and levied in full, 
this Millage will raise an estimated $236,438 in the first calendar year of the levy. Adoption of this 
proposal is conditioned on adoption of the Township Senior Center Project Bond proposal at this 
election. 

  
     Yes   _____ 
     No    _____ 
 



 

 
  

2. An election is called to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 

3. The Township Clerk is authorized and directed to certify the proposition to the County Clerk. 
 

4. The Township Clerk is hereby further authorized and directed to cause Notice of the Last Day 
of Registration and Notice of Election to be posted and also to be published in such a manner 
and at such times as required by law. 
 

5. The Township Clerk, Township Attorney, and all other Township officials are authorized and 
directed to take any and all actions necessary to have the proposal placed on the ballot for 
the election to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 

6. All existing or previous resolutions and parts of resolutions, insofar as they may conflict with 
the provisions of this resolution, are hereby rescinded to the extent necessary to avoid such 
conflict. 

 
YEAS:   _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
   
NAYS:  _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
   
ABSTAIN: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 
Charter Township of Meridian 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
   ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk for the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution 
adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian on the 8th 
day of May 2025. 
 
 
       _______________________________________________ 
       Angela Demas, Township Clerk 
       Charter Township of Meridian 



 

 
  

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
(Ingham County, Michigan) 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING BALLOT PROPOSAL FOR  

SENIOR CENTER BOND  
 
 At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, 
MI 48864, in said Township on May 8, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. local time. 
 
PRESENT: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 The following Resolution was offered by _____________________________________ and supported by 
_____________________________________. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian (the “Township”) has 
determined that it is in the best interest of the Township to provide for the acquisition, construction, 
and financing of a Township senior center; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has determined that it would be necessary to borrow money 
and issue its bonds to finance the acquisition and construction of this project; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has determined that it would be necessary to borrow money 
and issue its bonds to finance the acquisition and construction of this project; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Township Board wishes to submit the question of issuing bonds to the voters 
at an election to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, THAT: 
 

1. The following proposition shall be submitted to the electors of the Township at the August 5, 
2025 election: 

 
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP SENIOR CENTER PROJECT BOND 

 
For the purposes of paying the cost of constructing a new senior center facility, including, but not 
limited to the cost of acquiring, designing, constructing, furnishing and equipping this, and related 
improvements , parking and site, shall the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, 
borrow the principal amount of not to exceed $4,800,000 and issue its general obligation unlimited 
tax bonds for all or a portion of that amount in one or more series payable over not to exceed 10 
years from the date of issue each series? Adoption of this proposal is conditioned on adoption of the 
Township Senior Center Operating millage at this election. 
 
The estimated millage to be levied in the first year of the levy is 0.2336 mill ($0.2336 per $1,000 of 
taxable value) and the estimated simple average annual millage rate required to retire the bonds 
over approximately 10 years is 0.2327 mill ($0.2327 per $1,000 of taxable value). 



 

 
  

  
     Yes   _____ 
     No    _____ 
 

2. An election is called to be held on August 5, 2025.  
 

3. The Township Clerk is authorized and directed to certify the proposition to the County Clerk. 
 

4. The Township Clerk is hereby further authorized and directed to cause Notice of the Last Day 
of Registration and Notice of Election to be posted and also to be published in such a manner 
and at such times as required by law. 
 

5. The Township Clerk, Township Attorney, and all other Township officials are authorized and 
directed to take any and all actions necessary to have the proposal placed on the ballot for 
the election to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 

6. All existing or previous resolutions and parts of resolutions, insofar as they may conflict with 
the provisions of this resolution, are hereby rescinded to the extent necessary to avoid such 
conflict. 

 
YEAS:   _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
   
NAYS:  _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
   
ABSTAIN: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 
Charter Township of Meridian 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
   ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk for the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution 
adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian on the 8th 
day of May 2025. 
 
 
       _______________________________________________ 
       Angela Demas, Township Clerk 
       Charter Township of Meridian 

4910-2970-6548 v1 [9119-20] 



 

 
  

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
(Ingham County, Michigan) 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING BALLOT PROPOSAL FOR A 10-YEAR  

COMMUNITY AND SENIOR CENTER OPERATING MILLAGE 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, 
MI 48864, in said Township on May 8, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. local time. 
 
PRESENT: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 The following Resolution was offered by _____________________________________ and supported by 
_____________________________________. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian (the “Township”) has 
determined that it is in the best interest of the Township to provide for the operation and 
maintenance of a Township community and senior center; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has determined that construction and operational funding 
for the project are intertwined such that construction should proceed only if operational funding is 
secured; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township Board wishes to submit the question of approving a new additional 
millage to the voters at an election to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, THAT: 
 

1. The following millage proposal shall be submitted to the electors of the Township at the 
August 5, 2025 election: 

 
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP COMMUNITY AND SENIOR CENTER OPERATING MILLAGE 

 
For the purposes of expanding and improving existing senior center services and operating a new 
community and senior center, including, but not limited to the cost of operating and maintaining a 
community and senior center and related improvements, shall the Constitutional limitation upon 
the total amount of taxes which may be assessed in one (1) year upon all property within 
Meridian Charter Township be increased and a new additional millage be levied in the amount of up 
to 0.3985 mill ($0.3985 per $1,000 of taxable value) for the period of ten (10) years (2025-2034) 
inclusive? If approved and levied in full, this Millage will raise an estimated $932,877 in the first 
calendar year of the levy. Adoption of this proposal is conditioned on adoption of the Township 
Community and Senior Center Project Bond proposal at this election. 

  
     Yes   _____ 
     No    _____ 
 



 

 
  

2. An election is called to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 

3. The Township Clerk is authorized and directed to certify the proposition to the County Clerk. 
 

4. The Township Clerk is hereby further authorized and directed to cause Notice of the Last Day 
of Registration and Notice of Election to be posted and also to be published in such a manner 
and at such times as required by law. 
 

5. The Township Clerk, Township Attorney, and all other Township officials are authorized and 
directed to take any and all actions necessary to have the proposal placed on the ballot for 
the election to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 

6. All existing or previous resolutions and parts of resolutions, insofar as they may conflict with 
the provisions of this resolution, are hereby rescinded to the extent necessary to avoid such 
conflict. 

 
YEAS:   _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
   
NAYS:  _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
   
ABSTAIN: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 
Charter Township of Meridian 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
   ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk for the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution 
adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian on the 8th 
day of May 2025. 
 
 
       _______________________________________________ 
       Angela Demas, Township Clerk 
       Charter Township of Meridian 



 

 
  

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
(Ingham County, Michigan) 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING BALLOT PROPOSAL FOR  

COMMUNITY AND SENIOR CENTER BOND  
 
 At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, 
MI 48864, in said Township on May 8, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. local time. 
 
PRESENT: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 The following Resolution was offered by _____________________________________ and supported by 
_____________________________________. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian (the “Township”) has 
determined that it is in the best interest of the Township to provide for the acquisition, construction, 
and financing of a Township community and senior center; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has determined that it would be necessary to borrow money 
and issue its bonds to finance the acquisition and construction of this project; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Board has determined that construction and operational funding 
for the project are intertwined such that construction should proceed only if operational funding is 
secured; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township Board wishes to submit the question of issuing bonds to the voters 
at an election to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, THAT: 
 

1. The following proposition shall be submitted to the electors of the Township at the August 5, 
2025 election: 

 
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP COMMUNITY AND SENIOR CENTER PROJECT BOND 

 
For the purposes of paying the cost of constructing a new community and senior center facility, 
including, but not limited to the cost of acquiring, designing, constructing, furnishing and equipping 
this, and related improvements , parking and site, shall the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, borrow the principal amount of not to exceed $24,100,000 and issue its general 
obligation unlimited tax bonds for all or a portion of that amount in one or more series payable 
over not to exceed 20 years from the date of issue each series? Adoption of this proposal is 
conditioned on adoption of the Township Community and Senior Center Operating millage at this 
election. 
 



 

 
  

The estimated millage to be levied in the first year of the levy is 0.6949 mill ($0.6949 per $1,000 of 
taxable value) and the estimated simple average annual millage rate required to retire the bonds 
over approximately 20 years is 0.6905 mill ($0.6905 per $1,000 of taxable value). 
  

     Yes   _____ 
     No    _____ 
 

2. An election is called to be held on August 5, 2025.  
 

3. The Township Clerk is authorized and directed to certify the proposition to the County Clerk. 
 

4. The Township Clerk is hereby further authorized and directed to cause Notice of the Last Day 
of Registration and Notice of Election to be posted and also to be published in such a manner 
and at such times as required by law. 
 

5. The Township Clerk, Township Attorney, and all other Township officials are authorized and 
directed to take any and all actions necessary to have the proposal placed on the ballot for 
the election to be held on August 5, 2025. 
 

6. All existing or previous resolutions and parts of resolutions, insofar as they may conflict with 
the provisions of this resolution, are hereby rescinded to the extent necessary to avoid such 
conflict. 

 
YEAS:   _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
   
NAYS:  _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
   
ABSTAIN: _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 
Charter Township of Meridian 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
   ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk for the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution 
adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian on the 8th 
day of May 2025. 
 
 



 

 
  

       _______________________________________________ 
       Angela Demas, Township Clerk 
       Charter Township of Meridian 
 

4910-2970-6548 v1 [9119-20] 



Senior Center Project Senior Center Project
Senior & Community 

Center Project
Est Bond Size: $4,940,000 $4,955,000 $24,600,000

Amortization Legnth: 10-Year 20-Year 20-Year
Estimated Rate: 3.64% 4.25% 4.25%

Total Interest: $912,621 $2,411,777 $11,943,996
Total Debt Service: $5,852,621 $7,366,777 $36,543,996

Construction Deposit: $4,800,000 $4,800,000 $24,100,000
Est. Financing Cost 2: $140,000 $155,000 $500,000

Average Debt Service: $585,262 $368,339 $1,827,200
Max Annual Debt Service: $611,085 $404,164 $2,005,472

Average Millage 3: 0.2327 0.1392 0.6905
Maximum Millage 3: 0.2336 0.1401 0.6949

Charter Township of Meridian
County of Ingham, State of Michigan

Estimated Debt Service and Millage Impact Summary 1

1   All assumptions are preliminary and are subject to change.

3   Financing cost includes Cost of Issuance and Underwriter's Discount.

Notes:

2   Based on actual Tax Year 2025/Fiscal Year 2026 Taxable Value with a 1.00% Taxable Value growth rate.



10/1/2025 Construction Fund Deposit: $24,100,000
4/1/2026 Estimated Financing Cost 3: $500,000
4/1/2026
20-Year
4.25% Maximum Annual Millage: 0.6949

Average Annual Millage: 0.6905

Max Annual Debt Service: $2,005,472
Avg Annual Debt Service: $1,827,200

Est. Principal Annual Total Mills
Tax Fiscal Projected Growth Payment Interest Annual Required for
Year Year TV 1 Rate Due April -1 Payment Debt Service Proposed Bonds
2025 2026 $2,403,760,054 $725,000 $945,389 $1,670,389 0.6949
2026 2027 2,427,797,655 1.000% 750,000 923,781 1,673,781 0.6894
2027 2028 2,452,075,631 1.000% 790,000 900,825 1,690,825 0.6895
2028 2029 2,476,596,387 1.000% 835,000 875,893 1,710,893 0.6908
2029 2030 2,501,362,351 1.000% 880,000 848,915 1,728,915 0.6912
2030 2031 2,526,375,975 1.000% 925,000 819,731 1,744,731 0.6906
2031 2032 2,551,639,735 1.000% 975,000 787,913 1,762,913 0.6909
2032 2033 2,577,156,132 1.000% 1,025,000 753,404 1,778,404 0.6901
2033 2034 2,602,927,693 1.000% 1,080,000 715,996 1,795,996 0.6900
2034 2035 2,628,956,970 1.000% 1,140,000 675,386 1,815,386 0.6905
2035 2036 2,655,246,540 1.000% 1,200,000 631,495 1,831,495 0.6898
2036 2037 2,681,799,005 1.000% 1,265,000 584,187 1,849,187 0.6895
2037 2038 2,708,616,995 1.000% 1,335,000 533,777 1,868,777 0.6899
2038 2039 2,735,703,165 1.000% 1,410,000 480,068 1,890,068 0.6909
2039 2040 2,763,060,197 1.000% 1,485,000 422,368 1,907,368 0.6903
2040 2041 2,790,690,799 1.000% 1,565,000 359,932 1,924,932 0.6898
2041 2042 2,818,597,707 1.000% 1,655,000 290,968 1,945,968 0.6904
2042 2043 2,846,783,684 1.000% 1,750,000 215,142 1,965,142 0.6903
2043 2044 2,875,251,521 1.000% 1,850,000 133,355 1,983,355 0.6898
2044 2045 2,904,004,036 1.000% 1,960,000 45,472 2,005,472 0.6906

$24,600,000 $11,943,996 $36,543,996

Notes:

3 Finance cost includes Cost of Issuance and Underwriter's Discount.
2 Assumptions, debt service schedules and taxable value growth assumptions are estimated and are subject to change.

Dated Date (Est):
1st Interest Payment:
1st Principal Payment:
Bond Term:
Estimated Rate:

Charter Township of Meridian
County of Ingham, State of Michigan

Estimated Debt Service and Millage Impact Schedule

Proposed 2025 Senior & Community 
Center Bonds

1   Based on actual Tax Year 2025/Fiscal Year 2026 Taxable Value with a 1.00% Taxable Value growth rate.

Senior & Community Center Project
--$24,100,000 Project/ 20-Year Amortization--

Assumptions Project Costs

Debt Levy Information



10/1/2025 Construction Fund Deposit: $4,800,000
4/1/2026 Estimated Financing Cost 3: $155,000
4/1/2026
20-Year
4.25% Maximum Annual Millage: 0.1401

Average Annual Millage: 0.1392

Max Annual Debt Service: $404,164
Avg Annual Debt Service: $368,339

Est. Principal Annual Total Mills
Tax Fiscal Projected Growth Payment Interest Annual Required for
Year Year TV 1 Rate Due April -1 Payment Debt Service Proposed Bonds
2025 2026 $2,403,760,054 $140,000 $190,631 $330,631 0.1375
2026 2027 2,427,797,655 1.000% 150,000 186,383 336,383 0.1386
2027 2028 2,452,075,631 1.000% 160,000 181,761 341,761 0.1394
2028 2029 2,476,596,387 1.000% 170,000 176,698 346,698 0.1400
2029 2030 2,501,362,351 1.000% 175,000 171,272 346,272 0.1384
2030 2031 2,526,375,975 1.000% 185,000 165,451 350,451 0.1387
2031 2032 2,551,639,735 1.000% 195,000 159,087 354,087 0.1388
2032 2033 2,577,156,132 1.000% 205,000 152,185 357,185 0.1386
2033 2034 2,602,927,693 1.000% 220,000 144,631 364,631 0.1401
2034 2035 2,628,956,970 1.000% 230,000 136,400 366,400 0.1394
2035 2036 2,655,246,540 1.000% 240,000 127,585 367,585 0.1384
2036 2037 2,681,799,005 1.000% 255,000 118,085 373,085 0.1391
2037 2038 2,708,616,995 1.000% 270,000 107,906 377,906 0.1395
2038 2039 2,735,703,165 1.000% 285,000 97,046 382,046 0.1397
2039 2040 2,763,060,197 1.000% 300,000 85,387 385,387 0.1395
2040 2041 2,790,690,799 1.000% 315,000 72,798 387,798 0.1390
2041 2042 2,818,597,707 1.000% 335,000 58,875 393,875 0.1397
2042 2043 2,846,783,684 1.000% 355,000 43,509 398,509 0.1400
2043 2044 2,875,251,521 1.000% 375,000 26,925 401,925 0.1398
2044 2045 2,904,004,036 1.000% 395,000 9,164 404,164 0.1392

$4,955,000 $2,411,777 $7,366,777

Notes:

Assumptions Project Costs

Debt Levy Information

2 Assumptions, debt service schedules and taxable value growth assumptions are estimated and are subject to change.

Proposed 2025 Senior Center Bonds 20-
Year Amortization

1   Based on actual Tax Year 2025/Fiscal Year 2026 Taxable Value with a 1.00% Taxable Value growth rate.

3 Finance cost includes Cost of Issuance and Underwriter's Discount.

Dated Date (Est):
1st Interest Payment:
1st Principal Payment:
Bond Term:
Estimated Rate:

Charter Township of Meridian
County of Ingham, State of Michigan

Estimated Debt Service and Millage Impact Schedule

Senior Center Project
--$4,800,000 Project/ 20-Year Amortization--



10/1/2025 Construction Fund Deposit: $4,800,000
4/1/2026 Estimated Financing Cost 3: $140,000
4/1/2026

$4,800,000
10-Year Maximum Annual Millage: 0.2336
3.64% Average Annual Millage: 0.2327

Max Annual Debt Service: $611,085
Avg Annual Debt Service: $585,262

Est. Principal Annual Total Mills
Tax Fiscal Projected Growth Payment Interest Annual Required for
Year Year TV 1 Rate Due April -1 Payment Debt Service Proposed Bonds
2025 2026 $2,403,760,054 $400,000 $157,221 $557,221 0.2318
2026 2027 2,427,797,655 1.000% 420,000 145,208 565,208 0.2328
2027 2028 2,452,075,631 1.000% 440,000 132,389 572,389 0.2334
2028 2029 2,476,596,387 1.000% 455,000 118,659 573,659 0.2316
2029 2030 2,501,362,351 1.000% 480,000 103,951 583,951 0.2335
2030 2031 2,526,375,975 1.000% 500,000 88,107 588,107 0.2328
2031 2032 2,551,639,735 1.000% 525,000 70,943 595,943 0.2336
2032 2033 2,577,156,132 1.000% 545,000 52,482 597,482 0.2318
2033 2034 2,602,927,693 1.000% 575,000 32,578 607,578 0.2334
2034 2035 2,628,956,970 1.000% 600,000 11,085 611,085 0.2324

$4,940,000 $912,621 $5,852,621

Notes:

3 Finance cost includes Cost of Issuance and Underwriter's Discount.
2  Assumptions, debt service schedules and taxable value growth assumptions are estimated and are subject to change.

Assumptions
Dated Date (Est):
1st Interest Payment:
1st Principal Payment:
Project Size:

Proposed 2025 Senior Center Bonds 10-
Year Amortization

1   Based on actual Tax Year 2025/Fiscal Year 2026 Taxable Value with a 1.00% Taxable Value growth rate.

Bond Term:
Estimated Rate:

Debt Levy Information

Project Costs

Charter Township of Meridian
County of Ingham, State of Michigan

Estimated Debt Service and Millage Impact Schedule

Senior Center Project
--$4,800,000 Project/ 10-Year Amortization--



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

13.A

To: Township Board Members 

From: Courtney Wisinski, Director of Parks & Recreation 
Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager and Director of Public Works 
Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP, Community Planning and Development Director 

Date: March 28, 2025 

Re: Senior Community Center Task Force Recommendation 

Over the course of the last eight months, Staff and the Senior Community Center Task Force 
have been gathering and synthesizing information in order to return the Township Board 
with a recommendation on the topic. There has been a tremendous amount of discussion at 
the Task Force level and Staff wholeheartedly thanks the members for their work on this 
project.  

At the March 11, 2025 Senior Community Center Task Force meeting, the following 
recommendations were made to the Township Board regarding the potential Senior 
Community Center: 

- Recommend to the Township Boad that the Central Fire Station site, between the
Okemos Post Office and the Central Fire Station, be the location for the Senior Center
or Senior Community Center

- Recommend to the Township Board the Staffing/Operational plan presented by Staff
as presented, acknowledging that future adjustments may be necessary based upon
changed outside of the Senior Community Center Task Force’s purview

- Recommend to the Township Board the ‘Senior Center South’ conceptual building
layout for either the Senior Center or Senior Community Center building.

- Recommend to the Township Board the Senior Center, No Gym building program.
- Recommend to the Township Board the Senior Community Center, Single Gym

building program.

The packets and background information for each of the Senior Community Center Task 
Force meetings can be found HERE for reference and are linked throughout the document 
based on the area of discussion, along with additional links to the video of the meeting. There 
are six areas of focus that were discussed over the course of the meetings that Staff will 
summarize.  

Building Site 
Throughout the course of the last several years, a number of sites were mentioned for the 
potential home of the new senior community center. There was further discussion with the 
Task Force on the sites, notably at the October meeting (video HERE), which resulted in a 
lengthy discussion and a recommendation to pursue two sites in earnest, the MAC Legends 

https://www.meridian.mi.us/government/boards-and-commissions/senior-community-center-task-force/-folder-3705#docan7831_10155_1958
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29130/638651126890030000
https://www.youtube.com/live/TRrxxheqelQ?feature=shared


 
Senior Community Center – TB Discussion – Page 2 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

driving range on Grand River Avenue, which is on the market for sale, and the site adjacent 
to the Central Fire Station, which the Township already owns. Staff prepared an offer, based 
on an appraisal, for the MAC Legends site and the owners of the property did not accept the 
offer, so further planning focused on the Fire Station site solely, which the Task Force 
ultimately recommended to the Board. Director Schmitt will be prepared to walk through all 
the potential sites at the Board meeting, but the Fire Station site is the site that the rest of the 
work was based on.  
 
Building Programs 
At the beginning of the process to get to a building layout was the building program, i.e. what 
is actually going to be in the building. This discussion started initially with Needs Assessment 
discussions in October (video HERE) and November and culminated with the formal 
discussion of the building program in January (video HERE) and February (video HERE) and 
even into March (video HERE) with the final discussions and recommendations. Our 
partners at Progressive worked through the initial conceptual building programs and with 
the Task Force’s input, offered potential reductions in the size of both options, which were 
ultimately adopted as the final recommendations. The final program statements that were 
recommended are attached and Progressive will go through them at the Board meeting to 
discuss the high-level programming of the building.  
 
Building Layout Options 
The biggest item to come of the Task Force’s work is the conceptual building program and 
layout. Discussion on that occurred at the January (video HERE) and February (video HERE) 
meetings. The Township’s consultant Progressive developed two primary concept plan 
options for the Task Force to discuss. One had the senior center portion of the building on 
the north side of the property and the other had the senior center portion of the building on 
the southern portion of the property. As noted previously, the Task Force recommended the 
‘Senior Center South’ plan. This building can easily be built as either a standalone senior 
center or a senior community center. The conceptual plan is attached, along with cost 
projections for both a senior center only and a senior community center option. These rough 
layouts can and will be refined, if the Township moves forward with the project. But until we 
get much more committed to the project, major changes to these layouts are not expected at 
this point, unless there are major errors that need to be fixed. Progressive will be at the 
meeting to walk the Board through the building layout and building programs. 
 
Programming 
Programming of the building occurred at multiple points briefly, but the focused discussion 
was at the December meeting (video HERE). This is the most fluid of the items, as the Parks 
and Recreation Department will be addressing this item on a regular basis, based on the 
usage of the building and trends in the community. The biggest direction from the Task Force 
in this area was the hours of operation. The entirety of the financial picture was based on the 
Task Force’s recommendation of: 

- Senior Center only – Monday through Friday, 8 hours per day 
- Senior Community Center – Monday through Saturday, 14 hours per day 

https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29130/638651126890030000
https://www.youtube.com/live/TRrxxheqelQ?feature=shared
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29190/638676062355270000
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29518/638733305152070000
https://www.youtube.com/live/RQP5VhEN_Co?feature=shared
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29726/638757520812270000
https://www.youtube.com/live/pBl9JT65zAQ?feature=shared
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29808/638773061281200000
https://www.youtube.com/live/zLwyJd4nXLs?feature=shared
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29518/638733305152070000
https://www.youtube.com/live/RQP5VhEN_Co?feature=shared
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29726/638757520812270000
https://www.youtube.com/live/pBl9JT65zAQ?feature=shared
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29252/638691004184270000
https://www.youtube.com/live/WiVhlv0EjaM?feature=shared


 
Senior Community Center – TB Discussion – Page 3 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

These hours of operation directly impacted staffing and programming discussions, so this 
decision needed to be made relatively early in the process. If the hours of operation were to 
be changed, Staff would need to revisit the staffing and operations plans. Director Wisinski 
will be available at the Board meeting to discuss programming on a high-level basis.  
 
Revenue 
There was discussion at multiple points about potential revenues from the facility and how 
those revenues could be used to offset the operations costs going forward on the facility. Staff 
is currently modeling $0 in the operating budget from revenue. This conservative approach 
is being recommended so we don’t have a situation where we build it and they don’t come, 
leading to budget shortfalls. Very rough revenue projections were discussed at the March 
meeting (video HERE).  
 
The main takeaway is that the revenue generating spaces are the meetings rooms and the 
gym and those would be the only spaces that can offset any substantial amount of operations 
cost. At the outset, any revenue monies can be used to begin establishing a strong fund 
balance for the building fund, to help offset longer term costs. Staff’s expectation after that is 
that in year three or four of the facility being open, we can revisit how to account for the 
revenue in the operating budget of the facility, as we will have good data on how much is 
being collected. Director Wisinski prepared the attached projections and will be available to 
discuss them at the Township Board meeting.  
 
Operations and Staffing 
Operations and Staffing are inextricably linked and were discussed together at the January 
(video HERE) and February (video HERE) and March meetings (video HERE). Staff presented 
a very conservative staffing plan and operating budget, showing what the facility would need 
to operate as standalone facility. The staffing plan for both options is as follows: 
 

Senior Center Only Senior Community Center 
FT – Senior Center Manager FT – Senior Center Manager 

FT – Senior Center Programmer/Assistant FT – Senior Center Programmer/Assistant 
FT – Utility Worker FT – Administrative Assistant* 

PT – Seasonal support staff FT – Program Coordinator 
0.35 – Building and Grounds Superintendent 2X FT – Recreation Specialists  

 3X FT – Utility Workers 
 2X PT – Seasonal support staff 
 0.35 – Building and Grounds Superintendent 

Total – 3.8 Staff Total – 10.3 Staff 
 
*We would need a minimum of two administrative assistants if we have separate entrances 
for the senior center and senior community center 
 

https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29808/638773061281200000
https://www.youtube.com/live/zLwyJd4nXLs?feature=shared
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29518/638733305152070000
https://www.youtube.com/live/RQP5VhEN_Co?feature=shared
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29726/638757520812270000
https://www.youtube.com/live/pBl9JT65zAQ?feature=shared
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/29808/638773061281200000
https://www.youtube.com/live/zLwyJd4nXLs?feature=shared


 
Senior Community Center – TB Discussion – Page 4 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Staff has reviewed these extensively and discussed them with the Task Force and we believe 
this is the minimum necessary to add this size of a new building to our portfolio. Directors 
Opsommer and Wisinski will be available to discuss the staff plans.  
 
The operations costs have been modeled extensively, based on work originally done for the 
Younkers proposal in 2024. Starting in year three, total operating costs are estimated to follow this 
model. Staff will be able to speak directly to each category at the Board meeting.  
 

Annual Operating Budget - Year 1 of Opening 

Category 
Senior Center 
Only (20,007 SF) 

Senior Community 
Center (53,784 SF) 

Utilities & Insurance $64,047.00 $165,159.00 
IT Equipment & Infrastructure $16,900.00 $20,700.00 
Personnel $316,472.50 $863,020.50 
Motor Pool & Building and Grounds 
Maintenance $149,722.00 $317,886.00 
Office Supplies/Community & Event 
Promotion/Programing Supplies $22,000.00 $52,500.00 
   
Total: $569,141.50 $1,419,265.50 

 
There is a small scenario where some of these costs could be reduced. Currently, there is 
approximately $550,000 in fund balance from the existing Community Services Millage, 
which is partially used to fund the existing senior center. There are options to utilize these 
funds to offset some costs from the operations noted above, potentially lowering some 
operations costs. If we purchase the network hardware for the new building, fund 
preventative maintenance of the parking lot, grounds maintenance during construction, and 
all of the motor pool acquisitions for the Senior Center option and over half of the motor pool 
acquisitions for the Senior & Community Center, we can potentially save 7.86% on the annual 
operation costs for the Senior Center option and 3.51% for the Senior & Community Center 
option. This would, however, put the facility in the position of not having a fund balance of 
any substantive size for the first few years. This is an item that Staff is happy to discuss 
further.  
 
 
This is a major distillation of seven months of the Task Force’s work, but accurately 
represents the path taken to get to the recommendations that were made. Staff and our 
partners Progressive look forward to discussing this matter and talking next steps to move 
this major initiative forward.  



Revised 3.11.2025 - CLW 

Senior & Community Center Revenue Metrics and 
Assumption Description – Amended 

Facility Annual Revenue 

Revenue Type 
Senior 

Only 

Senior & 
Community 
Center (full 

capacity) 

Senior & 
Community 
Center (65% 

capacity) 
Membership Single Resident Fees $6,500 $6,500 $6,500 

Membership Single Non-Resident Fees $8,400 $8,400 $8,400 
Massage/Reflex $1,733 $1,733 $1,733 

Fitness/Exercise Programs $2,224 $2,224 $2,224 
Sponsorships (assumed 4 per year at $300) $1,200 $1,200 $1,200 

Meeting Rooms $0 $514,800 $334,620 
Basketball/Volleyball/Pickleball/Camps/Drop-ins $0 $131,600 $85,540 

Revenue Subtotal $20,057 $666,457 $440,217 
 

Senior Center Memberships and Revenue 

• Current fees are $25/year resident and $35/year non-resident 
• Assumed 500 members 

o 53% Resident 
o 47% Non-resident 

• Massage/Reflexology numbers based on October Metric Report  
o (722 duplicated participants * 16% usage) ($15/person) = $1,733 

• Fitness/Exercise Programs include jazzercise, Tai Chi I&II, and yoga 
o (722 duplicated participants * 44% usage) ($7/person) 

• Sponsorship: $300 per event, assuming 4 events per year 
• The meeting rooms will not be for rent 

Senior & Community Center 

• No additional annual membership 

SCC Gym 

• Pickleball 
o 250 players at $50 per year = $12,500 

• Basketball Leagues (Dec-Apr) 
o 300 players at $75 per year = $22,500 

 Based on clinics held in Haslett school gyms 
• Volleyball Leagues per Team (Dec-Apr) 

o 24 teams at $150 per team = $3,600 
• Camps/Clinics  

o Sporties 550 per outdoor season 



Revised 3.11.2025 - CLW 

o Basketball Camp 500 per season 
o Rugby/volleyball/baseball/softball/soccer clinics 500 per season 

 1000 participants at $80/person = $80,000 
• Drop-ins 

o 25 people per week * 52 weeks per year = 1300 players at $10/person/visit = $13,000 

SCC Meeting Rooms (assumptions) 

• 40-person multi-purpose room  
o M-F 4pm – 8pm (20 hours * $50 = $1,000/week*52 weeks = $52,000 annually) 
o S-Sun 8am – 8pm (8 per day * 2 days * $50 = $800/week*52 weeks= $41,600 annually) 

 $93,600 annually Monday-Sunday 
 Conservative number of hours Saturday/Sunday (8) based on weekend needs 

• 100-person sectioned meeting room 
o M-F 4pm – 8pm (20 hours * $75 = $1,500/week*52 weeks = $78,000) 
o S-Sun 8am – 8pm (8 per day * 2 days * $75 = $1,200/week*52 weeks = $62,400) 

 $140,400 annually Monday-Sunday 
 Conservative number of Saturday/Sunday hours (8) based on weekend needs 

• 120-person multi-purpose room 
o M-F 4pm – 8pm (20 hours * $150 = $3,000/week*52 weeks = $156,000 annually) 
o S-Sun 8am – 8pm (8 per day * 2 days * $150 = $2,400/week*52 weeks = $124,800 annually) 

 $280,800 annually Monday-Sunday 
 Conservative number of Saturday/Sunday hours (8) based on weekend needs  

 

SCC - Meeting Rooms 

Room/Use 
Cost per 

Hour 

Average 
Hours per 
Week Weekly Revenue 

Annual 
Revenue 

40 Space – 4/night M-F & 8/day S-Sun $50 36 $1,800 $93,600 
100 Space – 4/day/night M-F & 8/day S/Sun $75 36 $2,700 $140,400 
120 Space – 4/night & 8/day S/Sun $150 36 $5,400 $280,800 
Meeting Annual Room Revenue Subtotal     $9,900 $514,800 

 
    

Gym Use  

Activity 
Cost per 

Person/Team 

Average 
Participants 
per Year Annual Revenue  

Pickleball $50 250 $12,500  
Basketball Leagues (Dec-April) $75 300 $22,500  
Volleyball (Dec-Apr) (per team) $150 24 $3,600  
Camp/Clinics $80 1000 $80,000  
Drop-ins $10 1300 $13,000  
Gym Annual Revenue Subtotal     $131,600  
     

SCC Meeting/Gym Annual Revenue $646,400 

Does not 
include 

MSC 
Activities   

 



Meridian Township Senior Center - No Gym

870

Vestibule (Main Entry) 1 @ 150 s.f. = 150 s.f. 150 Weather barrier

Vestibule (Secondary Entry) 1 @ 120 s.f. = 120 s.f. 120 Weather barrier

Lobby with Seating for Four 1 @ 400 s.f. = 400 s.f. 400 Soft seating area for waiting

Reception Desk / Work Station 1 @ 200 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200 Large enough for two staff

1,160

Director 1 @ 150 s.f. = 150 s.f. 150
Admin. Assistant Work Station 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100
Admin. Office 1 @ 120 s.f. = 120 s.f. 120
Admin. Assistant / Receptionist (area listed above) 1 @ 0 s.f. = 0 s.f. 0
Work / Copy Room 1 @ 190 s.f. = 190 s.f. 190
Break Room / Lounge with Kitchenette 1 @ 500 s.f. = 500 s.f. 500
Storage 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100

Activity Areas 5,550

Primary Activity / Conversation and Lounge 1 @ 1,100 s.f. = 1,100 s.f. 1,100
Hospitality / Self-Serve Coffee 1 @ 300 s.f. = 300 s.f. 300 Sink, small refrig, coffee maker

Fireside Seating Area 1 @ 575 s.f. = 575 s.f. 575
Library Shelving 1 @ 250 s.f. = 250 s.f. 250

Billiards Room 1 @ 400 s.f. = 400 s.f. 400
Table Tennis Room 1 @ 730 s.f. = 730 s.f. 730
Storage 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100

Multi-Purpose Room for 40 1 @ 720 s.f. = 720 s.f. 720 18 sf / person

Table / Chair Storage 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100

 Activity / Classroom for up to 35 1 @ 525 s.f. = 525 s.f. 525
Small Group Meeting / Conference Room for up to 12 1 @ 250 s.f. = 250 s.f. 250

Senior Women's Toilet Room 1 @ 200 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200
Senior Men's Toilet Room 1 @ 200 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200
Janitor Closet 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100

Senior Focused Wellness 3,050

Multi-Purpose Activity Room 1 @ 1,300 s.f. = 1,300 s.f. 1,300
Equipment Storage 1 @ 250 s.f. = 250 s.f. 250

Wellness Equipment Room 1 @ 1,300 s.f. = 1,300 s.f. 1,300 Exercise Equipment

Massage / Reflexology Room(s) 2 @ 100 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200

Building Support 910

Women's Toilets 1 @ 200 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200
Men's Toilets 1 @ 200 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200
Family Toilet 1 @ 110 s.f. = 110 s.f. 100
Custodial 1 @ 110 s.f. = 110 s.f. 110
General Building Storage 1 @ 300 s.f. = 300 s.f. 300

Program Area Sub-Totals 11,540

Factor for Walls, Mechanical, Electrical and Public Circulation (35% of program area) 4,039

Total Senior Center Building Area 15,579

CONCEPTUAL PROGRAM 03-10-2025 Notes

Greeting & Reception

Administrative Offices

Soft seating, tables & chairs

Two 8' tables, recreational area

Two tables, recreational area

15 sf / person

Moveable tables and chairs

3 toilets, 2 sinks

1 toilet, 2 urinals, 2 sinks

Group exercise 

1



Meridian Township

Senior Center + Community Center with Gym

870

1,160

Activity Areas 5,550

Senior Focused Wellness 3,050

Building Support 910

Program Area Sub-Totals 11,540

Factor for Walls, Mechanical, Electrical and Public Circulation (35% of program area) 4,039

Total Senior Center Building Area 15,579

Community Center Greeting & Reception 1,170

Vestibule (Community Center Main Entry) 1 @ 150 s.f. = 150 s.f. 150
Lobby with Seating for Six 1 @ 500 s.f. = 500 s.f. 500
Reception Desk / Work Station 1 @ 200 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200
Equipment Lending Room / Storage 1 @ 200 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200
Vending 1 @ 120 s.f. = 120 s.f. 120

Community Center Administrative Offices (Additional to Senior Center Offices) 1,230

Market Manager Work Station 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100
Intern Work Station 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100
Intern Work Station 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100
Admin. Assistant / Receptionist (area listed in reception) 1 @ 0 s.f. = 0 s.f. 0
Admin Office (Parks & Rec Specialist Office) 1 @ 120 s.f. = 120 s.f. 120
Admin Office (Parks & Rec Specialist Office) 1 @ 120 s.f. = 120 s.f. 120
Admin Office (Parks & Rec Specialist Office) 1 @ 120 s.f. = 120 s.f. 120
Parks & Rec Specialist New Center Work Station 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100
Parks & Rec Specialist New Center Work Station 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100

Conference Room (8) people 1 @ 270 s.f. = 270 s.f. 270
Storage 1 @ 100 s.f. = 100 s.f. 100

Meeting Rooms 3,280

Multi-Purpose Room for 120 (Tables and chairs on a flat floor) 1 @ 2,160 s.f. = 2,160 s.f. 2,160 18 sf / person

Raised Platform 1 @ 200 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200
Ramp / Steps 1 @ 120 s.f. = 120 s.f. 120
Table / Chair Storage 1 @ 200 s.f. = 200 s.f. 200

Warming Kitchen 1 @ 600 s.f. = 600 s.f. 600

2,280

Activity / Meeting Room for up to 120 (with folding partitions to subdivide) 1 @ 2,160 s.f. = 2,160 s.f. 2,160
Table / Chair Storage 1 @ 120 s.f. = 120 s.f. 120

14,900

Open Court Area (2 Full Court Basketball, 2 Volleyball, 6 Pickleball) 1 @ 14,600 s.f. = 14,600 s.f. 14,600

Gym Equipment Storage 1 @ 300 s.f. = 300 s.f. 300

Youth Recreation Program 5,000

Community Center Support 1,610

Women's Toilets with Changing / Locker Area 1 @ 700 s.f. = 700 s.f. 700
Men's Toilets with Changing / Locker Area 1 @ 700 s.f. = 700 s.f. 700
Family Toilet / Changing 1 @ 110 s.f. = 110 s.f. 100
Custodial 1 @ 110 s.f. = 110 s.f. 110

Community Center Program Area Sub-Totals 28,300

Factor for Walls, Mechanical, Electrical and Public Circulation (35% of program area) 9,905

Total Community Center Building Area 38,205

Total Building Area If Programs Are Combined 53,784

Administrative Offices

CONCEPTUAL PROGRAM 03-10-2025 Notes

Senior Center Conceptual Program Areas

Greeting & Reception

Community Center Activity Space
18 sf / person

Community Multi-Sport Gym

As the level of competition changes, so do the court dimensions. High school courts are normally 84 feet long by 50 feet wide, or 4,200 sq ft. With the 

recommended safety zone of 3 – 10 feet, the total square footage for each court is between 5,100 and 6,800 square feet. Includes areas for spectator 

seating on bleachers

No showers

No showers

16" higher than main floor

Required by ADA



SENIOR CENTER 
MAIN ENTRY

FUTURE 
EXPANSION

SENIOR CENTER

270 SF- A
BREAK / CONF.

250 SF- T

150 SF- A
DIRECTOR

150 SF- T

120 SF- A
OFFICE

120 SF- T

196 SF- A
S. RECEPTION

200 SF- T

212 SF- A
VEST

150 SF- T

502 SF- A
LOBBY

400 SF- T

100 SF- A
A. A.

100 SF- T

197 SF- A
COPY / WORK

190 SF- T

419 SF- A
SMALL GROUP

250 SF- T

852 SF- A

MULTI-PURPOSE
40

720 SF- T

119 SF- A
VEST

150 SF- T

147 SF- A
VEST

150 SF- T

251 SF- A
STORAGE

250 SF- T

120 SF- A
MASSAGE

100 SF- T

251 SF- A
STORAGE

250 SF- T

120 SF- A
REFLEX.

100 SF- T

1,301 SF- A

WELLNESS
EQUIPMENT

1,300 SF- T

1,301 SF- A
WELLNESS OPEN

1,300 SF- T

1,452 SF- A

BILLIARDS &
TABLE TENNIS

1,130 SF- T216 SF- A
WOMEN

200 SF- T

215 SF- A
MEN

200 SF- T

1,111 SF- A
ACTIVITY LOUNGE

1,100 SF- T

521 SF- A
ACTIVITY 2

525 SF- T

572 SF- A
FIRESIDE

575 SF- T

302 SF- A
COFFEE

300 SF- T

252 SF- A
LIBRARY

250 SF- T

100 SF- A
TABLE / CHAIR

100 SF- T

47 SF- A
JC

50 SF- T
84

5 
SF

- A

ST
ORA

GE 
& 

BU
IL

DI
NG

SU
PP

ORT
80

0 
SF

- T

OUTDOOR PATIO WITH 
VIEWS TO WETLAND

FUTURE 
COMMUNITY 
CENTER GYM

FUTURE YOUTH 
PROGRAM

FUTURE COMMUNITY 
CENTER

12

13

23

13

61 SENIOR PARKING SPACES SHOWN

FUTURE DRIVE

FUTURE 
PARKING

FUTURE 
PARKING

FUTURE 
PARKING

WETLAND

TH
IS

 D
OC

UM
EN

T 
HA

S 
BE

EN
 P

RE
PA

RE
D 

BY
 P

RO
GR

ES
SI

VE
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

UR
E 

EN
GI

NE
ER

IN
G 

&
PL

AN
NI

NG
 I, 

LL
C 

 A
S 

AN
 IN

ST
RU

ME
NT

 O
F 

SE
RV

IC
E,

 A
ND

 P
RO

GR
ES

SI
VE

 A
RC

HI
TE

CT
UR

E
EN

GI
NE

ER
IN

G 
& 

PL
AN

NI
NG

 I, 
LL

C 
SH

AL
L R

ET
AI

N 
AL

L C
OM

MO
N 

LA
W

, S
TA

TU
TO

RY
 A

ND
OT

HE
R 

RE
SE

RV
ED

 R
IG

HT
S,

 IN
CL

UD
IN

G 
TH

E 
CO

PY
RI

GH
T 

TH
ER

ET
O.

03/25/2025  |   PROJECT #: 61996002
SENIOR CENTER CONCEPT PLAN  |   A01

ADDRESS CITY, STATE, ZIP (SINGLE LINE)
SENIOR CENTER + COMMUNITY CENTER

 1/16" = 1'-0"
SENIOR CENTER CONCEPTUAL PLAN



SENIOR CENTER

SENIOR CENTER 
MAIN ENTRY

FUTURE EXPANSION

OPTIONAL WETLAND 
BOARDWALK PATH AND 

OVERLOOK
STORM WATER 

RETENTION POND

WETLAND

12
13

23

13

61 SENIOR PARKING SPACES SHOWN

OUTDOOR PATIO WITH 
VIEWS TO WETLAND

FUTURE COMMUNITY CENTER GYM

FUTURE YOUTH PROGRAM

FUTURE COMMUNITY CENTER

FUTURE PARKING

FUTURE PARKING

FUTURE PARKING

OPTIONAL WETLAND 
BOARDWALK PATH AND 

OVERLOOK

TH
IS

 D
OC

UM
EN

T 
HA

S 
BE

EN
 P

RE
PA

RE
D 

BY
 P

RO
GR

ES
SI

VE
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

UR
E 

EN
GI

NE
ER

IN
G 

&
PL

AN
NI

NG
 I, 

LL
C 

 A
S 

AN
 IN

ST
RU

ME
NT

 O
F 

SE
RV

IC
E,

 A
ND

 P
RO

GR
ES

SI
VE

 A
RC

HI
TE

CT
UR

E
EN

GI
NE

ER
IN

G 
& 

PL
AN

NI
NG

 I, 
LL

C 
SH

AL
L R

ET
AI

N 
AL

L C
OM

MO
N 

LA
W

, S
TA

TU
TO

RY
 A

ND
OT

HE
R 

RE
SE

RV
ED

 R
IG

HT
S,

 IN
CL

UD
IN

G 
TH

E 
CO

PY
RI

GH
T 

TH
ER

ET
O.

03/25/2025  |   PROJECT #: 61996002
SENIOR CENTER CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN  |   A01S

ADDRESS CITY, STATE, ZIP (SINGLE LINE)
SENIOR CENTER + COMMUNITY CENTER

 1" = 40'-0"
SENIOR CENTER CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN



SENIOR CENTER 
MAIN ENTRY

SENIOR CENTER

270 SF- A
BREAK / CONF.

250 SF- T

150 SF- A
DIRECTOR

150 SF- T

120 SF- A
OFFICE

120 SF- T

196 SF- A
S. RECEPTION

200 SF- T

212 SF- A
VEST

150 SF- T

502 SF- A
LOBBY

400 SF- T

100 SF- A
A. A.

100 SF- T

197 SF- A
COPY / WORK

190 SF- T

419 SF- A
SMALL GROUP

250 SF- T

852 SF- A

MULTI-PURPOSE
40

720 SF- T

119 SF- A
VEST

150 SF- T

147 SF- A
VEST

150 SF- T

251 SF- A
STORAGE

250 SF- T

120 SF- A
MASSAGE

100 SF- T

251 SF- A
STORAGE

250 SF- T

120 SF- A
REFLEX.

100 SF- T

1,301 SF- A

WELLNESS
EQUIPMENT

1,300 SF- T

1,301 SF- A
WELLNESS OPEN

1,300 SF- T

1,452 SF- A

BILLIARDS &
TABLE TENNIS

1,130 SF- T

12
0 

SF
- A

RA
MP

12
0 

SF
- T

20
0 

SF
- A

PL
AT

FO
RM

20
0 

SF
- T

216 SF- A
WOMEN

200 SF- T

215 SF- A
MEN

200 SF- T

1,111 SF- A
ACTIVITY LOUNGE

1,100 SF- T

521 SF- A
ACTIVITY 2

525 SF- T

572 SF- A
FIRESIDE

575 SF- T

302 SF- A
COFFEE

300 SF- T

252 SF- A
LIBRARY

250 SF- T

100 SF- A
TABLE / CHAIR

100 SF- T

47 SF- A
JC

50 SF- T
84

5 
SF

- A

ST
ORA

GE 
& 

BU
IL

DI
NG

SU
PP

ORT
80

0 
SF

- T

11
1 

SF
- AT/
C

10
0 

SF
- T

2,240 SF- A

MULTI-PURPOSE
120 PEOPLE

2,160 SF- T
12

13

23

13

61 SENIOR PARKING SPACES SHOWN

FUTURE DRIVE

WETLAND

88 COMMUNITY PARKING SPACES SHOWN

BIOSWALE

16

16

16

16

24

BIOSWALE

2,189 SF- A

ACTIVITY /
MEETING
ROOM(S)

2,160 SF- T

695 SF- A
MEN LOCKERS

700 SF- T
695 SF- A

WOMEN LOCKERS

700 SF- T

785 SF- A
MECHANICAL

800 SF- T

600 SF- A
WARMING K.

600 SF- T

14,606 SF- A
COMMUNITY GYM

14,600 SF- T

511 SF- A

BREAK /
KITCHENETTE

500 SF- T

527 SF- A
LOBBY

400 SF- T

5,002 SF- A

YOUTH
RECREATION

5,000 SF- T

219 SF- A
EQUIP. LENDING

200 SF- T

151 SF- A
EQUIP.

150 SF- T

201 SF- A
STORAGE

200 SF- T

100 SF- A
WORK

100 SF- T

100 SF- A
INTERN

100 SF- T

100 SF- A
INTERN

100 SF- T

100 SF- A
WORK

100 SF- T

100 SF- A
WORK

100 SF- T

120 SF- A
PR OFFICE

120 SF- T

120 SF- A
PR OFFICE

120 SF- T

120 SF- A
PR OFFICE

120 SF- T

115 SF- A
FAMILY

110 SF- T
171 SF- A

CUSTODIAL

110 SF- T

407 SF- A
ELECTRICAL

400 SF- T

202 SF- A
MEN

200 SF- T

110 SF- A
FAMILY

110 SF- T

202 SF- A
WOMEN

200 SF- T

117 SF- A
JC

100 SF- T

143 SF- A
VEST

150 SF- T

156 SF- A
C. RECEPTION

150 SF- T

VENDING

BUILDING
SUPPORT

FUTURE 
EXPANSION

COMMUNITY CENTER

OUTDOOR PATIO WITH 
VIEWS TO WETLAND

TH
IS

 D
OC

UM
EN

T 
HA

S 
BE

EN
 P

RE
PA

RE
D 

BY
 P

RO
GR

ES
SI

VE
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

UR
E 

EN
GI

NE
ER

IN
G 

&
PL

AN
NI

NG
 I, 

LL
C 

 A
S 

AN
 IN

ST
RU

ME
NT

 O
F 

SE
RV

IC
E,

 A
ND

 P
RO

GR
ES

SI
VE

 A
RC

HI
TE

CT
UR

E
EN

GI
NE

ER
IN

G 
& 

PL
AN

NI
NG

 I, 
LL

C 
SH

AL
L R

ET
AI

N 
AL

L C
OM

MO
N 

LA
W

, S
TA

TU
TO

RY
 A

ND
OT

HE
R 

RE
SE

RV
ED

 R
IG

HT
S,

 IN
CL

UD
IN

G 
TH

E 
CO

PY
RI

GH
T 

TH
ER

ET
O.

03/25/2025  |   PROJECT #: 61996002
SENIOR & COMMUNITY CENTER CONCEPT PLAN  |   A02

ADDRESS CITY, STATE, ZIP (SINGLE LINE)
SENIOR CENTER + COMMUNITY CENTER

 1/16" = 1'-0"
SENIOR & COMMUNITY CENTER CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN



SERVICE DRIVE 
WITH DUMPSTERS

SENIOR CENTER

SENIOR CENTER 
MAIN ENTRY

88 COMMUNITY PARKING SPACES SHOWN

FUTURE 
EXPANSION

COMMUNITY CENTER

OUTDOOR PATIO 
WITH VIEWS TO 

WETLAND

COMMUNITY 
CENTER GYM

YOUTH 
PROGRAM

BIOSWALE

BIOSWALE

STORM WATER 
RETENTION POND

WETLAND

12
13

23

13

61 SENIOR PARKING SPACES SHOWN

16

16

16

16

24

OPTIONAL WETLAND 
BOARDWALK PATH AND 

OVERLOOK

TH
IS

 D
OC

UM
EN

T 
HA

S 
BE

EN
 P

RE
PA

RE
D 

BY
 P

RO
GR

ES
SI

VE
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

UR
E 

EN
GI

NE
ER

IN
G 

&
PL

AN
NI

NG
 I, 

LL
C 

 A
S 

AN
 IN

ST
RU

ME
NT

 O
F 

SE
RV

IC
E,

 A
ND

 P
RO

GR
ES

SI
VE

 A
RC

HI
TE

CT
UR

E
EN

GI
NE

ER
IN

G 
& 

PL
AN

NI
NG

 I, 
LL

C 
SH

AL
L R

ET
AI

N 
AL

L C
OM

MO
N 

LA
W

, S
TA

TU
TO

RY
 A

ND
OT

HE
R 

RE
SE

RV
ED

 R
IG

HT
S,

 IN
CL

UD
IN

G 
TH

E 
CO

PY
RI

GH
T 

TH
ER

ET
O.

03/25/2025  |   PROJECT #: 61996002
SENIOR & COMMUNITY CENTER CONCEPT SITE PLAN  |   A02S

ADDRESS CITY, STATE, ZIP (SINGLE LINE)
SENIOR CENTER + COMMUNITY CENTER

 1" = 40'-0"
SENIOR & COMMUNITY CENTER CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN



Greenville YMCA

Estimate for Summer 2024 Bidding $/SF Cost

Building SF = 32340

2024 Estimated Cost 357$             11,545,380$       
2026 Escalated Construction Cost 387$             12,526,737$       

Including FF&E/AE Design Fees/Contingency (+22%) 473$            

Site Clearing, Grading & Storm Water Mitigation (Inc. fees, contingency, escalation, etc) 1,946,000$         

Senior Center (No Gym) SF 597$     

Senior & Community Center (One Gym) SF 509$     
The probable costs are extrapolated from existing projects as indicated and combined on Programming square foot numbers. A thorough investigation and a 
complete design will be necessary to determine the exact scope of work and associated costs applied to a specific site.

Budget Benchmarking

Greenville YMCA features a multipurpose room, meeting rooms, offices and breakroom, single full size basketball 

gym with volleyball, elevated jogging track, yoga room, fitness room and locker rooms.

53,784 27,400,000$          

15,579 9,300,000$            



Portage Zhang Senior Center

Bid Summer 2020 $/SF Cost

Building SF = 36,694

2020 Construction Cost 305$                11,200,000$       
2026 Escalated Construction Cost 440$                15,250,000$       

Including FF&E/AE Design Fees/Contingency (+22%) 536$              

Site Clearing, Grading & Storm Water Mitigation (Inc. fees, contingency, escalation, etc) 1,946,000$         

Senior Center (No Gym) SF 661$       

Senior & Community Center (One Gym) SF 573$       

Budget Benchmarking

The Portage Zhang Senior Center features a multipurpose room with a capacity to seat 330 people, a courtyard with an 

outdoor fireplace, an outdoor terrace for warm-weather activities, recreational space for pickleball, basketball, and 

other activities, fitness space, a center promenade for indoor walking, a commercial kitchen, a coffee shop, dedicated 

space for games and reading, and a health clinic.

The probable costs are extrapolated from existing projects as indicated and combined on Programming square foot numbers. A thorough investigation and a complete 
design will be necessary to determine the exact scope of work and associated costs applied to a specific site.

53,784 30,800,000$          

15,579 10,300,000$          















•
•









 
 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

13. C 

To:  Township Board Members 

From:  Policy Review Work Group 

Date:  April 10, 2025   

Re:  Draft Personnel Policy Manual 

 

In April 2024, and as referenced in a prior Board memorandum dated August 29, 2024, the 

Meridian Township Board unanimously established a Policy Review Work Group consisting of two 

Township Board Members, the Township Manager (or Representative), the Human Resources 

Director, and a rotating Departmental Director, as appropriate, to review and update our Township 

Board Policy Manual and its Personnel Policy Manual. 

As a result of the review process, and with additional consideration and input from our Township 
attorneys, attached is a draft Personnel Policy Manual. This document was originally adopted in 

2015, with later additions made to incorporate our Non-Discrimination & Fair Employment Practices 
Policy (2021), Juneteenth holiday (2023), and Paid Parental Leave Policy (2023).  

The Township Board began review of the Personnel Policy Manual at its March 18 and April 3, 

2025, meetings and will continue according to the following schedule: 

   March 18: Introduction – Page 18  

   April 3: Page 19 – Page 41 

   April 15: Page 42 – Page 69 

 

After the April 15 meeting, staff will work with legal counsel to revise the document as discussed 

during the Board’s review and provide a final edited version for the Board’s consideration. This will 
likely be at the May 20 Board meeting. 

 

Attachment: 

 

1. Draft Personnel Policy Manual 
 
 

 



Meridian Township 

Personnel Policy  Manual 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
June 28, 2024 

March 14, 2025 DRAFT 



i  

THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL 

Table of Contents 
I. Welcome and Introduction .................................................................................................. 1 

A. Severability ...................................................................................................................... 2 
B. Distribution and Revisions ............................................................................................... 2 

II. Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Statement and Non-Discrimination Policy .... 3 
A. Human Relations Ordinance Article I. In General, Section 30-1 Intent .......................... 3 
B. Non-Discrimination & Fair Employment Practices Policy .............................................. 3 
C. Open Door Policy............................................................................................................. 5 

III. Employment .......................................................................................................................... 6 
A. At-Will Employment ........................................................................................................ 6 
B. Training Period ................................................................................................................. 6 
C. 182-Day Limitations Period for Employment-Related Claims ........................................ 6 
D. Hours of Work .................................................................................................................. 6 
E. Time Reporting................................................................................................................. 7 
F. Flexible Work Schedule and Temporary Flexible Work Hours ....................................... 7 
G. Lunch, Rest Periods and Breaks ....................................................................................... 7 
H. Impermissible Use of Meal Period and/or Rest Breaks ................................................... 8 
I. Emergency Closings ......................................................................................................... 8 
J. Anniversary Date .............................................................................................................. 8 
K. Performance Evaluations .................................................................................................. 8 
L. Promotions ....................................................................................................................... 9 
M. Personnel Files/ Data Changes ......................................................................................... 9 
N. Social Security Number Privacy and Protection .............................................................. 9 
O. Layoffs and Recalls ........................................................................................................ 10 
P. Internal Job Vacancies .................................................................................................... 10 
Q. Orientation for New Employees ..................................................................................... 11 
R. Hiring of Family/Relatives ............................................................................................. 11 
S. Employment Classification Categories .......................................................................... 12 
T. Background and Reference Checks ............................................................................... 12 
U. Progressive Discipline .................................................................................................... 13 
V. Separation of Employment ............................................................................................. 14 
W. Exit Interview ................................................................................................................. 15 
X. Rehire ............................................................................................................................. 15 

IV. Workplace Safety ............................................................................................................... 16 
A. Drug-Free Workplace ..................................................................................................... 16 
A.B. ..........................................................................................................................................  
B.C. .......................................................................................................................................... Em

ployee Assistance and Drug-Free Awareness ................................................................ 16 
C.D. .......................................................................................................................................... Re

quired Drug and Alcohol Testing ................................................................................... 17 
D.E. .......................................................................................................................................... Co

nsequences...................................................................................................................... 17 
E.F. ........................................................................................................................................... Co



ii  

nfidentiality .................................................................................................................... 18 
F.G. ........................................................................................................................................... Wo

rkplace Bullying ............................................................................................................. 18 
G.H. .......................................................................................................................................... Vio

lence in the Workplace ................................................................................................... 19 
H.I. Safety ............................................................................................................................. 19 
I.J. Right to Know ................................................................................................................ 20 

J.K. ........................................................................................................................................... Sm
oke-Free Workplace ....................................................................................................... 20 

V. Workplace Expectations .................................................................................................... 21 
A. Code of Conduct/Workplace Etiquette and Work Rules ................................................ 21 
B. Confidentiality ................................................................................................................ 22 
C. Conflicts of Interest ........................................................................................................ 22 
D. Gifts and Favors ............................................................................................................. 22 
E. Outside Employment ...................................................................................................... 22 
F. Attendance and Punctuality ............................................................................................ 23 
G. Attire and Grooming ...................................................................................................... 24 
H. Electronic Communication and Internet Use ................................................................. 25 
I. Right to Monitor ............................................................................................................. 25 
J. Inspection ....................................................................................................................... 25 
K. Solicitation, Distribution, and Posting of Materials........................................................ 26 
L. Employee Travel and Reimbursement ........................................................................... 26 
M. Use of Township Equipment .......................................................................................... 26 
N. Township Vehicles ......................................................................................................... 27 
O. Energy Efficient Workplace ........................................................................................... 27 

VI. Time Off/Leaves of Absence .............................................................................................. 28 
A. Holiday Pay .................................................................................................................... 28 
B. Vacation ......................................................................................................................... 28 
C. Personal Leave ............................................................................................................... 29 
D. Sick Leave ...................................................................................................................... 29 
E. Bereavement Leave ........................................................................................................ 30 
F. Jury Duty ........................................................................................................................ 30 
G. Election Leave ................................................................................................................ 31 
H. Military Leave of Absence ............................................................................................. 31 
I. Lactation/Breastfeeding .................................................................................................. 31 

VII. Benefits ................................................................................................................................ 32 
A. Medical and Dental Insurance ........................................................................................ 32 
B. Flexible Spending Account ............................................................................................ 32 
C. Group Life Insurance ..................................................................................................... 33 
D. Long-Term Disability Benefits ....................................................................................... 33 
E. Pension Plans ................................................................................................................. 33 
F. Retirement ...................................................................................................................... 33 
G. Workers’ Compensation Benefits - Coordination with Township Benefits ................... 33 
H. CARES Employee Assistance Program (EAP) .............................................................. 34 
I. COBRA .......................................................................................................................... 34 

VIII. Compensation ..................................................................................................................... 35 
A. Overtime Pay .................................................................................................................. 35 
B. Compensatory Time ....................................................................................................... 35 
C. Longevity ....................................................................................................................... 35 



iii  

IX. Unlawful Harassment Policy ............................................................................................. 36 
A. Objective ........................................................................................................................ 36 
B. Scope .............................................................................................................................. 36 
C. Workplace Harassment................................................................................................... 36 
D. Defining Sexual Harassment .......................................................................................... 36 
E. Examples of Prohibited Conduct .................................................................................... 37 
F. Complaint Resolution Procedures .................................................................................. 37 
G. Confidentiality ................................................................................................................ 39 
H. Discipline ....................................................................................................................... 39 

X. Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Policy ............................................................... 40 
A. About .............................................................................................................................. 40 
B. General Provisions.......................................................................................................... 40 
C. Eligibility ........................................................................................................................ 40 
D. Types of Leave Covered ................................................................................................ 41 
E. Amount of Leave ............................................................................................................ 42 
F. Employee Status and Benefits during Leave .................................................................. 43 
G. Employee Status after Leave .......................................................................................... 43 
H. Use of Paid and Unpaid Leave ....................................................................................... 43 
I. Intermittent Leave or a Reduced Work Schedule ........................................................... 44 
J. Certification for the Employee’s Serious Health Condition/ Family Member/ 

Qualifying Military Exigency
 ........................................................................................................................................ 4
4 

K. Recertification ................................................................................................................ 45 
L. Procedure for Requesting FMLA Leave ......................................................................... 45 
M. Designation of FMLA Leave ......................................................................................... 45 
N. Intent to Return to Work from FMLA Leave ................................................................. 45 

XI. Reasonable Accommodation/ Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA) And 
Amendments Act (ADAAA) Policy
 .............................................................................................................................................. 4
6 
A. Reasonable Accommodation/ Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) ......................... 46 
B. Notification and Medical Documentation ....................................................................... 46 
C. Interactive Process .......................................................................................................... 47 
D. Decision on Accommodation and Recordkeeping .......................................................... 48 
E. Terms Used in This Policy ............................................................................................. 48 
F. Appeals ........................................................................................................................... 49 

XII. Social Media Policy ............................................................................................................ 50 
A. Introduction .................................................................................................................... 50 
B. “Official” Township Social Media Accounts ................................................................. 50 
C. Personal Social Media Use ............................................................................................. 51 

XIII. Military Leave Policy (USERRA) ..................................................................................... 53 
A. Notice Required .............................................................................................................. 53 
B. Documentation ............................................................................................................... 53 
C. Confirmation of Service ................................................................................................. 53 
D. Employment and Pay ...................................................................................................... 53 
E. Reemployment ................................................................................................................ 54 



1  

THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL 

I. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

 
Welcome to the Charter Township of Meridian (also referred to as “Meridian Township” and the 
“Township”). As an employee of the Township, your mission is to serve the people of the 
community in a friendly, respectful, dedicated, and effective manner so they may fully enjoy an 
attractive, clean, safe, secure, and enriching environment. All employees contribute to making 
Meridian Township a community of choice. 

 
The primary purpose of this manual is to introduce new employees to the general work rules, 
policies, procedures, and benefit plans that cover all Township employees, as well as to serve as a 
reference for current employees. It is also intended to serve as a communication tool for promoting 
positive employee relations by providing comprehensive information to employees regarding their 
employment. This manual does not and cannot provide a policy for every situation that may arise; 
rather, it is designed to give an overall understanding of Township policies. 

 
This Policy Manual supersedes any and all prior practices and policies of the Township, oral or 
written. Any and all statements and policies herein are subject to unilateral change in whole or in 
part by the Township at any time. The Township retains the right to change, modify, suspend, 
interpret, or cancel in whole or in part any of the published or unpublished Personnel Policies or 
Procedures of the Township without advance notice, in its sole discretion as approved by the 
Township Board. Recognition of these rights of the Township is a term and condition of 
employment and of continued employment. 

 
This manual, or any other written or verbal communication by the Township, is not intended as and 
does not create a contract of employment, either expressed or implied, and does not constitute 
contracted obligations between the Township and employees unless specifically addressed in a 
formal employment contract or collective bargaining agreement (CBA). Where such documents 
specifically differ from these policies, then the applicable provision(s) of the subject agreement 
shall govern. 

No person, other than the Township Manager as authorized by the Township Board, has the 
authority to enter into any agreement for employment for any specified period of time, or to make 
any agreement contrary to the provisions of this manual. 



2  

A. Severability 

If one or more provisions of this manual are superseded by or become in conflict with a formal 
employment contract, collective bargaining agreement, insurance plan document, federal, state, or 
local law, or if a provision is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable 
or void, then the balance of the manual shall remain in effect. 

 
 

B. Distribution and Revisions 

A copy of this manual will be provided to each employee, who will be required to sign a standard 
form certifying his/hertheir receipt and review of the manual. 

Revisions or updates to the manual will be provided to all employees in either paper form, by 
email, or by other electronic communication such as posting on the Township website. Employees 
are expected to review all changes and updates and remain knowledgeable of all current personnel 
policies. Periodically, employees may be required to sign an update form that they have received 
and reviewed the manual and changes in policy. 



3  

II.  EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) 
STATEMENT AND NON-DISCRIMINATION POLICY 

 
Meridian Township is firmly committed to non-discriminatory employment practices, including 
with respect to disabilities, for all employees and applicants for employment. The Township will 
comply with all federal, state, and local laws with respect to the employment relationship. The goal 
of the Township is to provide a positive work environment that demonstrates respect for human 
differences and guarantees that all employees are treated with dignity, respect, and professionalism. 

 
Every employee has an obligation to promote an inclusive workplace free from discrimination in 
all employment activities. Management is responsible and accountable to identify and correct any 
discriminatory actions and to ensure that non-discrimination policies are followed. The Township 
is responsible to take prompt and immediate remedial action to maintain a work environment that 
is free of unlawful discrimination, harassment, intimidation, or retaliation. 

 
Employees are expected to immediately bring forth any concerns about discrimination, retaliation, 
or harassment in any form, to the attention of management and the Human Resources (HR) Director. 
All allegations are taken seriously, and management is responsible to immediately report concerns 
to the Human Resources Director for a prompt response and investigation. Please refer to specific 
employment policies contained in this manual that address compliance. 

 
The Township has an Open Door Policy in effect and employees are encouraged to bring concerns 
and issues forward for discussion with any member of management, including the Human 
Resources Director and the Township Manager. The Township encourages employees to make 
suggestions and provide feedback for mutual understanding and quick resolution. 

 
A. Meridian Township Human Relations Ordinance Article I. In General, Section 30-1 Intent 

It is the intent of the Township that no person be denied equal protection of the laws; nor shall any 
person be denied the enjoyment of his or hertheir civil or political rights or be discriminated against 
or harassed because of actual or perceived race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, height, 
weight, condition of pregnancy, marital status, physical or mental limitation, disability, source of 
income, familial status, education association, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, or 
HIV status. For more information about the Township’s commitment to non-discrimination, please 
see the Human Relations Ordinance, which is Chapter 30 in the Township’s Code of Ordinances 
available online.   

 
B. Non-Discrimination and Fair Employment Practices Policy 

The purpose of this policy is to ensure the hiring practices of the Township do not unfairly deny 
people with arrest and conviction records employment with the Township and further encouraging 
rehabilitation of people with records to strengthen communities. 

 
The ability of people with records to successfully reintegrate into their communities contributes to 
reduced recidivism, strengthens families, and leads to safer communities. 

 
People with records suffer from pervasive discrimination in many areas of life, including 



4  

employment, housing, education, and eligibility for many forms of social service benefits. 



5  

People of color are arrested, convicted, and incarcerated in numbers disproportionate to their 
representation in the population as a whole. 

Many people with records in the Township are likely to be unemployed or underemployed. 
 

People with records represent a workforce that have skills to contribute and a desire to add value to 
their community. 

 
The Township seeks to assist the rehabilitation of people with records and ensure healthier, safer 
communities. 

 
Studies indicate that stable employment is one of the best predictors of post-conviction success. 

 
The U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, to maximize compliance with federal anti- 
discrimination law, recommends delaying inquiry of a job applicant’s conviction history and 
considering the job-relatedness of the conviction taking into account length of time since conviction, 
and providing an individualized assessment affording the opportunity to correct any inaccuracies and 
to submit evidence of mitigation or rehabilitation. 

 
The Township Human Resources Department shall adhere to this a fair chance policy, which prohibits 
limits inquiry into conviction history information on all Township employment applications unless 
required by state or federal law. 

 
The Township shall make a good faith determination as to which specific positions of employment 
are of such sensitivity that a background check is warranted or are required by law and shall conduct 
background checks for these positions only. 

 
If it has been established that a position requires a background check, the Township shall not conduct 
the check until after the applicant has been provided a conditional offer of employment. 

Unless required by state or federal law, the Township shall not use or access the following criminal 
records in relation to a background check: records of arrest not followed by a valid conviction, sealed, 
dismissed, or expunged convictions, misdemeanor convictions where no jail sentence can be 
imposed, and civil infractions. 

The Township shall consider job-related convictions taking into account the length of time since the 
offense occurred, such that no person shall be disqualified from employment, solely or in part 
because of a prior conviction, unless it is a job-related conviction. The Township Human Resources 
Department shall conduct an individualized assessment of any job-related conviction record.  

 
If an applicant has been convicted of an offense that is directly related to the position sought, the 
Township Human Resources Department shall notify the applicant and conduct an individualized 
assessment that permits the applicant to submit information regarding inaccuracy of the record and 
evidence of mitigation or rehabilitation, as appropriate. 

 
The Township also urges private employers and government contractors to adopt fair hiring practices 
that encourage the rehabilitation and employment of people with records. 

0



6  

C. Open Door Policy 

It is the Township’s desire to provide good working conditions and maintain harmonious working 
relationships among employees, as well as between employees and management, because doing so 
helps to ensure the orderly and efficient operation of Township business. In order to correct any 
work-related problems, the Township must be fully informed about them. Therefore, the Township 
has an “open door” policy. You are encouraged to discuss concerns or suggestions with your 
Department HeadDirector. If you believe that your Department HeadDirector has not, or cannot, 
adequately address the situation, you are encouraged to discuss it with the Human Resources 
Director and/or the Township Manager. This procedure should in no way foreclose the direct 
discussions Department HeadsDirectors have always had on an informal basis with employees. 



7  

III. EMPLOYMENT 
 
 

A. At-Will Employment 

All employees (with the exception of previously approved employment agreements) are considered 
at-will, unless a different status is conferred by a collective bargaining agreement or a specific 
employment agreement. This means that the employment relationship is for an indefinite period of 
time and can be terminated at any time, with or without cause and with or without notice by you or 
the Township. The provisions in this policy manual supersede any and all contrary representations 
that have been made by either the Township or you. No employee, supervisor, member of 
management, or other person except the Township Manager, in writing, and approved by the 
Township Board, has the authority to enter into any employment agreement on behalf of the 
Township for any specified period of time, pursuant to any particular conditions or to make any 
agreement contrary to the terms expressed here and in this manual. 

 
 

B. Training Period 

Up to the first six (6) months of employment (please see specific training period designations in 
individual collective bargaining agreements (CBA’s) for clarification) is considered to be a period 
of training. This training period provides intensive training efforts and frequent feedback and 
written evaluations at 30-60-90 day and six (6) month intervals. You are encouraged to ask 
questions and seek additional help during this period to better understand your job expectations, 
policies, procedures, and goals of the department and Township. 

 
 

C. 182-Day Limitations Period for Employment-Related Claims 

As a condition of employment, you agree not to commence any action, claim, or suit relating to 
your employment or termination of employment against the Township more than 182 days after the 
date you knew or should have known that a claim existed or later than the applicable limitations 
period established by law, whichever is less. Your written acknowledgement of these policies is 
also your written agreement to this limitation. 

 
 

D.C. Hours of Work 

Township Administrative offices (Municipal Building and Public Safety Building) operate on a 
regular eight (8) hour day, forty (40) hour work week, Monday through Friday, from 8:00 a.m. to 
5:00 p.m. The Service Center operates on a regular eight (8) hour day, forty (40) hour work week, 
Monday through Friday, from 7:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. In the interest of efficiency or special situation, 
a Director may deviate from the above prescribed hours, with the approval of the Township 
Manager. 

It is the responsibility of the Director to assure that employees work the required hours and that any 
absences are properly accounted for on absence forms, which are forwarded to the Human 
Resources Department/Payroll. 



8  

E.D. Time Reporting 

The workweek covers seven consecutive days beginning on Saturday at 12:01 a.m. and ending on 
Friday at 12:00 midnight. The usual workweek period is 40 hours. 

Overtime is defined as hours worked by an hourly or  non-exempt employee in excess of 40 hours 
in a workweek and should be recorded to the nearest quarter of an hour. Overtime must be approved 
in advance by the Director to whom the employee reports. Failure to obtain approval to work 
overtime may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.  

 
Employees will submit their bi-weekly timesheets as required by their Director. Each employee is 
to maintain an accurate daily record of his or hertheir hours worked. All absences from work 
schedules should be appropriately recorded. 

 
 

F.E. Flexible Work Schedule and Temporary Flexible Work Hours 

Flexible work schedules are those that vary from the regular work schedule of the Township. Prior 
approval from the department Director and Human Resources Director must be obtained before use 
of a flexible work arrangement. Adjustments to an employee’s regular work schedule may be altered 
on a permanent basis or for an extended period of time, however, the revised schedule must continue 
to support the operational needs of the department and the Township. In the event ofIf a work 
schedule changes, a plan for continued fulfillment of work expectations, including how 
communications with co-workers, customers, and the Director will occur and how to handle 
departmental needs that arise during the employee’s absence, must be addressed. Due to the nature 
of the work being performed, some options may not be available to all employees. 

 
A permanent or long termlong-term work schedule adjustment must be approved, in writing, by the 
department Director and Human Resources Director. All permanent work schedule alterations will 
be documented in the personnel file and the information provided to payroll for accurate record 
keeping. Flexible work schedule adjustments may be revised or revoked by the Director, Human 
Resources Director, or Township Manager as needed. 

 
Flexible work hours are temporary changes in an employee’s regular work schedule in order to 
adjust for an unplanned, short-notice, or special circumstance. When an unforeseen event or special 
circumstance occurs, the department Director and Human Resources Director may approve an 
adjustment to the employee’s schedule that may include altering the start and/or end time, or 
reducing an unpaid lunch period to allow for work hours to total no more than 8 hours in a workday. 
For unanticipated use of leave time, the Director may approve leave time to be used during flexible 
work hours. Although a late arrival or leave early may still be considered tardiness, the employee 
can, with the Director’s approval, work additional time on that day or sometime that week to make 
up the missed time. 

 
 

G.F. Lunch, Rest Periods and Breaks 

The schedule of lunch periods and breaks at Meridian Township is set by the employee’s supervisor 
or department Director with the goal of providing the least possible disruption to Township 
operations. 

 



9  

Employee lunch periods are important to employee productivity and employee health. Full-time 
employees will be provided an unpaid one (1) hour lunch break. The lunch period will not be 
included in the total time of work per day. Part-time employees working a minimum of six (6) hours 
per day will be provided an unpaid one-half (1/2) hour lunch break. Non-exempt employees are to 
be completely relieved of all job duties while on lunch breaks. 

Non-exempt employees are permitted a 15-minute rest break for each four hours of work as 
scheduled or permitted by their supervisor or Director. Non-exempt employees on rest breaks are 
not required to clock in and clock out because this time is considered “time worked” and is 
compensable. 

 
 

H.G. Impermissible Use of Meal Period and/or Rest Breaks 

Neither the lunch meal period nor rest break(s) may be used to account for an employee’s late arrival 
or early departure or to cover time off for other purposes. For example, rest breaks may not be 
accumulated to extend a meal period and rest breaks may not be combined to allow a one half 
hour30-minute break. 

 
 

I.H. Emergency Closings 

In cases where a Township office is ordered to be closed because of inclement weather, a state of 
emergency, natural disaster, or other order by the Township Manager, all regularly scheduled 
employees will receive their regular pay based upon hours scheduled to be worked that day. If an 
employee has a pre-approved scheduled day off, he or she shall not receive an additional day off or 
additional pay for the day of the emergency closing. 

Declared closures may not apply to “essential employees” such as Police, Fire, Public Works, and 
others as designated by the Township Manager.  Please refer to the Township’s Continuity of 
Operations Plan (COOP) for detailed outline of procedures for emergency or other unplanned 
closures. 

 
 

J.I. Anniversary Date 

For all purposes regarding the Township, including but not limited to, pay and longevity benefits, 
an employee’s anniversary date is defined as the day (day/month/year) work began as a regular full- 
time or regular part-time employee for the Township. 

 
K.J. Performance Evaluations 

The Human Resources Director shall prepare aThe Township uses a uniform system for evaluating 
the work performance of all employees. The primary purpose of the employee performance 
evaluation is to maintain communication between supervisor and employee and inform employees 
on how well they are doingthe quality of their work and how they can improve their work 
performance. Employees will sign the evaluation form as an indication that the evaluation was 
madeto acknowledge their review and receipt of the document, but not to  necessarily to indicate 
agreement with the rating(s). 



10  

Employees performance will typically be formally evaluated in writing annually by their immediate 
supervisors,. however, tThe Human Resources Director and management may participate in 
employee evaluations. The Township endeavors to provide all employees with an evaluation at 
least once per calendar year and the Township retains the right to evaluate employees more than 
once per calendar year. Copies of all performance evaluations will be given to evaluated employees, 
as well as the Human Resources Department to retain in employee personnel files. Employees 
wishing to appeal their performance evaluations must contact the Human Resources Director 
within five (5) days after receiving their performance evaluation. The Human Resources Director 
will handle appeals on a case-by-case basis and will retain any additional documentation regarding 
the performance evaluation appeal. 

Employees and evaluators are encouraged to have regular informal conversations about 
performance and areas for improvement outside the formal review provesprocess. This may 
include, but is not limited to, ongoing efforts to coach, mentor, and otherwise provide employees 
with the support necessary.    

 
 

L.K. Promotions 

Township management may choose to promote Township employees on the basis of factors such 
as, but not limited to, positive performance evaluations, merit, and terms in individual collective 
bargaining agreements. A promotion is defined as a change to a position in a class having a higher 
salary range than the class from which the employee left. When employees are promoted to a 
position in a higher class, their annual salary shall be increased by an amount as determined in the 
salary range. The new rate of pay becomes effective upon the date of promotion; the next step 
increase (if applicable) will occur one year from the promotion date. All provisions contrary to this 
policy in any employee’s collective bargaining agreement shall prevail and be applied to covered 
collective bargaining agreement employees. 

Township management may choose to promote Township employees on the basis of past 
performance, job skills, initiative, demonstrated desire for advancement, and attainment of the 
preferred and minimum qualifications for the job (such as certifications, licenses, and academic 
achievement). 

 
 

M.L. Personnel Files/ Data Changes 

The Township keeps personnel files on all employees. Personnel files may include job applications 
and related hiring documents, training records, performance documentation, salary history, and 
other employment records. Personnel files are the property of the Township. Because personnel 
files contain confidential information, the only people who can see them are people with a 
legitimate business reason. If Under the Bullard-Plawecki Employee Right to Know Act 397 of 
1978, employees may wish to review their own file, and may do so by employees will need to 
contacting the Human Resources Director. Once a request is received by the Human Resources 
Department, it will be documented in writing and an appointment will be set up within five (5) 
working days for the employee to review their file. Employees may review their file only when a 
representative of the Human Resources Department is also present. Copies of the file may be 
requested, and the Township may charge a reasonable copying fee to the employee. Documents 
will be copied and issued to the employee within five (5) working days. 

 
It is important for the Township to have certain personal information about employees in personnel 

https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/mcl/pdf/mcl-Act-397-of-1978.pdf
https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/mcl/pdf/mcl-Act-397-of-1978.pdf


11  

records. Employees must notify the Township Human Resources Department as soon as there is a 
change to their mailing address, telephone number, marital status, dependents' information, 
educational accomplishments, emergency contacts, and other possibly related information. 
Personal data will be stored by the Human Resources Department in a confidential manner. 

 
 

N.M. Social Security Number Privacy and Protection 

Meridian Township values privacy and will take all necessary steps to ensure compliance with the 
provisions of the Michigan Social Security Number Privacy Act 454 of 2004. To protect employee 
personal information, the Township will not use Social Security numbers to identify employees. 
However, Social Security numbers may be included in job applications and forms sent by mail. 

The Township will not: 

 Publicly post or publicly display employee Social Security numbers. 
 Require employees to send their Social Security number over the Internet, unless the 

connection is secure or the Social Security number is encrypted. 

 Require employees to use their Social Security number to access an Internet Website, unless 
a password or unique personal identification number or other authentication device is also 
required to access the Internet Website. 

 Print employee Social Security numbers on any mailed materials, unless state or federal law 
requires the Social Security number to be on the document that is mailed. 

The Township will continue to collect, use, or release Social Security numbers as required by state 
or federal law, and may use Social Security numbers for Township identification or authorization 
purposes.  Questions about this policy, please contact the  may be directed to Human Resources 
Director. 

 
 

O.N. Layoffs and Recalls 

This policy shall govern all layoffs and recalls and layoffs of Township employees who are not 
covered by a layoff or recall or layoff procedure in a collective bargaining agreement. Language 
in any of the collective bargaining agreements regarding layoff and recall procedures of covered 
Township employees shall prevail and be applied over any conflicting language in this policy. In the 
event ofIf a reduction in forcelayoff occurs, consideration will be given to the quality of each 
employee's past performance, the need for the service, and the employee's seniority in that 
classification, in determining which employees will be retained. Employees to be laid off will be 
notified at the earliest date possible of that decision, but not less than 14 calendar days’ notice will 
be given. All layoffs and recalls of positions will be based upon the Township’s operational needs 
and financial position. Employee employment history, performance and job relatedjob-related 
qualifications, abilities as determined by the Township, and seniority may also be considered in 
making layoff and recall determinations.The Township retains sole discretion to determine which 
employees will be impacted in a layoff.  

 
 

P.O. Internal Job Vacancies 

https://legislature.mi.gov/Laws/MCL?objectName=mcl-445-83


12  

When there is a vacancy or position to be posted at the Townshipan internal vacancy, the Human 
Resources Department iswill be notified, and the Township will post the position both internally 
and externally through the “all employees” e-mail notification system and listings on the Township 
website. External advertisements will be posted on the iApplicant online job posting system and all 
other job posting sources as necessary. Postings will be maintained for seven (7) workdays or as 
defined in collective bargaining agreements. Internal and external requests to interview are received 
simultaneously. The Township will attempt to schedule interviews with qualified internal 
candidates first, however, internal and external candidates may be interviewed during the same time 
period. Internal candidates will be required to submit a resume and cover letter to the Human 
Resources Director for consideration. Such materials must be submitted by the interview deadline 
or the employee will not be considered an applicant. 

The interview process may include Supervisors, Managers, Directors, and Human Resources. If 
necessary, candidates will be called back for additional second  interview(s). The overall most 
qualified candidate, as determined by the Township, will be selected. When hiring or undergoing a 
promotional procedure specified in a CBA collective bargaining agreement, all provisions of the 
CBA shall prevail and be applied first should they conflict with the hiring procedures stated above. 

 
Prior to a conditional job offer and depending on the qualifications and requirements of the position, 
the Township will may be required to conduct a criminal background check, driving record 
checkbackground check, and reference checks, . In addition, a post-offer physical examination 
including aand/or drug screen as required.  Required physicals will beare conducted by Township 
selected medical professionals. Where appropriate, certain positions require a more complete 
background and credit history check. In addition, employees who possess certain licenses will be 
subject to on-going tests for drugs and alcohol use. Certain jobs require different essential functions, 
therefore, physical examinations are customized to evaluate abilities to perform the essential 
functions of a particular job. A successful candidate will be notified by the Human Resources 
Department and an official start date will be determined at that time. 

 
 

Q.P. Orientation for New Employees 

New hires must meet with An orientation with Human Resources on or before  will be scheduled 
their first day of employment to complete required forms and review employment documents. New 
employees will be required to submit documentation necessary for the I-9 process (Immigration 
and Naturalization through Homeland Security) to verify legal status to work in the Township. 
Paperwork including W-4s for federal withholdings, state and local withholdings, internet policy 
guidelines, insurance documents, authorization for direct deposit of paychecks, and other necessary 
documents will be completed at orientation with Human Resources. A more detailed, job-specific 
orientation will take place with the department staff where the new hire will be working.  

 
 

R.Q. Hiring of Family/Relatives – Fraternization 

The Township permits the employment of qualified individuals who are related to a current 
employee provided that a supervisory/subordinate relationship does not exist as a result of that 
employment. 

 
For purposes of this policy, Ffamily/relatives includes spouse, child, father, motherparent, sister, 
brothersibling, step-parents, step-siblings, half-siblings, mother or fatherparent- in-law, son or 



13  

daughterchild-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, and brother or sistersiblings-in-law. 
 

If an employee is involved in a dating relationship and works in the same area/department, it may 
cause difficulties at work. A dating relationship is a relationship that may casually lead to a 
consensual romantic or sexual relationship. If a supervisory relationship exists for two employees 
who become relatives after hire, or who start a dating relationship and one of them supervises the 
other, the one who is the supervisor is required to tellthe employees must inform Human Resources 
about the relationship. The Township will then ask the two employees to decide which one of them 
is to be transferred to another available position. If they do not make that decision within 30 
calendar days or there is no other available position, the Township will decide which one will be 
transferred or, if necessary, terminated from employment.may seek to transfer one of the employees 
if a vacancy exists for which one or both employees are qualified. The Township may alternatively 
seek the voluntary resignation of one of the impacted employees. The Township retains the right to 
terminate an employee to avoid a violation of this policy.  
 
Consensual romantic or sexual relationships between employesemployees, while not expressly 
forbidden, are generally considered unwise. Employees should be aware of the risks and potential 
work-related difficulties of such relationships. 

 
There may also be situations when there is a conflict or the potential for conflict because of the 
relationship between employeesThe Township retains the discretion to transfer, seek voluntary 
resignation, or terminate related employees, even if there is no direct reporting relationship or 
authority involvedsupervisory relationship if the familial relationship causes a conflict or potential 
conflict in the workplace. Relatives of current Township employees shall not be given preference 
in any hiring decisions.  In that case, the Township may separate the employees by reassignment 
or termination of employment.   



14  

S.R. Employment Classification Categories 

Meridian Township has established the following classifications for employees: 

 Regular, full time: Employees who are not in a temporary status and who are regularly 
scheduled to work a full-time schedule of 40 hours per week. Generally, these employees 
are eligible for the full benefits package, subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of 
each benefits program. 

 Regular, part time: Employees who are not in a temporary status and who are regularly 
scheduled to work less than the full-time schedule. These employees are eligible for pro- 
rated leave time and holiday pay. Depending on the number of hours worked over the course 
of a year, these employees may also be eligible for health insurance coverage. 

 Temporary, full time: Employees who are hired as interim replacements to temporarily 
supplement the workforce or to assist in the completion of a specific project and who are 
temporarily scheduled to work a schedule for a limited duration. Employment beyond any 
initially stated period does not in any way imply a change in employment status. 

 Temporary, part time: Employees who are hired as interim replacements to temporarily 
supplement the workforce or to assist in the completion of a specific project and who are 
temporarily scheduled to work less than a full-time schedule for a limited duration. 
Employment beyond any initially stated period does not in any way imply a change in 
employment status. 

 
 Seasonal Workers/Interns/Irregular: Employees who are hired as interim workers during 

the summer months, or on a limited work schedule throughout the year, for a limited 
duration. Temporary, irregular and/or seasonal workers are not eligible for Township 
benefits. 

 
All employees are also designated as either nonexempt or exempt under state and federal wage and 
hour laws. The following is intended to help employees understand their employment classification. 

Nonexempt employees are employees whose work is covered by the Fair Labor Standards Act 
(FLSA). They are NOT exempt fromentitled to the law’s requirements concerning minimum wage 
and overtime. 

 
Exempt employees are generally managers or professional, administrative, or technical staff who 
ARE are exempt from the overtime provisions of the FLSA. Exempt employees hold jobs that meet 
the standards and criteria established under the FLSA by the U.S. Department of Labor. 

 
 

T.S. Background and Reference Checks 

To ensure that individuals who join Meridian Township are well qualified and to ensure that we 
maintain a safe and productive work environment, it is our policy to conduct pre-employment 
background checks on applicants who are being considered for employment to the extent such a 
background check is necessary based on the requirements and expectations of the position. 
Background checks may include verification of any information on the applicant’s resume or 



15  

application form, a driving record check, a criminal background check, and in certain positions, a 
credit report. 
All offers of employment are conditional based on a successful background check (if any). All 
background checks are conducted in compliance with the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act, the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, and state and federal privacy and anti-discrimination laws. Reports 
are kept confidential and are only viewed by individuals involved in the hiring processthose with a 
legitimate business need to know the information. 

This policy will be administered, and any background or reference checks will be performed, in 
compliance with the Township’s Non-Discrimination and Fair Employment Practices Policy as 
found elsewhere in this Manual.  

 
The Township also reserves the right to conduct a background check for current employees to 
determine eligibility for promotion or reassignment in the same manner as described above. 

 
 

U.T. Progressive Discipline 

Every employee has the duty and the responsibility to be aware of and abide by existing rules and 
policies. Employees also have the responsibility to perform his/hertheir duties to the best of 
his/herthier ability and to the standards as set forth in his/herthier job description or as otherwise 
established. 

 
Meridian Township supports the use of progressive discipline to address issues such as poor work 
performance or misconduct. The Township’s progressive discipline policy is designed to provide a 
corrective action process to improve and prevent a recurrence of undesirable inappropriate behavior 
and/or performance issues. The Township’s progressive discipline policy has been designed 
consistent with Township values, Human Resources best practices, and employment laws. 

 
The Township believes it is important to make sure that all employees are treated fairly and that 
disciplinary actions are prompt, consistent, and impartial. The major purpose of a disciplinary 
action is to correct the problem, prevent it from happening again, and prepare the employee for 
satisfactory performance in the future. This policy describes the procedure for administering fair 
and consistent discipline for unsatisfactory conduct or performance at the Township. Any language 
regarding disciplinary procedures governing covered employees in CBAs contrary to this policy 
shall prevail over the language of this policy. 
 
In order to correct or eliminate employee poor performance or misconduct, the Township may 
utilize the disciplinary process.  

 
Disciplinary action may take any form the Township deems appropriate to the circumstances, including 
be any of the following four types: 

1) Verbal warning 

2) Written warning 

3) Suspension with or without pay 

4) Termination of employment 



16  

 
The Township retains the discretion to utilize whatever level of discipline is deemed appropriate 
under the circumstances or to craft individualized discipline and correction on a case-by-case basis. 
In all cases, the Township strives for discipline to be corrective, not punitive. The Township will 
follow the principles of progressive discipline whenever practicable, except that the Township may 
skip disciplinary steps for sufficiently serious conduct as determined in the Township’s sole 
discretion unless otherwise limited by an applicable collective bargaining agreement. 
 
When deciding which discipline to imposeis appropriate, the Township will administer disciplinary 
actions on a case-by-case basis depending on how severe thehe severity and/or frequency of the 
problem is and how often it has happened. There may be circumstances when one or more levels 
of discipline are bypassed. In many cases, progressive discipline means that the Township will 
normally take action through a warning for a first offense, with more significant discipline for later 
offenses, up to and including termination. 

In very serious situations, some types of employee problems may justify either a suspension, or, in 
extreme situations, termination of employment without going through athe progressive disciplinary 
processe. Employees should consult this Personnel Policy Manual and the Township’s and their 
department’s work rules and expectations to understand the impact of these guidelines. Meridian 
Township reserves the right to determine the appropriate level of discipline for any inappropriate 
conduct, including verbal and written warnings, suspension with or without pay, demotion and 
termination.   

By using progressive discipline, however, the goal is that most employee problems can be corrected 
at an early stage, benefiting both the employee and the Township. 

 
The Township retains the right to retain any documents related to employee disciplinary actions in 
employee personnel files in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws. 

 
V.U. Separation of Employment 

Separation of employment can occur for several different reasons. 

 Voluntary Resignation: Although the Township hopes employment will be a mutually 
rewarding experience, varying circumstances cause employees to voluntarily resign. 
Resigning employees must provide two weeks’ notice, in writing, to facilitate a smooth 
transition. Proper notice of resignation entitles an employee to a payout of accrued but 
unused vacation leave. Management reserves the right to provide an employee with two 
weeks’ pay in lieu of notice in situations where job or business needs warrant such action. 
If an employee provides less than two weeks’ notice, the employee is disqualified from any 
payout for accrued vacation or other leave payments and the Township may deem the 
individual to be ineligible for rehire depending on the circumstances regarding the notice 
given. 

 Retirement: Employees who wish to retire are required to notify their Director and the 
Human Resources Department in writing at least one (1) month before the planned 
retirement date. Employees who retire under an applicable retirement plan are entitled to a 
payout of accrued but unused vacation leave. 



17  

 
 Job Abandonment: Employees who fail to report to work or contact their supervisor for 

three (3) consecutive workdays will be considered to have abandoned their job and 
voluntarily quit without notice, effective at the end of their normal shift on the third day. 
The Supervisor will notify the Human Resources Department at the expiration of the third 
workday and initiate the paperwork to document the employee’s terminationvoluntary 
resignation. Employees who are separated due to job abandonment are ineligible to receive 
accrued benefitsa payout for accrued but unused vacation leave and are ineligible for rehire. 

 Termination: Except as may be provided in a collective bargaining agreement or by 
contract, eEmployees are employed on an at-will basis and the Township retains the right 
to terminate an employee at any time. Employees who are involuntarily terminated are 
ineligible to receive payout for accrued but unused vacation leave.  

Employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement may be subject to different separation of 
employment procedures than stated in this policy and are advised to refer to individual collective 
bargaining agreements for separation of employment procedures. 

 
Health insurance terminates the last day of the month of employmentseparation, unless an employee 
requests immediate termination of benefits. Information for Consolidated Omnibus Budget 
Reconciliation (COBRA) continued health coverage will be provided. 



18  

W.V. Exit Interview 

All Township employees who terminate separate from employment with the Township are 
encouraged to take part in an exit interview. Exit interviews will take place with the Human Resources 
Director.  Upon the request of the Human Resources Director or the separating employee, additional 
attendees may be permitted in exit interviews. The Human Resources Director will coordinate the 
time and dates of all exit interviews. 

 
The Township utilizes exit interviews to assess outgoing employee experiences while working for 
the Township. The Township may utilize some information discovered during exit interviews to 
improve employment practices at the Township. 

 
The separating employee must return all Township property at the time of separation, including 
credit cards, uniforms, Township cell phones, keys, computers, identification cards, etc. 

 
 

X.W. Rehire 

Employees who leave the Township in good standing may be considered for reemployment. An 
application must be submitted to the Human Resources Department, and tThe applicant must meet 
all minimum qualifications and requirements of the position and follow the applicant process as 
described in section (P)the Job Vacancies Policy found elsewhere in this Manual. 

 
Supervisors must obtain approval from the Human Resources Director or designee prior to rehiring 
a former employee. Rehired employees begin benefits just as any other new employee. Previous 
tenure will not be considered in calculating longevity, leave accruals, or any benefits unless 
approved in advance by the Township Manager or as required by law. 

An applicant or employee who was terminated for violating policy or who resigned in lieu of 
termination from employment is not eligible for rehire. 



19  

IV. WORKPLACE SAFETY 
 

A. Drug-Free Workplace 

Meridian Township has a longstanding commitment to provide a safe and productive work 
environment. Alcohol and drug abuse pose a threat to the health and safety of employees and to 
the security of our equipment and facilities. For these reasons, Meridian Township is committed to 
the elimination of drug and/or alcohol use and abuse in the workplace. 

Meridian Township prohibits all employees from manufacturing, distributing, dispensing, 
possessing, or using, or being under the influence of an illegal drug or alcohol in or on Township 
premises or while conducting Township business. This prohibition applies to medical marihuana. 
Employees are also prohibited from misusing legally prescribed or over-the-counter (OTC) drugs. 

 
The policy outlines the practice and procedure designed to correct instances of identified alcohol 
and/or drug use in the workplace. This policy applies to all employees and all applicants for 
employment of the Township. The Human Resources Department is responsible for administration 
of the drug and alcohol policy. 

Employees shouldmust report to work fit for duty and free of any adverse effects of illegal drugs or 
alcohol. This policy does not prohibit employees from the lawful use and possession of prescribed 
medications. Employees must, however, consult with their doctors about the medications’ effect 
on their fitness for duty and ability to work safely and promptly disclose any work restriction to 
Human Resources. In some positions, employees will not be permitted to return to work if they 
have restrictions. The Human Resources Department will make the final determination regarding 
return to work restrictions. The following work rules apply to all employees: 

 Whenever employees are working, are operating any Township vehicle, are present on 
Township premises, or are conducting related work off-site, they are prohibited from: 

 Using, possessing, buying, selling, manufacturing, dispensing an illegal drug 
(which includes possession of drug paraphernalia). 

 Being under the influence of alcohol or an illegal drug or abusing over-the-counter 
drugs. 

 The presence of any detectable amount of any illegal drug or illegally controlled substance 
in an employee’s body while performing Township business or while in a Township facility 
or vehicle is prohibited. 

 
 Meridian Township will not allow any eEmployees must not to perform their duties while 

taking prescribed drugs that are adversely affecting the employee’s ability to safely perform 
their job duties. If an employee is aware that a prescription drug they are taking may impact 
their ability to perform their job duties safely, they must notify the Human Resources 
Department of that concern. 

 
 Any illegal drugs or drug paraphernalia will be turned over to the appropriate law 

enforcement agency and may result in criminal prosecution. 

Meridian Township reserves the right to inspect all portions of its premises for drugs, alcohol, or 
other contraband. All employees may be asked to cooperate in inspections of their persons, work 



20  

areas, and property that might conceal drugs, alcohol, or other contraband. Employees who possess 
such contraband or refuse to cooperate in such inspection are subject to appropriate discipline up to 
and including termination. 

 
 

 
B. Employee Assistance and Drug-Free Awareness 

Illegal drug use, abuse of legal medications, and alcohol/drug misuse have a number of adverse 
health and safety consequences. Information about those consequences and sources of help for 
drug/alcohol problems are available from the Human Resources Department, which can make 
referrals and assist employees with drug/alcohol problemswho may be struggling with their use 
of drugs and/or alcohol. 

The Township will assist and support employees who voluntarily seek help for such problems 
before becoming subject to discipline and/or termination under this or other policies. Such 
employees may be allowed to use accrued paid time off, be placed on leaves of absence, referred 
to treatment providers, and otherwise be accommodated as required by law. Such employees will 
be required to document that they are successfully following prescribed treatment and to take and 
pass follow-up tests if they hold jobs that are safety sensitive or that require driving or if they have 
violated this policy previously. 

Employees should report to work fit for duty and free of any adverse effects of illegal drugs or 
alcohol. This policy does not prohibit employees from the lawful use and possession of prescribed 
medications. Employees must, however, consult with their doctors about the medications’ effect 
on their fitness for duty and ability to work safely and promptly disclose any work restriction to 
their supervisor. In some positions, employees will not be permitted to return to work if they have 
restrictions. The Human Resources Department will make the final determination regarding return 
to work restrictions. The following work rules apply to all employees: 

 Whenever employees are working, are operating any Township vehicle, are present on 
Township premises, or are conducting related work off-site, they are prohibited from: 

 Using, possessing, buying, selling, manufacturing, or dispensing an illegal drug 
(which includes possession of drug paraphernalia). 

 Being under the influence of alcohol or an illegal drug or abusing over-the-counter 
drugs. 



21  

 The presence of any detectable amount of any illegal drug or illegally controlled substance 
in an employee’s body while performing Township business or while in a Township facility 
or vehicle is prohibited. 

 
 Meridian Township will not allow any employee to perform their duties while taking 

prescribed drugs that are adversely affecting the employee’s ability to safely and effectively 
perform his or her job duties. Employees taking a prescribed medication must carry it in the 
container labeled by a licensed pharmacist, or provide other proof of the prescribed 
medication, and be prepared to produce it if asked. 

 
 Any illegal drugs or drug paraphernalia will be turned over to the appropriate law 

enforcement agency and may result in criminal prosecution. 
 
 

C. Required Drug and Alcohol Testing 

The Township retains the right to require the following tests: 
 

 Pre-employment: All applicants to positions designated by the Township as requiring a 
drug test must pass a drug test after receiving an offer of employment. Refusal to submit to 
testing will result in disqualification for further employment consideration. Pre-employment 
testing for marijuana will be restricted to positions specifically identified by the Township 
in its sole discretion.  

 Reasonable Suspicion: Employees are subject to testing based on observation of apparent 
workplace use, possession, or impairment by a supervisor. The Human Resources 
Department must be consulted before sending an employee for reasonable suspicion testing. 

 Random Drug and Alcohol: Employees in safety-sensitive positions requiring a CDL are 
subject to random testing as required by the U.S. Department of Transportation. 

 Post-accident: Employees may be subject to testing when they cause or contribute to 
accidents that damage a company Township vehicle, machinery or equipment, and/or result 
in an injury to themselves or another employee requiring off-site medical attention. In any 
of these instances, the investigation and subsequent testing will take place immediately or 
within two (2) hours at the a clinic, urgent care, emergency room, or hospitalfacility 
equipped to do such testing. 

 Follow-up: Depending on the circumstances and the employee’s work history/record, the 
Township may offer an employee who violates this policy or tests positive the opportunity 
to return to work on terms acceptable to the Township, which could include follow-up 
drug testing at various times and frequencies for a minimum of one (1) year. 

 
D. Consequences for Violation of Drug-Free Policies 

Applicants who are required to but fail to take a valid drug test or who test positive will not be hired. 
Employees who fail to cooperate in required tests or who use, possess, buy, sell, manufacture, or 
dispense, or work under the influence of an illegal drug in violation of this policy are subject to 
termination. If an employee tests positive for alcohol or illegal drug use in violation of this policy, 
the employee will be subject to discipline up to and including termination. 



22  

Employees will be paid for regularly scheduled work hours when they are sent for alcohol/drug 
testing and during any paid suspension pending the results of the drug/alcohol test. After the results 
of a test are received, a date/time will be scheduled to discuss the results of the test. This meeting 
will include a member of management, union (if applicable), and the Human Resources 
Department. Should the results prove to be negative, the employee will be informed and reinstated 
without loss of pay. 

 
 

E. Confidentiality of Drug-Test Information 

Information and records relating to test results, drug and alcohol dependencies, and medical 
explanations provided to the Human Resources Department shall be kept confidential to the extent 
required by law and maintained in secure files separate from regular personnel files. 

 
 

A. Workplace Bullying  

Meridian Township defines bullying as “repeated inappropriate behavior, either direct or indirect, 
 whether verbal, physical, or otherwise, conducted by one or more persons against another or others,  
 at the place of work and/or in the course of employment.” Such behavior violates Meridian 
Township’s Code of Conduct, which clearly states that all employees will be treated with dignity  
 and respect.  

 
 The purpose of addressing bullying is to communicate to all employees, including Supervisors, 
Managers, and Directors, that the Township will not tolerate bullying behavior. Employees found in 
violation will be disciplined up to and including termination.  

 
 Bullying may be intentional or unintentional. However, it must be noted that where an allegation  
 of bullying is made, the intention of the alleged bully is irrelevant and will not be given  
 consideration when administering discipline. As in sexual harassment, it is the effect of the behavior  
 upon the individual that is more important. The following are examples of bullying behavior:  

 Verbal bullying: Slandering, ridiculing, or maligning a person or his/her family; 
persistent name calling that is hurtful, insulting, or humiliating; using a person as the 
butt of jokes; abusive and offensive remarks.  

 Cyber bullying: The same definition of verbal bullying, including cyber threats 
and harassment.  

 Physical bullying: Pushing, shoving, kicking, poking, tripping, assault, or threat of 
physical  assault; damage to a person’s work area or property. 

 Gesture bullying: Nonverbal threatening gestures or glances that convey 
threatening  messages. 

  Exclusion: Socially or physically excluding or disregarding a person in work-
related  activities. 

 



23  

F. Violence in the Workplace 

All employees, residents, and vendors must be treated with courtesy and respect at all times. 
Employees are expected to refrain from conduct that may be dangerous to others. 

The Township encourages employees to bring their disputes to the attention of their supervisors 
and the Human Resources Department before a situation escalates. 

Conduct that threatens, intimidates, or coerces another employee, resident, or a vendor will not be 
tolerated. Township resources may not be used to threaten, stalk, or harass anyone at the workplace 
or outside the workplace. The Township handles threats coming from an abusive personal 
relationship as it does other forms of violence. 

Indirect or direct threats of violence, incidents of actual violence, and suspicious individuals or 
activities should be reported as soon as possible to supervisory personnel, Human Resources, or the 
Police Department. When reporting a threat or incident of violence, the employee should be as 
specific and detailed as possible. Employees should not place themselves in danger during an 
incident. 

Employees should promptly inform the Human Resources Department of any protective or 
restraining order that they have obtained that lists the workplace as a protected area. Employees 
are encouraged to report safety concerns with regards to domestic violence. Meridian Township is 
committed to supporting victims of domestic violence. The Township will not retaliate against 
employees making good-faith reports. 

Meridian The Township will promptly and thoroughly investigate all reports of threats of violence 
or incidents of actual violence, and of suspicious individuals or activities. The identity of the 
individual making a report will be protected as much as possibleto the extent possible under 
applicable law. In order to maintain workplace safety and the integrity of its investigation, the 
Township may suspend employees suspected of workplace violence or threats of violence, either 
with or without pay, pending investigation. 

Anyone found to be responsible for threats of or actual violence or other conduct that is in violation 
of these guidelines will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of 
employment. 

 
G. Safety 

It is the responsibility of each employee to conduct all tasks in a safe and efficient manner 
complying with all federal, state, and local safety and health regulations and Township standards, 
and with any special safety concerns for use in a particular area. 

Although most safety regulations are consistent throughout each department, each employee has 
the responsibility to identify and familiarize her/himself with the emergency plan for his/hertheir 
working area. Each facility shall have posted an emergency plan detailing procedures in handling 
emergencies such as fire, weather-related events, and medical crises. 

It is the responsibility of the employee to complete an Incident and Accident Report within 24 hours 
for each safety and health incident/accident that occurs by an employee or that the employee 
witnesses. Failure to report such an incident/accident may result in employee disciplinary action 
up to and including termination. 



24  

The Human Resources Department and Township shall have the responsibility to develop and the 
authority to implement the safety and health program in the interest of a safer work environment. 

 
 

H. Right to Know 

Meridian Township adheres to all applicable Michigan Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (MIOSHA), federal, state, and local regulations concerning workplace safety. 
Township employees shall be informed of what hazardous substances are in the workplace and shall 
also be trained how to properly work with these substances, label these substances as appropriate, 
and document these substances. Employees who have concerns regarding the Township’s 
workplace safety guidelines are encouraged to contact supervisory personnel, Managers, Directors, 
or the Human Resources Director. 

 
 

I. Smoke-Free Workplace 

It is the policy of Meridian Township to prohibit smoking and use of tobacco/nicotine products on 
all Township premises. Smoking is defined as the “act of lighting, smoking, or carrying a lighted 
or smoldering cigar, cigarette, or pipe of any kind, including vaping e-cigarettes.” Tobacco/nicotine 
products include chewing tobacco, all smoked tobacco products, and all other forms of smokeless 
tobacco or nicotine-delivery products. 

The smoke-free workplace policy applies to 

 All areas of Township buildings. 

 All Township-sponsored off-site conferences and meetings. 

 All vehicles owned or leased by the Township. 

 All visitors to the Township premises. 

 All contractors and consultants and/or their employees working on Township premises. 

 All employees, temporary employees, interns, seasonal workers, and visitors. 

Smoking and use of tobacco products is only permitted in parking lots that are at least 50 feet from 
any municipal building including, but not limited to, the Township Hall, the Public Safety Building, 
the Service Center, and all Fire Stations. Meridian Township is not required to give employees any 
additional breaks for smoking other than the breaks granted to employees outlined in this Personnel 
Policy Manual. Littering after the use of smoking and tobacco products (including cigarette butts) 
will not be tolerated on any Township property and offenders may be subject to disciplinary action 
up to and including termination. 



25  

V. WORKPLACE EXPECTATIONS 
 
 

A. Performance Expectations / Code of Conduct/ Workplace Etiquette and Work Rules 

 The Township has a strong commitment to providing an inclusive, non-discriminatory, and  
 professional workplace. Employees of different backgrounds and perspectives add unique insights  
 to the workplace and help foster innovation while providing great value to the Township.  

 
 The Township serves its residents best when functioning as a strong team. As such, the Township  
 expects that staff from all departments, at every level of the Township, treat each other as respected  
 and valuable colleagues. To promote an inclusive and well-functioning workplace, the Township  
 requires employees to act in a professional and courteous manner to each other and the public.  
 Although it is impossible to create an all-encompassing list of prohibited behaviors, below is a list  
 of examples of unacceptable workplace behaviors that may result in discipline up to and including  
 termination.  
 
The Township is a professional work environment and expects employees to conduct themselves in a 
professional manner. Employees are expected to: 

 Be respectful of other’s time. 

 Be punctual when arriving to work and meetings.  

 Focus on Township matters and minimize personal and social distractions during working 
time. 

 Be attentive and respectful in interactions with colleagues, vendors, and residents. 

 Communicate important matters to colleagues and supervisors in a professional and timely 
manner. 

 Be a willing and eager learner of new skills.  

 Be receptive to constructive feedback and coaching.  

 
In addition, the Township also maintains a code of conduct to ensure the orderly and efficient operation 
of the Township, as well as to protect the rights of all employees and officials. You should understand 
that the list below is for illustration purposes only and there are other types of conduct that may 
jeopardize personal safety, security, or welfare that may be prohibited. This list in no way modifies 
the at-will employment relationship between employees and the Township.. 
 

 Falsification of timekeeping records and any employment application statements.  
 Any discourteous treatment of the public, other Township employees or officials, or 

residents.  

 Working under the influence of alcohol, illegal drugs, or medical marihuana.  
 Possession, distribution, sale, transfer, or use of alcohol or illegal drugs or medical  

marihuana in the workplace, while on duty, or while operating employer-owned vehicles 
or equipment. 
 

 Theft in any form is not acceptable. 



26  

 Fighting or threatening violence in the workplace. 
 

 Violation of safety or health rules. 
 

 Sexual or other unlawful harassment or discrimination. 
 

 Extensive absenteeism or any absence without notice. 
 

 Unauthorized use of employer telephones, mail system, Internet, or computer networks. 
 

 Unauthorized use of employee personal telephones, Internet, or computers during work 
hours. 

 
 Unauthorized disclosure of confidential Township information 

 
 Socializing that interferes with work performance or impacts the public’s perception of 

Township operations. 
 

 Unsatisfactory performance or conduct including insubordination. 
 

 Abuse of Township property. 
 

 Violation of personnel policies, Township ordinances, department rules, or federal, state, or 
local laws’ 

 In general, the Township expects that common sense, professionalism, and general decency will  
 govern personal conduct. Please contact the Human Resources Director if you have any questions  
 regarding the Township’s Code of Conduct. 

 
B. Professionalism & Civility 

The Township has a strong commitment to providing an inclusive, non-discriminatory, and  
 professional workplace. Employees of different backgrounds and perspectives add unique insights  
 to the workplace and help foster innovation while providing great value to the Township.  

 
 The Township serves its residents best when functioning as a strong team. As such, the Township  
 expects that staff from all departments, at every level of the Township, treat each other as respected  
 and valuable colleagues. To promote an inclusive and well-functioning workplace, the Township  
 requires employees to act in a professional and courteous manner to each other and the public.  
 Although it is impossible to create an all-encompassing list of prohibited behaviors, below is a list  
 of examples of unacceptable workplace behaviors that may result in discipline up to and including  
 termination.  

All Township employees are expected to support a professional and civil workplace by adhering to 
the following guidelines for conduct in their interactions with colleagues, supervisors, the public, and 
vendors: 

 Treat others with dignity and respect.  

 Ensure that critiques of others are well meaning and constructive. Focus on what can be 
improved.  

 Foster teamwork and participation from others with differing experiences, perspectives, and 
backgrounds.  

 Seek out insights and input from others with different experiences, perspectives, and 
backgrounds. 



27  

 Remain open-minded and listen when given constructive feedback regarding others’ 
perception of your conduct.  

Any manager or department director who is aware of conduct inconsistent with this Policy should 
immediately engage the employee in question in a dialogue to understand their perspective. If 
necessary, the Human Resources Department should be engaged to ensure this Policy is adhered to 
and that employees, the public, and vendors are treated with dignity and respect.  

Certain unprofessional and non-constructive behavior may result in discipline up to and including 
termination of employment.  



28  

B.C. Confidentiality 

Employees at the Township may overhear or have knowledge of confidential information from 
various sources (e.g. residents, businesses, etc.). It is the Township’s policy that all information 
employees receive should be considered confidential unless the context clearly indicates 
otherwise.In the course of employment with the Township, employees may encounter confidential 
information that is not subject to disclosure under the law and should not be made known to the 
public. Confidential information does not include information the public would be entitled to 
receive under statutes such as the Freedom of Information Act and does not include information 
relating to the terms and conditions of employment with the Township such as wages, protected 
concerted union activity, and workplace compliants. Confidential information will not be disclosed 
to external parties or to other employees without a legitimate business reason. If a Township 
employee has any questions about whether information is considered confidential, he/shethey 
should may check with his or hertheir supervisor, Director, or the Human Resources Director. 

 
This policy is to alert employees to the need for discretion at all time and is not intended to inhibit 
normal Township communications. 

D. Media Contacts 

All inquiries from the media inquiries should be referred to the Township Manager, Chief of Police, 
EMS/Fire Chief, or the Communications Director as applicable. Employees may not speak on 
behalf of the Township unless authorized to do so by the Township Manager, Chief of Police, Fire 
Chief, or the Communications Director.  

 
 

D.E. Conflicts of Interest 

Township employees must avoid any relationship or activity that might impair, or even appear to 
impair their ability to make objective and fair decisions when performing their jobs. At times, an 
employee may be faced with situations in which actions taken on behalf of the Township may 
conflict with the employee’s own personal interest. Township property, information, or business 
opportunities may not be used for personal gain. 

 
Listed below are examples that may lead to conflicts of interestCertain conflicts of interest (or the 
appearance of conflicts) may include, but are not limited to: 

 Obtaining or continuing outside employment that may impair an employee’s Township 
work responsibilities. 

 Hiring family members or closely related persons especially within the same 
supervisory chain of command, where the employee may have a personal interest. 

 Serving as a board member or elected official for an outside organization, where the 
employee’s responsibilities to the organization could conflict with the employee’s 
responsibilities to the Township. 

 Accepting gifts, discounts, favors, or services from a business based on one’s status as a 
Township employee. 

Township employees shall be required to submit an annual conflict of interest disclosure. 



29  

 
E.F. Gifts and Favors 

No elected or appointed official or employee shall solicit directly or indirectly or accept any gift, 
whether in the form of service, loan, thing, or promise, from any person, firm, or corporation, in 
order to influence his/hertheir Township decision-making. 

 
F.G. Outside Employment 

Employees may engage in outside employment in accordance with the following limitations. In no 
case shall outside employment conflict with or impair work responsibilities to the Township. 
Outside employment is defined as any paid employment a Township employee participates in 
outside of their Township work responsibilities.  

 
Any full-time employee desiring to participate in outside employment must obtain written 
permission from his/hertheir Director and the Human Resources Director prior to beginning 
his/hertheir outside employment. Unless granted expressed written permission from the Director 
and Human Resources Director, a Township employee shall not be allowed to engage in any outside 
employment while on a paid or unpaid leave of absence from the Township where benefits may be 
maintained. 

Employees engaged in outside or supplemental employment shall: 

 Not use Township facilities as a source of referral for private customers or clients. 

 Not be engaged in outside employment during the employee’s regularly scheduled working 
hours. 

 Not use the name of the Township or any Township agency as a reference or credential in 
advertising or soliciting customers or clients. 

 Not use any Township supplies, facilities, staff, or equipment, including computers or 
technology, with any outside employment or private practice. 

 Maintain a clear separation of outside or supplemental employment from activities 
performed for the Township. 

 Not cause any incompatibility, conflict of interest, or any possible appearance of a conflict 
of interest. 

The Township shall not be liable, either directly or indirectly, for any activities performed by an 
employee participating in outside employment. Additionally, tThe Township retains the right to 
review and change any decisions granting a Township employee permission to obtain or participate 
in outside employment while employed by Township. Approval shall be reviewed at least on an 
annual basis. 

 
 

G.H. Attendance and Punctuality 

Attendance and punctuality are critical to the service the Township provides to its residents. 
Therefore, employees are expected to be on time and present at work when able. Except as restricted 
by applicable law, Ppatterns of absenteeism or tardiness may result in discipline even if the 
employee has not yet exhausted available paid time off. Absences due to illnesses or injuries that 



30  

qualify under the Earned Sick Time Act (ESTA) and/or Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 
will not be counted against an employee’s attendance record. Medical documentation within the 
guidelines of the ESTA and FMLA may be required in these instances. Vacation and personal leave 
must be scheduled with one’s supervisor in advance. Sick leave may be used in the case emergency 
or sudden illness without prior scheduling. 

Not reporting to work and not calling to report the absence is a no-call/no-show and is a serious 
matter. Unless an employee is incapacitated and notice to the Township is impracticable:  

1. The first instance of a no-call/no-show will result in not less than a written warning.  

2. The second separate offense may result in more serious discipline up to termination of 
employment.  

1.3.A no-call/no-show lasting three days will be considered job abandonment and will be 
deemed an employee’s voluntary resignation of employment. 

 
H.I. Attire and Grooming 

As public servants, it is important for all employees to project a professional image while at work 
by being appropriately attired. Meridian Township employees are expected to be neat, clean, and 
well-groomed while on the job. Clothing must be consistent with the standards for a business 
environment and must be appropriate to the type of work being performed. Employees in Township 
departments required to wear uniforms must do so and apply by all uniform policies implemented 
by the specific department. 

 
The Township is confident that employees will use their best judgement regarding attire and 
appearance. Management reserves the right to determine appropriateness. Any employee who is 
improperly dressed will be counseled or in some cases may be sent home to change clothes. 

 
Examples of unprofessional attire include but are not limited to: 

 Sweatpants, leggings, yoga pants, exercise wear (spandex), shorts, and any pants or jeans 
that are worn or that have tears or holes. 

 Beachwear, crop tops, clothing showing midriff, tops with spaghetti straps, and sleeveless 
t-shirts. 

 Any clothing with a printed message, slogan, political message/endorsement, picture, or art 
depicting drugs, alcohol, sex, weapons, violence, or anything that is obscene, disrespectful, 
or offensive. 

 
In keeping with appropriate attire and grooming, the Township allows reasonable self-expression 
through personal appearance unless it conflicts with an employee’s ability to perform his or her 
their position effectively or it is regarded offensive or harassing towards co-workers, residents or 
others with whom the Township conducts business. 

The Township permits employees to wear jewelry or to display tattoos at the workplace with the 
following guidelines. To make this determination, management will considerFactors that 
management will consider to determine  whether jewelry or tattoos may poses a conflict with an 
employee’s job or work environment, considering include: 

 Personal safety of self or others. 



31  

 Productivity or performance expectations. 

 Offensiveness to co-workers, customers, residents, vendors, or others in the workplace 
based on racial, sexual, religious, ethnic, or other characteristics or attributes of a sensitive 
or legally protected nature. 

 Customer or resident complaints. 

If management determines an employee’s jewelry or tattoos may present such a conflictis not 
appropriate for the work environment, the employee will be encouraged to identify appropriate 
options, such as removal of excess or offensive jewelry, covering of tattoos, or other reasonable 
means to resolve the conflictmatter. 

 
I.J. Electronic Communication and Internet Use 

The following guidelines have been established for using the Internet, Township-provided cell 
phones, and e-mail in an appropriate, ethical, and professional manner: 

 All technology systems used by the Township (telephones, facsimile machines, 
photocopiers, computers, printers, voice mail, e-mail systems, and other technology) are for 
Township business purposes and are provided to further our goals and service to the public. 
Employees must use common sense and adhere to appropriate work behavior when using 
the Township’s technology systems. 

 Any personal use of personal communication devices should be limited in duration and 
frequency so that it does not interfere with the employee’s work responsibility or adversely 
affect the productivity of the employee or the employee’s co-workers. 

 Internet, companyTownship-provided equipment (e.g., cell phone, laptops, computers), and 
services may not be used for transmitting, retrieving, or storing any communications of a 
defamatory, discriminatory, harassing, or pornographic nature. 

 The following actions are forbidden: using disparaging, abusive, profane, or offensive 
language; creating, viewing, or displaying material that might adversely or negatively 
reflect upon the Township or be contrary to the Township’s best interests; and engaging in 
any illegal activities, including piracy, hacking, extortion, blackmail, copyright 
infringement, and unauthorized access of any computers and Township-provided equipment 
such as cell phones and laptops. 

 Employees may not copy, retrieve, modify, or forward copyrighted materials, except with 
permission or as a single copy reference only. 

 Employees should not open suspicious e-mails, pop-ups, or downloads. Employees may not 
install hardware or software, or engage in any other sort of file downloading or uploading 
without permission of the Township Manager, or his or hertheir designee. Contact IT with 
any questions or concerns to reduce the release of viruses or to contain viruses immediately. 

 Internal and external e-mails are considered to beare public records and may be subject to 
discovery in the event of litigation and to the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). Be aware 
of this possibility when sending e-mails within and outside the Township. 



32  

Violation of these rules or other misuse of Township technology or other actions that undermine 
the Township’s cybersecurity may be the subject of discipline up to and including termination.  

 
J.K. Right to Monitor 

All Township-supplied technology and Township-supplied work records belong to the Township 
and not to the employee. The Township may routinely monitor the use of Township-supplied 
technology. Inappropriate or illegal use or communications may be subject to disciplinary action 
up to and including termination of employment. 

 
K. Inspection 

Meridian Township reserves the right to inspect all portions of its premises for drugs, alcohol, or 
other contraband. All employees may be asked to cooperate in inspections of their persons, work 
areas, and property that might conceal drugs, alcohol, or other contraband. Employees who possess 
such contraband or refuse to cooperate in such inspection are subject to appropriate discipline up 
to and including termination. 

 
 

L. Solicitation, Distribution, and Posting of Materials 

Except with respect to protected labor relations activities, Meridian the Township prohibits the 
solicitation, distribution, and posting of material on or at Township property by or to an employee 
during worktime, except as may be permitted by this policy. The sole exceptions to this policy are 
Township-sponsored programs related to Meridian Township's employee activities. 

Provisions: Except for protected labor relations activity, 

 Non-employees may not solicit employees or distribute literature of any kind in the 
workplace during worktime. 

 Employees may only admit non-employees to work areas with management approval or as 
part of a Township-sponsored program. These visits should not disrupt workflow. An 
employee must accompany the non-employee at all timesalways accompany the non-
employee. Former employees are not permitted in Township workspaces unless on official 
business or invited by management. Protected labor relations activities are not permitted 
during scheduled working hours in the workplace unless prior approval is received. 

 Employees may not solicit other employees during work times, except in connection with a 
Township-approved or sponsored event for employees. 

 Employees may not distribute literature of any kind during work times or in any work area 
at any time, except in connection with a Township-sponsored employee event, or approved 
by the Township Manager. 

 The posting of material on employee bulletin boards or electronic announcements related to 
employees are permitted so long as they are not done during working times or in work areas 
with approval from the Township Manager or the Human Resources Department. 

 
Violations of this policy should be reported to the Human Resources Department and are subject 



33  

to disciplinary actions up to and including termination of employment. 
 
 

M. Employee Travel and Reimbursement 

Employees will be reimbursed for reasonable expenses and applicable IRS mileage reimbursements 
incurred in connection with Township Manager approved travel on behalf of the Township. 
Employees must complete and submit proper forms provided by the Township to be eligible for 
reimbursement. Employee travel beyond 50 miles within the State of Michigan requires approval by 
the Department Director and all travel outside the State of Michigan requires approval by the 
Township Manager. 

 
 

N. Use of Township Equipment 

The use of Township equipment for other than official Township business is strictly prohibited.  
 
O. Township Vehicles 

Vehicles are authorized for use in conjunction with official duties or while in service only, unless 
otherwise specified within Department policy, subject to review and approval of the Township 
Manager, or by Township Board action. 

 
All other Township vehicles, assigned or pool vehicles, will be used for official business only. Trips 
for personal business, other than breaks when the employee is in the field, will not be permitted. 
Employees shall not permit persons to drive Township vehicles who are not approved to do so. 

All vehicles will be operated in accordance with applicable federal, state, and local traffic laws. 
Operators are responsible for reasonable vehicle maintenance checks (gas, oil, fluid levels, tires, 
unusual operation symptoms, noises, interior and exterior cleaning, etc.) and reporting vehicle 
problems to the Township mechanic. 

 
Employees who receive a moving violation(s) may have the use of Township vehicles restricted by 
the Township Manager and may be subject to discipline. 

 
 

P. Energy Efficient Workplace 

Meridian Township is committed to raising awareness among employees on how to make better 
energy saving choices during the workday. The following list, although not all inclusive, will assist 
in making the Township a more green work environment: 

 Make energy efficiency a habit. 

 Lights will be turned off in employee offices, restrooms, storage areas, etc. when not 
occupied. 

 Unplug unused electrical devices. 

 Turn off computers overnight. 

 Limit printer use and reduce paper usage. 



34  

 Use less electricity wherever possible. 

 Utilize the recycle bins throughout the workplace. 



35  

VI. TIME OFF/LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 
 

A. Holiday Pay 

Meridian Township recognizes paid holidays each year: 

 New Year’s Day 
 Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
 President’s Day 
 Good Friday (4 hours) 
 Memorial Day 
 Juneteenth 
 Independence Day 
 Labor Day 
 Veterans Day 
 Thanksgiving Day 
 Day After Thanksgiving 
 Christmas Eve 
 Christmas Day 
 New Year’s Eve 

Should a holiday fall on a weekend, the holiday will be observed on the work dayworkday closest 
to the holiday. 

 
To qualify for holiday pay, employees must report to work on his/hertheir regularly scheduled work 
day immediately preceding and immediately after his/herthe scheduled holiday, unless he/shethe 
employee is on vacation or is otherwise excused by his/hertheir supervisor, except that holiday pay 
will not be paid to an employee who is on a leave of absence of one (1) week or more during which 
the holiday falls. 

 
If an employee terminates his/hertheir employment, he/she will not receive pay for holidays 
occurring after the last day worked. 

 
Time off may be granted by the Township Manager to employees who desire to observe a religious 
holiday that is not recognized by the Township.Employees who observe religious holidays not 
observed by the Township may request time off from the Department Director. If granted, such 
time off will be the employee’s vacation or personal time. Holiday pay only applies to those 
holidays listed in this Section.  

 
 

B. Vacation 

All permanent full-time and part-time employees are eligible for vacation leave benefits. Part-time 
employees working 20 to 29 hours per week will earn vacation on a pro-rated basis. For purposes 
of vacation leave, full-time employees are those working over 30 or more hours per week.  

Vacation accrual begins on the first day of the month following the hire date for full-time or 
permanent part-time employment. Vacation is accrued according to the schedule in this policy. 
Vacation can be used only after an employee has completed six months of continuous employment. 



36  

Vacation leave will not be earned during an unpaid leave of absence. 
 

To schedule vacation time, employees should submit a completed leave form to the employee’s 
supervisor at least two weeks before the requested leave (refer to collective bargaining units for 
clarification). 
Employees must ensure that they have enough accrued leave available to cover the dates requested. 
Requests will be approved based on a number ofseveral factors, including department operating 
and staffing requirements. The supervisor should return the leave request to the employee within 
three business day of the date it is submitted indicating that the request has been approved or denied. 
If the request for vacation leave is denied, the supervisor should provide an appropriate reason on 
the form returned to the employee. 

 
Non Union Personnel Vacation Benefits Schedule 

Each full-time employee not within an organized bargaining unit shall accumulate vacation monthly 
up to a maximum of 25 working days (200 hours). The Township Manager may waive the maximum 
accumulation of vacation time upon written request of the employee. Vacation shall be earned 
according to the following schedule of continuous and completed years of service: 

 
 Start through 4 years = 8 hours per full month worked 

 5 years through 9 years = 10 hours per full month worked 

 10 years and over = 14 hours per full month worked 

Regular part-time employees earn vacation in a pro-rated amount. 

If employment is terminated, accrued unused vacation leave earned through the last day of active 
employment will be paid at the employee’s base rate of pay at termination.If an employee resigns or 
retires after giving at least a two-week notice of their intent to resign or retire, that employee shall be 
paid for their accrued but unused vacation leave earned through the last day of active employment. 
Employees who do not give proper notice or who are involuntarily terminated for any reason shall not 
receive any payout for accrued but unused vacation time.  

 
 

C. Personal Leave 

Personal leave days are made available to provide for pressing personal business which cannot be 
conveniently scheduled on the employee’s time off. Each full-time employee shall be allowed three 
(3) paid personal leave days (24 hours) each calendar year with full pay and pro-rated if the 
employee is employed for less than one year. Regular, part-time employees receive pro-rated hours 
based on hours worked. Paid personal leave days must be used by the end of the calendar year. 
Personal leave may not be changed to sick or vacation leave, and shall not be cumulative. Personal 
leave also may not be used in conjunction with regularly established vacation periods and may not 
be scheduled consecutively at the end of the calendar year. Unused leave will be forfeited at the end 
of the calendar year. 

 
D. Sick Leave 

All regular full-time employees accrue sick leave beginning on the first day of the month following 
the employee’s first day of work after hire for a maximum of 12 days per yearat a rate of 8 hours 



37  

per month beginning on the date of hire.  

Regular, part-time employees accrue sick leave the first day of the month following the employee’s 
first day of workimmediately after hire in a pro-rated amount using the full-time total of 12 days 
per year8 hours per month and the average number of hours the part-time employee works per 
week. Leave can be accumulated up to a total of one hundred ten (110) working days. Employees 
may carry over no more than 880 hours of sick leave from one year to the next. 

All other employees accrue 1 hour of sick leave for every 30 hours they work. Seasonal employees, 
interns, and irregular employees may not use accrued sick leave until they have completed 120 
calendar days of employment.  

 
Employees may use sick leave if their presence is needed at home because of the illness of a member 
of their immediate family or they have a medical appointment of a routine or preventative nature. 
“Immediate family” is defined as parents, spouse, children, stepchildren, and any family members 
living in the employee’s household or any other relative for whom the employee is legally 
responsible for as a dependent or guardian.for the following purposes as outlined in the Earned Sick 
Time Act, as amended: 
 

1. An employee or family member’s mental or physical illness, injury, or health 
condition; medical diagnosis, care, or treatment of the employee or mental or physical 
illness, injury, or health condition; or preventative care for the employee or their family 
member. 

 
2. An employee or a family member is the victim of domestic violence or sexual assault 

and needs time off for medical / psychological care, to obtain services from a victim 
services organization, to relocate, to obtain legal services, or to participate in any civil 
or criminal proceedings.  

 
3. For a meeting at the employee’s child’s school or place of care related to the child’s 

health or disability or the effects of domestic violence or sexual assault on the child. 
 

4. For the closure of the employee’s workplace or the employee’s child’s school or place 
of care if such locations are closed due to a public health emergency or it is determined 
by a health care provider that the employee or a family member’s presence in the 
community would jeopardize the health of others due to exposure to a communicable 
disease.  

 
An employee using sick time for any reason other than listed in this Section may be subject to 
discipline up to and including termination of employment. 
 

 
Employees must request foreseeable uses of sick leave at least 7 days in advance. For unforeseeable 
sick leave usage, the employee must call in before the start of their shift unless emergency 
circumstances make that impossible. If an employee is unable to call in prior to the start of their 
shift for legitimate reasons, the employee must call in as soon as possible thereafter. Directors may 
require substantiation of sick leave as they deem necessary, including a certificate from a physician 
or an examination by a physician duly appointed by the Townshipif an employee misses more than 
three (3) consecutive workdays. If such examination is required, the Township will pay the cost if 
not covered by insuranceall out-of-pocket costs that would have otherwise been incurred by the 



38  

employee. 
 

Sick leave may not be used during a vacation period or immediately before or after a vacation or 
holiday, unless substantiated by a doctor's certificate. 

Upon separation of employment, the full and regular part-time employees shall receive payment of 
1/4 of his/hertheir accumulated sick leave which is paid into the employee’s ICMA/RHS account, 
provided at least two (2) weeks written notice of separation is given by the employee, and providing 
no abuse of sick leave takes place during the final two (2) weeks of his/hertheir employment. 
Employees who are involuntarily terminated by the Township due to misconduct are not entitled to 
any payout for unused sick leave and all such leave is forfeited. Employees who retire shall receive 
payment for one-half of his/hertheir accumulated sick leave, which shall be paid into the employee’s 
ICMA/RHS account, provided the employee has given the Township 30 days prior notice of 
retirement. Seasonal employees, interns, and irregular employees are not eligible for any payout of 
unused sick leave upon separation. If an employee is separated from employment for two or more 
months, their sick leave bank shall be reset to zero upon any subsequent rehire.  

 

Employees who have accumulated 500 or more hours of unused sick leave at the beginning of any 
calendar year, have the option to sell back to the Township up to forty hours of sick leave at the 
end of the calendar year. Payment shall be based on the employee’s current hourly rate of pay as of 
December 31 of that year. 

 
E. Bereavement Leave 

An employee who wishes to take time off due to the death of an immediate family member should 
notify his or hertheir supervisor immediately. 

 
Paid bereavement leave is granted according to the following schedule: 

 Employees are allowed three days of paid leave in the event of the death of the employee’s 
spouse, child, father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-law, brother, sister, brother-in-law, 
sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, stepbrother, stepsister, 
stepson, stepdaughter, grandparent, grandchild, or spouse’s grandparent. Based on 
extenuating circumstances, a Director, the Human Resources Director, or the Township 
Manager may grant leaves in excess of three days for bereavement. 

 Employees are allowed one day of paid leave in the event of death of the employee’s 
aunt, uncle, nephew, or niece. 

 
F. Jury Duty 

Upon receipt of notification from the state or federal courts of an obligation to serve on a jury, 
employees must notify their supervisor and provide him/her with a copy of the jury summons. The 
Township will pay a regular full-time and regular part-time employee his/hertheir regular straight 
time rate which he/she would have earned if working. If jury duty ends before an employee’s 
scheduled shift ends, he/she may either return to work or take personal or vacation leave for the 
remainder of the day. In order to receive payment, an employee must give the Township at least 



39  

two (2) days’ prior notice that he/she has been summoned for jury duty, furnish satisfactory evidence 
that he/she reported for or performed jury duty on the day(s) for which he/she claims payment, and 
submit payment(s) received for jury duty, less mileage paid, to Human Resources/Payroll. 

 
 

G. Election Leave 

Employees who are chosen to serve as an election official at polling sites will be permitted to take 
required time off to serve in this capacity. It is incumbent on employees who are chosen to act as 
election officials to notify their supervisor or Director a minimum of seven (7) days in advance of 
the need for time off in order to accommodate the necessary rescheduling of work periods. Time 
engaged as an election official should be reported and coded appropriately on timekeeping records. 

 
 

H. Military Leave of Absence 

Meridian Township is committed to protecting the job rights of employees absent on military leave. 
In accordance with federal and state law, it is the Township’s policy that no employee or prospective 
employee will be subjected to any form of discrimination on the basis of that person’s membership 
in or obligation to perform service for any of the Uniformed Services of the United States. 
Specifically, no person will be denied employment, reemployment, promotion, or other benefit of 
employment on the basis of such membership. Furthermore, no person will be subjected to 
retaliation or adverse employment action because such person has exercised his or hertheir rights 
under applicable law or company Township policy. If any employee believes that he or she has been 
subjected to discrimination in violation of company Township policy, the employee should 
immediately contact Human Resources. 

 
Employees taking part in a variety of military duties are eligible for benefits under this policy. Such 
military duties include leaves of absence taken by members of the Uniformed Services, including 
Reservists and National Guard members, for training, periods of active military service and funeral 
honors duty, as well as time being spent being examined to determine fitness to perform such 
service. 

 
Employees requesting leave for military duty should contact the Human Resources Department to 
request leave as soon as they are aware of the need for leave. 

 
I. Lactation/Breastfeeding 

For up to one year after a child’s birth, any employee who is breastfeeding her child will be provided 
reasonable break times as needed to express breast milk for her baby. The Township will designate 
a private room for this purpose. Breaks of more than 20 minutes in length will be unpaid, and the 
employee should indicate this break period on her time record. 

 
 

J. Paid Parental Leave 
 

This policy provides eligible Meridian Township (Township) employees with the opportunity to be 
provided up to four (4) weeks of Paid Parental Leave Time for the birth of a child, or placement of a 
child with you for adoption. 



40  

1. Eligibility: 
A. Must be a permanent full-time employee with twelve (12) months of service accrued. 
B. Employee must be the biological parent who has given birth to a new child, the spouse 

of that biological parent, or committed partner of that biological parent, OR be the legally 
designated guardian of a minor child up to and including age 5 who is newly adopted. 
The adoption of a spouse's child is not eligible for this benefit. 

C. Employee must not have taken any Paid Parental Leave Time under this policy in the 12-
month period immediately preceding the date Paid Leave begins. 

D. Paid Parental Leave is predicated on the understanding that the employee will return to 
work after the conclusion of the Paid Parental Leave time. If it is known that the employee 
will not be returning to work following the leave, this benefit may be denied or 
discontinued. An employee who fails to return to work on or before the conclusion of 
their approved Paid Parental Leave period shall be deemed to have voluntarily resigned 
from the Township. 

2.  Procedure 
A. Employee shall provide at least 30 days' notice (unless due to the circumstances this 

would not be possible) to their Department Head and the Human Resource Department 
as to their intent to use Paid Parental Leave Time. 

B. Employee must specify in the written notice the total amount of Paid Leave employee 
plans to take not to exceed four (4) calendar weeks. Paid Parental Leave Time is not 
subject to extension. 

C. Paid Parental Leave Time will commence immediately upon the birth of the child OR the 
legal placement of the adoptive child. 

D. Employees must provide proof of the date of the birth or adoption within 30 calendar 
days of the birth or placement of the child. 

E. If an employee is a parent or adoptive to multiple new children at the same time, (i.e. 
birth of twins or adoption of two eligible children simultaneously) it shall be considered 
one event for the purposes of the Paid Parental Leave Time program and will not increase 
the length of leave for the employee. 

 F. For FMLA-eligible employees, the FMLA provides up to 12 weeks of unpaid leave 
following the birth or adoption of a minor child. Any Paid Parental Leave utilized under 
this policy will run simultaneously with any available FMLA leave for the same 
qualifying event. It is the intent of this policy that Township employees will remain in a 
paid status during part of the FMLA period allowed for the birth or adoption of a child. 

G. Employees who are eligible and provide timely notice and adequate proof as required 
under this policy will be approved for Paid Parental Leave time not to exceed four (4) 
calendar weeks, beginning on the effective date of the event. The Township shall continue 
to pay the employee at their base rate of pay, including any increases that would normally 
occur under the covered period.  An employee’s job remains protected during the period 
of Paid Parental Leave. Paid Parental Leave must be used consecutively and is not 
permitted to be used intermittently. 

H. If an employee elects to voluntarily return to work prior to the conclusion of the Paid 
Parental Leave Time period, they will only be paid for the time they took, and will receive 
no additional Paid Parental Leave Time. 



41  

I. The Employee shall remain eligible for all Township benefits and will continue to accrue 
leave time while on Paid Parental Leave Time, in accordance with their collective 
bargaining agreement, contract, or letter of understanding or employment. 

J. Employees who are on Paid Parental Leave are not eligible for overtime pay, as they are 
not actively working. An employee whose requested Paid Parental Leave Time falls on a 
scheduled holiday will receive Paid Parental Leave Time pay but will not receive 
additional holiday pay. Employees are ineligible to work alternative employment during 
the period of Paid Parental Leave time. 

K. It is the responsibility of the Human Resources Department to administer this Paid 
Parental Leave program. It is the responsibility of the Human Resources Department to 
notify the employee and the Department Head of the employees expected return date 
based on the approved Paid Parental Leave period. 



42  

VII. BENEFITS 
 

For more information regarding benefits programs, please contact the Human Resources 
Department or refer to the Township Summary Plan Descriptions, which were provided to 
employees upon hire. In the event of a conflict between the provisions of this Manual and the terms 
of any insurance or plan document, the insurance or plan document shall apply. 

 
 

A. Medical and Dental Insurance 

The Township currently offers regular full-time employees regularly scheduled to work a minimum 
of 30 hours per week enrollment in medical and dental insurance coverage options in effect the first 
day of the month following their first day of work after hire. 

 
Insurance elections are fixed for the remainder of the plan year. Changes in family status, as defined 
in the Plan document, allow employees to make midyear changes in coverage consistent with the 
family status change. Please contact the Human Resources Department to determine if a family 
status change qualifies under the Plan document and IRS regulations. 

During open enrollment, employees may change medical, dental, and vision elections for the 
following year. An employee may refuse medical insurance coverage at his/hertheir will. Such 
refusal must be documented in writing and submitted to the Human Resources Department. NOTE: 
if employees waive coverage considered affordable and the minimum essential under the Patient 
Protection and Affordable Care Act ("ACA"), they will not qualify for government credits and 
subsidies to purchase individual health insurance on the Marketplace. Employees should be aware 
of the individual responsibility requirement under the ACA. If employees refuse the offer of the 
Employer's health coverage and do not obtain coverage on their own, they will be subject to a 
penalty. 

 
The Township will pay an employee $375.00 pereach month if medical coverage is refused, but an 
employee waiving coverage must acknowledge that the Township has offered him or her affordable 
minimum essential coverage, as defined under the ACA and that he or she understands the 
consequences of the waiver of coverage. 

 
The Township reserves the right to change insurance carriers and terms and conditions of insurance 
coverage at any time with the goal that the fundamental provisions of the coverage will not be 
changed. 

The Human Resources Department is available to answer benefits plan questions and assist in 
enrollment as needed. 

 
 

B. Flexible Spending Account 

The Township currently offers an employee-funded flexible spending account (FSA) to regular 
full-time employees. Plan participants may elect an annual amount of flexible dollars to pay for 
eligible health care expenses, including medical or dental insurance deductibles, copayments, and 
out-of-pocket costs for vision care and other types of care. 



43  

If eligible medical or dental expenses are less than the elected annual amount of flex dollars for that 
calendar year, the balance may be held over to use for 2 months 15 days in the next calendar year. 
Claims must be submitted by March 31 for the previous calendar year to be applied to that balance. 

 
 

C. Group Life Insurance 

The Township provides regular full-time employees an employer-paid basic group term life policy 
along with an accidental death and dismemberment policy. Each policy pays a death benefit equal 
to the employee’s salary to the next multiple of $1,000, subject to the terms of the policy as to an 
age reduction in benefits and other terms. 

 
 

D. Long-Term Disability Benefits 

The Township offers regular full-time employees who are regularly scheduled to work a minimum 
of 30 hours per week a non-contributory long-term disability (LTD) base plan. This non- 
contributory base plan provides for monthly LTD benefits of 60% of basic monthly earnings to a 
pre-determined maximum benefit less any other offsets. Eligible employees are automatically 
enrolled as of the first day of the calendar month following their first date of work after hire. Long- 
term disability coverage terminates on the last day of employment. 

 
Please direct any questions about long-term disability benefits to the Human Resources Department. 

 
 

E. Pension Plans 

Please refer to any applicable Collection Bargaining Agreement. 
 
 

F.E. Retirement 

 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan: The Township offers a contribution plan, requiring 
employee contributions and Township contributions, for eligible employees. 

 
 457 Deferred Compensation Plan: Available to eligible employees. 

The benefits are outlined in the plan documents which are available in the Human Resources 
Department. Please direct any questions about retirement benefits to the Human Resources 
Department. 

 
 

G.F. Workers’ Compensation Benefits - Coordination with Township Benefits  

An employee who receives compensation under the Michigan Workers’ Compensation Act may 
supplement workers’ compensation benefits with the use of sick leave but only to the extent that 
the sick leave, together with workers’ compensation benefits, does not result in regular take home 



44  

pay that exceeds what the employee would have received for working his or hertheir regular shift. 
An employee will not accrue additional vacation, sick leave, personal leave, or holiday pay while 
receiving workers’ compensation. The Township will provide health, dental, and vision insurance 
benefits equivalent to those received by active employees for up to a total of six (6) months while 
an employee is on a leave covered by workers’ compensation. 

 
 

H.G. CARES Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 

Through the Township’s CARES employee assistance program, the Township provides 
confidential access to professional counseling services. The EAP, available to all employees, offers 
problem assessment, short-term counseling and referral to appropriate community and private 
services. This service is provided on behalf of the Township by Sparrow Health System. 

The EAP is confidential and is designed to safeguard an employee’s privacy and rights. Contacts 
to and information given to the EAP counselor may be released to the Township only if requested 
by the employee in writing. There is no cost for an employee to consult with an EAP counselor. 
If further counseling is necessary, the EAP counselor will outline community and private 
services available. The counselor will also let employees know whether any costs associated with 
private services may be covered by their health insurance plan. Costs that are not covered are the 
responsibility of the employee. 

 
 

I.H. COBRA 

Eligible employees shall have the right to continue group health coverage for themselves and their 
dependents when they terminate employment at the Township. Such coverage is subject to the 
provisions of the COBRA laws and will be at the employee’s expense. 

 
Employees who terminate their employment with the Township or who experience another 
qualifying event under the provisions of the COBRA law will be advised of their rights by the 
Township. 



45  

VIII. COMPENSATION 
 

A. Overtime Pay 

Non-exempt employees who work more than 40 hours in a workweek will be paid time and one half 
for all hours worked over 40 in a workweek. 

Employees who anticipate the need for overtime to complete their work must notify their supervisor 
in advance and obtain approval before working hours that extend beyond their normal schedule. 

If an employee is assigned to light duty or on work restrictions, they will not be assigned or 
permitted to work overtime hours except in emergency circumstances as designated by the 
Department HeadDirector.  This overtime exception must be approved in advance by the Director 
of Human Resources and the Director to whom the employee reports. 

 
 

B. Compensatory Time 

Non-exempt employees paid at an overtime rate for hours worked over 40 in a workweek may elect 
to receive compensatory time to be used for additional time off. Time worked over 40 hours in a 
workweek will be eligible for compensatory time if the additional time worked is approved in 
advance by the Director or Human Resources Director. Compensatory time is earned at the rate of 
one and one-half hour for each hour worked over 40 hours in a workweek. Accumulated 
compensatory time may be taken off only upon approval of the Director or and Human Resources 
Director. Compensatory time may not be used before or after a scheduled vacation or a holiday. 

 
An employee may not carry over more than forty (40) hours of compensatory time from one 
calendar year to the following calendar year. If it is not convenient to grant the use of compensatory 
time prior to the end of a calendar year, the Township Manager, in his or hertheir sole discretion, 
may pay an employee for such compensatory time as he or she determines appropriate. 

 
 

C. Longevity 

The Township will pay longevity pay to employees according to the following schedule of 
continuous and completed years of service: 

 5 through 9 years = $320 
 10 through 13 years = $640 
 14 through 17 years = $960 
 Over 17 years = $1280 

 
Longevity payments must be earned (as of the end of five (5) years and paid in the first pay period 
thereafter) of any calendar year. For the purposes of computation, years of service shall be measured 
from the last date of continuous employment with the Township. Elected Officials are not eligible 
to receive longevity payments. Pro-rated longevity payments shall be made to an employee at 
retirement or to an employee who is currently, or has been, on an unpaid leave within the previous 
year who is otherwise eligible for longevity. 



46  

IX. UNLAWFUL HARASSMENT POLICY 
 

A. Objective 

The objective of the Township in implementing and enforcing this policy is to define unlawful 
workplace harassment, prohibit it in all forms, provide procedures for lodging complaints about 
conduct that violates this policy, investigate claims of unlawful harassment, and carry out 
appropriate disciplinary measures in the case of violations. 

 
 

B. Scope 

This policy applies to all employees, Full-Time, Part-Time, Seasonal, Interns, and Volunteers of 
the Township, as well as for citizens, vendors, visitors, or contracted employees. All employees, 
including Supervisors, Managers, and Directors will be subject to discipline, up to and including 
termination, for any violation of this Policy. 

 
 

C. Workplace Harassment 

The Township expects employees to respect the dignity and rights of others. Consistent with our 
policy of equal employment opportunity, harassment or discrimination in the workplace based on 
a race, color, ancestry, religion, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, age, physical or mental 
disability, citizenship status, veteran status, gender identity or expression or any other characteristic 
protected by applicable law (workplace harassment, including cyber harassment and cyber sexual 
harassment) will not be tolerated. It is the Township’s policy that all employees are responsible for 
assuring that the workplace is free from discrimination and unlawful harassment against any 
employee, including sexual harassment and harassment on the basis of their protected 
characteristics. Actions, words, jokes, or comments based on or ridiculing an individual’s protected 
characteristic will not be tolerated. Any employee found in violation of this policy will be subject 
to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

 
D. Prohibited Conduct – Discrimination 

 
It is a violation of this Policy to discriminate in the provision of employment opportunities, benefits 
or privileges; to create discriminatory work conditions; or to use discriminatory evaluative standards 
in employment if the basis of that discriminatory treatment is, in whole or in part, an individual’s race, 
national origin, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity/expression, pregnancy, disability, 
religion, age, height, weight, familial status, marital status, veteran or active military status, genetic 
information or any other legally protected characteristic. Discrimination violates this Policy regardless 
of whether the applicant or employee actually has the protected characteristic or is merely perceived 
to have it.  
 
Discrimination in violation of this Policy will be subject to disciplinary measures up to and including 
termination. 

 
E. Prohibited Conduct – Harassment 

 



47  

The Township prohibits unlawful harassment of any kind, including sexual harassment, and will take 
appropriate and immediate action in response to complaints or knowledge of violations of this Policy. 
For purposes of this Policy, harassment is any disrespectful or unprofessional conduct that is not 
welcomed by the person being harassed and is designed to threaten, intimidate or coerce an employee, 
co-worker, or any person working for or on behalf of the Township and is based solely or in part on 
the individual’s race, national origin, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity/expression, 
pregnancy, disability, religion, age, height, weight, familial status, marital status, veteran or active 
military status, genetic information or any other legally protected characteristic.. Harassment violates 
this Policy regardless of whether the applicant or employee actually has the protected characteristic or 
is merely perceived to have it. Harassment also violates this Policy when it’s based on a combination 
of two or more protected characteristics or the protected characteristic of someone with whom the 
applicant or employee is associated, such as a family member or friend.    
 
The following examples of harassment are intended to be guidelines and are not exclusive when 
determining whether there has been a violation of this Policy: 

 Verbal harassment includes comments that are offensive or unwelcome regarding a person's 
race, national origin, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity/expression, pregnancy, 
disability, religion, age, height, weight, familial status, marital status, veteran or active 
military status, genetic information or any other legally protected characteristic, including 
epithets, slurs and negative stereotyping. 

 Nonverbal harassment includes distribution, display or discussion of any written or graphic 
material that ridicules, denigrates, insults, belittles or shows hostility, aversion or disrespect 
toward an individual or group because of race, national origin, color, sex, sexual orientation, 
gender identity/expression, pregnancy, disability, religion, age, height, weight, familial 
status, marital status, veteran or active military status, genetic information or any other 
legally protected characteristic.. 

 Such unlawful harassment or discrimination may include epithets, slurs and derogatory 
remarks, stereotypes, jokes, posters, cartoons or any form of stalking or bullying based on 
individual’s race, national origin, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity/expression, 
pregnancy, disability, religion, age, height, weight, familial status, marital status, veteran or 
active military status, genetic information or any other legally protected characteristic. 

 
 
 

F. Defining Sexual Harassment 

Sexual harassment is unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature that is sufficiently persistent or 
offensive to unreasonably interfere with an employee’s job performance or creates an intimidating, 
hostile, or offensive working environment. Sexual harassment is defined by the Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission Guidelines as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, 
and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when, for example: a) submission to such 
conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual’s employment, 
b) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment 
decisions affecting such individual, or c) such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably 
interfering with an individual’s work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive 
working environment. 



48  

Under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, tThere are two types of sexual harassment: a) quid 
pro quo and b) hostile work environment. Sexual harassment can be physical and psychological in 
nature. An aggregation of a series of incidents can constitute sexual harassment even if one of the 
incidents considered on its own would not be harassing. Employees are prohibited from 
sexually harassing other employees whether or not the incidents of harassment occur on Township 
premises and whether or not the incidents occur during working hours. Meridian Township adheres 
to all federal, state, and local anti-discrimination and harassment laws applying to sexual 
harassment including Michigan’s Elliot- Larsen Civil Rights Act. 

 
 

G. Examples of Prohibited Conduct 

Though sexual harassment encompasses a wide range of conduct, some examples of specifically 
prohibited conduct include the following: 

 
 Physical assaults of a sexual nature, such as rape, sexual battery, molestation, or attempts 

to commit these assaults, and intentional physical conduct that is sexual in nature, such as 
touching, pinching, patting, grabbing, brushing against another employee’s body, or poking 
another employee’s body. 

 Unwelcome sexual advances, propositions, or other sexual comments, such as sexually 
oriented gestures, noises, remarks, jokes, or comments about a person’s sexuality or sexual 
experience. 

 Preferential treatment or promises of preferential treatment to an employee for submitting 
to sexual conduct, including soliciting or attempting to solicit any employee to engage in 
sexual activity for compensation or reward. 

 Sexual or discriminatory displays or publications anywhere in the Township workplace. 

 Retaliation for sexual harassment complaints. 

G. Retaliation 

As used in this Policy, “retaliation” means any adverse employment action taken against an applicant 
or employee because that person participated in activity protected under this Policy or reasonably 
thought to be protected under this Policy. Examples of protected activities include, but are not limited 
to:   

 Reporting or assisting someone in reporting suspected violations of this Policy  

 Cooperating in investigations or proceedings arising out of a violation of this Policy  

 Filing a complaint with the Michigan Department of Civil Rights or the U.S. Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission. 

“Adverse employment action” is conduct or an action that materially affects the terms and conditions 
of the applicant’s or employee’s employment status or is reasonably likely to discourage the person 
from engaging in a protected activity. Even actions that do not result in a direct loss of compensation 
or in termination may be regarded as an adverse employment action when considered in the totality of 



49  

the circumstances.  

The Township will not permit coercion, intimidation, retaliation, interference, or discrimination for 
filing a complaint or assisting in an investigation. However, the Township may take disciplinary action 
if an employee: 

1. Intentionally files a false complaint; or 

2. Intentionally provides false information during an investigation or review of a complaint.  

Complaints made in good faith, even if they are not substantiated by an investigation, will not subject 
the employee to discipline or termination. The Township will also take appropriate steps to assure that 
the person against whom such an allegation is made is treated fairly. 

Any person who is found to have violated this aspect of the Policy will be subject to discipline up to 
and including termination of employment. 

 

 
H. Complaint Resolution Procedures 

 

 

1. Employees 

If an employee believes that he or shethey has have been subjected to unlawful harassment on the 
basis of sex or any other protected characteristic or any unwelcome attention on the basis of a 
protected characteristic, they must report the incident to their own supervisor and the Human 
Resources Director. he or sheThey may address the situation directly and immediately to the 
harasser, if possiblethey feel comfortable doing so. If the inappropriate conduct does not cease, or 
if the employee is unable to or is uncomfortable with addressing the alleged harasser directly, he or 
she must report the incident to his or her own supervisor or manager and the Human Resources 
Director. If the alleged harassment complaint is directly related to an employee’s Supervisor, 
Manager or Director, the employee may report the incident to the Human Resources Director, 
Township Manager, or any other Director or Supervisor. In no event is an employee required to 
report alleged harassment to the alleged harasser.  

 
It is important to report any and all concerns of unlawful harassment or inappropriate conduct to the 
Human Resources Director or a supervisor/director as soon as possible, but no later than 182 days 
from the initial event. Management must be made aware of the situation so that it can conduct an 
immediate and impartial investigation and take appropriate action to remediate or prevent the 
prohibited conduct from continuing. 
 
A complaint may be verbal or in writing. While there is no requirement that the incident be reported 
in writing, a written report that details the nature of the harassment, dates, times and other persons 
present when the harassment occurred will better enable the Township to take effective, timely and 
constructive action.  
To initiate a formal investigation into an alleged violation of this policy, employees are asked to 
provide a statement about the alleged misconduct to the Human Resources Director. The Human 



50  

Resources Director may assist the complainant in completing or documenting the statement. 
To ensure the prompt and thorough investigation of a complaint of unlawful harassment, the 
complainant should provide as much of the following information as is possible: 

 The name, department, and position of the person or persons allegedly engaging the 
harassment. 

 A description of the incident(s), including the date(s), location(s), and the presence of any 
witnesses. 

 The effect of the incident(s) on the complainant’s ability to perform his or her job, or on 
other terms or conditions of his or her employment. 

 The names of the other individuals who might have been subject to the same or similar 
harassment. 

Any other information the complainant believes to be relevant to the harassment complaint. 

2. Directors, Managers, and Supervisors 

Directors, Managers, and Supervisors must deal expeditiously and fairly with allegations of 
unlawful harassment within their departments whether or not there has been a written or formal 
complaint. They must: 

 Take all complaints or concerns of alleged or possible harassment or discrimination 
seriously no matter how minor or who is involved. 

 Ensure that harassment or inappropriate sexual oriented conduct is immediately reported to 
the Human Resources Director or Human Resources Department (also referred to as 
“Human Resources”) so that a prompt investigation can occur. 

 Take appropriate action to prevent retaliation or prohibited conduct from recurring during 
and after any investigations or complaints. 

Directors, Managers and Supervisors who knowingly allow and tolerate unlawful harassment or 
retaliation, including the failure to immediately report such conduct to Human Resources, are in 
violation of this policy and subject to discipline up to and including termination. 

 
3. Human ResourcesTownship Response / Investigation 

 

Upon receipt of any complaint, the Township will conduct, or will retain an outside party to conduct, 
a prompt and thorough investigation. The investigation may include interviews with the parties 
involved and may also include interviews with individuals who may have witnessed the alleged 
misconduct or who may have other relevant personal knowledge. The Township will investigate all 
reports as confidentially as permitted under the law, and participants in the investigation may be asked 
to maintain confidentiality during open investigations to ensure the integrity of the investigation. 
Retaliation against anyone who reports a violation of this Policy or participates in an investigation is 
strictly prohibited, regardless of the merit of the complaint. Nothing in this Policy should be 
interpreted to interfere with any employee rights under state or federal law, including rights under the 
Public Employment Relations Act.  



51  

In most cases, the Human Resources Director shall conduct investigations or shall be the primary point 
of contact for any outside party retained to conduct an investigation. If the complaint involves the 
Human Resources Director or if there is otherwise a conflict that may impact or appear to impact the 
Human Resources Director’s impartiality, the Township Manager shall conduct investigations (if 
properly trained to do so) or shall be the primary point of contact for any outside party retained to 
conduct an investigation. If the complaint involves the Township Manager or if there is otherwise a 
conflict that may impact or appear to impact the Manager’s impartiality, the Township Supervisor 
shall be the primary point of contact for any outside party retained to conduct an investigation. If the 
complaint involves a Township Board Member, the remaining Board Members shall select from 
among their members who will act as the primary point of contact for any outside party retained to 
conduct an investigation. 

At the conclusion of the investigation, the investigator shall deliver a report summarizing the 
investigative findings and making recommendations. If the investigation is conducted by the Human 
Resources Director, the report shall be delivered to the Township Manager. If the investigation is 
conducted by the Township Manager, the report shall be delivered to the Township Supervisor. If the 
investigation is conducted by an outside party, the report shall be delivered to the investigator’s 
primary point of contact within the Township.  

The complainant and alleged harasser shall be notified of the outcome of the investigation and whether 
any corrective action will be taken.  

The Human Resources Director is responsible for: 

 Ensuring that both the individual filing the complaint and the allegedly accused individual 
are aware of the seriousness of a harassment complaint. 

 Explaining this policy and investigation procedures to the complainant and the respondent. 

 Exploring informal means of resolving harassment complaints. 
 Arranging for and conducting an investigation of the alleged harassment and the 

preparation of a written report. 

 Submitting a written report summarizing the results of the investigation and making 
recommendations to the Township Manager. 

 Notifying the complainant and the accused of the corrective actions to be taken, if any, and 
administering those actions. 

 
H.I. Confidentiality 

To the extent permitted by law, the Township will endeavor to keep the reporting of the applicant 
or employee’s concerns confidential; however, complete confidentiality cannot be guaranteed 
when it interferes with the Township ability to fulfill its obligations under this Policy, applicable 
law, and any court order. All employees are required to cooperate fully with any investigation. In 
order to protect the interests of all involved, confidentiality will be maintained to the extent 
practicable and deemed appropriate by the Township. The Human Resources Director shall take 
adequate steps to ensure that the complainant is protected from retaliation during the period of the 
investigation. All the information pertaining to a harassment complaint or investigation is 



52  

maintained by the Human Resources Director. 
 
 

I.J. Discipline 

Any employee who violates this Policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination of employment. To the extent a customer, vendor, or other person with whom the 
Township does business engages in unlawful harassment, discrimination, or retaliation, the 
Township will take appropriate action to remedy the situation and prevent further harassment or 
discrimination. 

The Township will resolve all complaints pursuant to applicable law. If the Township determines 
that the complaint is valid, the Township will take prompt action designed to stop the harassment 
immediately and to prevent its recurrence, which may include termination of the offending 
employee. 

If you are unclear on any provisions of this Policy, please contact the Human Resources Director 
for more information.Employees who violate this policy are subject to appropriate discipline. If an 
investigation results in finding that this policy has been violated, the mandatory minimum discipline 
is a written warning. The discipline for very serious or repeat violations is termination of 
employment. 



53  

Y.X. FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA) POLICY 
A. Purpose 

The Township will comply with the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and will grant up to 12 
weeks of job-protected leave during a 12-month period to eligible employees (or up to 26 weeks of 
military caregiver leave). 

The purpose of this policy is to provide employees with a general description of their FMLA rights. 
In the event of any conflict between this policy and the applicable law, employees will be afforded 
all rights required by law. If you have any questions about this policy, please contact the Human 
Resources Director. 

B. Reasons For Leave 

The following is a list of valid reasons for purposes of taking FMLA leave. If the reason for leave 
falls under one or more of the following categories and if the employee is eligible, FMLA leave is 
available. 

1. Birth of the employee’s child and after-birth care. 

2. Placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care. 

3. To care for the employee’s spouse, son, daughter or parent of the employee who has a serious 
health condition. 

4. For a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the employee’s job. 

C. Special Military Related Leave 

The law provides for the following two (2) types of special FMLA leaves available only to eligible 
employees of family members serving in the Armed Forces. 

1. Active Duty Injury or Illness. An eligible employee is granted up to a maximum total of 26 
workweeks of unpaid, job protected leave within a single 12-month period of time in order 
to care for the employee’s spouse, son, daughter, next of kin or parent of the employee who 
has a serious injury or illness incurred as a member of the Armed Forces, National Guard or 
Reserves while on active duty. 

2. Qualifying Exigency. An eligible employee is granted up to a maximum total of 12 
workweeks of unpaid, job protected leave within a 12-month period of time due to any 
“qualifying exigency” (emergency, crisis, circumstance, difficulty, hardship) arising out of 
the fact that the employee’s spouse, son, daughter or the employee’s parent is on active 
duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty) in the Armed Forces 
in support of a “contingency operation.” 

D. Eligibility Requirements.  

Even if the reason for needing FMLA leave qualifies under one or more of the categories listed 
above in this Policy, an employee must also meet the eligibility requirements established by the law. 
FMLA leave is available only if an employee satisfies all of the following three (3) eligibility 
requirements: 

Requirement #1. The employee requesting leave must have been employed by the Township 



54  

for at least 12 months. 

            AND 

Requirement #2. The employee requesting leave must have actually worked at least 1,250 
hours with the Township during the immediately preceding 12-month period of time. 

            AND 

Requirement #3. There are a combined total of 50 or more employees employed by the 
Township either at or within 75 miles of the employee’s worksite. 

Employees on FMLA Leave will be required to use available sick time until such time is exhausted. 
After sick time is exhausted, employees may choose to utilize other forms of paid leave or to go 
unpaid during the remainder of the FMLA leave.  

E. Intermittent Leave or a Reduced Work Schedule 

Employees may take FMLA leave in one consecutive block of time or may use the leave 
intermittently. In all cases, the leave may not exceed a total of 12 workweeks (or 26 workweeks to 
care for an injured or ill service member) in a 12-month period. 

The Township may temporarily transfer an employee to an available alternative position with 
equivalent pay and benefits if the alternative position would better accommodate the intermittent or 
reduced schedule in instances when leave for the employee or employee's family member is 
foreseeable and for planned medical treatment, including recovery from a serious health condition or 
to care for a child after birth or placement for adoption or foster care. 

For the birth, adoption or foster care of a child, the Township and the employee must mutually agree 
to the schedule before the employee may take the leave intermittently or work a reduced-hour 
schedule. Leave for birth, adoption or foster care of a child must be taken within one year of the birth 
or placement of the child. 

When leave is needed for planned medical treatment, the employee must make a reasonable effort to 
schedule treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the Township’s operations. 

 

F. Employee Status and Benefits During Leave 

The Township will continue an employee's health benefits during the leave period at the same level 
and under the same conditions as if the employee was continuously at work. 

While on paid leave, the employer will continue to make payroll deductions to collect the employee's 
share of insurance premiums. While on unpaid leave, the employer will cover the cost of insurance 
premiums. When an employee returns from an unpaid leave of absence, they will be expected to 
make arrangements with the Township to repay the value of those insurance premiums.  If the 
payment is more than 30 days late, the employee's health care coverage may be dropped for the 
duration of the leave. The Township will provide 15 days' notification prior to the employee's loss of 
coverage. 

If the employee chooses not to return to work for reasons other than a continued serious health 
condition of the employee or the employee's family member or a circumstance beyond the 
employee's control, the Township will require the employee to reimburse the Township the amount it 
paid for the employee's health insurance premium during the leave period. 



55  

If the employee contributes to a life insurance or disability plan, the Township will continue making 
payroll deductions while the employee is on paid leave. While the employee is on unpaid leave, the 
employee may request continuation of such benefits and pay their portion of the premiums, or the 
Township may elect to maintain such benefits during the leave and pay the employee's share of the 
premium payments. If the employee does not continue these payments, the Township will 
discontinue coverage during the leave. If the Township maintains coverage, the Township may 
recover the costs incurred for paying the employee's share of any premiums, whether or not the 
employee returns to work. 

 

G. Employee Status After Leave 

Generally, an employee who takes FMLA leave will be able to return to the same position or a 
position with equivalent status, pay, benefits and other employment terms. The position will be the 
same or one that is virtually identical in terms of pay, benefits and working conditions. The 
Township may choose to exempt certain key employees from this requirement and not return them to 
the same or similar position when doing so will cause substantial and grievous economic injury to 
business operations. Key employees will be given written notice at the time FMLA leave is 
requested of their status as a key employee. 

 
A. About 

The function of this policy is to provide Township employees with a general description of their 
FMLA rights. In the event of any conflict between this policy and the applicable law, employees 
will be afforded all rights required by law. 

If you have any questions, concerns, or disputes related to this policy, you must contact the Human 
Resources Director in writing. 

 
A. General Provisions 

Under this policy, Meridian Charter Township will grant up to 12 weeks (or up to 26 weeks of 
military caregiver leave to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness) during 
a 12-month period to eligible employees. The leave may be paid, unpaid, or a combination of paid 
and unpaid leave, depending on the circumstances of the leave and as specified in this policy. 

 
 

A. Eligibility 

To qualify to take family or medical leave under this policy, the employee must meet all of the 
following conditions: 

 
12) The employee must have worked for the Township for 12 months or 52 weeks. The 12 months 
or 52 weeks need not have been consecutive. Separate periods of employment will be counted, 
provided that the break in service does not exceed seven (7) years. Separate periods of employment 
will be counted if the break in service exceeds seven (7) years due to National Guard or Reserve 
military service obligations or when there is a written agreement, including a collective bargaining 
agreement, stating the employer’s intention to rehire the employee after the service break. For 
eligibility purposes, an employee will be considered to have been employed for an entire week even 



56  

if the employee was on the payroll for only part of a week or if the employee is on leave during the 
week. 

 
14)1) The employee must have worked at least 1,250 hours during the 12-month period 
immediately preceding the commencement of the leave. The 1,250 hours do not include time spent 
on paid or unpaid leave. Consequently, these hours of leave will not be counted in determining the 
1,250 hours eligibility test for an employee under FMLA. 
 
 
B. Types of Leave Covered 

To qualify as FMLA leave under this policy, the employee must be taking leave for one of the 
reasons listed below: 

 The birth of a child and in order to care for that child. 

1) The placement of a child for adoption or foster care and to care for the newly placed child. 

1) To care for a spouse, child, or parent with a serious health condition. 

1) The serious health condition (described below) of the employee. 
 

An employee may take leave because of a serious health condition that makes the employee unable 
to perform the functions of the employee's position. 

A serious health condition is defined as a condition that requires inpatient care at a hospital, hospice, 
or residential medical care facility, including any period of incapacity or any subsequent treatment 
in connection with such inpatient care or a condition that requires continuing care by a licensed 
health care provider. 

This policy covers illnesses of a serious and long-term nature, resulting in recurring or lengthy 
absences. Generally, a chronic or long-term health condition that would result in a period of three 
consecutive days of incapacity with the first visit to the health care provider within seven (7) days 
of the onset of the incapacity and a second visit within 30 days of the incapacity would be 
considered a serious health condition. For chronic conditions requiring periodic health care visits 
for treatment, such visits must take place at least twice a year. Pregnancy (including pre-natal 
medical appointments, incapacity due to related sickness, and medical required bedrest) is also 
covered. Employees with questions about what illnesses are covered under this FMLA policy or 
under the Township's sick leave policy are encouraged to consult with the Human Resources 
Director. 

 
If an employee takes paid sick leave for a condition that progresses into a serious health condition 
and the employee requests unpaid leave as provided under this policy, the Township may designate 
all or some portion of related leave taken as leave under this policy, to the extent that the earlier 
leave meets the necessary qualifications. 

 
1) Qualifying exigency leave for families of members of the National Guard or Reserves or of a 
regular component of the Armed Forces when the covered military member is on covered active 
duty or called to covered active duty. 



57  

The qualifying exigency must be one of the following: 

 Short-notice deployment 

a. Military events and activities 

a. Child care and school activities 

a. Financial and legal arrangements 

a. Counseling 

a. Rest and recuperation 

a. Post-deployment activities 

a. Additional activities that arise out of active duty, provided that the employer and employee 
agree, including agreement on timing and duration of the leave. 

 
Eligible employees are entitled to FMLA leave to care for a current member of the Armed Forces, 
including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, or a member of the Armed Forces, the 
National Guard or Reserves who is on the temporary disability retired list, who has a serious injury 
or illness incurred in the line of duty on active duty for which he or she is undergoing medical 
treatment, recuperation, or therapy; or otherwise in outpatient status; or otherwise on the temporary 
disability retired list. Eligible employees may not take leave under this provision to care for former 
members of the Armed Forces, former members of the National Guard and Reserves, and members 
on the permanent disability retired list. 

 
In order to care for a covered service member, an eligible employee must be the spouse, son, 
daughter, or parent, or next of kin of a covered service member. Any employee with specific 
eligibility questions should seek assistance from the Human Resources Department. 

 
C. Amount of Leave 

An eligible employee can take up to 12 weeks for the FMLA circumstances (1) through (5) above 
under this policy during any 12-month period. The Township will measure the 12-month period as 
a rolling 12-month period measured forward from the date an employee uses any leave under this 
policy. 

An eligible employee can take up to 26 weeks for the FMLA circumstance military qualifying 
exigencies during a single 12-month period. For this military caregiver leave, the Township will 
measure the 12-month period as a rolling 12-month period measured forward. FMLA leave already 
taken for other FMLA circumstances will be deducted from the total of 26 weeks available. 

 
If a husband and wife both work for the Township and each wishes to take leave for the birth of a 
child, adoption or placement of a child in foster care, or to care for a parent (but not a parent "in- 
law") with a serious health condition, the husband and wife may only take a combined total of 12 
weeks of leave. If a husband and wife both work for the Township and each wishes to take leave 
to care for a covered injured or ill service member, the husband and wife may only take a combined 
total of 26 weeks of leave. 



58  

D. Employee Status and Benefits during Leave 

While an employee is on leave, the Township will continue the employee's health benefits during 
the leave period at the same level and under the same conditions as if the employee had continued 
to work. 

 
If the employee chooses not to return to work for reasons other than a continued serious health 
condition of the employee or the employee's family member or a circumstance beyond the 
employee's control, the Township may require the employee to reimburse the Township the amount 
it paid for the employee's health insurance premium during the leave period. 

 
The Township shall have no obligation to pay health care premiums for the employee on unpaid 
leave for any time after the employee's approved FMLA absence from work. Employees may 
continue insurance coverages at their own expense during approved, unpaid leave of absence. An 
employee will not accumulate sick or vacation leave, nor be paid for holidays which may fall during 
the unpaid leave period. 

 
If the employee does not continue these payments, the Township may discontinue coverage during 
the leave. If the Township maintains coverage, the Township may recover the costs incurred for 
paying the employee's share of any premiums, whether or not the employee returns to work. 
The Township will provide 15 calendar days’ notice prior to the employee's loss of coverage. 

 
 

 Employee Status after Leave 

In order to return to work an employee who takes leave under this policy will be asked to provide a 
fitness for duty without restrictions from the health care provider. This requirement will be included 
in the Township’s response to the FMLA request. Generally, an employee who takes FMLA leave 
will be able to return to the same position or a position with equivalent status, pay, benefits and 
other employment terms. The position will be the same or one which is equivalent in terms of 
pay, benefits and working conditions. The Township may choose to exempt certain key employees 
from this requirement and not return them to the same or similar position. 

 
 

E. Use of Paid and Unpaid Leave 

An employee who is taking FMLA leave because of the employee's own serious health condition 
or the serious health condition of a family member must use all paid sick leave prior to the use of 
personal and vacation leave. FMLA leave will be unpaid except that employees must exhaust any 
accumulated sick leave time as compensation during the FMLA leave. FMLA leave will run 
concurrently with all paid sick leave that must be exhausted or that is voluntarily taken, all workers 
compensation leave and all long-term disability leaves. An employee who is using military FMLA 
leave for a qualifying exigency must use all paid sick leave prior to being eligible for unpaid leave. 
An employee using FMLA military caregiver leave must also use all paid sick leave prior to being 
eligible for unpaid leave. 



59  

F. Intermittent Leave or a Reduced Work Schedule 

Township employees may take FMLA leave in 12 consecutive weeks, may use the leave 
intermittently (take time when needed over the year) or, under certain circumstances, may use the 
leave to reduce the workweek or workday, resulting in a reduced hour schedule. In all cases, the 
leave may not exceed a total of 12 workweeks (or 26 workweeks to care for an injured or ill service 
member over a 12-month period). In all cases, the leave must be qualified leave under the FMLA. 

 
The Township may temporarily transfer an employee to an available alternative position with 
equivalent pay and benefits if the alternative position would better accommodate the intermittent 
or reduced schedule, in instances of when leave for the employee or employee's family member is 
foreseeable and for planned medical treatment, including recovery from a serious health condition 
or to care for a child after birth or placement for adoption or foster care. 

 
For the birth, adoption or foster care of a child, the Township and its employees must mutually 
agree to a schedule before any employee may take the leave intermittently or work a reduced hour 
schedule. Leave for birth, adoption or foster care of a child must be taken within one year of the 
birth or placement of the child. 

If an employee is taking leave for a serious health condition or because of a serious health condition 
of a family member, the employee should try to reach agreement with the Township before taking 
intermittent leave or working a reduced hour schedule. If this is not possible, then the employee 
must prove that the use of the leave is medically necessary. 

 
 

 Certification for the Employee’s Serious Health Condition/ Family Member/ Qualifying 
Military Exigency 

The Township will require certification for an employee’s/family member’s serious health 
condition or qualifying exigency. The employee must respond to such a request within 15 calendar 
daysof the request or provide a reasonable explanation for the delay. Failure to provide certification 
may result in a denial of continuation of leave. Medical certification will be provided using the 
U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) Certification of Health Care Provider for Employees/Family 
Members Serious Health Condition and the DOL Certification of Qualifying Exigency. 

The Township may directly contact the employee’s health care provider for verification or 
clarification purposes using a health care professional, a Human Resources employee, leave 
administrator, or management official. The Township will not use the employee’s direct supervisor 
for this contact. Before the Township makes this direct contact with the health care provider, the 
employee will be a given an opportunity to resolve any deficiencies in the medical certification. In 
compliance with HIPAA Medical Privacy Rules, the Township will obtain the employee’s 
permission for clarification of individually identifiable health information. 

 
The Township has the right to ask for a second opinion if it has reason to doubt the certification. 
The Township will pay for the employee to get a certification from a second doctor, which the 
Township will select. The Township may deny FMLA leave to an employee who refuses to release 
relevant medical records to the health care provider designated to provide a second or third opinion. 



60  

If necessary to resolve a conflict between the original certification and the second opinion, the 
Township will require the opinion of a third doctor. The Township and the employee will mutually 
select the third doctor, and the Township will pay for the opinion. This third opinion will be 
considered final. The employee will be provisionally entitled to leave and benefits under the FMLA 
policy pending the second or third medical opinion. 

 
H. Recertification 

The Township may request recertification for the serious health condition of an employee or the 
employee’s family member, or military/family service member no more frequently than every 30 
days unless circumstances have changed significantly, or if the Township receives information 
casting doubt on the reason given for the absence, or if the employee seeks an extension of the 
leave. 

 
 Procedure for Requesting FMLA Leave 

All employees requesting FMLA leave must provide verbal or written notice of the need for the 
leave to the Human Resources Department. Within five (5) business days after the employee has 
provided this notice, the Human Resources Department will complete and provide the employee 
with the DOL Notice of Eligibility and Rights. 

 
When the need for the leave is foreseeable, the employee must provide the Township with at least 
30 days’ notice. When an employee becomes aware of a need for FMLA leave less than 30 days in 
advance, the employee must provide notice of the need for the leave either the same day or the next 
business day. When the need for FMLA leave is not foreseeable, the employee must comply with 
the Township’s usual and customary notice and procedural requirements for requesting leave, absent 
unusual circumstances. 

 
I. Designation of FMLA Leave 

Within five (5) business days after the employee has submitted the appropriate certification form, 
the Human Resources Department will complete and provide the employee with a written response 
to the employee’s request for FMLA leave using the DOL Designation Notice. 

 
I. Intent to Return to Work from FMLA Leave 

The Township may require an employee on FMLA leave to report periodically on the employee’s 
status and intent to return to work. 

 
Prior to returning to work, an employee must provide a fitness for duty release from the physician. 



61  

XI. REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION/ AMERICANS WITH 
DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) AND AMENDMENTS ACT 

(ADAAA) POLICY 
 

A. Reasonable Accommodation/ Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), the State of Michigan’s Persons With Disabilities Civil 
Rights Act, and Meridian Charter Township’s Human Relations ordinance provide an opportunity 
for greater economic security for a significant number of citizens by providing Equal Employment 
Opportunity (EEO) protection for achieving and maintaining employment. The Township strives to 
demonstrate its commitment to this concept by requiring the removal of unnecessary and artificial 
barriers to employee selection and work access and by maintaining an orderly and structured process 
for working with employees in an interactive process to make reasonable accommodations that 
allow an otherwise qualified individual with a disability to perform the essential functions of a 
job assignment. It is the policy of the Township to provide reasonable accommodations in 
employment to qualified individuals with disabilities unless the accommodation would impose an 
undue hardship on Township operations or would change the essential functions of the position. 
Retaliation against an individual with a disability for using this policy is prohibited. The Township 
is committed to its legal obligations under the Americans with Disabilities Act and the Persons with 
Disabilities Civil Rights Act including the interactive process.  

 

 
 Notification and Medical Documentation 

In general, it is the responsibility of an applicant or employee with a disability to inform the Human 
Resources Director that a need for an accommodation exists or that some adjustment or change is 
needed to perform the essential function of a job because of limitations caused by a disability. A 
reasonable accommodation refers to change or adjustment in the job or the work environment that 
allows a qualified employee with a disability to perform the essential functions of his or her job. 
While it has been our experience that supervisors and employees often informally work through 
issues surrounding limitations caused by a disability, this policy has been developed to provide a 
formal process through which the employee notifies the Human Resources Director for assistance. 

 

Generally speaking, any request for an accommodation should be made in writing within 182 days 
or sooner after you know or reasonably should have known of the need for accommodation. 

When the Human Resources Director is so notified, the Human Resources Department initiates the 
interactive process with the individual by requesting the employee to identify what 
accommodations are requested (if known) and to provide appropriate medical documentation. A 
form for accommodation requests (to be supported by medical documentation) is available from 
Human Resources. Employees can also provide requests in another format so long as the necessary 
information is provided. After sufficient documentation is provided, the Human Resources 
Director and the employee will confer as to possible reasonable accommodations (if any).  



62  

Appropriate medical documentation should: 

 Describe the nature, severity, and duration of the employee’s impairment. 

1. Describe the activity or activities that the impairment limits. 

1. Describe the extent to which the impairment limits the employee’s ability to perform any 
specific employment activity or activities. 

1. Substantiate the need for accommodation and makes suggestions, if reasonably possible, 
for any specific accommodations. 

Employees seeking accommodation will be notified if their documentation is insufficient. In 
obtaining this information, employees are cautioned that the Township is not requesting nor should 
the employee provide part of his or her medical documentation any genetic information regarding 
the employee or a family member protected by the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act 
(GINA). 

 
 

C. Interactive Process 

Once a request has been made and appropriate medical documentation supporting the need for 
accommodation has been provided, then the circumstances will be addressed on a case-by-case 
basis. This process may encompass one or more of the following steps or other efforts not listed 
below that are reasonably needed to determine where an applicant’s or employee’s needs can be met 
through the reasonable accommodation process: 

 Job analysis, job description review, and review of any other relevant data regarding job 
requirements and functions. 

 Consultations with the appropriate supervisor and Human Resources, and others as 
necessary, to define possible accommodation that might be reasonably necessary to permit or 
allow an otherwise qualified person with a disability to participate in the screening process 
in the case of applicants, or to perform the job assignment under consideration for 
employees. 

 Applicant accommodation requests will be handled by Human Resources in conjunction 
with the selection manager. 

 Among the points to be addressed in the analysis are whether, based on the information 
available, the employee is otherwise qualified to perform the essential job functions; the 
physical and/or mental work requirements; physical barriers, if any, based on the work 
location; the effect of accommodations on related jobs or individuals; any possible threats 
to the health/safety of the person with a disability or to others in the work place; any undue 
hardship on the Township in providing the accommodation; and estimated dollar costs (if 
any) to accomplish the desired accommodation. 



63  

All applicants and employees are expected to cooperate in the interactive process. As part of 
the process, employees should also remember that the Township is not obligated to and will not 
provide personal use items needed in accomplishing daily activities, such as eye glasses or hearing 
aids, but will consider work-specific equipment, such as but not limited to, voice-activated software 
or adaptive technology where appropriate. 

 
 

D. Decision on Accommodation and Recordkeeping 

Once the interactive process is complete and a decision is made regarding accommodations, the 
employee will be notified by Human Resources. The employee will also be notified if/when 
documentation needs to be renewed or updated. 

 
Human Resources will also produce the decision in writing and document it in the employee’s 
confidential medical file. The supervisor is responsible for providing support in completing 
appropriate written documentation to Human Resources. Information regarding an employee’s 
disability and requests for accommodations will be kept confidential and shared with others only 
if they have a legitimate business reason to know. 

 
 Terms Used in This Policy 

 Disability: A physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life 
activities of the individual, a record of such an impairment, or being regarded as having such 
an impairment. 

 Major life activities: Term includes caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, seeing, 
hearing, eating, sleeping, walking, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, learning, 
reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating and working. 

 Major bodily functions: Term includes physical or mental impairment such as any 
physiological disorder or condition, cosmetic disfigurement or anatomical loss affecting 
one or more body systems, such as neurological, musculoskeletal, special sense organs, 
respiratory (including speech organs), cardiovascular, reproductive, digestive, 
genitourinary, immune, circulatory, hemic, lymphatic, skin and endocrine. Also covered 
are any mental or psychological disorders, such as intellectual disability (formerly termed 
“mental retardation”), organic brain syndrome, emotional or mental illness and specific 
learning disabilities. 

 Substantially limiting: In accordance with the ADAAA final regulations, the 
determination of whether an impairment substantially limits a major life activity requires 
an individualized assessment, and an impairment that is episodic or in remission may also 
meet the definition of disability if it would substantially limit a major life activity when 
active. Some examples of these types of impairments may include epilepsy, hypertension, 
asthma, diabetes, major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia. An 
impairment, such as cancer that is in remission but that may possibly return in a substantially 
limiting form, is also considered a disability under US Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission (EEOC) final ADA Amendments Act of 2008 (ADAAA) regulations. 



64  

 Direct threat: A significant risk to the health, safety or well-being of individuals with 
disabilities or others when this risk cannot be eliminated by reasonable accommodation. 

 Qualified individual: An individual who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can 
perform the essential functions of the employment position that such individual holds or 
desires. 

 Reasonable accommodation: Includes any changes to the work environment and may 
include making existing facilities readily accessible to and usable by individuals with 
disabilities, job restructuring, part-time or modified work schedules, telecommuting, 
reassignment to a vacant position, acquisition or modification of equipment or devices, 
appropriate adjustment or modifications of examinations, training materials or policies, the 
provision of qualified readers or interpreters, and other similar accommodations for 
individuals with disabilities. 

 
 

F. Appeals 

If the employee disagrees with the accommodation selected or has been denied an accommodation 
to which the employee believes he/she is entitled to, the employee may appeal the decision to the 
Township Manager within twenty (20) working days of the date of the decision. 



65  

XII. SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY 
 

A. Introduction 

In order to provide residents timely information about activities, news, and events regarding 
Meridian Township, the Township may administer various social media accounts. The Township 
also acknowledges and honors employees’ rights to have their own personal social media accounts. 

To promote an inclusive work environment, the Township has developed a policy for official 
Meridian Township social media accounts. The Township has also drafted guidelines for 
employees to consider while using their own personal social media accounts. If there are any 
questions regarding this policy, please feel free to contact the Human Resources Director. 

 
B. “Official” Township Social Media Accounts 

An official Township social media account is defined as a social media account representing the 
Township in an official capacity (e.g. a social media account representing the Police Department). 
The Township retains the rights to alter any employee’s access to any social media platform at the 
workplace and to also republish or re-use any content posted on an official Township social media 
account. Although not all-encompassing, the following is a list of Township regulations regarding 
employee use of official Township social media accounts. 

 Approval – The creation of any official Township social media accounts must be approved 
by the Township Manager or by a designated appointee of the Township Manager. Only 
those authorized to post from official Township social media accounts are permitted to do 
so.  

 Adherence to Departmental Policies – Township departmental guidelines regarding 
official Township social media accounts may not usurp the Township Social Media Policy. 
However, employees must adhere to any additional official Township social media policies 
set by their department. Additionally, employees operating official Township social media 
accounts must adhere to all Information Technology (IT) policies. 

 Identification – When relevant, all employees representing the Township on an official 
Township social media account, must identify themselves by name and role within the 
Township. 

 Confidential Information – Operators of official Township social media accounts shall 
not share any confidential Township information including, but not limited to, pending 
Township litigation or personnel matters. 

 Obscene Content – Although not an all-encompassing list, Township employees operating 
official Township social media accounts shall not share any content that is deemed 
harassing, libelous, defamatory, discriminatory, pornographic, or any material which may 
cause a hostile work environment. 

 Endorsements – Employees operating official Township social media accounts shall not , 
without prior written approval from the Township Manager or by a designated appointee 
of the Township Manager, produce or share any content that endorses political candidates, 



66  

political causes, ballot proposals, or businesses and services. 
 Usage – Content posted by operators of official Township social media accounts shall not 

be a substitute for any public notice requirements mandated by federal, state, or local law. 

 Intellectual Property – Official Township social media accounts shall adhere to all federal 
and state laws that govern intellectual property including, but not limited to, copyright and 
trademark protections. 

 Document Storage – All official Township social media content shall adhere to existing 
Township electronic document storage procedures and all Township Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) policies and procedures. 

 Right to Monitor – Operators of official Township social media accounts shall have the 
right to monitor all content shared by these accounts as well as content contributed by the 
public. Additionally, operators have the right to remove content contributed by the public 
if deemed vulgar, harassing, or threatening. Threats or harassing material shall be reported 
to the proper law enforcement agency. 

 Press Requests – Meridian Township honors employees’ rights to speak to the press. 
However, the Township asks employees operating official Township social media accounts 
to consider forwarding all requests from the media or press to a supervisor or the 
Communications Department. 

 Work Responsibilities – Operators of official Township social media accounts shall only 
use these accounts for work-related purposes. Excessive use of non-work related use of 
social media platforms during work hours is subject to discipline. 

 
 

C. Personal Social Media Use 

Meridian Township respects employees’ rights to express themselves through social media and 
additionally adheres to all provisions in Michigan’s Internet Privacy Protection Act. However, all 

content shared by Meridian Township employees on their personal social media accounts should 

be considered public and permanent, and may be monitored by the Township. 
 

Personal social media use is considered as employees using social media on their own personal 
accounts, not representing the Township in an official capacity. Although not all-encompassing, 
the following is a list of guidelines for an employee to consider when using personal social media. 



67  

 Identification – If an employee of Meridian Township identifies themselves as an 
employee of Meridian Township on a personal social media account, the employee should 
note that the account is non-official. 

 Disclaimer Recommendation – Employees who identify themselves as Township 
employees on personal social media accounts may want to consider posting a disclaimer 
on their account stating, “The views and opinions expressed here are the views of the writer 
and do not necessarily reflect the views and opinions of Meridian Charter Township.” 

 Be Respectful - Always be fair and courteous to fellow employees, the public, vendors or 
people who work on behalf of the Township. Also, keepKeep in mind that you are more 
likely to resolve work-related complaints by speaking directly with your co-workers or by 
utilizing our Open Door Policy than by posting complaints to a social media outlet. 
Nevertheless, if you decide to post complaints or criticism, avoid using statements, 
photographs, video or audio that reasonably could be viewed as malicious, obscene, 
threatening or intimidating, that disparage co-workers, customers, associates or suppliers, 
or that might constitute harassment or bullying. 

 Obscene Content – Township employees should refrain from publicly sharing obscene 
content on personal social media accounts (as defined in the “Official” Township Social 
Media Accounts). 

  

 Confidential Information – Township employees may not publicly share confidential 
Township information on personal social media accounts (as defined in the “Official” 
Township Social Media Accounts). 

 Use of Township Logos – Township employees may not use any Township logos on their 
personal social media accounts without the expressed written permission by the Township 
Manager or by a designated appointee of the Township Manager. 

 Personal Use on Work Time – Employees shall not use personal social media during 
working hours. Personal social media use may be the basis for discipline up to and 
including termination.   



68  

XIII. Military Leave Policy (USERRA) 
 
 

Meridian CharterThe Township values its employees who also serve in the military. It is the 
policy of Meridian Charterthe Township to comply with the Uniformed Services Employment 
and Reemployment Act of 1994 (USERRA), as revisedamended, and applicable state laws that 
protect job rights and benefits for veterans and members of the reserves. The laws cover all 
persons serving in the Army, Navy, Marine Corps, Air Force, Coast Guard, Public Health Service 
commissioned corps, and the reserve components of these services, and the National Guard. 

USERRA provides protection to employees who are absent from work for active duty, active duty 
for training, initial active duty for training, funeral honors duty, inactive duty training, full-time 
National Guard duty under federal direction, and a period for which a person is absent from a 
position of employment for the purpose of an examination to determine the fitness of the person 
to perform any of those duties. In addition, also protected are those in service in the commissioned 
corps of the Public Health Service, those attending a military service academy, and those 
participating in a ROTC active or inactive duty training program. Covered service also includes 
an employee’s service as an intermittent disaster-response appointee upon activation of the 
National Disaster Medical System (NDMS) or as a participant in the authorized NDMS training 
program. Finally, in times of war or national emergency, the President has the authority to 
designate any category of persons called into the country’s service at such times as a service 
member covered by USERRA’s rights and protections. 

 
A. Notice Required 

An employee taking leave provided in USERRA (or appropriate commanding officer of the 
employee) must provide as much advance written or oral notice as possible of the need for leave, 
unless impossible because of military necessity or otherwise impracticable or unreasonable. 
Consistent with the Department of Defense recommendations, the Township requests at least 
thirty (30) days’ notice. 

 
B. Documentation 

An employee taking leave provided in USERRA is required to provide documentation confirming 
his or hertheir military service for leave that is longer than thirty (30) days. The Township 
requests that employees provide documentation for all leave taken under USERRA. 

 
C. Confirmation of Service 

An employee taking leave provided in USERRA must provide the name and contact information 
of his or hertheir commanding officer. The Township reserves the right provided in USERRA to 
contact the commanding officer of an employee to confirm the service related to any leave. 

 
D. Employment and Pay 

Upon presentation by a regular full-time employee of compensation records identifying the date 
of and payment made for the training program, the Township shall pay the difference between the 
compensation received for the training and the compensation that would have been received had 
the regular full-time employee worked as scheduled for up to ten (10) working days annually. In 



69  

the event that the annual training required for an employee exceeds the ten (10) days specified 
above, the additional days shall be granted as a leave of absence without pay (or charged against 
the employee’s accumulated vacation leave, if requested by the employee). 

 
E. Reemployment 

Under USERRA, an employee is entitled to reemployment upon separation from military leave, 
if the employee: 

 
 Was honorably discharged or terminated from service; 
 Was employed in a position for which there was an expectation of continued employment; 
 Has not been absent for duty in the military for longer than a cumulative period of five 

years, unless involuntarily retained in the military; 
 Reported to work or notified his or hertheir supervisor of an intention to return to work, at 

the proper time, as indicated within this policy. 
 

Period of Service Required Employee Action When Action Must Be Taken 
1 – 30 days Report to work (1) On the next regularly 

scheduled work shift on the 
first full calendar day after 
service ended, plus the time 
for safe transportation back 
to his/hertheir residence and 
eight hours of rest – OR – 

(2) As soon as possible after the 
eight hour rest period, if, 
through no fault of the 
employee, it would be 
impossible or unreasonable 
to report within the time 
described in (1) 

31 – 180 days Notify his or hertheir 
supervisor in writing of the 
employee’s intent to return to 
work 

Within 14 calendar days (Unless 
impossible or unreasonable 
through no fault of the 
employee, then the next first full 
calendar day that submitting the 
request becomes possible) 

181+ days Submit a written request for 
reemployment 

Within 90 days after completing 
service 

 
This policy may not address all issues concerning your rights during military leave. If issues arise 
that are not addressed in this policy, the Township will abide by USERRA and other applicable 
laws. Should you have any questions or require further information, please see the Human 
Resources Director. 



 

13. D 

To:  Board Members 

From:  Amber Clark, Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director 

Date:  April 15, 2025 

Re:  Brownfield/Housing TIF Policy Program and Procedures Amendment 

 

Summary 

With the direction of the Township Board at the April 3rd Township Board meeting, the proposed 
policy amends the current Meridian Township Brownfield Program and Procedures Policy, to 
include “housing” as defined in PA 90 of 2023 as an eligible activity. The Meridian Township 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (MTBRA) has preliminarily reviewed the amended draft 
Brownfield Policy and has accepted the major foundational changes.  

 Board members requested updates to the definitions used throughout the policy such as “the 
Developer”, “Affordable Dwelling Unit”, “Income Qualified Household”, etc. Updates to the 
defined terms are included in this draft. The updated policy has restrictions on the eligibility 
of individuals seeking to use the Brownfield TIF for housing concepts for themselves or 
another single individual. Plans are reviewed separately with the purpose of the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Act at the forefront of MTBRA members’ minds as they approve the Plan and 
reimbursement agreements. Developers must prove their financial capability to produce the 
proposed project and without the proof, the MTBRA will not approve the Plan.  

 Board members had questions related to the management/reporting of a Brownfield Plan 
that includes housing as an eligible activity. An increase to 10% of the TIF capture is a 
required fee that a developer will pay to the MTBRA to hire a third-party consultant to assist 
with various verifications for the approved Plan.  

 Regarding the Michigan State Housing Development Authority’s (MSHDA) policy on income, 
the Income Qualified Household (IQH) shall be qualified at the time of rent/sale of the 
property. MSHDA’s goal is to provide quality-housing units to the public. Continued annual 
verification will indicate that the same person occupies the unit. Both the Township Board 
and MSHDA are not in favor of limiting someone from achieving greater financial security.  

 The affordable for sale dwellings will also have a direct benefit to the developer, an ancillary 
benefit to the end user, and potentially support the repayment of the TIF reimbursement 
should properties continue to sell to new occupants. To assist with maintaining a level of 
affordability and reduce the potential for abuse, Staff suggests a seven-year affordability 
period before an income-qualified homeowner may sell the property at market rate. For 
qualified housing activities approved in a Plan, the duration of the Plan is the required 
affordability period.  

Brownfield Policy Change Details 

In tonight’s packet, the Board will have access to the draft track changes and clean-line versions of  

 



 
 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Memo to Township Board 
April 15, 2025 
Re: Brownfield/Housing TIF Policy Program and Procedures Amendment 
Page 2 

 

the Policy. The foundation of the draft Policy was created from the current Brownfield 
Redevelopment Policy and Procedures. This document outlines, at a high level, the general purpose 
of the incentive, how to access the incentive, the procedures to approve/adopt a Plan, 
reimbursement agreement requirements, Affordable Housing Fund, and contributions to the 
Revolving Loan Fund.  

The proposed changes include specifically section 4 C, which amends the policy to include 
multifamily-for-rent housing units, developed for incomes at or below 120% of the Area Median 
Income (AMI). The Developer is required to prove the “but/for”, requirement for the incentive. As is 
the requirement with any incentive, the Project must show that without the support of the tool, it 
would not proceed. The Developer is also required to administer the majority of the reporting 
requirements. Please see the Michigan State Housing Development Authority FAQ’s for additional 
information.  
 
Section 4 D requires the same parameters as “4 C” to be met in order to be eligible for the incentive, 
and separates the requirements of an “affordable for-sale” housing development, under the same 
affordability obligations. This section includes the conditions regarding the sale of an “affordable for-
sale dwelling unit” to other occupants.  

In both instances, a restrictive deed would need to be produced to prove to the Michigan State 
Housing Development Authority (MSHDA) that the property will maintain the agreed upon rent 
loss/development loss for the intended term. MSHDA will not support a project if the Developer has 
not included this requirement in the reimbursement agreement. 

Budgetary Implications  

There are no known impacts to either the BRA or General Fund to amend the policy. In the future, 
each Brownfield Plan will have an approved reimbursement eligibility amount for the Developer. 
Once the approved activities are conducted, a review of those activities and proof of payments will 
be sent to Township Staff. Any reimbursement must first be requested and reviewed for all required 
elements before payment will be made. Once the reimbursement request is complete, approved by 
the MTBRA, payments can be distributed. Reimbursements are limited to the new tax revenue 
generated.  

The following motion is proposed for Board consideration:   
 

MOVE TO ADOPT THE MODIFICATIONS TO THE MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP 
BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY'S PROGRAM AND PROCEDURE 
POLICY, INCORPORATING THE PROPOSED CHANGES AND PERMITTING 
HOUSING AS AN ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY UNDER PA 90 OF 2023.  

 
Attachment: 

1. Draft Meridian Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (MTBRA) Program Policies 
and Procedures (Red Line) and (Clean Version) 

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/www.michigan.gov/mshda/-/media/Project/Websites/mshda/developers/tif/Housing-TIF--Frequently-Asked-Questions-1.pdf?rev=a0b9639a1bdd43998070e6a33bfe02bd&hash=1A4956F2F61EBF37FBE7517F29EAB540


   

 

   

 

 Meridian Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (MTBRA) 
Program Policies and Procedures  

Adopted: [DATE] 2025  
  
Section 1: Purpose  
 
Michigan’s Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, 1996 Public Act 381 (Act 381), as amended 
PA 90, enables brownfield redevelopment in the State of Michigan and the establishment of 
brownfield authorities.  The Act establishes brownfield redevelopment authorities with multiple 
tools to facilitate redevelopment. This includes tax increment financing to support eligible 
brownfield expenses incurred through reuse of a contaminated, blighted, historic, functionally 
obsolete property, and/ or rehabilitation or construction of housing. 
 
The purpose of the Meridian Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (MTBRA) is to 
facilitate the redevelopment of sites classified as “Eligible Property” in PA 90 of 2023, PA 381 of 
1996, and Part 201 of Public Act 451 of 1994 (Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act), 
as amended. 
 
Meridian Township has identified a need for additional housing availability to families and 
individuals earning up to 120% of the Area Median Income AMI, referred throughout as “Affordable” 
dwelling units or “Affordable” for-sale dwelling units.  
 
Meridian Township staff will assist with the implementation of the policies and procedures 
described herein.  Township staff will serve as a liaison between the MTBRA, and the various entities 
involved with the redevelopment of a brownfield site and guide the developer through the 
brownfield process. “The developer” may be an entity, person, or person(s) authorized to conduct 
the eligible activities of an approved Brownfield Plan and the subsequent reimbursement 
agreement.   It is strongly encouraged that the developer contact staff early in the project planning 
process to minimize delays in the approval process. 
 
Section 2: MTBRA Board of Directors 
Under the Bylaws established by the MTBRA, the MTBRA shall consist of one member each of the 
Planning Commission, Economic Development Corporation, and Environmental Commission, the 
Township Manager, and three members having an interest or expertise in the fields of engineering, 
finance, or law.  
 
Section 3: Background 
 
The Meridian Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (MTBRA) was established April 18, 
2017, pursuant to Michigan Public Act 381, MCL 125.265, as amended (“Act 381”) to promote the 
revitalization of environmentally distressed and blighted areas within the boundaries of the 
Township. Pursuant to Act 381, the MTBRA facilitates the approval of brownfield plans (“Plans”) 
which provide for the utilization of certain tax increment revenues to pay for or reimburse costs of 
Eligible Activities as defined in Section 2 of Act 381. Michigan Public Act 90 of 2023, an amendment 
to Act 381 that went into effect on July 19, 2023, provides new opportunities to support certain 
housing development activities using tax increment revenues (“Housing Tax Increment Financing”) 
by amending the definition of both “Eligible Property” and “Eligible Activities”, specific to projects  
constructing or rehabilitating housing  units (rental and/or for-sale). 
 
MTBRA POLICY 



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 2 
 

Page 2 
 

 
Section 4: Policies for Brownfield Activities 
 
4. A. Eligible Activities 
 
The MTBRA is authorized to allow the use of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) revenues to pay for or 
reimburse public or private costs of “eligible activities” as identified in Public Act 381 and as 
amended in Public Act 90 of 2023.   
 
4. B. To qualify for brownfield incentives:  
 
1.)  The proposed project site meets the definition of an eligible property as defined in Public Act 381 
of 1996, as amended. See MEDC Brownfield TIF Guidelines and MCL 125.2652(o).  
 
2.)  The project is located within the jurisdictional boundaries of Meridian Township. 
 
3.)  The proposed redevelopment for the eligible property is consistent with the master plan, zoning 
ordinance, and economic development strategy of Meridian Township, as determined by the MTBRA 
and Township Board.  
 
4.) The existing character of the eligible property is such that redevelopment activities would be 
limited or not feasible without brownfield redevelopment assistance provided by Public Act 381, as 
amended, and/or other brownfield redevelopment programs.  In addition, the project developer 
commits to explore all other available private and public funding sources, as determined in 
consultation with the MTBRA.  
 
5.) An analysis has been provided that demonstrates the required eligible activities can be 
satisfactorily completed within the available resources under this program, or if not, supplemental 
funding sources, such as private equity or financing, tax credits, or grants or loans, will be utilized to 
complement the financial resources available under the Act for proposed projects.  
 
6.)  The developer has provided evidence of a firm commitment to the project and a demonstration 
of sufficient experience, financial resources (including submittal of pro forma financial statement), 
and development capabilities to successfully implement the proposed redevelopment project.  
 
7.)  The proposed project site will have adequate access to the necessary public infrastructure and 
utilities needed to serve the proposed redevelopment project, as determined in consultation with the 
MTBRA.  
 
8.)  The MTBRA reserves the right to consider other factors applicable to a specific project. 
 
 
  



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 3 
 

Page 3 
 

4. C. To qualify for housing brownfield incentives for multi-family/rental properties, a project 
would meet all the criteria in 4.B above and:  

 
1.) The developer must demonstrate Potential Rental Loss (PRL) and the Total Housing Subsidy 
(THS) for every application received as defined by the Michigan State Housing Development 
Authority (MSHDA). Maximum reimbursement revenue is limited by PRL and other eligible costs as 
deemed necessary to complete the project. The overall project should incorporate the financial 
impact of any PRL or other eligible activity reimbursements. 
 
2.) The proposed development must provide no less than 20% of all dwelling unit types in an 
approved Plan (studio, one (1) bedroom, two (2) bedroom, etc.) evenly distributed throughout the 
project/development site. The Affordable dwelling units shall be leased to an Income Qualified 
Household (IQH) earning120% of the Area Median Income (AMI) or below as defined by MSHDA. 
MTBRA may encourage greater percentages or more limited income affordability levels based on 
underwriting, overall project size, type of units, etc.  
 
3.) The developer must agree to a restrictive covenant describing the rent and income restrictions as 
set forth in the Plan. The covenant must encumber the Housing Development/Property for a 
minimum of the Plan duration. 
 
4.) The developer shall be responsible for verifying that the rental eligibility is met. At least annually, 
the developer shall provide the MTBRA with information and documentation of the income eligibility 
of each subsidized unit. The developer must also provide the MTBRA with any information or 
documentation provided to MSHDA, including the number of qualified units, certified rent rolls, etc. 
along with any other relevant information relating to the Plan or Eligible Activity, as directed by the 
MTBRA.  

 
 
5.) Funding of the Potential Rent Loss (PRL) is only available for the Affordable dwelling units 
occupied by an IQH as approved in the Plan.  

 
4. D. To qualify for housing brownfield incentives for single-family for sale properties a 
project would meet all the criteria in 4.B above and:  
 
1.)  The developer must demonstrate Potential Development Loss (PDL) Gap Cap and the  Total 
Housing Subsidy (THS) for every application received, as defined by MSHDA. The PDL Gap Cap and 
the THS will be utilized to establish the reasonableness of certain housing activities for which tax 
capture is being planned.  Maximum reimbursement revenue is limited by PRL, THS, and other 
eligible costs as deemed necessary to complete the project. The overall project should incorporate 
the financial impact of any PRL or other eligible activity reimbursements. 
 
2.) With the exception of a sale after seven (7) years per section 4 D, subsection 6 b; a restrictive 
covenant describing the income limitations and required sale to an IQH as defined by the MSHDA 
shall encumber the Housing Property for a minimum of the Plan duration, commencing on the date 
the Housing Property obtains a Certificate of Occupancy from the Township Building Official. This is 
the “Affordability Period” of any Affordable for-sale dwelling unit subsidized through the approved 
Brownfield Plan. 



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 4 
 

Page 4 
 

 
3.)  Affordable for-sale dwelling units must be sold to an IQH during the affordability period, except 
as provided in section 4 D, subsection 6 b. IQH for-sale properties may not be rented or leased at any 
time. 
 
4.) Plans contemplating Housing TIF that include Affordable for-sale dwellings shall only be 
proposed/submitted by the developer. Individual homebuyers are not eligible, in addition, any 
for-sale subsidized property cannot be rented/leased by the IQH. MTBRA support will include, 
but may not be limited to, a development loss subsidy in an amount necessary to make the dwelling 
affordable to a purchaser who qualifies as an IQH. In all cases, the development loss subsidy shall 
initially be funded by the developer, or its lender(s) and the development loss subsidy shall be 
eligible for reimbursement with Housing TIF so long as all applicable conditions are satisfied by the 
developer. For a mixed-use development, the costs of Housing Development Activities approved in 
the Plan for a dwelling occupied by an IQH will be eligible for full reimbursement with tax increment 
revenues under the Plan, as permitted by Act 381, as amended; however, for the portion of the 
development that is not affordable , reimbursement of Housing Development Activities costs will 
only be available as a pro rata share of the square footage of the dwellings occupied by an IQH 
compared to the total square footage of common areas of the development.  
 
5.) The PDL subsidy amount is equal to the difference between the total Development cost and the 
amount an IQH can afford based on annual household income. 
 

6.) Under the following conditions an Affordable for-sale dwelling may be sold prior to the end of the 

affordability period: 

a.) The property may sell to an IQH for no more than the MSHDA Income & Sales Price Limits 

as set for the MI Home Loan & MCC Program, for Ingham County. The IQH shall provide the 

following documentation to the MTBRA to verify the sales price of the for-sale dwelling:  
 

i. Appraisals/Broker Price Opinions to confirm the value of the completed 

dwelling. 
ii. Annual Ingham County AMI limits as designated by MSHDA 

iii. Annual Ingham County Income and Sales Price Limits of the MI Home Loan & 

MCC Program as designated by MSHDA. 
iv. After the closing of the dwelling sold to the new homebuyer, the property may 

be required to continue to provide the affordability income limitations as set 
by the MTBRA and MSHDA, if the dwelling sold is within the affordability 
period, and is not subject to the provisions of 4 D, subsection 6 b. 

 

b.) After seven (7) years of affordability, the IQH may sell their dwelling unit at “Market Rate” 
(Market Rate refers to the prevailing or current market price of a dwelling unit of similar 
make and type), providing 25% of the net sale proceeds (sales price less any mortgage payoff 
and typical closing costs) to the MTBRA Affordable  Housing Fund (see section 4 J) at the time 

of the sale. The IQH shall provide the following documentation to the MTBRA to verify the 

sales price of the for-sale dwelling: 



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 5 
 

Page 5 
 

 

i. Appraisals/Broker Price Opinions to confirm the value of the completed 
dwelling. 

ii. Listing agreements to verify the for-sale price of the dwelling. 
iii. After the closing of the dwelling sold at market rate to the new property 
owner, the property may no longer be required to continue to provide the 

affordability income limitations as set by the MTBRA and MSHDA. 

7.)  Additionally,  the developer shall be responsible for any applicable Meridian Township/MTBRA 
reporting requirements through the sale of the dwelling and, to the extent  the developer has any 
continuing obligations during the affordability period, the developer shall continue meeting annual 
reporting requirements until the end of the duration of the affordability period or developer’s 
obligations are completed. During the affordability period, the IQH may also have annual reporting 
requirements, which include, but are not limited to, confirmation that property taxes, utilities, are 
paid, etc. 
 
4. E. To qualify for payment of interest on carrying costs of unreimbursed eligible activities:  
 
The reimbursement of interest on unreimbursed eligible activities will be determined on a case-by-
case basis, but only where a clear financial gap is demonstrated, and where actual interest expenses 
and carrying costs will be incurred by the applicant. The following criteria must be met to qualify 
for interest reimbursement: 
 

1.)  All costs for which interest is being requested must be eligible activities.  
 
2.)  The total amount of interest, and the interest rate, shall be determined in accordance with 
MEDC guidelines or MSHDA guidelines and shall be approved by the MTBRA. 
Provided reimbursement of interest is generally approved, pursuant to the above, the 
reimbursement of interest on costs of eligible activities using local-only taxes may be allowed 
only if either of the following criteria is met:  

 
a.) The specific activity or activities are not supported for interest reimbursement by the 
Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC), Michigan Department of 
Environmental, Great Lakes and Energy (EGLE), or  MSHDA, and are supported by the 
MTBRA as a cost resulting from an activity that, by its nature, will have specific or general 
environmental benefits.  
 
b.) A significant financial gap has been identified by the applicant, and supported by the 
MTBRA, such that the requested interest would help close the gap.  

 
4. F. To qualify for local-only reimbursement:  
 
The MTBRA encourages costs of all eligible activities be reimbursed with both incremental local 
and state school operating taxes to the extent practicable; however, there are circumstances when 
reimbursement only with local tax increments will be approved, on a case-by-case basis, under the 
following circumstances: 

  



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 6 
 

Page 6 
 

1.)  The activities are eligible under Act 381 as amended, the state declined to participate in the 
cost, or State policy prohibits their participation on a specific project, but the MTBRA supports the 
activity, which, by its nature, will have specific or general environmental benefits.  
 
2.)  When the activity or activities were approved in a Brownfield Plan, and subsequently denied for 
state school operating tax participation, local-only tax increment financing may be considered, 
provided the approved Brownfield Plan does not prohibit or cap the use of local-only tax increment 
finances to reimburse the particular activity proposed for local-only reimbursement.  
 
3.)  For any eligible activity completed prior to plan approval, but now included in a Brownfield 
Plan or Combined Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Work Plan submitted for approval, the MTBRA may 
support the inclusion of the costs for local-only reimbursement, and the following conditions must 
be met:  
 

a.) The approved Plan states that certain or all eligible activities initiated or completed prior 
to plan approval, and subsequently denied for state school operating taxes participation, 
will be funded with local-only taxes. 
  
b.) The entity that incurred the costs is the same as applying for Brownfield Plan approval; 
and  
 
c.) Eligible activities were conducted and expenses incurred prior to Brownfield Plan 
approval as allowed under Section 13b (7) and (8) of Act 381 or due to unanticipated 
circumstances or compressed project timeline.  

 
4. G. Unanticipated Eligible Environmental Response Activities 
  
Pursuant to Act 381 as amended, local-only and state school operating tax increment revenues may 
be used to reimburse unanticipated eligible environmental response activities conducted after 
Brownfield Plan and/or Work Plan approvals provided the owner must have contacted the  
Michigan Department of Environment Great Lakes & Energy (EGLE) and MTBRA prior to taking 
action and subsequently included the eligible environmental costs in an amended Work Plan, and 
Brownfield Plan if necessary, and secured all requisite approvals.  
 
4. H. Administrative Costs Capture 
  
1.)  The annual capture of administrative fees from brownfield projects from local taxes is 
permitted under Public Act 381 of 1996, as amended.  Each Brownfield Plan may include capture of 
administrative fees.  Administrative fees will be used to cover actual expenses related to operating 
the Brownfield Redevelopment program. 
 
2.)  For reimbursement of reasonable and actual administrative expenses, the MTBRA will transfer 
to its Administrative Fund five percent (5%) of the annual total available TIF capture per project, 
during the entire capture period for the project. Actual administrative expenses will be captured 
with only local incremental taxes. These fees shall be paid before any annual reimbursements of 
costs are made to the applicant. For approved Plans that include the reimbursement of eligible 



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 7 
 

Page 7 
 

housing activities, this fee will be increased to 10 percent (10%) of the annual total TIF capture due 
to additional reporting requirements. 
 
3.)  In accordance with MTBRA policy, capture of administrative fees may exceed actual brownfield 
program expenses in any one year, provided any reserves are maintained in the Administrative 
Fund and utilized to reimburse for future years’ expenses or used as otherwise allowed by Act 381 
as amended.  At no time will surplus funds exceed one year’s allowable maximum capture under Act 
381 based on the previous year’s allowable capture. Any fund reserves that exceed one year’s 
allowable capture will be returned to the appropriate taxing jurisdictions.  
 
4. I. Local Brownfield Revolving Fund Capture 
 
The MTBRA intends to capitalize its Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) by capturing tax 
increment revenue, as allowable by Act 381, as amended. The MTBRA will include provisions to 
capture five percent (5%) annual total available TIF capture per project (pursuant to total 
allowable per statue) for deposit into the LBRF in the approved Brownfield Plan.   
 
LBRF funds will be used to further the purpose of the MTBRA’s Brownfield program, which is to 
facilitate the redevelopment of previously developed sites classified as a “facility,” functionally 
obsolete, or blighted as defined by Act 381, as amended. LBRF funds can only be used to fund 
eligible activities, as defined by Act 381, as amended. LBRF funds are eligible for use by all eligible 
properties located within the Meridian Township to assist with the completion of eligible activities. 
The LBRF funds typically will be distributed as revolving loans, which allows the funds to 
continually revolve throughout Meridian Township. LBRF funds may be distributed as grants in 
response to exceptional circumstances solely at the discretion of the MTBRA. The use of the funds 
will be determined on case-by-case basis.  
 
4. J. Affordable Housing Fund 
 
The MTBRA will include a provision in the Brownfield Housing Redevelopment Reimbursement 
Agreements to allow an Affordable for-sale dwelling to be sold after the seven (7) year affordability 
period at market rate, provided that 25% of the net sale proceeds are paid to the Meridian 
Township’s Affordable Housing Fund.  
 
The Affordable Housing Fund may be used at the discretion of the MTBRA to support IQH with 
down payment assistance or other housing needs in the form of a forgivable loan to a homebuyer or 
other Affordable housing project subsidies as determined by the Township Board.   
 
Section 5: Procedures:  
 
The MTBRA recognizes the importance of development project schedules and will expedite 
brownfield plan review and approval process to the greatest extent possible.  The following are 
typical steps to access brownfield redevelopment incentives in Meridian Township.  The steps may 
change if a combined Brownfield Plan/Work Plan is proposed.  
 
A. Concept Plan submittal and meeting – Review by committee of Township staff 
B. Brownfield Plan application submittal 



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 8 
 

Page 8 
 

C. Brownfield Plan Development – Applicant and Staff  
D. Brownfield Plan Introduction to MTBRA 
E. Brownfield Plan Recommendation from MTBRA  
F. Brownfield Plan – Public Hearing at Township Board  
G. Brownfield Plan Approval by Township Board  
H. Act 381/ Act 90 Work Plan(s) – Approval by Staff  
 
The applicant needs to execute a Reimbursement Agreement with the MTBRA (See Section 7: 
Reimbursement Agreement).   
 
Work Plan(s) (or Combined Brownfield Plan and Work Plan(s)) must be completed in accordance 
with the requirements of Act 381, as amended, and guidance published by the EGLE, MSHDA, and 
MEDC, and be submitted to Staff. Staff will review the Work Plan and work with the developer 
and/or developer’s representative (consultant) to finalize it. Staff will coordinate with the 
appropriate agency(s) for the submission and review of the Work Plan (or Combined Brownfield 
Plan).  
 
Generally, conducting eligible activities can begin once the relevant elements of the approval 
process are complete.  However, pursuant to Act 381, as amended, and in accordance with Section 
4: Policies, conducting certain eligible activities prior to Brownfield Plan approval may still be 
reimbursed, with either or both local-only or state school operating Tax Increment Revenues.  
 
Section 6: Application Fee  
 
The application fee is due after Project Concept Application approval and is based on total project 
investment:  

$0- $5 Million = $5,000  
$5M - $10M = $7,000  
$10 M and over = $12,000 
 

Section 7: Reimbursement Agreement  
 
Staff will provide the most current Reimbursement Agreement template. The applicant should fill in 
required information using the template, then work with MTBRA staff to finalize. The 
Reimbursement Agreement must be approved by the MTBRA and fully executed in accordance 
with Township contract procedures.  
 
If capture of state school operating taxes for reimbursement of eligible costs is approved, the 
reimbursement agreement with the MTBRA must be signed and executed before submission of an 
Act 381/Act 90 Work Plan or Combined Brownfield Plan, for those activities.  
 
Section 8: Reimbursement Process  
 
All eligible activities must be completed within the time specified in the Reimbursement 
Agreement. 
  



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 9 
 

Page 9 
 

Request for reimbursement for eligible activities shall be submitted in the form required by the 
MTBRA. The form shall generally include a detailed list of approved costs, actual costs, and proof of 
payment. Staff will forward the submitted completed request, with a recommendation, to the 
MTBRA for certification and approval.  
 
The MTBRA will only reimburse the actual costs to conduct approved eligible activities. The BRA 
uses only the incremental taxes generated by the redevelopment project to reimburse approved 
eligible activities, and the yearly reimbursement amount is based on the actual yearly incremental 
taxes collected on a project, less any applicable administrative and revolving fund capture noted 
herein. 
 
Once TIF capture begins, and any or all eligible expenses have been approved, reimbursement may 
begin in accordance with the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement.  
 
CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
Amber Clark Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director 
517-853-4568 or clark@meridian.mi.us 
 
Timothy Schmitt Director of Community Planning and Development 
(517) 853-4506 or schmitt@meridian.mi.us  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Meridian Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (MTBRA) 
Program Policies and Procedures 

Adopted: 2025 

Section 1: Purpose 

Michigan’s Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, 1996 Public Act 381 (Act 381), as amended 
PA 90, enables brownfield redevelopment in the State of Michigan and the establishment of 
brownfield authorities.  The Act establishes brownfield redevelopment authorities with multiple 
tools to facilitate redevelopment. This includes tax increment financing to support eligible 
brownfield expenses incurred through reuse of a contaminated, blighted, historic, functionally 
obsolete property, and/ or rehabilitation or construction of housing. 

The purpose of the Meridian Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (MTBRA) is to 
facilitate the redevelopment of sites classified as “Eligible Property” in PA 90 of 2023, PA 381 of 
1996, and Part 201 of Public Act 451 of 1994 (Natural Resources and Environmental Protection 
Act), as amended. 

Meridian Township has identified a need for additional housing availability to families and 
individuals earning up to 120% of the Area Median Income AMI, referred throughout as 
“Affordable” dwelling units or “Affordable” for-sale dwelling units.  

Meridian Township staff will assist with the implementation of the policies and procedures 
described herein.  Township staff will serve as a liaison between the MTBRA, and the various 
entities involved with the redevelopment of a brownfield site and guide the developer through the 
brownfield process. “The developer” may be an entity, person, or person(s) authorized to conduct 
the eligible activities of an approved Brownfield Plan and the subsequent reimbursement 
agreement.   It is strongly encouraged that the developer contact staff early in the project planning 
process to minimize delays in the approval process. 

Section 2: MTBRA Board of Directors 
Under the Bylaws established by the MTBRA, the MTBRA shall consist of one member each of the 
Planning Commission, Economic Development Corporation, and Environmental Commission, the 
Township Manager, and three members having an interest or expertise in the fields of engineering, 
finance, or law.  

Section 3: Background 

The Meridian Township Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (MTBRA) was established April 18, 
2017, pursuant to Michigan Public Act 381, MCL 125.265, as amended (“Act 381”) to promote the 
revitalization of environmentally distressed and blighted areas within the boundaries of the 
Township. Pursuant to Act 381, the MTBRA facilitates the approval of brownfield plans (“Plans”) 
which provide for the utilization of certain tax increment revenues to pay for or reimburse costs of 
Eligible Activities as defined in Section 2 of Act 381. Michigan Public Act 90 of 2023, an 
amendment to Act 381 that went into effect on July 19, 2023, provides new opportunities to 
support certain housing development activities using tax increment revenues (“Housing Tax 
Increment Financing”) by amending the definition of both “Eligible Property” and “Eligible 
Activities”, specific to projects  constructing or rehabilitating housing  units (rental and/or for-
sale). 



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 2 

Page 2 

Section 4: Policies for Brownfield Activities 

4. A. Eligible Activities

The MTBRA is authorized to allow the use of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) revenues to pay for or 
reimburse public or private costs of “eligible activities” as identified in Public Act 381 and as 
amended in Public Act 90 of 2023.   

4. B. To qualify for brownfield incentives:

1.)  The proposed project site meets the definition of an eligible property as defined in Public Act 
381 of 1996, as amended. See MEDC Brownfield TIF Guidelines and MCL 125.2652(o).  

2.)  The project is located within the jurisdictional boundaries of Meridian Township. 

3.)  The proposed redevelopment for the eligible property is consistent with the master plan, 
zoning ordinance, and economic development strategy of Meridian Township, as determined by the 
MTBRA and Township Board.  

4.) The existing character of the eligible property is such that redevelopment activities would be 
limited or not feasible without brownfield redevelopment assistance provided by Public Act 381, as 
amended, and/or other brownfield redevelopment programs.  In addition, the project developer 
commits to explore all other available private and public funding sources, as determined in 
consultation with the MTBRA.  

5.) An analysis has been provided that demonstrates the required eligible activities can be 
satisfactorily completed within the available resources under this program, or if not, supplemental 
funding sources, such as private equity or financing, tax credits, or grants or loans, will be utilized 
to complement the financial resources available under the Act for proposed projects.  

6.)  The developer has provided evidence of a firm commitment to the project and a demonstration 
of sufficient experience, financial resources (including submittal of pro forma financial statement), 
and development capabilities to successfully implement the proposed redevelopment project.  

7.)  The proposed project site will have adequate access to the necessary public infrastructure and 
utilities needed to serve the proposed redevelopment project, as determined in consultation with 
the MTBRA.  

8.)  The MTBRA reserves the right to consider other factors applicable to a specific project. 



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 3 

Page 3 

4. C. To qualify for housing brownfield incentives for multi-family/rental properties, a
project would meet all the criteria in 4.B above and:

1.) The developer must demonstrate Potential Rental Loss (PRL) and the Total Housing Subsidy 
(THS) for every application received as defined by the Michigan State Housing Development 
Authority (MSHDA). Maximum reimbursement revenue is limited by PRL and other eligible costs as 
deemed necessary to complete the project. The overall project should incorporate the financial 
impact of any PRL or other eligible activity reimbursements. 

2.) The proposed development must provide no less than 20% of all dwelling unit types in an 
approved Plan (studio, one (1) bedroom, two (2) bedroom, etc.) evenly distributed throughout the 
project/development site. The Affordable dwelling units shall be leased to an Income Qualified 
Household (IQH) earning120% of the Area Median Income (AMI) or below as defined by MSHDA. 
MTBRA may encourage greater percentages or more limited income affordability levels based on 
underwriting, overall project size, type of units, etc.  

3.) The developer must agree to a restrictive covenant describing the rent and income restrictions 
as set forth in the Plan. The covenant must encumber the Housing Development/Property for a 
minimum of the Plan duration. 

4.) The developer shall be responsible for verifying that the rental eligibility is met. At least 
annually, the developer shall provide the MTBRA with information and documentation of the 
income eligibility of each subsidized unit. The developer must also provide the MTBRA with any 
information or documentation provided to MSHDA, including the number of qualified units, 
certified rent rolls, etc. along with any other relevant information relating to the Plan or Eligible 
Activity, as directed by the MTBRA.  

5.) Funding of the Potential Rent Loss (PRL) is only available for the Affordable dwelling units 
occupied by an IQH as approved in the Plan.  

4. D. To qualify for housing brownfield incentives for single-family for sale properties a
project would meet all the criteria in 4.B above and:

1.)  The developer must demonstrate Potential Development Loss (PDL) Gap Cap and the Total 
Housing Subsidy (THS) for every application received, as defined by MSHDA. The PDL Gap Cap and 
the THS will be utilized to establish the reasonableness of certain housing activities for which tax 
capture is being planned.  Maximum reimbursement revenue is limited by PRL, THS, and other 
eligible costs as deemed necessary to complete the project. The overall project should incorporate 
the financial impact of any PRL or other eligible activity reimbursements. 

2.) With the exception of a sale after seven (7) years per section 4 D, subsection 6 b; a restrictive 
covenant describing the income limitations and required sale to an IQH as defined by the MSHDA 
shall encumber the Housing Property for a minimum of the Plan duration, commencing on the date 
the Housing Property obtains a Certificate of Occupancy from the Township Building Official. This is 
the “Affordability Period” of any Affordable for-sale dwelling unit subsidized through the approved 
Brownfield Plan. 



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 4 

Page 4 

3.)  Affordable for-sale dwelling units must be sold to an IQH during the affordability period, except 
as provided in section 4 D, subsection 6 b. IQH for-sale properties may not be rented or leased at 
any time. 

4.) Plans contemplating Housing TIF that include Affordable for-sale dwellings shall only be 
proposed/submitted by the developer. Individual homebuyers are not eligible, in addition, any 
for-sale subsidized property cannot be rented/leased by the IQH. MTBRA support will include, 
but may not be limited to, a development loss subsidy in an amount necessary to make the dwelling 
affordable to a purchaser who qualifies as an IQH. In all cases, the development loss subsidy shall 
initially be funded by the developer, or its lender(s) and the development loss subsidy shall be 
eligible for reimbursement with Housing TIF so long as all applicable conditions are satisfied by the 
developer. For a mixed-use development, the costs of Housing Development Activities approved in 
the Plan for a dwelling occupied by an IQH will be eligible for full reimbursement with tax 
increment revenues under the Plan, as permitted by Act 381, as amended; however, for the portion 
of the development that is not affordable , reimbursement of Housing Development Activities costs 
will only be available as a pro rata share of the square footage of the dwellings occupied by an IQH 
compared to the total square footage of common areas of the development.  

5.) The PDL subsidy amount is equal to the difference between the total Development cost and the 
amount an IQH can afford based on annual household income. 

6.) Under the following conditions an Affordable for-sale dwelling may be sold prior to the end of 
the affordability period: 

a.) The property may sell to an IQH for no more than the MSHDA Income & Sales Price Limits 
as set for the MI Home Loan & MCC Program, for Ingham County. The IQH shall provide the 
following documentation to the MTBRA to verify the sales price of the for-sale dwelling:  

i. Appraisals/Broker Price Opinions to confirm the value of the completed
dwelling.

ii. Annual Ingham County AMI limits as designated by MSHDA
iii. Annual Ingham County Income and Sales Price Limits of the MI Home Loan &

MCC Program as designated by MSHDA.
iv. After the closing of the dwelling sold to the new homebuyer, the property

may be required to continue to provide the affordability income limitations
as set by the MTBRA and MSHDA, if the dwelling sold is within the
affordability period, and is not subject to the provisions of 4 D, subsection 6
b.

b.) After seven (7) years of affordability, the IQH may sell their dwelling unit at “Market 
Rate” (Market Rate refers to the prevailing or current market price of a dwelling unit of 
similar make and type), providing 25% of the net sale proceeds (sales price less any 
mortgage payoff and typical closing costs) to the MTBRA Affordable Housing Fund (see 
section 4 J) at the time of the sale. The IQH shall provide the following documentation to the 
MTBRA to verify the sales price of the for-sale dwelling: 

i. Appraisals/Broker Price Opinions to confirm the value of the completed
dwelling.

ii. Listing agreements to verify the for-sale price of the dwelling.



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 5 

Page 5 

iii. After the closing of the dwelling sold at market rate to the new property
owner, the property may no longer be required to continue to provide the
affordability income limitations as set by the MTBRA and MSHDA.

7.)  Additionally,  the developer shall be responsible for any applicable Meridian Township/MTBRA 
reporting requirements through the sale of the dwelling and, to the extent  the developer has any 
continuing obligations during the affordability period, the developer shall continue meeting annual 
reporting requirements until the end of the duration of the affordability period or developer’s 
obligations are completed. During the affordability period, the IQH may also have annual reporting 
requirements, which include, but are not limited to, confirmation that property taxes, utilities, are 
paid, etc. 

4. E. To qualify for payment of interest on carrying costs of unreimbursed eligible activities:

The reimbursement of interest on unreimbursed eligible activities will be determined on a case-by-
case basis, but only where a clear financial gap is demonstrated, and where actual interest expenses 
and carrying costs will be incurred by the applicant. The following criteria must be met to qualify 
for interest reimbursement: 

1.)  All costs for which interest is being requested must be eligible activities. 

2.)  The total amount of interest, and the interest rate, shall be determined in accordance with 
MEDC guidelines or MSHDA guidelines and shall be approved by the MTBRA. 
Provided reimbursement of interest is generally approved, pursuant to the above, the 
reimbursement of interest on costs of eligible activities using local-only taxes may be allowed 
only if either of the following criteria is met:  

a.) The specific activity or activities are not supported for interest reimbursement by the 
Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC), Michigan Department of 
Environmental, Great Lakes and Energy (EGLE), or MSHDA, and are supported by the 
MTBRA as a cost resulting from an activity that, by its nature, will have specific or general 
environmental benefits.  

b.) A significant financial gap has been identified by the applicant, and supported by the 
MTBRA, such that the requested interest would help close the gap.  

4. F. To qualify for local-only reimbursement:

The MTBRA encourages costs of all eligible activities be reimbursed with both incremental local 
and state school operating taxes to the extent practicable; however, there are circumstances when 
reimbursement only with local tax increments will be approved, on a case-by-case basis, under the 
following circumstances: 

1.)  The activities are eligible under Act 381 as amended, the state declined to participate in the 
cost, or State policy prohibits their participation on a specific project, but the MTBRA supports the 
activity, which, by its nature, will have specific or general environmental benefits.  



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 6 

Page 6 

2.)  When the activity or activities were approved in a Brownfield Plan, and subsequently denied for 
state school operating tax participation, local-only tax increment financing may be considered, 
provided the approved Brownfield Plan does not prohibit or cap the use of local-only tax increment 
finances to reimburse the particular activity proposed for local-only reimbursement.  

3.)  For any eligible activity completed prior to plan approval, but now included in a Brownfield 
Plan or Combined Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Work Plan submitted for approval, the MTBRA may 
support the inclusion of the costs for local-only reimbursement, and the following conditions must 
be met:  

a.) The approved Plan states that certain or all eligible activities initiated or completed prior 
to plan approval, and subsequently denied for state school operating taxes participation, 
will be funded with local-only taxes. 

b.) The entity that incurred the costs is the same as applying for Brownfield Plan approval; 
and  

c.) Eligible activities were conducted and expenses incurred prior to Brownfield Plan 
approval as allowed under Section 13b (7) and (8) of Act 381 or due to unanticipated 
circumstances or compressed project timeline.  

4. G. Unanticipated Eligible Environmental Response Activities

Pursuant to Act 381 as amended, local-only and state school operating tax increment revenues may 
be used to reimburse unanticipated eligible environmental response activities conducted after 
Brownfield Plan and/or Work Plan approvals provided the owner must have contacted the  
Michigan Department of Environment Great Lakes & Energy (EGLE) and MTBRA prior to taking 
action and subsequently included the eligible environmental costs in an amended Work Plan, and 
Brownfield Plan if necessary, and secured all requisite approvals.  

4. H. Administrative Costs Capture

1.)  The annual capture of administrative fees from brownfield projects from local taxes is 
permitted under Public Act 381 of 1996, as amended.  Each Brownfield Plan may include capture of 
administrative fees.  Administrative fees will be used to cover actual expenses related to operating 
the Brownfield Redevelopment program. 

2.)  For reimbursement of reasonable and actual administrative expenses, the MTBRA will transfer 
to its Administrative Fund five percent (5%) of the annual total available TIF capture per project, 
during the entire capture period for the project. Actual administrative expenses will be captured 
with only local incremental taxes. These fees shall be paid before any annual reimbursements of 
costs are made to the applicant. For approved Plans that include the reimbursement of eligible 
housing activities, this fee will be increased to 10 percent (10%) of the annual total TIF capture due 
to additional reporting requirements. 

3.)  In accordance with MTBRA policy, capture of administrative fees may exceed actual brownfield 
program expenses in any one year, provided any reserves are maintained in the Administrative 



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 7 

Page 7 

Fund and utilized to reimburse for future years’ expenses or used as otherwise allowed by Act 381 
as amended.  At no time will surplus funds exceed one year’s allowable maximum capture under Act 
381 based on the previous year’s allowable capture. Any fund reserves that exceed one year’s 
allowable capture will be returned to the appropriate taxing jurisdictions.  

4. I. Local Brownfield Revolving Fund Capture

The MTBRA intends to capitalize its Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) by capturing tax 
increment revenue, as allowable by Act 381, as amended. The MTBRA will include provisions to 
capture five percent (5%) annual total available TIF capture per project (pursuant to total 
allowable per statue) for deposit into the LBRF in the approved Brownfield Plan.   

LBRF funds will be used to further the purpose of the MTBRA’s Brownfield program, which is to 
facilitate the redevelopment of previously developed sites classified as a “facility,” functionally 
obsolete, or blighted as defined by Act 381, as amended. LBRF funds can only be used to fund 
eligible activities, as defined by Act 381, as amended. LBRF funds are eligible for use by all eligible 
properties located within the Meridian Township to assist with the completion of eligible activities. 
The LBRF funds typically will be distributed as revolving loans, which allows the funds to 
continually revolve throughout Meridian Township. LBRF funds may be distributed as grants in 
response to exceptional circumstances solely at the discretion of the MTBRA. The use of the funds 
will be determined on case-by-case basis.  

4. J. Affordable Housing Fund

The MTBRA will include a provision in the Brownfield Housing Redevelopment Reimbursement 
Agreements to allow an Affordable for-sale dwelling to be sold after the seven (7) year affordability 
period at market rate, provided that 25% of the net sale proceeds are paid to the Meridian 
Township’s Affordable Housing Fund.  

The Affordable Housing Fund may be used at the discretion of the MTBRA to support IQH with 
down payment assistance or other housing needs in the form of a forgivable loan to a homebuyer or 
other Affordable housing project subsidies as determined by the Township Board.   

Section 5: Procedures: 

The MTBRA recognizes the importance of development project schedules and will expedite 
brownfield plan review and approval process to the greatest extent possible.  The following are 
typical steps to access brownfield redevelopment incentives in Meridian Township.  The steps may 
change if a combined Brownfield Plan/Work Plan is proposed.  

A. Concept Plan submittal and meeting – Review by committee of Township staff
B. Brownfield Plan application submittal
C. Brownfield Plan Development – Applicant and Staff
D. Brownfield Plan Introduction to MTBRA
E. Brownfield Plan Recommendation from MTBRA
F. Brownfield Plan – Public Hearing at Township Board
G. Brownfield Plan Approval by Township Board



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 8 

Page 8 

H. Act 381/ Act 90 Work Plan(s) – Approval by Staff

The applicant needs to execute a Reimbursement Agreement with the MTBRA (See Section 7: 
Reimbursement Agreement).   

Work Plan(s) (or Combined Brownfield Plan and Work Plan(s)) must be completed in accordance 
with the requirements of Act 381, as amended, and guidance published by the EGLE, MSHDA, and 
MEDC, and be submitted to Staff. Staff will review the Work Plan and work with the developer 
and/or developer’s representative (consultant) to finalize it. Staff will coordinate with the 
appropriate agency(s) for the submission and review of the Work Plan (or Combined Brownfield 
Plan).  

Generally, conducting eligible activities can begin once the relevant elements of the approval 
process are complete.  However, pursuant to Act 381, as amended, and in accordance with Section 
4: Policies, conducting certain eligible activities prior to Brownfield Plan approval may still be 
reimbursed, with either or both local-only or state school operating Tax Increment Revenues.  

Section 6: Application Fee 

The application fee is due after Project Concept Application approval and is based on total project 
investment:  

$0- $5 Million = $5,000  
$5M - $10M = $7,000  
$10 M and over = $12,000 

Section 7: Reimbursement Agreement 

Staff will provide the most current Reimbursement Agreement template. The applicant should fill in 
required information using the template, then work with MTBRA staff to finalize. The 
Reimbursement Agreement must be approved by the MTBRA and fully executed in accordance 
with Township contract procedures.  

If capture of state school operating taxes for reimbursement of eligible costs is approved, the 
reimbursement agreement with the MTBRA must be signed and executed before submission of an 
Act 381/Act 90 Work Plan or Combined Brownfield Plan, for those activities.  

Section 8: Reimbursement Process 

All eligible activities must be completed within the time specified in the Reimbursement 
Agreement. 

Request for reimbursement for eligible activities shall be submitted in the form required by the 
MTBRA. The form shall generally include a detailed list of approved costs, actual costs, and proof of 
payment. Staff will forward the submitted completed request, with a recommendation, to the 
MTBRA for certification and approval.  



Meridian Township BRA 
BRA Policies and Procedures 
Adopted:  
Page 9 

Page 9 

The MTBRA will only reimburse the actual costs to conduct approved eligible activities. The BRA 
uses only the incremental taxes generated by the redevelopment project to reimburse approved 
eligible activities, and the yearly reimbursement amount is based on the actual yearly incremental 
taxes collected on a project, less any applicable administrative and revolving fund capture noted 
herein. 

Once TIF capture begins, and any or all eligible expenses have been approved, reimbursement may 
begin in accordance with the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement.  

CONTACT INFORMATION 

Amber Clark Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director 
517-853-4568 or clark@meridian.mi.us

Timothy Schmitt Director of Community Planning and Development 
(517) 853-4506 or schmitt@meridian.mi.us

mailto:clark@meridian.mi.us
mailto:schmitt@meridian.mi.us

	Agenda
	9A-Communications
	9B-Minutes
	9C-Bills
	9D-Gathering Permits
	9E-Meridian Pride Liquor License
	9F-Resolution in Support of Frontline Workers
	9G-Communications Commission Appointment
	9H-Planning Commission Appointment
	9I-Treasurer's Report
	9J-Addendum to Sewer Contract
	12A-SUP-Okemos Land Investments-Recreational Marijuana 
	12B-1st Quarter Budget Amendments
	13A-Joint Board Meeting Topics
	13B-Senior/Community Center
	13C-Personnel Policy Update
	13D-Brownfield/Housing TIF Amendment



